# Genetic and Biological Characterisation of Resistance to Root Lesion Nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* in Wheat

by

# Katherine Joanne Linsell

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Adelaide

> Discipline of Plant Breeding & Genetics School of Agriculture, Food & Wine Faculty of Sciences The University of Adelaide Waite Campus 2013

### Declaration

This work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution to Katherine Joanne Linsell and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library catalogue, the Australasian Digital Theses Program (ADTP) and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Katherine Joanne Linsell

This thesis is submitted in a combination of conventional and publication format. The main body of work contains three manuscripts (Chapter 2, 3 and 4) and a conventional thesis chapter (Chapter 5). A literature review establishes the field of knowledge and provides a link between publications. A general conclusion shows the overall significance of the work and future directions. The manuscripts have been prepared in the formats outlined by the journals to which they are to be submitted (excluding line numbering, Americanised spellings, table and figure lists after literature cited and font size) and thus chapters contain different formatting. The manuscript - Characterisation of Resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in Wheat; Attraction, Penetration and Maturation

This manuscript will be submitted to the journal of Phytopathology. Outlined is the contributions made by each author in development of the manuscipt in terms of conceptual, experimental and documentation. The co authors give permission for this manuscript to be included in the thesis of Linsell, Katherine J. to be submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Adelaide.

First author

Linsell, Katherine J.

- Conceptualisation of the work
- Performed all experimental work
- Drafting text and composition of all tables and figures within manuscipt

Signature:....

Second author

Riley, I.T.

- Support with statistical analysis of data
- Assisted in manuscript editing

Signature:....

Third author

Davies, K.A.

- Advisory on nematology techniques
- Assisted in manuscript editing

Signature:....

Last author.

Oldach, K.H.

- Conceptualisation of the work
- Drafting and editing of the manuscript

Signature:....

#### and Reproduction

This manuscript will be submitted to the journal of Phytopathology. Outlined is the contributions made by each author in development of the manuscipt in terms of conceptual, experimental and documentation. The co authors give permission for this manuscript to be included in the thesis of Linsell, Katherine J. to be submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Adelaide.

First author

Linsell, Katherine J.

- Conceptualisation of the work
- Performed all experimental work
- Drafting text and composition of all tables and figures within manuscipt

Signature:....

Second author

Riley, I.T.

- Support with statistical analysis of data
- Assisted in manuscript editing

Signature:....

#### Third author

Davies, K.A.

- Advisory on nematology techniques
- Assisted in manuscript editing

Signature:....

Last author

Oldach, K.H.

- Conceptualisation of the work
- Drafting and editing of the manuscript

Signature:....

The manuscript - Quantitative Trait Loci for Resistance to Root Lesion Nematode,

#### Pratylenchus thornei, from a Synthetic Hexaploid Wheat Source

This manuscript will be submitted to the journal of Theoretical and Applied Genetics. Outlined is the contributions made by each author in development of the manuscipt in terms of conceptual, experimental and documentation. The co authors give permission for this manuscript to be included in the thesis of Linsell, Katherine J. to be submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Adelaide.

Firrt author

Linsell, Katherine J.

- Conceptualisation of the work
- Performed all experimental work (except first set of phenotypic data)
- Drafting text and composition of all tables and figures within manuscipt

Signature:....

Second author

Taylor, S.P.

- Responsible for the first phenotypic analysis of the population for genetic analysis
- Assisted in manuscript editing

Signature:....

#### Third author

Wallwork, H.

- Responsible for the generation of the mapping population
- Assisted in manuscript editing

Signature:....

Last author

Oldach , K.H.

- Conceptualisation of the work
- Drafting and editing of the manuscript

Signature:....

# **Table of Contents**

Title Page	i
Declaration	ii
Table of Contents	vii
Glossary of Abbreviations	xii
Acknowledgements	xiv
Abstract	xv

Chapter 1 –	Literature	e Review	1
1.1	Introdu	uction	1
1.2	Life Cy	ife Cycle	
1.3	Histopathology		
	1.3.1	Probing and Root Exploration	5
		1.3.1.1 Mechanisms of Root Exploration	5
		1.3.1.2 Zones of Penetration and Entry	5
		1.3.1.3 Factors Affecting Selection of Penetration Site	6
	1.3.2	Stylet Penetration	7
	1.3.3	Salivation and Ectoparasitic Feeding	7
	1.3.4	Root Entry and Endoparasitic Feeding	7
		1.3.4.1 Numbers of Nematodes During Penetration	7
		1.3.4.2 Root Entry and Cortical Migration	8
		1.3.4.3 Cortical Feeding	8
		1.3.4.4 Endodermis and Vascular Tissue Penetration	9
		1.3.4.5 Reproduction	9
	1.3.5	Symptoms	10
1.4	Biological and Biochemical Resistance Mechanisms		11
	1.4.1	Resistance at Penetration	12
	1.4.2	Resistance to Motility and Feeding	12
		1.4.2.1 Chemical suppression of Motility	13
		1.4.2.1.1 Flavonoids	13
		1.4.2.1.2 Isoflavonoids	13
		1.4.2.1.3 Sesquiterpenes	13
		1.4.2.2 Suppression of Migration and Feeding	14
		1.4.2.2.1 Cinnamic Acids	14
		1.4.2.2.2 Phenolics and Necrosis	14
		1.4.2.2.3 Peroxidases and Lignification	16
	1.4.3	Resistance and Effects on Reproduction	16
	1.4.4	Timing and Types of Resistance	18
1.5	Geneti	ic Mapping in Plants and its Applications	18

	1.5.1	Molecular Markers	19
	1.5.2	QTL Mapping	20
		1.5.2.1 Mapping Populations	20
		1.5.2.2 Phenotypic Analysis	21
		1.5.2.3 Linkage Maps	24
		1.5.2.4 Comparative Mapping	25
		1.5.2.5 QTL Analysis	25
	1.5.3	Marker Assisted Selection	26
	1.5.4	Map-Based Cloning	27
	1.5.5	Association Mapping	29
	1.5.6	Marker Assisted Selection for Nematode Resistance	29
1.6	Nema	tode Resistance Genes	31
	1.6.1	Resistance Gene Clusters	33
1.7	Genet	ic Control of <i>Pratylenchus</i> Resistance and Tolerance in Wheat	33
	1.7.1	Tolerance	34
	1.7.2	Resistance	34
		1.7.2.1 GS50a	34
		1.7.2.2 Wild Wheat Relatives as Resistance Sources	34
		1.7.2.3 Synthetic Wheat	35
		1.7.2.4 Middle Eastern Landraces	36
		1.7.2.5 Pratylenchus neglectus Resistance	37
	1.7.3	Future Approaches to Identify Resistance To Pratylenchus	38
1.8	Conclu	usion	40
1.9	Aims		41
1.10	Literat	ture Cited	42
Chapter 2 – I	Manuscr	ipt 1	58
(	Characte	erisation of Resistance to Root Lesion Nematode	
	Pratylen	chus thornei in Wheat; Attraction, Penetration and Maturation	
	Abstra	act	58
	Materi	al and Methods	61
		Nematodes	61
		Plant Material	61
		Nematode Inoculation/Extrapolation	61
		Attraction	62
		Attraction on Agar	62
		Attraction on Agar Across Root Exudate	63
		Attraction with Both Genotypes Present	63
		Penetration	64
		Rates of Penetration in Sand and on Agar	64

Penetration of Adults versus Juveniles on Agar	64
Root Penetration Zones	65
Reproduction and Development	65
Statistical Analysis	65
Results	66
Attraction	66
Attraction on Agar	66
Attraction on Agar Across Root Exudate	66
Attraction with Both Genotypes Present	66
Penetration	67
Rates of Penetration in Sand and on Agar	67
Penetration of Adults versus Juveniles on Agar	67
Root Penetration Zones	67
Reproduction and Development	67
Discussion	72
Root Attraction and Penetration	72
Penetration of Developmental Stages	74
Root Penetration Zones	75
Development and Reproduction	76
Acknowledgments	77
Literature Cited	78
Chapter 3 – Manuscript 2	81
Characterisation of Resistance to Root Lesion Nematode	
Pratylenchus thornei in Wheat; Motility and Reproduction	
Abstract	81
Material and Methods	84
Nematodes and Plant Material	84
Impact of Crushed Root Suspensions and Root Exudates	84
on Motility	
Root Exudates	84
Crushed Root Suspensions	85
Migration	85
Egg Deposition	86
Hatching	86
Statistical Analysis	86

	Result	S	87
		Motility and Migration	87
		Reproduction- Egg Deposition and Egg Hatch	89
	Discus	ssion	91
		Motility and Migration	91
		Reproduction- Egg Deposition and Egg Hatch	94
	Ackno	wledgements	97
	Literat	ure Cited	98
Chapter 4 –	Manuscr	ipt 3	102
	Quantita	tive Trait Loci for Resistance to Root Lesion Nematode,	
	Pratylen	chus thornei, in a Synthetic Hexaploid Wheat	
	Abstra	ict	102
	Introdu	uction	103
	Materi	al and Methods	105
		Plant Material	105
		Nematodes	105
		Phenotypic Screening of P. thornei Resistance	105
		Diversity Array Technology Map Construction	106
		and QTL Analysis	
		Genotyping and QTL Analysis	107
	Result	S	109
		Phenotypic Assessment	109
		Genotyping and Map Construction	110
		Marker Regression and QTL Analysis	117
	Discus	ssion	126
	Ackno	wledgements	133
	Refere	ences	134
Chapter 5 –	Identifica	tion of QTL and Characterisation of Compounds Associated	139
	with Pra	tylenchus thornei Motility and Hatching Inhibition	
5.1	Introdu	uction	139
5.2	Materi	al and Methods	141
	5.2.1	Nematodes	141
	5.2.2	Plant Material and Phenotypic Analysis of <i>P. thornei</i> Motility and Hatching	141
	5.2.3	Marker Regression & QTL Analysis of	141
	5.2.4	Temperature and Oxidation Treatment of Roots on Motility	141

5.3 Res		Results	esults	
		5.3.1	Phenotypic Assessment	143
		5.3.2	QTL Analysis of <i>P. thornei</i> Hatching and Motility	145
		5.3.3	Temperature Stability of Root Exudate and Effects on Motility	154
Ę	5.4	Discus	ssion	
		5.4.1	Pratylenchus thornei Hatching and Motility Suppression QTL	155
		5.4.2	Biochemical Characterisation of P. thornei Hatching and	157
			Motility Suppression	
		5.4.3	Co-located Defence Response and Resistance Genes and	159
			Possible Secondary Metabolites Involved in Pratylenchus	
			Hatching and Motility Suppression	
	5.5	Conclu	sion	164
	5.6	Refere	nces	165
Chapte	er 6 – G	General	Discussion and Future Directions	169

# **Glossary of Abbreviations**

°c	Degrees Celsius
μg	Microgram
μL	Microlitre
μm	Micrometre
a.i.	After Inoculation
AUD	Australian dollars
AFLP	Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphism
BAC	Bacterial Artificial Chromosome
CCN	Cereal Cyst Nematode
cM	CentiMorgan
CR	Crushed Root
d	Days
DArT	Diversity Array Technology
df	Degrees of Freedom
DH	Doubled Haploid
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay
EST	Expression Sequence Tag
F1	First Filial Generation
F2	Second Filial Generation
g	Grams
h	Hours
H2	Heritability
HF	Hatching Factor
HI	Hatching Inhibitor
ITS	Internal Transcribed Spacer
J2	Juvenile Stage Two
J3	Juvenile Stage Three
J4	Juvenile Stage Four
kbp	Kilobase pair
kg	Kilogram
L	Litre
LOD	Logarithm of Odds
LRS	Likelihood Ratio Statistic
LSD	Least Significant Difference
Μ	Molar
MAS	Marker Assisted Select

mg	Milligram
mL	Millilitre
mm	Milimetre
mM	Millimolar
mRNA	Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
NIL	Near Isogenic Line
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
Pg	Picogram
QTL	Quantitative Trait Loci
R <sup>2</sup>	Correlation Coefficient
RAPD	Random Amplified Length Polymorphism
RE	Root Exudate
RFLP	Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism
RIL	Recombinant Inbred Line
RIP	Ribosome Inactivating Protein
RLN	Root Lesion Nematode
RNAi	Ribonucleic acid interference
RNase	Ribonuclease
RO	Reverse Osmosis
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RT	Room Temperature
S	Second
s.e.	Standard Error
SARDI	South Australian Research & Development Institute
SCAR	Sequence Characterised Amplified Region
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
SSR	Simple Sequence Repeat
Таq	Thermus aquaticus DNA Polymerase
ТЕ	Tris-EDTA
Tris HCI	Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane hydrochloride
UV	Ultraviolet
W	Week
X <sup>2</sup>	Chi-squared

## Acknowledgements

I firstly want to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my principal supervisor, Dr. Klaus Oldach for his support and guidance throughout my PhD. I appreciate all his contributions of time and ideas to make my PhD experience productive and stimulating. His enthusiasm and encouragement were essential in keeping me motivated and he has been an excellent mentor and friend.

I wish to express my warm and sincere thanks to my co-supervisors Dr Ian Riley and Dr Hugh Wallwork and to my external advisor Dr Kerrie Davies, for their valuable advice and helpful discussions. I would also like to thank all the members of the SARDI Gene Function and Nematology labs for their continual advice and friendship.

I would like to acknowledge the South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) and the Molecular Plant Breeding CRC (MPBCRC) for supporting the project and to the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) for providing a Grains Industry Research Scholarship.

I would like to thank my wonderful family. You have given so much and sacrificed without a second thought. Thankyou for your endless loving support and encouragement.

Finally, I would like to thank my beautiful and amazing Jason. Thankyou for being my rock and for giving me the strength and motivation to finish the journey. Thankyou for your nourishing and comforting love.

#### Abstract

Root lesion nematodes of the genus Pratylenchus feed and reproduce in the root cortex of many plant species, including wheat. Migration through root tissue causes extensive root damage, and in turn severe reductions in growth and yield. In Australia, one of the most prevalent and widespread species affecting wheat is Pratylenchus thornei. Due to the wide host range of *Pratylenchus* spp. and the restrictions and inefficiency of chemical pesticides, the development of resistant cultivars has become increasingly important. Despite the identification and investigation of several resistance sources and resistance quantitative trait loci (QTL), no P. thornei resistance has been integrated into commercial cultivars. In addition, prior to this study, the biological resistance mechanisms of wheat against P. thornei were not well characterised. The identification of novel sources of genetic resistance in wheat and understanding of the biological mechanisms will allow effective combinations of genes either to be used alternatively or pyramided to generate effective and stable Pratylenchus resistance. The major objectives of the study were to identify genetic loci associated with P. thornei resistance and to investigate the associated biological mechanisms in a double haploid wheat population developed from a cross between the synthetically derived Sokoll and the Australian adapted Krichauff parental lines.

The resistance to *P. thornei* observed in the Sokoll x Krichauff wheat population is complex and under the control of several loci which suppress all nematode developmental stages. The four main components of the root invasion process by *Pratylenchus*: root attraction, penetration, endoparasitic feeding and reproduction, were investigated to determine the location, timing and role of resistance against *P. thornei*. Through analysing root invasion by each nematode life stage, it was shown that resistance in the Sokoll x Krichauff population occurs post penetration to suppress *P. thornei* motility/migration and juvenile development causing reduced reproduction (egg deposition and hatch).

Attraction and penetration assays were conducted on seedlings grown both in sand and on agar. There was no significant difference in the rate at which *P. thornei* was attracted towards resistant or susceptible roots in sand. However on agar, when both genotypes were present, there was a significantly higher attraction towards the susceptible roots indicating resistant roots may secrete repellent or toxic compounds during pre-penetration or that susceptible roots secrete more attractants. The penetration rates of *P. thornei* in resistant and susceptible roots, both on agar and in sand, did not significantly differ. No preferred root penetration zone was observed with *P. thornei*, but penetration was not random as nematodes were attracted to root regions previously invaded. In concordance with other *Pratylenchus* studies, resistance to *P. thornei* in this Sokoll x Krichauff population acts post penetration.

Analysis of *P. thornei* development in the resistant and susceptible genotypes showed that significantly fewer *P. thornei* nematodes of all stages occurred in the resistant compared to the susceptible roots. Juvenile development was suppressed as no juvenile stage two nematodes (J2) were present 35 days after inoculation in resistant genotypes. At 45 days after inoculation, forty times more *P. thornei* juvenile stage three (J3) were present in the susceptible than the resistant parent. Unlike other studies where resistance against *Pratylenchus* caused nematodes to exit roots, in this study, similar numbers of *P. thornei* J2 were still present within the resistant roots 10 days after inoculation, indicating that resistance suppresses nematode development rather than causing nematodes to leave resistant roots.

The inhibition of juvenile development resulted due to the suppression of nematode migration/motility which suppressed feeding but also due to reduced egg deposition and hatch. Simple and inexpensive assays were designed to investigate P. thornei motility, egg hatch and deposition in root exudates/extracts and roots grown on agar. Significantly higher numbers of P. thornei nematodes became non-motile when exposed to root exudates from resistant (65%) versus susceptible (30%) roots after exposure for 3 days. The effects of these compounds were found to be reversible and to specifically affect P. thornei but not Pratylenchus neglectus. In migration assays, P. thornei only migrated a small distance through the resistant root cortex from the point of inoculation (10 mm), but further in the susceptible roots (70 mm). Pratylenchus thornei reproduction was also affected by resistance. Egg deposition was up to 30% less within resistant than in the susceptible lines. About 40% less hatch occurred from eggs within and adjacent to roots of resistant versus susceptible seedlings. Similarly, hatching was decreased by 10% in resistant root exudate compared to the susceptible after 10 days of exposure. An increased hatch after dilution of root exudates and a lower hatch in resistant versus the absence of roots, indicates the presence of hatching inhibitor compounds. As these root exudates were derived from plants not exposed to Pratylenchus/other pathogens, this indicates resistant genotypes constitutively produce compounds that inhibit motility and reproduction.

In order to identify QTL and develop molecular markers accounting for the observed resistance, a genetic map was constructed from the Sokoll x Krichauff doubled haploid population comprising 150 lines. A total of 860 Diversity Array Technology markers and 111 microsatellite markers were used to assemble the genetic map. Two highly significant *P. thornei* resistance QTL were identified on chromosomes 2BS and 6DS, *QRInt.sk-2B.1 and QRInt.sk-6D*, explaining 24 and 43% of the phenotypic variation, respectively. These QTL mapped to chromosome regions previously identified to be associated with *Pratylenchus* resistance, based on common marker locations. Two significant QTL were also identified on chromosomes 4A and 5A, explaining 6 and 9% of the phenotypic variation. The population was fixed for the effects of the highly significant QTL on 2BS and 6DS and further QTL were identified on chromosomes 2B, 2D, 3A, 5B and 6B. The *QRInt.sk-2B.1* and *QRInt.sk-6D*.

account for a large portion of the observed resistance, showing that in this population the Sokoll derived resistance to *P. thornei* is very strong and is controlled by a few loci with large effects.

There are considerable financial and labour costs associated with *Pratylenchus* phenotypic screening methods. Molecular markers employed through marker assisted selection will eliminate the need for large scale phenotyping in breeding programs and thus accelerate the development and availability of resistant cultivars. The microsatellite marker *barc183* linked to *QRInt.sk-6D* is also associated with *P. thornei* resistance in other mapping studies in different genetic backgrounds and thus highlights the potential benefit of this marker for use in marker assisted selection. However, the highly significant QTL on 2BS and 6DS currently span large chromosomal regions, thus fine mapping is required to delimit the QTL interval to establish more closely linked markers before they can be utilised in breeding programs.

The ultimate aim of this project was to correlate a biological role with an identified *P. thornei* resistance QTL. Thus, in order to identify whether the QTL linked to *P. thornei* were associated with the observed motility and hatch inhibition, a subset of the population was phenotyped using the motility and hatching assays designed in this study. Suggestive QTL were identified on chromosomes 2B, 5B, 6B and 6D linked to hatching and motility suppression, which co-located to the *P. thornei* resistance QTL identified in this and previous studies. Although only suggestive, alignment with other QTL indicates that these resistance QTL may play a role in inhibiting *P. thornei* motility or juvenile hatching. To further define and confirm these QTL, phenotypic analysis needs to be performed on the entire population.

The biochemical characteristics of the preformed resistant root compounds causing motility and hatching suppression were investigated. Root exudates that were subjected to heat/cold treatments caused less motility suppression than compared to the untreated control, indicating these resistant root compounds are water soluble and fairly stable in nature. Flavonoids, oxidised phenols and peroxidases associated with insect resistance genes that co-located with the hatching and motility suppression QTL and the *P. thornei* resistance QTL regions have been implicated in other *Pratylenchus*-plant resistance interactions. These results indicate a potential role for these compounds in the *P. thornei* resistance observed in Sokoll x Krichauff. Further investigation is required to define the chemical nature and specific roles of resistant root compounds in the suppression of nematode development.

The results of this study show that the resistance observed in the Sokoll x Krichauff wheat population to *P. thornei* is complex and under the control of two highly significant and several minor loci, which do not affect penetration but suppress nematode feeding, development and reproduction.

# Chapter 1 Literature Review

#### 1.1 Introduction

Agricultural production is a major component of Australia's economy with 19.9 million hectares devoted to dryland wheat cropping (ABS 2011). Wheat is the most important crop in Australia with 21.8 million tonnes produced in 2009 - 2010 (ABS 2011). Nematodes are the most abundant multicellular animals on earth (Shurtleff and Averre 2000), and plant parasitic nematodes are one of the main biotic causes of plant stress and yield loss with root nematodes being the most economically important. Worldwide losses to various crops due to nematode damage annually exceed \$AUD 110 billion (Bird and Kaloshian 2003) and in Australia loss due to parasitic nematodes in wheat is nearly \$AUD 200 million (Murray and Brennan 2009).

Root lesion nematodes in the *Pratylenchus* genus are migratory and endoparasitic (Thompson et al. 1999). At least eight species of *Pratylenchus* are known to parasitise small grain cereals (Nicol and Ortiz-Monasterio 2004). In Australia, the two most prevalent and widespread species in wheat are *Pratylenchus thornei* and *Pratylenchus neglectus* (Thompson et al. 1981). *Pratylenchus* species feed and reproduce in the root cortex of many plants, including wheat. Migration through root tissue causes extensive root damage resulting in the formation of necrotic lesions. The resulting damage to the root system impairs the plant's ability to take up water and essential nutrients, thus causing severe reductions in growth and in turn yield (Orion et al. 1984, Farsi et al. 1993). Yield losses due to *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* have been estimated at over \$AUD 50 million and \$AUD 73 million each year, respectively (Murray and Brennan 2009). Although the invasion mechanisms of some other *Pratylenchus* species have been well detailed there has been little analysis of *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus*.

As the human population grows there is in turn an increased need for food production. To meet these growing demands, it has been predicted that wheat production must increase by 60% by 2025 (IFPRI 1997). However, due to the lack of land available for agricultural use and concerns about environmental degradation, the required increases in food production must come from the land already available using fewer chemicals, water and labour (Khush 2002). Due to the wide host range of *Pratylenchus*, control through rotations with pasture crops is not a successful control mechanism. Furthermore, disease incidence in recent times has increased through practices of continuous cropping and no-till agriculture (Thompson et al. 1989). In addition, the increased costs, restrictions and damaging environmental effects of chemical pesticides have led to the increased emphasis on the development of resistant cultivars. In the future, predicted changes in global climate could make the agricultural

1

regions of Australia more variable and drier. Consequently, resistance to root diseases and thus better root systems will be critical for maximum access by the plant to limited soil moisture.

Tolerant cultivars maintain plant growth and yields within infested soils. However, tolerant plants allow nematode reproduction causing increased numbers within soils, which can attack subsequent less tolerant crops. Resistance to nematodes has been defined as the capacity of a cultivar to reduce nematode reproduction and thus control population levels (Thompson et al. 1999). The use of resistant and tolerant cultivars is now considered the most efficient, economical and environmentally acceptable means for *Pratylenchus* control (Castillo et al. 1998).

To date, only a limited number of sources of *Pratylenchus* resistance in wheat have been explored at the molecular level (Toktay et al. 2006). Two sources of resistance have been identified for resistance to *P. neglectus*. A single gene, *Rlnn1*, was mapped from the wheat cultivar Excalibur to chromosome 7A (Williams et al. 2002), and two Quantitative Trait Loci (QTL) on chromosomes 6D and 4D were identified in the synthetic wheat cross CPI33872 x Janz (Zwart et al. 2005). For *P. thornei*, a further five sources for resistance were identified and examined including a bread wheat line, GS50a (Thompson et al. 1999); two synthetic wheat crosses CPI33872 x Janz and W-7984 x Opata85 (Zwart et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2005). QTL associated with *P. thornei* resistance were identified on four different wheat chromosomes, 2B, 3B, 4D and 6D (Thompson 2008) in these sources.

Breeding for resistance has relied on selection through screening of phenotypes which is arduous, time consuming and requires expensive glasshouse space. With advances in molecular marker techniques, through marker assisted selection (MAS), *Pratylenchus* resistance genes and QTL tightly linked to molecular markers can be efficiently and effectively introgressed into new cultivars. Molecular markers eliminate the need for large scale phenotyping and thus facilitate the rapid identification of resistance loci and allow their implementation through MAS, to accelerate the development of new resistant cultivars (Schmidt et al. 2005, Toktay et al. 2006). As *Pratylenchus* resistance in wheat is polygenic (Zwart et al. 2004), genetic analysis is required to identify the several genes controlling the expressed resistance. While several *P. neglectus* and *P. thornei* resistance QTL have been identified, to date resistance genes are not routinely selected through MAS or have been cloned. Further work is needed to identify *Pratylenchus* resistance genes to establish closely linked markers suitable for breeding.

The majority of studies analysing biological and biochemical resistance mechanisms have focussed on the sedentary endoparasitic nematodes (Meloidogyne and Heterodera), and little is known about *Pratylenchus* resistance. Elucidation of resistance at the molecular and biological level may provide clues to how and when resistance genes function. After root penetration, root knot and cyst nematodes migrate through the cortex causing little damage. Once a suitable site is reached they initiate the formation of a feeding structure, comprising large metabolically active cells from which the nematodes obtain nutrients for development. The resistance genes of sedentary nematodes such as the *Mi* gene against root knot species and the Cre3 gene against cereal cyst nematodes, degrade or inhibit the flow of nutrients from their feeding structures preventing juvenile development and reproduction (Dropkin 1969, Seah et al. 2000). Once permanent feeding sites have been established these nematodes are generally immobile (Sijmons et al. 1994, Williamson 1999). This contrasts to migratory nematodes such as *Pratylenchus*, which migrate intracellularly through the root after penetration, feeding on cortex cells (Zunke 1990). As the mechanisms of invasion are different, the resistance mechanisms of *Meloidogyne* and *Heterodera* cannot be used to model *Pratylenchus* resistance. Therefore, investigation of specific resistance mechanisms will aid in a better overall understanding of wheat resistance to Pratylenchus.

Early studies investigated resistance to *Pratylenchus* with respect to the numbers and developmental stages of nematodes within the soils of resistant roots, but the mechanisms occurring within roots are unknown. These early studies showed that resistance to *Pratylenchus* did not prevent penetration and suggested that resistance mechanisms must be activated to prevent reproduction during migration, feeding or reproduction itself (Farsi et al. 1994). The identification of a resistance mechanism at a specific stage of invasion or within a particular tissue would enhance screening procedures by reducing associated costs and time. In addition, characterisation of the role of resistance mechanisms may indicate the function of identified resistance genes.

#### 1.2 Life Cycle

All motile *Pratylenchus* life stages are parasitic as both adults and juveniles can penetrate, migrate and feed within roots (Bridge and Starr 2007). Root lesion nematodes have four juvenile stages between the egg and adult with each subsequent moult producing an increase in size and sexual development (Luc et al. 2005). The stage one juveniles moult to stage two juveniles (J2) within the egg before they hatch and emerge into the soil or root (Shurtleff and Averre 2000). The nematodes then moult through stages three (J3) and four (J4) juveniles to become fully developed adults.

*Pratylenchus* penetrates and feeds within the cortex and eggs are deposited singly in the cavities created by migration (Acedo and Rhode 1971, Bridge and Starr 2007). Females can

also deposit eggs in the soil (Pudasaini et al. 2008). Males are rare in *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* populations and thus females reproduce by mitotic parthenogenesis (De Waele and Elsen 2002). Eggs have been observed as early as 5 days after inoculation (d.a.i.) (Townshend 1963). The eggs hatch or are released into the soil during root degradation (Agrios 1988).

*Pratylenchus* can complete its life cycle in 45 to 65 days depending on environmental factors including the amount and quality of available food sources, temperature and host species (Taylor et al. 2000). The optimum conditions for development vary with each species. However, *Pratylenchus* can complete three to six generations within roots during one crop growing season (Taylor et al. 2000). Both *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* are able to survive drought conditions (Tobar et al. 1996). *Pratylenchus neglectus* survived in a state of reversible anhydrobiosis in dry soil for over 15 months (Meagher 1970). While in this state the nematodes are coiled which is probably a protective and a distribution mechanism (Glazer and Orion 1983, Baujard and Martiny 1994). During anhydrobiosis the nematodes are not susceptible to desiccation, extremes of temperature and chemicals (Luc et al. 2005), but they are vulnerable to mechanical damage.

#### 1.3 Histopathology

There has been very little investigation into the invasion mechanisms of the two most common species that parasitise cereal crops, *P. neglectus* and *P. thornei*. Physical aspects of invasion such as lesion formation which are easily visualised have been reported, but nematode movement within the roots remains poorly documented. Some *Pratylenchus* species such as *Pratylenchus penetrans* which affect legume and fruit crops have been investigated in more detail (Townshend 1963, 1978, Townshend and Stobbs 1981, Townshend 1984, Townshend et al. 1989, Castillo et al. 1995, Castillo et al. 1998, Castillo et al. 1998). Where there was a lack of literature specific to *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* the proposed invasion mechanisms (penetration and feeding) discussed in this thesis are based around histopathological models of other closely related and well documented *Pratylenchus* species such as *P. penetrans*. However, as the histopathology of different species of *Pratylenchus* is host specific, it is essential that *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* invasion mechanisms in wheat are the focus of future investigations (Townshend 1963, 1963, Townshend et al. 1989, Thompson 1990, Zunke 1990, 1990).

The invasion process of *Pratylenchus* nematodes can be separated into six components: root recognition, probing, penetration, ectoparasitic and endoparasitic feeding and reproduction. Initially, the nematode probes the surface of the root for an acceptable penetration site and once found penetrates the root with its stylet. After a salivation period, the nematode may feed ectoparasitically on the root under certain environmental conditions. Eventually, the nematode enters the root and migrates intracellularly while feeding endoparasitically on root cortex cells, with adults depositing eggs (Zunke 1990).

#### 1.3.1 Probing and Root Exploration

#### 1.3.1.1 Mechanisms of Root Exploration

Nematodes probe or search the surface of the root to find acceptable penetration sites. Root exudates are the most probable stimulus for attracting *Pratylenchus* to the root region (Baxter and Blake 1967, Wallace 1974, 1989). Prior to selection of a penetration site, contact of the lips with the root probably involves sensory perception mechanisms (Doncaster and Seymour 1973). *P. penetrans* explores the root by rubbing the lip region along the surface of epidermal cells and protracting their stylet enough to touch but not penetrate the walls (Zunke 1990). It is unknown what makes a penetration site acceptable for entry but it could be a site that physically allows easier access or it may be controlled by biochemical signals.

#### 1.3.1.2 Zones of Penetration and Entry

There are differences in the sites and mechanisms of *Pratylenchus* root penetration. In lucerne and clover, *P. penetrans* preferred to penetrate the main roots where lateral roots ruptured the cortex and migrated through the cortex of main roots into lateral roots (Townshend et al. 1989). In other studies, P. penetrans aggregated and penetrated in the zone of root elongation (Troll and Rhode 1966, Zunke 1990). In lucerne, strawberry and maize roots, the preferred zone of penetration for both adults and juveniles appeared to be the dense root hair zone, with 61% of the lesions developing on the root hairs of lucerne (Townshend 1978). However, *P. penetrans* may explore and penetrate in the root hair region but may not feed on them (Ogiga and Estey 1975, Kurrpa and Vrain 1985). Using high resolution video-enhanced contrast microscopy, Zunke (1990) observed P. penetrans penetrating and feeding on root hairs of various hosts including rape, tobacco and potatoes. In wheat, Pratylenchus minyus was found in higher numbers in seminal rather than crown roots (Kimpinski et al. 1976), suggesting nematodes may enter near the root hairs of seminal roots. Preference for the root hair zone may have a biochemical basis for attraction or a physical basis allowing easier entry (Townshend 1978). Castillo et al. (1998) found that both females and juveniles of *P. thornei* penetrated the roots of chickpea without any site preference.

It is probable that *P. thornei* penetrates in the region of root hair development as suggested by Zunke (1990) for *P. penetrans*. The video-enhanced contrast microscopy used in that study provided higher resolution images than the light microscopy used by Castillo et al. (1998). In addition, *P. mediterraneus*, a closely related species, also invades primarily at the root hair region (Orion and Lapid 1993). The number of nematodes present within the root decreased as the inoculum density increased (Baxter and Blake 1967, Townshend 1978, Griffin and Gray 1990) indicating competition for penetration sites. If *P. penetrans* prefers to enter at the root hair zone, this may limit the root surface area available for penetration, and explain reduced penetration at high nematode density (Griffin and Gray 1990).

*Pratylenchus neglectus* differs from both *P. thornei* and *P. penetrans* in the way that it penetrates and feeds upon root cells. *Pratylenchus neglectus* generally penetrate in a non-random pattern but is attracted principally to the root tip region (Anderson and Townshend 1976). Studies with wheat showed that *P. neglectus* first penetrates the seminal and later crown roots (Kimpinski et al. 1976). In contrast to other *Pratylenchus* species, *P. neglectus* does not primarily feed on cortical cells but tends to migrate to and feed on more mature areas of the root such as the meristemic tissue behind the root cap. This in turn causes prevention of root elongation (Anderson and Townshend 1976).

#### 1.3.1.3 Factors Affecting Selection of Penetration Site

The plant-nematode relationships involving *Pratylenchus* species are affected by environmental conditions, which in turn affect the nematodes' pathogenic potential. Some of these factors include soil temperature, moisture content, plant age and nematode developmental stage. The moisture content of the soil plays an important role in the numbers of nematodes present and yield losses. Castillo et al. (1995) showed that *P. thornei* populations are significantly greater in soil when plants are under water stress and the soil is dry, compared to when the soil is at water holding capacity.

The amount of nematode damage to plant roots is inversely proportional to seedling age at the time of inoculation (Ogbuyi 1976). In lucerne, the number of *P. penetrans* at all migratory life stages was inversely proportional to age of root tissue. Two day old root tissue in the root hair zone was penetrated twice as much as 10 to 20 day old root tissue. As the cortex degenerates in maturing roots, penetration apparently becomes difficult. In addition, biochemical and nutrient changes within these older tissues may cause the cortex to become less favourable for habitation (Olthof 1982). The study also confirmed the earlier study by Townshend (1978) showing that females were more infective than juveniles as they penetrated the roots earlier, faster and over a wider range of soil temperatures. Townshend (1978) attributed the greater ability of females to penetrate to the size of the glands in the posterior subventral lobe. The larger size of these glands could allow them to produce greater quantities of enzymes at a faster rate than in other life stages. Klinkenberg (1963) suggested that the stylet of newly hatched juveniles was not fully developed and too weak to penetrate the strong cell walls, thus making them less invasive than the bigger and stronger adult females. Therefore, greatest penetration would be achieved in young seedling roots in soils that are dry and have higher proportions of adult *Pratylenchus* than juveniles.

6

#### 1.3.2 Stylet Penetration

After cell surface exploration, the stylet is inserted slowly several times with increasingly deeper thrusts into the chosen cellular site (Kurrpa and Vrain 1985, Zunke 1990). Kurrpa and Vrain (1985) suggested that repeated thrusts were needed as the epidermis is quite elastic and difficult to penetrate. The number and duration of stylet thrusts probably differs between plant species due to differences in structure and thickness of epidermal root cell walls.

#### 1.3.3 Salivation and Ectoparasitic Feeding

*Pratylenchus penetrans* salivated once the stylet was inserted to a length of about 2 μm. During salivation the median bulb of the oesophagus pulsated several times and secretions passed from the stylet into the root cell. The saliva may predigest, through enzymic action, the cytoplasmic material to be ingested (Kurrpa and Vrain 1985). During salivation the root cell contents do not appear to change but the rate of cytoplasmic streaming increases (Zunke 1990). *Pratylenchus* adults move into the root to feed endoparasitically sooner than juveniles, which remain feeding on root hairs for extended periods (Ogiga and Estey 1975, Zunke 1990). On various hosts ectoparasitic feeding can last for several minutes (Zunke 1990). It is probable that ectoparasitic feeding and its duration relies on environmental conditions at the time of invasion.

When ectoparasitic feeding is completed, the stylet is withdrawn from the root cell and the puncture hole created by nematode penetration appears to close over. A mixture of saliva and partially digested cytoplasm may harden at the insertion point and seal the hole to prevent cellular leakage (Zunke 1990). There is generally only one salivation and ingestion period before the nematode penetrates the root to feed endoparasitically (Kurrpa and Vrain 1985).

#### 1.3.4 Root Entry and Endoparasitic Feeding

#### 1.3.4.1 Numbers of Nematodes during Penetration

In general, *P. penetrans* enter the roots singly but in turnip (*Brassica rapa* subsp. *rapa*) occasionally it penetrated in groups. Where several nematodes entered simultaneously they migrated together and concentrated around the stelar region. Degradation of root tissue at sites of multiple invasions resulted in an open lesion into the stele (Ogiga and Estey 1975).

One of the few histopathological studies of *P. thornei* showed that in wheat, nematodes are attracted to regions of the roots previously invaded. In this species, many nematodes penetrate, feed and reproduce in groups within particular root regions (Baxter and Blake 1968). At sites of multiple invasions, large sections of the cortex degrade and collapse, resulting in exposure of the stele. This is in contrast to the mechanisms of *P. penetrans* 

where nematodes usually penetrated the roots singly and fed upon distantly different areas of the cortex. Thus, different species of *Pratylenchus*, despite being closely related and similar in structure, appear to use different mechanisms to invade and cause root damage.

#### 1.3.4.2 Root Entry and Cortical Migration

After penetration *P. penetrans* migrate within the root and feed endoparasitcally on cortical cells. In strawberry roots, *P. penetrans* penetrated the epidermis at various depths of the cortex between 5 and 17 d.a.i. and in lucerne within 72 hours after inoculation (h.a.i.) (Townshend 1963). *Pratylenchus penetrans* penetrates the punctured cell by tearing a hole at the pierced site and waving their bodies vigorously to force root entry (Kurrpa and Vrain 1985, Zunke 1990). Nematodes migrate intracellularly within the root in either direction from the point of entry. Generally, *P. penetrans* penetrates epidermal and the outermost cortical cells at right angles to the longitudinal axis. Once in the cortex, they migrate slowly parallel to the longitudinal axis, penetrating the transverse walls of successive cells (Ogiga and Estey 1975, Townshend et al. 1989). *Pratylenchus* may be stretched out or coiled within the cortical cells, occupying a single cell or several layers, depending on cell size (Castillo et al. 1998). During migration at each new cell the nematode punctures the cell with stylet thrusts and then pierces a row of holes over the entire end wall. Through pressing its anterior end against the weakened cell it pushes through into the adjacent cells.

#### 1.3.4.3 Cortical Feeding

*Pratylenchus* can traverse several layers of cortex cells causing extensive damage while frequently feeding on cellular contents (Zunke 1990), which contrasts to the fixed feeding sites of sedentary nematodes (Taylor et al. 2000). In lucerne roots *P. penetrans* may briefly feed on cells and a small salivation zone appears around the stylet. During this brief feeding for several minutes, the cells rarely die but often have hypertrophied nuclei with a granulated appearance (Zunke 1990). Extended feeding occurring over several hours is marked by a period of salivation of 2 minutes. Salivary secretions of *Pratylenchus* contain pectic, cellulolytic and proteolytic enzymes and may be capable of breaking down cells and releasing their contents (Krusberg 1960).

Migration of *Pratylenchus* through root tissue causes collapse of invaded cells. Extended feeding causes degradation of the cellular contents and eventual cell death (Orion and Lapid 1993) which appear as necrotic lesions. Necrosis is caused by the degradation of plasma membranes leading to swelling and lysis of cellular contents (Zwart et al. 2004). In roots invaded by both *P. penetrans* and *P. thornei*, cortical cells often lack cytoplasmic content and show loss of membrane integrity, have shrunken tonoplasts and degenerated organelles, with nuclear hypertrophy and granulation (Zunke 1990, Castillo et al. 1998). Similar structural changes occur in the surrounding cortex and endodermal cells with increased tannin

deposits in the cytoplasm, tonoplast and vacuoles (Townshend et al. 1989, Castillo et al. 1998).

#### 1.3.4.4 Endodermis and Vascular Tissue Penetration

Some studies suggest that *Pratylenchus* do not enter vascular tissues, but in certain hosts, such as turnip, *P. penetrans* invades the endodermis and stele. However, in contrast, the endodermis acted as a barrier to *P. penetrans* invasion of vascular elements in lucerne (Castillo and Essica 1965, Townshend et al. 1989), clover (Townshend and Stobbs 1981), apple (Pitcher et al. 1960), peach, maize (Ogiga and Estey 1975), strawberry (Townshend 1963, Ogiga and Estey 1975), potato, tobacco (Zunke 1990) and celery (Townshend 1963). Although *P. penetrans* was never found in the stele of celery, nematodes were observed occasionally in the endodermis (Townshend 1963). The resistance of the endodermis to *P. penetrans* in tomato (Pi 1966) and carrot (Rohde 1965) was only temporary as nematodes were found in the stele one month after inoculation. Similarly, in cabbage, *P. penetrans* was found probing endodermal tissues 2 weeks after inoculation (w.a.i.) and had penetrated the stele 4 weeks later (Acedo and Rhode 1971). In the only published study investigating the capacity of *P. thornei* to invade further tissues, *P. thornei* caused some damage to the endodermis of chickpea, but was never found in the stele or feeding on endodermal cells (Castillo et al. 1998).

#### 1.3.4.5 Reproduction

Mature Pratylenchus females deposit eggs singly in the cavities created by migration (Acedo and Rhode 1971, Bridge and Starr 2007) or in the soil (Pudasaini et al. 2008) in close vicinity to the roots. There is little information on the egg laying abilities of *Pratylenchus* species. An early study found that in red clover, P. penetrans produced 16 to 35 eggs per female at a rate of 1 to 2 eggs per day over 55 days (Turner and Chapman 1972). Embryogenic development of *P. thornei* is completed in around 10 days (Roman and Hirschmann 1969). The first juvenile moult occurs 2 days later within the egg to produce J2 which then hatch from the egg using stylet thrusts. Egg hatching is influenced by temperature and host signals. The optimum temperature for hatching of *P. thornei* is between 18 to 22 °C (Castillo et al. 1996). Generally, not all eggs deposited will hatch. For example, a maximum of 50% of the P. penetrans eggs hatched even though 64% already contained J1 or J2 during in vitro tests under optimum conditions (Pudasaini et al. 2008). It is known that hatching in Pratylenchus species can occur in water without root exudates, however, some studies have shown hatching is enhanced by plant root exudates. De Waele et al. (1988) demonstrated under glasshouse conditions that hatching in P. brachyurus and Pratylenchus zeae was influenced by maize roots and Pudasaini et al. (2008) showed that maize, bean and marigold enhanced hatch of *P. penetrans*. The influence of root diffusates was not restricted to particular plant species or of a specific age, highlighting the polyphagous nature of *Pratylenchus*. As the

9

nematode moves and feeds within the root it undergoes development with the third and fourth moults inducing changes in the development of the reproductive system (Roman and Hirschmann 1969).

#### 1.3.5 Symptoms

Root lesions are the main symptoms for plants invaded with *Pratylenchus* species. Generally, lesions first appear on roots as water-soaked areas as the nematodes penetrate the root epidermis. These water-soaked lesions over time form an elliptical shape 1 to 2 mm in length and change colour to olive green and finally reddish brown (De Waele and Elsen 2002). The elliptical lesions initially lie parallel to the root axis in the same orientation as the migrating nematodes but over time increase in size and merge to form large sections of discoloured tissue. Most necrosis occurs on roots near the soil surface but lateral roots may also become necrotic. In cabbage invaded with *P. thornei*, many lateral roots had a beaded appearance caused by the large number of abandoned root initials (Acedo and Rhode 1971). In strawberry roots 3 to 4 w.a.i. the crowns had not developed sufficiently to produce adventitious roots, decreasing the extent of root growth (Townshend 1963).

As *Pratylenchus* invasion causes loss of root function, above ground symptoms reflect nutrient and water deficiencies. Above ground, *Pratylenchus* symptoms are not easily determined and are affected by environmental factors (Taylor et al. 1999), but in general damaged plants show lack of vigour and stunted growth (Fulton et al. 1960). Feeding by *Pratylenchus* can facilitate the entry of other pathogens and commonly invasion is associated with fungi (Evans and Haydcock 1993) which causes increased nematode invasion and thus yield loss. For example, when the fungal pathogen *Fusarium acuminatum* is associated with *P. neglectus* greater damage to wheat plants results (Taheri 1996).

The effects of *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* on growth are not well established. Wheat plants infested with *P. thornei* are rarely killed but show stunting, chlorotic leaves and have necrosis at leaf tips. In addition, invaded plants have reduced tillering and also fewer and smaller ears (Van Gundy et al. 1974). Premature wilting and delayed flowering have also been associated with *P. thornei* invasion of wheat (Thompson et al. 1980).

*P. thornei* nematodes cause degradation of large sections of the cortex, significantly reducing the absorptive capacity of the roots (Jaques and Schwass 1956). Baxter and Blake (1968) observed that *P. thornei* penetrated and fed on and destroyed both seminal and nodal roots. During early growth, loss of seminal roots can significantly reduce grain yield (Sallans 1942), as on a weight for weight basis, seminal roots absorb twice as much water as nodal roots (Goedewaagen 1942). Therefore, invaded plants can have significantly reduced yields as they are unable to efficiently uptake water.

The plant response to different species of *Pratylenchus* appears to be host specific (Nicol 1996). Differences for temporal development of symptoms of P. penetrans invasion were observed on different hosts. For example, 12 h.a.i. lesions on lucerne roots appeared as water-soaked areas on the upper feeder roots (Townshend 1978, Townshend and Stobbs 1981). However, lesions on strawberry roots inoculated with P. penetrans were observed only after 17 d.a.i. (Townshend 1963) and lesions in the proximal parts of the seminal roots of wheat appeared only after 6 w.a.i. when inoculated with P. thornei (Baxter and Blake 1968). Differences in pathogenicity and host tolerance could affect the timing and development of symptoms. It was initially considered that genetic diversity existed between Pratylenchus species (Motalaote et al. 1987) due to differences in reproductive fitness and pathogenic capabilities between populations (Tiyagi and Parveen 1992, Castillo et al. 1995). However, no significant differences in reproduction rates, measured by the final numbers of nematodes present in the root, or pathogenicity as measured by severity of necrosis, were observed among four different P. thornei populations on chickpea (Castillo et al. 1998). As molecular analysis has not been employed to analyse Pratylenchus pathogenicity, differences between species cannot be excluded.

#### 1.4 Biological and Biochemical Resistance Mechanisms

Few studies have considered the effects of resistance genotypes on nematode biology as most focus primarily on the genetics behind plant nematode interactions. The elucidation of resistance at the molecular and biochemical level can provide clues to how and when resistance genes function. Plant responses to nematode invasion involve both biological (physical) and chemical barriers that are either preformed (constitutive) or specifically induced by the nematode, such as the highly specific resistance gene mediated defense. The preformed constitutive defense is based on phytoanticipins which are present in the plant before pathogen exposure or are produced after invasion from preformed precursors (VanEtten et al. 1994). Preformed defense compounds are synthesised during normal plant development. Phytoanticipins implicated in plant resistance to nematodes include phenols and glycosides (Zwart et al. 2004). As migratory nematodes move through the root and do not have a fixed feeding or reproductive site, the elicitation of a biochemical attack needs to be immediate to provide protection of tissues not yet invaded. Induced pathogen defense is host specific as it is initiated by pathogen derived elicitors that induce a complex signalling cascade to cue the production of defense chemicals, namely phytoalexins (VanEtten et al. 1994) either locally (at the site of invasion) or systemically (outside the invasion site) (Rojo et al. 2003). Low molecular weight antimicrobial defense compounds generally include phenylpropanoid derivatives, sesquiterpenes, polyketides and flavonoid and isoflavonoid derivatives (Hammerschmidt 1999, 1999) and their role is to interfere with pathogen

development and/or induce the production of morphological barriers that impound the pathogen (Veech 1982).

#### 1.4.1 Resistance at Penetration

Resistance to root knot, cereal cyst and root lesion nematodes investigated in several crop species has not been reported to be associated with penetration. In a resistant wheat cultivar, significant numbers of P. thornei were found within the roots (Talavera and Vanstone 2001), indicating penetration had occurred. The penetration rates of *Meloidogyne incognita* in both resistant and susceptible cultivars of cotton were similar several days after inoculation (Creech et al. 1995). In addition, studies of Heterodera species showed the nematode could successfully penetrate and migrate to the feeding site in both susceptible and resistant cultivars of wheat, soybean and potato (Kim et al. 1987, Williams and Fisher 1993). In a resistant potato cultivar, the initial number of *Meloidogyne fallax* juveniles was less than in the susceptible cultivar, but at 60 h.a.i., similar numbers were present in the roots (Kouassi et al. 2004). This was also observed with *M. incognita* where fewer juveniles had penetrated resistant roots 24 h.a.i., but by 48 h.a.i. numbers were comparable to those in the susceptible cultivar (Cantosaenz and Brodie 1987). However, penetration of *M. incognita* in a resistant potato cultivar and in the wild grass, Aegilops variabilis was inhibited (Khanna and Nirula 1964) and resistance was characterised by a lower juvenile invasion rate (Yu et al. 1990). Although, as these observations were recorded only a few hours after inoculation, the effects of delayed penetration and not inhibition could have been observed in these studies. As Pratylenchus have been observed in resistant roots it is unlikely that penetration is inhibited, however, it may be delayed. Resistant roots may have thicker cuticles impeding or slowing root entry or have decreased secretion of chemoattractant chemicals used by nematodes to locate roots within the soil.

#### 1.4.2 Resistance to Motility and Feeding

The ability to move is essential to invasion as a nematode must first migrate through the soil towards the root. For migratory nematodes the ability to move is critical as once it has penetrated the root it needs to migrate through the root cortex in order to feed. If feeding is suppressed the nematodes will not have enough energy to moult to the next developmental stage and thus will not mature to lay eggs. Several groups of plant derived chemicals have been associated with the suppression of nematode motility in resistant cultivars by directly acting upon the nematode including flavonoids, isoflavonoids and sesquiterpenes (Rich et al. 1977, Kaplan et al. 1980, Veech 1982, Zinov'eva and Chalova 1987). Resistance to nematode migration has also been observed by preventing nematode movement through root cells by either necrosis via phenolics and cell wall hardening via peroxidases and lignifications (Valette et al. 1998, Nithya et al. 2007, Wuyts et al. 2007).

#### 1.4.2.1 Chemical Suppression of Motility

#### 1.4.2.1.1 Flavonoids

Flavonoids possess a wide range of biological activities, including protecting plants against environmental stresses such as temperature extremes (drought, frost and UV exposure) (Chalker-Scott and Krahmer 1989, Rozema et al. 1997, Moore et al. 2004). Flavonoids also play a role as plant chemical defense compounds. The first flavonoid linked to nematode resistance was associated with *Pratylenchus scribneri* in lima beans (Rich et al. 1977). In resistant lima bean root tissue, the coumestans coumestrol and psoralidin were found in response to *P. scribneri* invasion. These compounds were isolated and found to inhibit *P. scribneri* motility *in vitro* at 5  $\mu$ g/mL (Rich et al. 1977), which is similar to levels within root cells. The flavonoid medicarpin was correlated with resistance to *P. penetrans* in lucerne. Higher constitutive levels of medicarpin were observed in resistant roots than in susceptible. An *In vitro* analysis showed that medicarpin inhibited motility at concentrations similar to those reported for coumestrol (Baldridge et al. 1998).

#### 1.4.2.1.2 Isoflavonoids

Glyceollins, products of the isoflavonoid branch of the phenylpropanoid pathway (Kaplan et al. 1980), have antimicrobial properties and have been implicated in the resistance of soybean to nematode invasion. In response to *M. incognita* invasion, glyceollin accumulated 2 to 3 d.a.i. in the resistant roots but no accumulation was observed in susceptible roots. An *in vitro* analysis found that the effect of glyceollin is nematostatic, as it inhibits *M. incognita*'s respiration preventing movement and thus establishment of a feeding site (Kaplan et al. 1980). In response to *Heterodera glycines*, glyceollin accumulated in root tissues adjacent to the head of the nematode, suggesting glycoproteins on the cuticle near the head (Huang and Barker 1986) or salivary secretions act as glyceollin elicitors.

#### 1.4.2.1.3 Sesquiterpenes

Terpenoids are a large and diverse plant chemical class derived from five-carbon isoprene units. They are involved in the plant respiratory process and electron transport but also have protective properties (Zinov'eva et al. 2001). The sesquiterpene rishitin, isolated from potato roots, had nematostatic effects on the stem nematode, *Ditylenchus destructor*, with the amount detected proportional to the resistance level observed (Zinov'eva and Chalova 1987). Sesquiterpenes were also associated with *M. incognita* resistance in cotton. After inoculation with *M. incognita*, the sesquiterpene aldehyde, gossypol, and its derivatives increased in the endoderm and cortical tissues of resistant, but not susceptible, cotton roots (Veech and McClure 1977). An *in vitro* analysis showed that after exposure to gossypol for 5 h at a concentration reflecting similar levels produced in roots (125 µg/mL), *M. incognita* larvae lost motility (Veech 1982).

#### 1.4.2.2 Suppression of Migration and Feeding

#### 1.4.2.2.1 Cinnamic Acids

Cinnamic acids are products of the phenylpropanoid pathway and are involved in plant resistance to nematodes (Trudgill 1991), most likely through physically blocking nematode movement within roots. A greater number of cells containing these acidic compounds were found in roots of resistant banana cultivars infested with *Radopholus similis* than in susceptible cultivars (Wuyts et al. 2007). High concentrations of hydroxycinnamic acids, including ferulic acid, caffeic esters and dopamine, were found in parenchyma and vascular cells in *R. similis* resistant roots (Valette et al. 1998). In particular, ferulic acid has been found covalently bound to cell wall polysaccharides (Wuyts et al. 2007), which may act as a physical mechanism to protect cell walls from nematode-secreted cell wall degrading enzymes (Hartley and Jones 1977) and thus prevent nematode migration and feeding.

#### 1.4.2.2.2 Phenolics and Necrosis

Phenolic compounds have been associated with *Pratylenchus* lesion formation in a variety of hosts. Necrosis and death of cortical cells caused by *Pratylenchus* species occurs rapidly in advance of penetrated areas, preventing further nematode migration (Mountain and Patrick 1959). The release and oxidation of preformed phenolic compounds such as glycosides and glucosinolates (nitrogen-containing secondary metabolites) by plant enzymes, as a result of pathogen damage, is a common defense mechanism observed in many plants against various bacterial and fungal pathogens (Oku 1960, Hildebrand and Schroth 1964, Olah and Sherwood 1973). Preformed phenolic compounds are stored in specialised cells as inactive precursors and released into invaded tissue by plant or pathogen enzymes.

Chlorogenic acid and its oxidation products were identified as the major phenolic compound in tomato roots, both before and after invasion by *P. penetrans* and *M. incognita* (Hung and Rohde 1973). It was detected in both resistant and susceptible roots but at greater amounts in the resistant. The authors suggested that invasion results in accumulation of chlorogenic acid which is oxidised by the action of plant or nematode enzymes causing formation of the brown-coloured melanins in necrotic tissues. Necrosis, especially around the vascular tissues, may prevent nematodes from penetrating the endodermis. It was previously reported that lesion nematodes were repelled by the presence of chlorogenic acid and its oxidation products, in addition to significantly reducing their respiration (Chang and Rohde 1969). Chlorogenic acid has also been associated with resistance to the stem nematode *Ditylenchus angustus* in rice. In resistant plants, a compound is deglycosylated to form chlorogenic acid, but susceptible plants lack the enzyme required for deglycosylation (Plowright et al. 1996). Phenolic compounds were associated with the formation of necrosis in cabbage after invasion of *P. penetrans* (Acedo and Rhode 1971) and the major contributor

14

was identified as ferulic acid. These phenols were either synthesised in the invaded cells or released from preformed glycosidic compounds.

Mountain and Patrick (1959) suggested that root lesion formation was the result of an interaction between the nematode feeding enzyme,  $\beta$ -glucosidase, and plant phenolic compounds released from glycosides. Amygdalin, a host plant compound in peach roots, is hydrolysed by  $\beta$ -glucosidase secreted by *Pratylenchus* resulting in the release of hydrogen cyanide and benzaldehyde, which are toxic to nematodes and plant roots (Mountain and Patrick 1959), forming the yellow-red-brown products seen in the necrotic root tissue (Mace 1963). The hydrolysis of phenolic compounds by nematode secretions was later observed in *Globodera rostochiensis*, which injected  $\beta$ -glucosidase hydrolysing a glycoside to release phenolic aglycones that caused necrosis only in resistant roots (Giebel 1982).

Preformed compounds are often stored at sites where they may play a direct role in defense (Treutter 2005) and thus their release, oxidation and subsequent necrosis can occur at sites not yet occupied by the nematode. Endodermis and stele tissues not invaded by *Pratylenchus* are often the most discoloured (Mountain and Patrick 1959). Townshend (1963) found that the root tissue with the highest concentration of phenolic substances was the endodermis, and suggested that this may account for necrosis without nematode invasion. Necrotic tissue may serve as a physical barrier to prevent *Pratylenchus* penetration into the vascular system (Mountain and Patrick 1959, Pitcher et al. 1960, Townshend 1963, Uritani 1963). In oat roots invaded with *P. neglectus*, the concentration of three flavone-C-glycosides increased significantly compared to uninoculated controls. Induction of these compounds before inoculation with *P. neglectus* protected the plant from damage resulting in root and shoot growth similar to the uninoculated controls (Soriano 2004).

Hypersensitive reactions inducing necrosis are well characterised resistance mechanisms used by sedentary nematodes to prevent feeding. An example is the isolation of the syncytium of *Heterodera glycines*, where development was initiated in both soybean resistant and susceptible genotypes but within resistant roots a necrotic layer formed around it. This prevented further development and cell wall thickening sealed off the plasmodesmata preventing movement of nutrients and food to the developing nematodes (Kim et al. 1987). Nematodes were unable to feed or reach maturity as development was arrested at the juvenile stage. The *Mi*-gene based resistance is another example where an early hypersensitive response prevents the induction of *M. incognita* giant cell development and therefore nematode feeding (Trudgill 1991).

Tannins are polyphenolic compounds also involved in plant defense reactions. Light microscopic studies in lucerne roots identified electron dense osmiophilic deposits suspected to be tannin molecules in the cytoplasm and vacuoles in *P. penetrans* invaded cortical cells

and those adjacent to them, including the endodermis (Townshend et al. 1989). These tannin deposits may act as a physical barrier to nematode entry to the endodermis and vascular tissues (Townshend et al. 1989) preventing further migration and thus feeding.

#### 1.4.2.2.3 Peroxidases and Lignification

In addition to the accumulation of pathogen-induced proteins and products of secondary plant metabolism, cells undergoing a hypersensitive response are often characterised by an increase in the activity of certain enzymes, which include peroxidases, polyphenol oxidase, and phenylalanine ammonia lyase (Zwart et al. 2004). Peroxidases may be involved in increased lignin biosynthesis and esterases in the primary stages of cell wall lignification (Melillo et al. 1989, Melillo et al. 1992). Lignification may act as a physical protection mechanism. It causes cell wall hardening, preventing access of nematode enzymes to cell wall polysaccharides (Ride 1978), inhibiting nutrient transport and subsequently suppressing nematode growth and development (Levinsh and Romanovskaya 1991). Vascular lignification may also act to protect nematode invasion of the xylem and prevent entry to the vascular tissues and its source of nutrients (Valette et al. 1998).

For example, the peroxidase activity in resistant banana cultivars increased in response to *Pratylenchus coffeae* significantly more than in susceptible cultivars (Nithya et al. 2007). In addition, in cabbage roots invaded by *P. penetrans*, peroxidase activity was five times greater in resistant than in susceptible roots (Acedo and Rhode 1971). Investigation of lucerne defense responses to *P. penetrans* showed increased levels of phenylpropanoid pathway transcripts of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase and caffeic acid O-methyltransferase, which are in the lignin biosynthesis branch of the pathway. A later investigation found the compound hydroxybenzaldehyde in discoloured areas of lucerne roots invaded with *P. penetrans* (Townshend and Stobbs 1981), indicating the synthesis of lignin-like substances in these regions (Pridham 1960). Differences in the levels of superoxide dismutase were evident in resistant wheat roots inoculated with *Heterodera avenae* (Andres et al. 2001) indicating it may also have a role in defense. The increased production of these peroxidases in resistant cultivars ultimately prevents nematode feeding and thus migration through the root (Sijmons et al. 1994).

#### 1.4.3 Resistance and Effects on Reproduction

While nematodes may be able to penetrate and migrate through resistant root tissue, reproduction can be inhibited. For nematode reproduction to be successful nematodes need to develop to mature adults and deposit eggs which need to hatch at the correct time in an environment where a food source is available.

In resistant wheat roots, after 2 months, *P. thornei* densities decreased, indicating that the nematodes were unable to reproduce (Talavera and Vanstone 2001). Moulting of *P. neglectus* was significantly delayed in wheat resistant roots, compared with susceptible roots (Farsi 1996). Phytoecdysteroids have been linked to suppression of nematode moulting. Pathogens that feed upon plants with these compounds may prematurely moult or suffer metabolic damage (Dinan 2001). Mass spectrometry found that the phytoecdysteroid 20-hydroxyecdysome was induced in lucerne roots after invasion with *P. neglectus*. Exogenous application of 20-hydroxyecdysome resulted in abnormal moulting and eventual death of *P. neglectus* (Soriano 2004). Despite similar penetration by J2, several studies have found delayed or suppressed development of *M. incognita* in resistant cultivars (Reynolds et al. 1970, Moura et al. 1993). In cotton, the majority of *M. incognita* in resistant roots failed to develop to J2 or J3 (McClure et al. 1974, Jenkins et al. 1995), and thus did not mature to deposit eggs. In soybeans 10 d.a.i., sexually differentiated *M. incognita* juveniles were only observed in susceptible plants (Moura et al. 1993).

The rate of egg deposition has been associated with resistance in several plant species. For example, suppression of egg deposition for *P. neglectus* has been observed in resistant wheat cultivars. Deposition was delayed by 4 days in one resistant cultivar compared to the susceptible, and no eggs were present even 35 d.a.i. in another resistant cultivar (Farsi 1996). Similar delays in egg deposition were observed in *M. incognita* where deposition was delayed in resistant soybean cultivars by 10 days (Moura et al. 1993), and in a susceptible banana cultivar *Pratylenchus goodeyi* deposited 29.8 eggs per day compared to 18.8 in the resistant roots over the same time period (Prasad et al. 1999). In the case of *M. incognita* on soybean, those in the resistant cultivars produced 99% less eggs per egg mass than in the susceptible (Moura et al. 1993).

Nematode hatching suppression has also been observed in resistant root exudates from various plants. Root exudate from susceptible soybean cultivars stimulated more hatch and emergence of *H. glycines* than resistant cultivars (Caballero et al. 1986, Schmitt and Riggs 1991, Sikora and Noel 1996). Similarly, partially resistant clones of *solanum* hybrids generally stimulated lower hatch of *Globodera pallida* than susceptible clones after several weeks exposure to root exudates (Forrest and Phillips 1984). The isoflavonoids glyceollin and coumestrol which suppress *H. glycines* and *P. scribneri* motility have also been associated with egg hatch suppression (Trivedi et al. 1984).

#### 1.4.4 Timing and Types of Resistance

The resistance mechanisms employed can greatly vary between different nematode and plant species. For example, characterised genes conferring resistance to sedentary nematodes vary considerably in regards to mechanism, location and timing (Williamson 1999). Sedentary endoparasitic nematodes migrate intercellularly and cause little damage until a feeding site is formed, when resistance generally occurs. Migratory endoparasitic nematodes on the other hand cause extensive cellular damage while migrating and feeding intracellularly directly after penetration. Thus, the types of resistant responses and timing of induction between migratory and sedentary endoparasitic nematodes may differ due to variations in their root invasion and the mechanisms of their associated resistance genes (Rich et al. 1977, Zinov'eva and Chalova 1986). Therefore it is essential that further studies focus on investigating migratory nematode resistance. Some similarities exist however, such as lack of resistance at penetration (Williamson and Kumar 2006). The discovery of several different Pratylenchus resistance quantitative trait loci (QTL) indicates that Pratylenchus resistance in wheat will suppress several stages of nematode invasion and involve several biochemical pathways. It is beneficial for the plant to have more than one resistance ploy against nematodes like Pratylenchus due to their ability to continually migrate and feed within the root system and their constant soil population pressures.

#### 1.5 Genetic Mapping in Plants and its Applications

Plant breeding exploits genetic variation to select for traits and characteristics that are of benefit for farmers, processing industries and consumers. Numerous agronomically significant traits in cropping plants, such as disease resistance, yield and quality, are governed by many genes and thus called polygenic quantitative traits (Collard et al. 2005). For example, resistance to cereal cyst nematode, H. avenae, in hexaploid wheat is conferred several genes (Cre genes) (Slootmaker et al. 1974, Ogbonnaya et al. 2001) and resistance to *Phytophthora infestans* in potato is conferred by two closely linked resistance genes with different specificities (Huang et al. 2004). A quantitative trait is a characteristic that relies on the expression of more than one gene contributing to the final phenotype (Semagn et al. 2010). The action of these genes and their interaction with the environment varies between individuals in a population to produce a phenotype along a continuous gradient (Sham et al. 2002). This contrasts to qualitative traits, which are normally governed by a single dominant gene. The understanding of the genetics of quantitative variation is very important for plant breeding and is achieved through QTL mapping. DNA or molecular markers can be used to construct linkage maps to identify DNA regions within the plant genome that contain genes controlling a specific quantitative trait (e.g. disease resistance) and represent a QTL (Collard et al. 2005).

18

QTL mapping approaches have been used to successfully identify QTL and genes associated with various quantitative traits in wheat. Examples include, resistance in wheat to cereal cyst nematodes, *Cre1-8* and *CreR* (Ogbonnaya et al. 2001), root knot nematodes, *Rkn-mn1* (Persondedryver and Jahier 1985, Yu et al. 1990, Yu et al. 1995) and root lesion nematodes (Schmidt et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2006, Zwart et al. 2010). Several QTL have been mapped controlling resistance to various fungal diseases such as *Fusarium* head blight (*Fhb1* and *Fhb2*), powdery mildew (*Pm1–Pm32*) (Liu et al. 2002, Mingeot et al. 2002, Zeller et al. 2002, Hsam et al. 2003, Xie et al. 2003) rusts including leaf, stem (Nelson et al. 1995) and stripe (Singh et al. 2000). In addition, QTL specific to wheat agronomic traits such as yield (grain number and thousand-grain-weight) (Narasimhamoorthy et al. 2006, Kumar et al. 2007), height (dwarfing *Rht*) (Gale and Marshall 1973, 1973), winter hardiness and ear emergence (vernalisation, *Vrn1* and frost resistance, *Fr1 and* photoperiod sensitivity *Ppd*), (Galiba et al. 1995, Kato et al. 1999, Kuchel et al. 2006) and grain protein content, *Gpc-B1* (Olmos et al. 2003, Prasad et al. 2003) have also been mapped.

#### 1.5.1 Molecular Markers

QTL mapping of resistance through the use of DNA markers (genotypic information) and resistance scores (phenotypic information) can identify the location and role of the genomic regions that contain the genes for phenotypic variation. QTL mapping is based on the screening of DNA markers for their likelihood of association with a plant trait (Young 1996). Two different alleles of a gene or molecular marker occur due to DNA mutations such as base pair substitutions, DNA rearrangements and errors in DNA replication (Paterson 1996). Markers represent the genetic differences between individuals within a population and these differences are generally visualised using gel electrophoresis or fluorescence-based techniques (Collard et al. 2005). Genetic markers are either described as codominant or dominant. Codominant markers are able to generate a product of the different alleles whereas dominant markers amplify only one allele. Being able to distinguish between both alleles enables differentiation between homozygotes and heterozygotes. Genetic differences can be detected using a range of different markers, and are grouped according to their detection methods with hybridisation or PCR amplification being the most common. Examples of hybridisation-based techniques are restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) and of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based markers, random amplified length polymorphic DNAs (RAPDs), amplified fragment length polymorphisms (AFLPs) and simple sequence repeats (SSRs). SSRs or microsatellites have been extensively used in the mapping of various plant associated traits based on their high levels of polymorphism, robustness and simple methods of detection (Semagn et al. 2010).

The development of Multiplex-Ready Technology allows the selection of numerous markers in single assays (Hayden et al. 2008) through a fluorescent-based system where each primer
pair has a unique fluorescent tag. This technology increases the throughput of the SSR marker based system. Technologies based on single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are used increasingly due to the availability of cultivar-specific DNA sequence information. The SNPs represent the most frequent type of genetic polymorphism and thus provide a high density of markers near a locus of interest (Jehan and Lakhanpaul 2006). Diversity Array Technology (DArT) is a high-throughput and highly polymorphic array based method (Jaccoud et al. 2001, Akbari et al. 2006, Semagn et al. 2006) that simultaneously genotypes several hundred to thousands of SNPs and insertion/deletion polymorphisms in a single assay. The DArT arrays score the presence and absence of DNA fragments in a genomic representation via hybridisation fluorescence. The high-throughput nature of this system allows rapid construction of genetic framework maps.

#### 1.5.2 QTL Mapping

QTL mapping requires several steps: 1) development of a mapping population, 2) phenotyping the population, 3) genotyping the population (DNA markers) to construct linkage maps and 4) QTL analysis. QTL mapping is centred around that genes and markers segregate via chromosomal recombination during sexual reproduction (meiosis), which allows for analysis within the progeny (Paterson 1996). According to Mendel's law of independent assortment, when two genes (or DNA markers) are close together on the same chromosome they do not sort independently. They are considered linked as they are transmitted from parent to the offspring together during meiosis. If they sort independently, the segregation of an allele of one gene is independent of alleles of another gene. Such genes or markers are considered unlinked and 50% of the progeny will receive either one or the other allele (Collard et al. 2005). In terms of mapping, markers that are closely linked to a specific QTL will be inherited together from parent to progeny more frequently than those located further apart due to the lower chance of recombination events. The greater the distance between markers, the greater the chance of recombination (Collard et al. 2005). Recombination is not uniform across chromosomes as within wheat genomes recombination preferentially occurs in distal regions (Dvorak and Chen 1984, Kota et al. 1993, Lukaszewski and Curtis 1993, Hohmann et al. 1994, Delaney et al. 1995, Delaney et al. 1995, Gill et al. 1996, Dvorak et al. 1998).

#### 1.5.2.1 Mapping Populations

QTL mapping requires a population segregating for the trait of interest so genetic differences are detectable. Relatively large population sizes (generally >150 lines) are required to ensure QTL are identified and do not produce unrealistic phenotypic effects (Beavis 1998, Melchinger et al. 1998, Utz et al. 2000). As most cereal crops are self pollinating, mapping populations are created from parents that are homozygous but heterogenous (Collard et al.

2005). Several different types of populations can be used for mapping studies. Homozygous populations such as recombinant inbred lines and doubled haploids (Semagn et al. 2006) are advantageous as they produce homozygous, fixed lines that can be multiplied without genetic change and allow analysis of replicated trials using identical genetic material (Collard et al. 2005). Backcross or F2 (second filial generation) populations, derived from crossing the F1 (first filial generation) hybrids to one of the parents or through selfing, are easy to construct. However, they are limited as they are not highly recombinant and cannot be fixed as they are heterozygous (Young 2001, Semagn et al. 2010). Markers common between linkage maps can be used to draw comparisons and to generate consensus maps, where maps constructed from different genotypes are merged (Appels 2003, Somers et al. 2004).

## 1.5.2.2 Phenotypic Analysis

In order to perform QTL analysis which correlates the phenotype with the genotype, the mapping population needs to be phenotyped for the trait of interest. The quality of QTL mapping relies heavily on the quality of the phenotypic data generated and thus it is important that replicated trials are conducted with reliable screening protocols to minimise variation (Young 1996). Nematode resistance screening is difficult as unlike other pathogen resistance, such as leaf rusts, where visible plant disease symptoms are evident and quantifiable, there are no characterised disease symptoms that can be visualised, measured easily or be correlated to resistance. Nematode resistance has been defined as the capacity of the plant to reduce nematode reproduction, and thus to phenotype *Pratylenchus* resistance the numbers of nematodes reproducing on wheat roots needs to be quantified.

Nematode tolerance is the ability of the plant to grow and yield whilst enduring nematode reproduction and is phenotyped by measuring yield. Therefore, phenotyping has to occur at the end of the season and generally only in the field as glasshouse space is commonly limited. In addition, many factors can influence yield and thus it is difficult to associate reduced yield with nematode damage even if there are high nematode numbers in the soil.

Traditionally, phenotypic evaluation of *Pratylenchus* resistance is measured by nematode reproduction either under controlled environmental conditions or in the field. Field evaluations have been used to phenotype selected cultivars for resistance and tolerance, but have not been used for generating phenotypic data for mapping studies. Field sites are carefully selected so that they primarily contain the target nematode and have minimal populations of other soil pathogens (nematodes and fungi). Field evaluation requires replicated trials planted on sites with quantified initial population numbers (Pi). Trials can be conducted on sites with low initial target populations which are then re-cropped with the same test cultivars for several successive wheat seasons and after each cropping season (approximately 7 months) the soil is sampled (replicated cores to 10 cm depth from each plot) and the final

number of nematodes is (Pf) quantified. The amount of reproduction is calculated by the change in nematode numbers (Pi/Pf). Alternatively field reproduction evaluations can be conducted in sites where test cultivars grown in plots with high and low *Pratylenchus* densities are compared. Susceptible cultivars are planted over several seasons to establish high soil inoculum levels. Wheat cultivars of known susceptibility and resistance are included in the experimental design to act as standard controls. These field evaluations are laborious, costly and time consuming as they require intensive labour for site management including planting, harvesting and soil collection on large scales for several years. Field studies are subject to variability due to inconsistent weather (rain, temperature, and soil moisture), inconsistent nematode populations across plots and other environmental implications (effects of other diseases and pests and soil type changes). These environmental factors can greatly influence the phenotypic assessments of traits.

A less labour intensive and faster approach is through the use of controlled environmental/ glasshouse evaluation. This method has been used extensively to phenotype large mapping populations. Plants are grown in pots arranged according to a randomised complete block design with replicates of each line. Plants are established usually in a pasteurised medium enriched with required nutrients (N, P, K, S, Ca and Zn) and inoculated with Pratylenchus nematodes obtained from a pure culture. The inoculum concentration varies between research groups from 2.5 to 10 nematodes per gram of soil (Thompson et al. 1999, Zwart et al. 2004). Inoculum densities need to mimic those of general field environments. Levels need to be high enough to distinguish reproductive differences between genotypes but not to cause extensive root damage preventing nematode feeding. The temperature, water, humidity and light conditions are regulated. Generally, temperatures are maintained at 22 °C, the optimum temperature for *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* reproduction. Pots are placed on matting and watered through a self regulating bottom watering system that maintains a moisture content of approximately 55%. Plants are grown for 6 to 16 weeks before either soil and/or roots are collected for nematode quantification. This method compared to field evaluation eliminates environmental variability and enables much higher throughput in considerably less time (months versus years).

With resistance screening there is always the uncertainty whether resistance identified under controlled environment/glasshouse conditions will be observed in the field. Results from a study of the initial glasshouse pot tests developed (O'Reilly and Thompson 1993) for *Pratylenchus* resistance, using sterilised soil at 5 *P. thorneil*/g were able to closely rank wheat cultivars on resistance to their field rankings. Despite the ability to mimic temperature, moisture, nutrients and soil type aspects within controlled growth systems it is very difficult to recreate the same field growing systems. It has been suggested that root architecture of plants grown in pots does not reflect that of root systems in the field. The number, structure, density and depth of roots can greatly influence *Pratylenchus* penetration and thus

reproduction. An aspect that needs to be considered when comparing systems is the higher density of plant roots in pots compared to field conditions, causing higher nematode multiplication. While glasshouse screenings effectively identify resistance, it may also be useful to analyse the same material in field trials over various locations. This will evaluate the influence of soil environment and climate on the identified resistance and tolerance.

The guantification of nematodes from soil and roots has traditionally relied on extraction of live nematodes and direct counting via microscopic assessment. Extraction methods can separate and collect nematodes from soil and roots based on their size and shape through sieving, decanting, elutricating or floatation. However, the most common method for Pratylenchus extraction relies on their mobility and sedimentation rate. Techniques based on the Whitehead tray method and its modifications (Whitehead and Hemming 1965, Doyle et al. 1987, Thompson et al. 1995, Taylor and Evans 1998, Hollaway et al. 2000, Taylor et al. 2000) such as misting techniques (Southey 1986, Vanstone et al. 1998) have been extensively used. These methods are based on the premise that when inoculated plant material or soil is moistened with water nematodes will move out of the material and sink enabling collection. The extraction efficiency of these Whitehead methods is quite low in contrast to the newly emerged DNA quantification technology. The number of nematodes extracted from damp soils (South Australian wheat field) collected by Whitehead tray and misting chamber methods yielded 5.2 and 2.7 Pratylenchus/g soil respectively, compared to 21.2 Pratylenchus/g of soil extracted and quantified by DNA detection (Hollaway et al. 2003). DNA detection methods quantify the amount of nematode DNA present within soil or plant samples and can be designed to specifically target different genus and species. The amount of nematode DNA can be used to calculate nematode reproduction but also as a diagnostic tool to identify and quantify different nematodes within soil communities. The plant material/soil is dried and DNA from all living matter is extracted. There are a variety of different DNA kits for soil extraction (e.g. MoBio, MoBio Laboratories Inc., Carlsbad, USA, and Bio 101, Bio 101 Inc., Vista, USA) and several protocols have been published (e.g. (Steffan et al. 1988, Picard et al. 1992, Frostegård et al. 1999, Watson and Blackwell 2000, Stults et al. 2001)). However, due to intellectual property protecting these protocols for commercial use, many are unavailable.

A targeted approach, using nematode species/genus specific primers designed from sequence data unique to the target nematode, allows the discrimination of resistance between different nematodes in the field. Real time quantitative PCR assays quantify the amount of target nematode DNA providing a sensitive and powerful method for the quantification nematodes in soil (Schena et al. 2004). Quantitative PCR is based on the detection and quantification of a fluorescent reporter signal (Bustin 2000), which increases in direct proportion to the amount of PCR product in a reaction, thus enabling absolute quantification (Gachon et al. 2004). This method has high sensitivity detecting one nematode

per gram of soil (Yan et al. 2012) and is rapid as it can process 500 g samples, with a high throughput of over 100 samples/day (Ophel-Keller et al. 2008). Standard curves are generated by adding known numbers of nematodes to soil so that the amount of nematode DNA per gram of soil can be calculated. The plants are scored resistant, moderately resistant, moderately susceptible or susceptible based on correlations to DNA amounts of check varieties in each of these categories.

Although this DNA quantification method is rapid and reliable, it is expensive, especially when large populations need to be phenotyped with several replicates. In addition, the technology is restricted in that it can only be performed by specialised technicians with specialised equipment. However, the quantification of extracted nematodes that utilises microscopic analysis relies upon tedious counting which is inefficient and introduces human error. The DNA methods have higher nematode extraction efficiencies, are more sensitive and have low extraction variations. As this technology continues to evolve, costs and accessibility will be improved making it the superior choice for nematode resistance phenotyping.

## 1.5.2.3 Linkage Maps

In order to genotype the mapping population and to construct a genetic linkage map, polymorphic DNA markers need to be selected as they reveal differences between the parents. Once these markers are identified the population is genotyped where DNA from each of the progeny lines is screened with all polymorphic DNA markers (Collard et al. 2005). Genetic differences between markers in individuals are observed by detection of sequence differences. Distances between markers along the chromosomes are measured in terms of recombination frequencies, which are represented as map distances in centiMorgans (cM) (Collard et al. 2005). The markers act as signs indicating the genetic distance along the chromosome and from a QTL. The progeny will inherit alleles and thus markers from either parent and in the case of a double haploid progeny, each marker will be present in a homozygous state (Semagn et al. 2006). The logarithm of odds (LOD) ratio calculates the probability that two markers are linked versus not being linked based on their recombination frequencies (Risch 1992). A linkage map is created using the recombination estimates between each pair of markers and is used to estimate positions relative to each other. Markers are then grouped into linkage groups which represent chromosomes (Collard et al. 2005). Due to unequal recombination along chromosome linkage maps (Gill et al. 1993, Gill et al. 1996) genetic distance does not correlate linearly to physical distance (Semagn et al. 2006).

Linkage maps are unique to the population they are created from, however, comparisons can be drawn between maps if common markers are present (Collard et al. 2005). Common markers from different maps are used to produce consensus maps where maps from different genetic sources are merged based on the alignment of common or anchor markers. Consensus maps are useful in identifying markers located within a specific chromosomal region in order to saturate a previously identified QTL region (Collard et al. 2005).

## 1.5.2.4 Comparative Mapping

The use of maps with common markers can allow comparative mapping where regions of synteny or conservation within and between species can be identified to reveal further details of QTL location and function. There is high conservation of the linear order of genes between different grass genomes (Hulbert et al. 1990, Ahn et al. 1993, Kurata et al. 1994, VanDeynze et al. 1995, Gale and Devos 1998, VanDeynze et al. 1998) and this can be exploited by comparison with better characterised genomes, such as rice. High-resolution, sequencebased maps between wheat and rice using mapped wheat expression sequence tags (ESTs) and rice genome sequence data are available (Sorrells et al. 2003). Comparative maps are useful to increase marker density at genetic target loci, and facilitate map-based cloning of genes (Yu et al. 2004). The International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium is using a chromosome-based strategy to construct physical BAC (bacterial artificial chromosome) clone maps and subsequently sequence each of the chromosomes of the hexaploid, bread wheat cultivar Chinese Spring. The first physical map of the largest wheat chromosome, 3B was recently released and low coverage sequences were made available to provide the virtual gene order for all 21 chromosomes, providing a valuable resource for comparative genomics and map-based cloning ((IWGSC) 2010).

#### 1.5.2.5 QTL Analysis

QTL analysis is performed to identify and locate genomic regions that are associated with the trait of interest. It is based on detecting an association between the phenotype (e.g. disease resistance) and the genotype of markers. The population is separated into genotypic groups based on the genotype of each particular marker and analysed to determine if significant differences between these groups exist with regards to the trait of interest (Tanksley 1993, Young 1996). If a significant difference between the phenotypic means of the two genotypic groups exists the population is linked to the QTL at that marker locus (Collard et al. 2005). There are various methods used for detecting QTL: single marker analysis, interval mapping and composite interval mapping (Tanksley 1993, Liu 1998). Single marker analysis uses simple regression analysis to determine the percentage of phenotypic variation explained by each marker for the QTL. The major disadvantage with this method is that the further a QTL is from a marker, the less likely it will be detected due to possible recombination between the marker and the QTL. A more powerful method of QTL analysis is through interval mapping which separates linked QTL on the same chromosome (Schork et al. 1993). Presence of a QTL at a specific interval is estimated by a logarithm of odds score which represents the

likelihood of a significant QTL at that site (Collard et al. 2005). Simple interval mapping analyses intervals between adjacent pairs of linked markers along chromosomes simultaneously, rather than analysing single markers (Landere and Botstein 1989). As this method analyses one interval at a time the effects of other QTL are not considered which may bias the location and effect of QTL, to cause false identification or affect the ability to find a QTL (Haley and Knotts 1992, Zeng 1994). Composite interval mapping identifies the most likely location of a QTL with respect to adjacent linked markers but also takes into account the effect of background markers/QTL. Analysing background markers minimises the effects of other strongly linked QTL to increase sensitivity of QTL identification (Zeng 1993, 1994). Multiple interval mapping uses multiple marker intervals simultaneously to analyse multiple QTL (Kao et al. 1999) making it the most powerful and precise QTL mapping approach.

QTL mapping provides not only the number and location of QTL but also the magnitude of their effect on the trait. Thresholds are calculated to help determine the significance of the detected QTL. Permutation tests are used to determine thresholds and are generated by randomly pairing the phenotypes and genotypes to estimate a test statistic for the detection of a QTL. The permutation analysis is repeated (usually 1000 permutations) to determine threshold values (Semagn et al. 2010). The amount of observed phenotypic variation is explained by the QTL (R<sup>2</sup> value). Generally, a QTL that accounts for a large proportion (>10%) of the effect of the phenotype is significant while a minor QTL accounts for much less (Lander and Kruglyak 1995, Collard et al. 2005). The heritability of a trait measures the proportion of the total phenotypic variance that is explained by the total genotypic variance. Thus, if a trait has high heritability, variation from individual to individual in a population can be explained genetically and environmental factors have little effect. Broad-sense heritability reflects all the genetic contributions to a population's phenotypic variance including additive, dominant, and epistatic interactions. Narrow sense heritability measures the proportion of the phenotypic variation due to only additive (allelic) genetic factors. Heritability is important when estimating the selection outcomes from a population. The presence of a QTL is usually confirmed by the analysis of one or more validation populations that share the donor parent of the QTL (Lander and Kruglyak 1995) which are phenotyped under various environmental conditions.

## 1.5.3 Marker Assisted Selection

Marker assisted selection (MAS) is the selection of individuals with the trait of interest based on their genotype rather than phenotype and is a powerful application of QTL mapping (Tanksley et al. 1989). MAS aims to accelerate the development of new cultivars through the precise transfer of genomic regions expressing the target trait (Babu et al. 2004). Molecular breeding is most useful in the selection of traits where conventional phenotypic screening

methods are laborious, time consuming, expensive and produce widely variable results between replications (Young 1996). Other applications include the identification of new and valuable wild alleles and the enhancement of their introduction into commercial cultivars through selective backcrossing. With respect to resistance breeding, MAS can be applied in the selective pyramiding of several different resistance genes against one or many pathogens (Tanksley et al. 1989). Markers that are closely linked to QTL or genes can minimise the linkage drag effect, which prevents unfavourable alleles being introgressed along with the trait of interest (Young 1996). However, QTL regions can be guite large, up to tens of centiMorgans, and can include large chromosomal regions with many genes. Therefore, before markers can be utilised by MAS, fine mapping of chromosome regions is normally required to delimit the QTL interval and to establish tightly linked markers that can be used in breeding programs (Asins 2002). The mapping of additional markers sometimes does not improve QTL resolution and therefore to enable QTL deployment flanking markers are utilised. In addition, marker reliability of linkage to QTL needs to be established by performing marker validation in independent populations from different genetic backgrounds (Semagn et al. 2010). Marker assisted selection has been successfully used to incorporate not only nematode resistance into commercial wheat cultivars as discussed later in 1.5.6, but several other high priority traits. For example, microsatellite DNA markers for Bo1 and Bo2, genes for tolerance to high levels of boron (Jefferies et al. 2000) have been used extensively in Australian wheat breeding programs (Eagles et al. 2001) to combine these genes. Many markers are being utilised for leaf rust resistance in Australia and internationally (Eagles et al. 2001, William et al. 2007). For example, markers for resistance to the stem rust gene Sr2 (Brown 1993, McIntosh et al. 1995), which is characterised by slow rust development, and markers linked with Sr38/Lr37/Yr17 and Sr39 have been used for pyramiding stem rust resistance genes (Ayliffe et al. 2008, Joshi and Sanghamitra 2010).

#### 1.5.4 Map-Based Cloning

In addition to the development of markers for MAS, genetic mapping and QTL identification is the gateway towards map-based cloning. Map-based cloning or positional cloning aims to locate and sequence the target gene within the QTL region (Paterson and Wing 1993). To delimit the QTL region, fine mapping is required to firstly saturate the map near the target gene by the addition of markers and secondly to increase the size and thus the recombination frequency of the mapping population. Recombinant inbred line populations are particularly useful for fine mapping because they provide at least two-fold higher frequencies of recombination in any small chromosomal region compared to an F2 or an F1 backcross, and provide a permanent source of mapped individuals (Semagn et al. 2010). When the phenotypic variance of traits is contributed mainly by one QTL, near isogenic line populations can be constructed to remove the effect of all other linked loci contributing to the trait. Flanking markers identified on the low resolution populations are used to screen these higher

resolution populations to select for plants that are recombinant between the flanking markers. These lines are then selected for further marker saturation. As grasses show conservation of gene order and thus markers on chromosomes (Hulbert et al. 1990, Ahn et al. 1993, Kurata et al. 1994, VanDeynze et al. 1995, Gale and Devos 1998, VanDeynze et al. 1998), this synteny can be used for marker development especially in the sequenced genomes of rice and *Brachypodium* (Keller et al. 2005, Krattinger et al. 2009). Deletion lines can also be used for physical mapping of genes or molecular markers to specific intervals. Each line has a specific deletion and can be used as a physical landmark to locate a gene or marker to a specific chromosomal region (Nagy et al. 2002). If the region of interest has been sequenced markers can be developed from available information.

Once the map has been saturated the flanking markers are used to establish a physical region of the DNA within the QTL. To achieve this, sequence information needs to be identified in that region. A physical map consists of continuously overlapping contigs of genomic DNA clones representing the wheat genome (Zhang and Wing 1997). Flanking markers are used to screen these genomic libraries to identify clones containing the target gene region (Krattinger et al. 2009). Due to the large size of the wheat genome, the construction and screening of libraries can be costly in terms of time and expense (Keller et al. 2005). Additional markers are constructed based on cloned sequences to further screen libraries to identify a clone with the target region. The designing of specific markers can be difficult due to the large amount of repetitive non-coding DNA in cereals and because the uneven coverage of libraries leaves genomic gaps. Once a clone is identified within the target gene region further sequence information is required to identify the candidate gene. Generally, several clones are identified, which are partially sequenced. Sequence information is then used to search DNA databases to identify possible candidate genes. Due to the synteny discussed earlier, genes from rice or *Brachypodium* in the target region can be used to narrow the interval in wheat where the target gene is located. The International Wheat and Barley Genome Sequencing Consortia are working towards sequencing these genomes, with a 95% unassembled draft sequence of the entire wheat genome released in 2010 ((IWGSC) 2010). As more information becomes available the cloning of wheat trait defining genes will become a more realistic target within practical timeframes. Once target genes are identified and fully sequenced their role within the expression of the target trait is validated, for example, through mutant analysis (Krattinger et al. 2009), phenotype complementation in transgenic plants (Wing et al. 1994) and supportive expression data.

Once genes are cloned, gene sequences can be used to develop markers specific to that allele to identify alleles in a wide range of diverse species through allele mining (Kaur et al. 2008). Essentially allelic variations of the gene are mined in different genetic sources by identifying SNPs in coding sequences or in non-coding sequences, which alter gene expression, and thus trait expression. Allele mining can identify superior alleles, or perfect

markers, for the trait of interest and develop allele specific markers so they can be introgressed into breeding material (Kumar et al. 2010). Examples of perfect markers in wheat include the glutenin genes for gluten strength (Anderson et al. 1989), the waxy genes for starch properties (Briney et al. 1998), the puroindoline genes for hardness (Beecher et al. 2002), the *Vrn* genes for vernalisation (Yan et al. 2003, Yan et al. 2004), the *Rht* genes for dwarfing (Peng et al. 1999) and the *Lr10* and *Lr21* genes for leaf rust resistance (Feuillet et al. 2003, Huang et al. 2003).

## 1.5.5 Association Mapping

There are several problems associated with the fine mapping of plant genes. As plant genomes are relatively large, most DNA markers are unlinked to any given locus and most linked markers are still several cM away from the targeted gene. Secondly, as recombination is rare, mapping markers to a low resolution map requires the investigation of a large number of progeny. Thirdly, as polymorphism levels can be low, tightly linked markers might not be detected and located (Bennetzen 2000). An alternative fine mapping method has emerged in recent times through linkage disequilibrium or association mapping. Association mapping uses evolutionary recombination events in large diverse germplasm collections (of cultivars, landraces and breeders lines) (Risch and Merikangas 1996, Nordborg and Innan 2002) so that over multiple generations of recombination, correlations only to markers tightly linked to the trait of interest will remain (Vinod 2011). Association mapping determines if a particular genetic marker is more common in a particular phenotype than expected by chance. This approach provides greater fine mapping than achieved through standard biparental crosses (Oraguzie and Wilcox 2007). To screen large numbers of samples, a high throughput marker technology is required. Advances in sequencing technologies are now capable of high throughput analysis at low costs and thus allow for the rapid identification of markers, particularly SNPs. These SNP markers are useful as they provide the finest resolution of a DNA sequence, they are abundant and have low mutation rates (Syvanen 2001). Association mapping has been successfully used to map marker associations to stem, leaf and yellow rust, powdery mildew, and grain yield in five historical wheat populations to validate previously found QTL and to identify many new chromosome regions for disease resistance (Crossa et al. 2007).

### 1.5.6 Marker Assisted Selection for Nematode Resistance

Marker assisted selection has become an important tool for plant breeding, especially for nematode resistance. This is due to the lengthy and costly phenotypic methods required for resistance screening. As discussed in 1.5.2.2, *Pratylenchus* resistance screening methods require field/glasshouse space, maintenance of nematode cultures and extensive labour to process plants for extraction and nematode quantification. Despite the initial costs of

developing markers, in the case of *Pratylenchus* resistance where the trait is inherited by additive gene action and the great expense of phenotypic screening, the use of markers is highly desirable. The selection of resistant progeny generated by breeding programs can be simply assessed for resistance by screening DNA obtained from seeds or seedlings with genetic markers linked to resistance. This eliminates the need to select lines based on their resistant phenotypes reducing the phenotypic screening periods from several months to only several days.

Marker assisted selection for nematode resistance in wheat has been achieved for the cereal cyst (Heterodera avenae), the root knot (Meloidogyne naasi) and the root lesion (Pratylenchus neglectus) nematodes. Markers for the cereal cyst nematode (CCN) resistance genes, Cre1, Cre3 and Cre6, are completely linked and have been used in breeding programs. For example, the CD2.2 RFLP marker, linked to Cre1 (Ogbonnaya et al. 2001), and the Cre3 PCR based marker (Ogbonnaya et al. 1998, Ogbonnaya et al. 2001) have been used to help select progeny with resistance to Australian and European Heterodera pathotypes. Markers linked to the Cre6 gene (Ogbonnaya et al. 2001) were found in homologous sequences from the Aegilops ventricosa Cre3 locus (Seah 1999). These markers are being used to pyramid Cre1, Cre3, and Cre6 genes to produce lines with different combinations of resistant alleles (Eastwood et al. 1994, Williams et al. 1994, Lagudah et al. 1997, Ogbonnaya et al. 1998, Ogbonnaya et al. 2001, Ogbonnaya et al. 2001). The SCAR (sequence characterised amplified regions) marker, Y16, closely linked to the root knot resistance gene, Rkn-mn1, isolated from Ae. variabilis, has been used to transfer this resistance into selected bread wheat lines (Persondedryver and Jahier 1985, Yu et al. 1990, Yu and Jahier 1992, Yu et al. 1995, Barloy et al. 2000). The only marker to be currently utilised for resistance to root lesion nematodes is linked to the P. neglectus resistance locus RInn1 identified by Williams et al. (2002), with the closest being the RFLP marker cdo347. This marker was used by breeding programs at the University of Adelaide throughout the early 2000's (Eagles et al. 2001). However, these RFLP markers are not suitable for marker assisted wheat breeding due to their laborious and time-consuming technique. The Australian Wheat and Barley Molecular Marker Program (AWBMMP) using an EST sequence close to this RFLP, identified through comparative mapping with rice, developed a more user friendly PCR based marker uat0001 that is closely linked to RInn1 (Mather and Chalmers 2010). This marker is now used within several Australian wheat breeding companies for *P. neglectus* resistance selection, details of which are confidential.

Resistance QTL and linked molecular markers to various nematodes have been identified and mapped in other crops (both horticultural and agricultural crops) including *Heterodera* species in beet, soybean and barley (Salentijn et al. 1995, Concibido et al. 2004, Williams et al. 2006, Dayteg et al. 2008). For example, microsatellite markers positioned only 1 to 2 cM away from the *rhg1* soybean cyst nematode resistance gene have been used extensively in

screening breeding populations (Mudje 1997, Cregan et al. 1999). Markers have been utilised for resistance selection to *Globodera* species in potato (VanderVoort et al. 1997, Bryan et al. 2002), *Meloidogyne* species in soybean, cotton, potato, cucumber and peach (Brown et al. 1996, Yamamoto and Hayashi 2002, Shen et al. 2006, Barloy et al. 2007, Ulloa et al. 2010, Devran et al. 2011), the citrus nematode *Tylenchulus* (Ling et al. 2000), the stem nematode *Ditylenchus* in sweet potato (Qina et al. 2008), the reniform nematode *Rotylenchus* in cotton (Avila et al. 2004) and finally *Pratylenchus* species in barley and oats (Townshend 1989, Schmidt et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2006, Sharma et al. 2011).

The effectiveness of molecular markers depends on the strength of their linkage to the QTL. Unless the marker itself is the gene there is a chance that recombination can occur between the marker and the resistance gene (Babu et al. 2004), which in turn may produce incorrect resistance assessment. As mentioned previously, QTL and thus marker identification can be limited by low levels of polymorphisms and complicating interactions of the environment and the QTL. However, with the recent developments in mapping technologies (SNPs and high throughput sequencing), high density genetic and physical maps will enable the development of more closely linked markers (Varshney et al. 2005, Varshney et al. 2006). These new technologies provide maximum exploitation of available polymorphisms and thus the development of closely linked markers that can be used widely. In addition, more genome sequencing efforts will lead to map-based cloning of actual resistance genes, generating perfect markers that eliminate the possibility of the breakdown of marker resistance.

#### **1.6 Nematode Resistance Genes**

Despite the identification of markers linked to resistance in many species, the only nematode resistance genes that have been sequenced and cloned are against the sedentary nematodes, *Heterodera*, *Meloidogyne* and *Globodera*. Commonly, resistance against sedentary nematodes is mediated through a gene for gene interaction, where a plant resistance gene mediates specific recognition of a nematode that expresses a matching avirulence gene (Flor 1971). Along with the induction of genes encoding hydrolytic enzymes and other chemical compounds a hypersensitive response is commonly associated with this gene for gene resistance. Through a transduction pathway, the plant signals for the rapid local cell death of invaded cells (Takken and Joosten 2000).

The first nematode resistance gene cloned was *Hs1<sup>pro-1</sup>*, conferring resistance to the cyst nematode *Heterodera schachtii*, and was isolated from a wild species of beet, mapping to chromosome 1 of the sugarbeet, *Beta procumbens* (Yu 1984). The *Hs1<sup>pro-1</sup>* resistance gene confers resistance by degrading the nematode feeding structures without involving a hypersensitive response. After syncytium formation, the feeding structure degrades and the

sugarbeet cyst nematodes die as J2 due to starvation (Jung et al. 1998). The *Mi* gene cloned from tomato confers resistance against three species of root knot nematodes, *Meloidogyne incognita*, *Meloidogyne arenaria* and *Meloidogyne javanica* (Milligan et al. 1998). Molecular analysis of a 52 kbp genomic DNA region led to the isolation of two functional genes, *Mi1.1* and *Mi1.2*. Through genetic and physical mapping *Mi1.2* was localised to the short arm of chromosome 6 in tomato (Milligan et al. 1998). Extensive fine mapping in this region identified several markers closely linked to the gene (Klien-Lankhorst et al. 1991), which were used to introgress the gene into several breeding lines. The *Mi*-gene based resistance forms an early hypersensitive response (first 12 to 24 h after penetration) that prevents the induction of *M. incognita* giant cell development (Dropkin 1969, Paulson and Webster 1972). A localised necrosis around the head of the nematode occurs a few days after invasion. As resistance is only mediated after penetration and migration, secretions initiating giant cell formation from the nematode stylet may elicit the resistant response.

Through a positional cloning approach, the resistance gene, *Gpa2*, was identified giving resistance to the potato cyst nematode *Globodera pallida* (Van der Vossen et al. 2000). Using AFLP and RFLP markers, the *Gpa2* gene was mapped to chromosome 12 of potato (VanderVoort et al. 1997). Another *Globodera* resistance gene was isolated and cloned from tomato. The *Hero* gene confers broad spectrum resistance to potato cyst nematodes and provides 95% resistance to *Globodera rostochiensis* and about 80% resistance to *G. pallida* (Ernst et al. 2002). *Hero* has been mapped to chromosome 4 in a 118 kbp region containing 14 homologous genes (Ernst et al. 2002). The *Hero* gene mediated resistance is initiated after feeding site development. In potato cultivars with the *Hero* gene, a syncytium feeding site develops but a hypersensitive response follows preventing access to the xylem, inhibiting nutrient transfer, and the developing juveniles are prevented from receiving nutrients and die (Sobczak et al. 2005).

Resistance genes have also been identified and mapped for cereal cyst nematodes (CCN). Thus far, eight CCN resistance genes have been identified in wheat and its wild relatives: *Cre1* to *Cre8* (Al-Doss et al. 2010). These genes confer varying resistance to different CCN pathotypes (Barloy et al. 2007). Only two resistance genes have been directly derived from bread wheat, *Cre1* located on chromosome 2B (Slootmaker et al. 1974) and *Cre8* on chromosome 6B (Paull et al. 1998), and have been bred into many European and Australian cultivars. *Cre2, Cre5* and *Cre6* were transferred to wheat from *Ae. ventricosa* (Delibes et al. 1993, Jahier et al. 2001, Ogbonnaya et al. 2001) and *Cre7* from *A. truincialis* (Romero et al. 1998). *Cre3* and *Cre4* were derived from *Aegilops tauschii* (Eastwood et al. 1991, Eastwood et al. 1994). The *Cre3* gene has been mapped to the long arm of chromosome 2D and has been transferred to wheat via synthetic hexaploids (Eastwood et al. 1991, Eastwood et al. 1994). Studies have found that *Cre1* and *Cre3* resistance genes confer resistance by degrading nematode feeding structures. In cultivars with *Cre1* and *Cre3, H. avenae* was able to induce syncytium formation, but by 33 d.a.i. the cytoplasm of the syncytium was degraded (Williams and Fisher 1993, Seah et al. 2000) preventing any further feeding.

# 1.6.1 Resistance Gene Clusters

Classical genetics studies indicate that (nematode) resistance genes cluster together in the genome (Michelmore and Meyers 1998). For example, the *Mi1.2* and the *HeroA* genes are found in clusters of seven and fourteen homologous copies, respectively. In addition, *Mi* maps within one cM of the fungal resistance genes *Cf2* and *Cf5* in tomato (Dickinson et al. 1993), and the potato cyst nematode resistance gene *Gpa* is tightly linked to the viral resistance genes (and linked markers) implies that they could have evolved a common mechanism (Kanazin et al. 1996). Similarities between resistance genes may be exploited to identify sequence homologies from conserved motifs to uncover resistance loci/markers in other plants (Kanazin et al. 1996). It is likely that different *Pratylenchus* resistance genes will also map to clustered regions. Clustering of genes is also beneficial for MAS as blocks of resistance genes to various pathogens can be transferred together (Ratnaparkhe et al. 1998).

# 1.7 Genetic Control of *Pratylenchus* Resistance and Tolerance in Wheat

At present, *Pratylenchus* is controlled through the use of crop rotations and tolerant cultivars. However, as *Pratylenchus* species have a broad host range most rotational crops are only partially resistant. In addition, the use of tolerant hosts can lead to high densities of nematodes affecting subsequent crops. Thus, the development and use of resistant and tolerant wheat cultivars is considered the most economical and environmentally acceptable means for their control (Castillo et al. 1998).

Sedentary nematodes, particularly cereal cyst and root knot nematodes, have been the focus of research and several resistance genes have been identified and cloned. Resistance against migratory nematodes is characterised but only a few investigations revealed resistance loci against *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus*. For example, resistance to *P. neglectus* was identified and used in breeding in almonds through the use of resistant root stocks (Marull et al. 1990) and in oats (Townshend 1989). Resistance in wheat to some degree has been identified against *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* (Thompson et al. 1989), but a limited number of *Pratylenchus* resistance sources in wheat have been explored at the molecular level.

# 1.7.1 Tolerance

Tolerance is defined as the capacity of a cultivar to yield in infested soils (Nelson 1973, Thompson et al. 1999). However, as tolerant cultivars allow nematode reproduction they do not reduce the numbers of *Pratylenchus* in the soil (Thompson et al. 1999). The residual *Pratylenchus* populations can attack subsequent susceptible host crops (Thompson et al. 1989, Trudgill 1991). The first source of superior tolerance to *P. thornei* in wheat lines was identified through targeted screening of cultivars. Tolerant cultivars such as Pelsart (Brennan et al. 1994), Sunvale (Ellison et al. 1995) and Baxter (Thompson et al. 1999, Thompson et al. 2008) were used to minimise the effects of *Pratylenchus*. These tolerant lines offered a 30% yield increase compared to other commercial cultivars available at the time (Thompson et al. 1995).

# 1.7.2 Resistance

# 1.7.2.1 GS50a

Resistance is defined as the capacity of a cultivar to reduce nematode reproduction (Thompson et al. 1999). Use of resistant cultivars is the best means to successfully control root lesion nematodes. The first significant source of resistance to *P. thornei* was the bread wheat line GS50a, selected from a severely infested field of the variety Gatcher (Thompson and Clewett 1986). Several lines were developed from these selections and GS50a resistance was backcrossed into commercial wheat cultivars (Thompson et al. 1994). Although the use of

GS50a resistance in adapted cultivars reduced *Pratylenchus* reproduction by more than tenfold, it only provided partial resistance (Thompson et al. 1999). The lack of strong resistance was an incentive to locate and use more effective genetic sources.

# 1.7.2.2 Wild Wheat Relatives as Resistance Sources

Hexaploid bread wheat, *Triticum aestivum* (AABBDD), evolved through natural hybridisation of the diploid *Aegilops tauschii* Coss. (DD) and a tetraploid ancestor of today's *Triticum turgidum* L. subspp. *durum* (AABB) (Breiman and Graur 1995). As this was a rare event, only a limited number of genotypes from these wild progenitors were involved in the natural hybridisation. Thus, hexaploid wheat lacks the genetic diversity, including a broad range of resistance genes of its ancestors. Unique sources of resistance can be identified in wild wheat relatives such as *Ae. tauschii* and can be introgressed into durum wheat by direct crossing as *Ae. tauschii* chromosomes are homologous with those of the bread wheat D genome (Gill and Raupp 1987). Thompson and Haak (1997) first reported resistance to *P. thornei* in the wild grass *Ae. tauschii*. Several hundred *Ae. tauschii* and *T. turgidum* accessions were screened for *P. thornei* resistance, and final numbers of nematodes in the soil and in the roots were determined after 4 months of growth. In *Ae. tauschii*, 39 of 244

accessions and in *T. turgidum*, 28 accessions produced lower numbers of nematodes than GS50a.

# 1.7.2.3 Synthetic Wheat

Resistance can also be exploited through the construction of synthetic hexaploid wheats through hybridising tetraploid durum wheats and diploid relatives of wheat such as *Ae. tauschii* (Lagudah et al. 1993). Synthetic hexaploid wheat lines were investigated as a source of new allelic variation for advantageous resistance traits. Thompson et al. (1999) investigated *P. thornei* resistance in synthetic hexaploids and found higher resistance levels when both durum and *tauschii* parents were resistant than when just one was resistant. Thompson et al. (1999) suggested that in hexaploid wheat, *P. thornei* resistance is under the control of at least two genes, one in the D genome and the other in A or B genomes. Of the five hexaploid synthetic wheats tested, all had higher resistance to *P. thornei* than GS50a (Zwart et al. 2004). This study also established that resistance to *P. thornei* in synthetic wheats is polygenic and primarily determined by additive gene action.

A glasshouse phenotypic trial showed that wheat lines that were tolerant/resistant to P. thornei were susceptible to P. neglectus, indicating that the mechanisms conferring resistance to P. thornei do not confer resistance to P. neglectus (Farsi et al. 1995, Taylor et al. 1999). As both Pratylenchus species are often found in the same field in mixed populations (Thompson et al. 2010), the development of wheat cultivars with resistance to both species is desirable. A genetic map constructed with microsatellite markers was used to identify QTL associated with resistance to both P. thornei and P. neglectus in a doubled haploid population derived from a resistant synthetic hexaploid wheat line (CPI133872) crossed with susceptible Janz bread wheat (Zwart et al. 2005). Two resistance QTL on the distal end of chromosome 6DS, QRInt.Irc-6D.1 and QRInn.Irc-6D.1, were associated with resistance to P. thornei and P. neglectus, respectively, (Zwart et al. 2005) and linked to the codominant microsatellite marker barc183 (Table 1). Zwart et al. (2005) also identified a novel QTL on chromosome 2B associated with both Pratylenchus species which can be used to provide dual resistance (Table 1). This region may contain one gene controlling resistance for both species (Rossi et al. 1998), or two closely linked genes for each species (Takken and Joosten 2000).

A second major QTL was identified for *P. thornei* on chromosome 6DL (*QRInt.Irc-6D.2*). Two other minor QTL for *P. thornei* resistance were found on chromosomes 6A and 2B (*QRInt.Irc-6A.1* and *QRInt.Irc-2B.1*). In addition to the *P. neglectus* resistance QTL on chromosome 6D, two other QTL were observed on chromosomes 4D and 4B (*QRInn.Irc-4D.1* and *QRInn.Irc-24B.1*). The presence of these QTL was not observed in material collected from both years analysed and each QTL explained less than 15% of the phenotypic variation (Zwart et al.

2005) (Table 1). Toktay et al. (2006) used microsatellite markers previously identified as linked to *Pratylenchus* resistance and mapped the synthetic wheat population of a cross between CROC and Pastor. Two resistance loci on chromosomes 1B and 3B were found with the partially resistant parent CROC lacking the resistance locus on chromosomes 2B and 6D (Toktay et al. 2006).

The CPI133872 x Janz population analysed by Zwart et al. (2005) used a framework map with a limited number of molecular markers (1 marker per 17 cM) to detect resistant associations. With subsequent development of marker and mapping technologies, higher density maps were constructed. Over 200 DArT markers were integrated with the SSR and AFLP genetic map of CPI133872 x Janz to increase overall marker density and coverage. This allowed for more accurate QTL location estimation by reducing the QTL interval size significantly (up to 10 cM) and identifying further flanking markers that might be useful for selection (Zwart et al. 2010).

QTL analysis was performed on a more densely mapped synthetic derived wheat population than previously analysed (Zwart et al. 2006), comprising RFLP and microsatellite markers. An ITMI recombinant inbred line population was derived from a cross between the resistant synthetic hexaploid wheat (W-7984) and a susceptible bread wheat Opata 85. Two major QTL for P. thornei resistance were found on chromosomes 6DS and 2BS, with both QTL explaining 20 to 25% of the phenotypic variation (Table 1). Both the D and B genome contribute to this P. thornei resistance as in both regions the QTL resistance alleles were inherited from the synthetic hexaploid parent (Zwart et al. 2006). The microsatellite marker barc183 on chromosome 6DS was previously associated with P. thornei resistance in the CPI33872 x Janz population (Zwart et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2006) indicating it is useful for MAS of resistance in genetically different backgrounds (Zwart et al. 2006). The 6D locus was also identified in the GS50a wheat line (Vicars et al. 1999). The QTL on chromosome 2B for P. thornei resistance identified by Zwart et al. (2006) were also detected in other mapping populations (Schmidt et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2005), but lack of common markers meant no comparisons could be made between the QTL location and other resistance genes (Zwart et al. 2006).

### 1.7.2.4 Middle-Eastern Landraces

As all wheat cultivars investigated had only partial resistance to *P. thornei*, better sources of resistance were sought from bread wheat relatives. As *P. thornei* occurs in Middle-Eastern countries (Fortuner 1977, Nicol et al. 2003), the origin of cultivated wheat , it is likely *P. thornei* resistance was selected for and evolved in Middle-Eastern wheat landraces.

Populations derived from the landraces AUS13124 and AUS4926 were known to have resistance to *Pratylenchus* and were crossed with the susceptible Janz cultivar, and mapped

with AFLP and microsatellite markers (Schmidt et al. 2005). A resistance locus on chromosome 2B was only detected in the AUS13124 x Janz population and accounted for about 8% of the phenotypic variation (Table 1). In addition, a novel *P. thornei* resistance QTL on chromosome 3B was identified in both AUS13124 and AUS4926 (Table 1). A synthetic AUS4930 x Pastor population was investigated with microsatellite markers and three QTL were identified on chromosomes 1B, 2B and 6D (Toktay et al. 2006). This provides further evidence that the most commonly identified genomic regions associated with *P. thornei* resistance are located on chromosomes 6D and 2B.

Sheedy and Thompson (2009) investigated 274 accessions of Iranian wheat landraces and identified 25 accessions more resistant than GS50a. Thompson et al. (2009) found additional sources of *P. thornei* resistance from screening two wheat accession collections from the West Asian and North African regions. An additional 13 bread wheat and 10 durum accessions had resistance better or equal to GS50a. These landraces are part of the primary gene pool of wheat and can be integrated with modern wheat cultivars to use resistance genes. The 23 accessions were analysed for mode of inheritance and two to six resistance genes were used in five different parental crosses, further confirming the polygenic nature of *P. thornei* resistance (Thompson and Seymour 2011).

#### 1.7.2.5 Pratylenchus neglectus Resistance

Resistance to P. neglectus has been investigated to a lesser degree than that of P. thornei. Most Pratylenchus wheat resistance studies conducted in Australia focus on P. thornei, as it is the more damaging species in northern Australian wheat systems in terms of monetary yield loss (Thompson 2008). However, Rlnn1, the first root lesion nematode resistance gene of any Pratylenchus species to be mapped, was identified on chromosome 7A (Williams et al. 2002) (Table 1). In addition, P. neglectus resistance QTL on chromosome 6D, (QRInn.Irc-6D.1) 4D and 4B (QRInn.Irc-4D.1 and QRInn.Irc-4B.1) (Zwart et al. 2005) were identified as discussed in 1.7.2.5 (Table 1). The major resistance gene, RInn1, was first identified in the wheat cultivar Excalibur closely linked to an AFLP marker. Then, using comparative mapping, an associated RFLP marker, cdo347, was identified at the 7AL chromosomal location of the *RInn1* gene (Williams et al. 2002). The RFLP marker, *cdo347*, was previously mapped to 7A and associated with P. neglectus resistance in other wheat populations and also with the leaf rust resistance gene Lr20 on 7A (Nelson et al. 1995, Parker et al. 1998). However, Schmidt et al. (2005) found that in two Middle Eastern landrace populations the association between this gene and resistance was only detected through single marker regression and not composite interval mapping. In addition, no marker-trait associations were found with markers to 7AL in the CPI133872 synthetic line crossed with Janz population (Zwart et al. 2005). This indicates that this *Rlnn1* resistance gene does not segregate in these populations. More recently, using an expression sequence tag (EST) sequence close to the RFLP cdo347, the AWBMMP identified and developed, through comparative mapping

with rice, a PCR based marker, *uat0001,* that is closely linked to *Rlnn1* (Mather and Chalmers 2010).

## 1.7.3 Future Approaches To Identify Resistance To Pratylenchus

Although these identified resistance QTL provide useful sources of resistance, further work is required before they can be implemented. As discussed in Section 1.7.2, most of the *Pratylenchus* resistance QTL identified are minor and explain little of the phenotypic variation and in addition, are not associated with tightly linked markers, preventing incorporation of resistance to commonly used wheat cultivars using MAS. Therefore, their validity needs to be tested in other populations which have been generated with the resistant parental line. Further fine mapping is required to delimit the QTL size in order to identify more closely linked markers. As most of these resistance sources have been isolated in wild wheat relatives, several rounds of backcrossing may be required to remove detrimental traits associated with the resistance QTL or to introduce high priority agronomic traits that may be lacking.

The limiting factor in identifying new sources of *Pratylenchus* resistance and the development of resistant cultivars has been the phenotyping of resistance. The biological assays used to screen for root lesion nematode resistance as discussed in 1.5.2.2 are laborious and costly (Barloy et al. 2000). However, with the development of PCR diagnostic approaches phenotypic resistance data can more easily and reliably detect and quantify Pratylenchus within soil and roots (Ophel-Keller et al. 2008). Together with the increasing availability of high quality phenotypic data, genomic wheat sequences and large mapping populations, this will enhance the construction of high quality genetic maps to improve the ability to identify resistance QTL and develop closely linked resistance markers. This in turn will allow gene pyramiding to provide effective resistance combinations. When incorporating resistance into new cultivars through backcrossing, resistant markers through MAS will eliminate the need to select progeny lines based on their resistance phenotypes. Molecular markers remove the need for large scale phenotyping thus facilitating the rapid identification of resistance loci, accelerating the development of new resistant cultivars (Schmidt et al. 2005, Toktay et al. 2006). In addition, advances in map-based cloning will help characterise Pratylenchus resistance genes and their functions.

**Table 1:** Previously mapped *Pratylenchus* resistance QTL in wheat. The table shows the donor parent (Inherited Origin), the chromosomal location of the resistance QTL (Chromosome/QTL), the *Pratylenchus* species (*Pt - Pratylenchus thornei* or *Pn -Pratylenchus neglectus*), the flanking markers, the percentage of phenotypic variation (% Var) explained by the QTL and the likelihood ratio statistic (LRS).

Reference	Inherited Origin	Chromosome/QTL	Species	Flanking Markers	% Var	LRS
Thompson et al. 1999	GS50a	6D	Pt	np	np	np
& Vicars et al. 1999						
Williams et al. 2002	Excalibur	7A	Pn	AGC/CCT179	8	20.8
				cdo347		
				psr121		
				psr680		
				schfc3		
Zwart et al. 2005	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-6D.1	Pt	barc183	22-24	23.9-42.5
				barc173		
	Janz	QRInn.Irc-6D.1	Pn	barc183	11-14	17.3-17.8
				barc173		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-2B.1*	Pt	wmc25	7	15.2
				wmc154		
	CPI133872	QRInn.Irc-2B.1*	Pn	wmc25	7-11	9.4-12.4
				wmc154		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-6D.2*	Pt	gdm98	8-13	16.5-24.6
				gpw95010		
				barc21		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-6A.1*	Pt	psp3029	9	11.3-11.7
				gwm459		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-3D.1*	Pn	gwm161	11	12.6
				gwm183		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-4B.1*	Pn	gwm66	10	17.2
				- wmc47		
	Janz	QRInt.Irc-4D.1	Pn	wmc52	10-15	11.6-15.8
				wmc331		
				barc98		
Schmidt et al. 2005	AUS13124	2B	Pt	gwm319	6-13	9.4-13.7
				 gwm494.2		
				ACT/CTC.1		
				gwm191.2		
	AUS13124	6D*	Pt	gwm469	4-6	4.9-9.3
				qdm36		
				gwm518		
				gdm132		
	AUS13124	3B*	Pt	awm133	7-24	5.2-20.1
				gwm340.2		
	AUS13124	1B*	Pt	awm153.1	3-6	3.3-3.6
				gwm153.2		
	AUS4926	3B	Pt	gwm112.2	36	10.3
				awm66.1		
				awm213.2		
				awm133 1		
				AGC/CAT.1		
	AUS4926	2B*	Pt	wmc25 5	2-3	27-34
				wmc25.4		
				awm428		
	AUS4926	6D*	Pt	adm98 1	2-2	26-27
	, 007020		<i>,</i> ,	adm98 2		2.0 2.1
				adm1??		
				guinisz		

	Inherited			Flanking		
Reference	Origin	Chromosome/QTL	Species	Markers	% Var	LRS
Zwart et al. 2006	W-7984	6DS	Pt	psr964	11-23	4.4-8.5
				psr889		
				barc183		
	W-7984	2BS	Pt	cdo447	19-5	2.0-7.4
				bcd348		
				gwm210		
Zwart et al. 2010	CPI133872	6DS	Pt	barc183	18-27	28.1-46.5
				cfd49		
				cfd135		
	Janz	6DS	Pn	barc183	9	10.6-17.9
				cfd49		
				cfd135		
	CPI133872	6DL	Pt	gdm98	6-15	11.0-23.5
				gpw95010		
				barc21		
	CPI133872	2B	Pt	wPt-2410	13-22	19.8-36.3
				wPt-6706		
				wPt-6311		
				wPt-8737		
	CPI133872	2B	Pn	wPt-2410	11-16	12.4-27.6
				wPt-6706		
				wPt-6311		
				wPt-8737		
	CPI133872	3D	Pn	gwm2	8	15.6
				gwm664		
				gwm314		
	CPI133872	4B	Pn	gwm368	13	25.3
				gwm66		
				wmc47		
	CPI133872	4D	Pn	wPt-5809	13	24.4
				wPt-431		

#### Table 1: Continued.

np - not provided

\* - below the significance threshold

# 1.8 Conclusion

This review demonstrates that the histopathology, invasion and resistance mechanisms of *P. thornei* have not been extensively analysed. The investigations of other *Pratylenchus* species in other plant species suggest that in wheat *P. thornei* resistance may suppress several stages of nematode invasion post penetration and involve several biochemical pathways. While numerous *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* resistance QTL have been identified in wheat, there are currently no commercially available resistant cultivars. Thus, there is a need to identify further sources of *P. thornei* resistance to identify major QTL and most importantly to develop markers that can be utilised by plant breeders in order to incorporate this resistance into commercial cultivars. The elucidation of *P. thornei* resistance.

# 1.9 Aims

The principal aims of this study are to identify genetic loci associated with *P. thornei* resistance and to investigate the associated biological resistance in a synthetic wheat population. In order to characterise biological resistance utilised by the wheat plant to *P. thornei*, the mechanisms and how they affect nematode root invasion will be investigated at each invasive stage. To investigate the genetic control of *P. thornei* resistance the project aims to identify major QTL and to develop molecular markers linked to resistance. The population investigated was developed through crossing the synthetic wheat cultivar Sokoll, which has very strong resistance to *P. thornei*, to the South Australian adapted cultivar, Krichauff.

The specific aims are:

- 1. To investigate biological mechanisms of resistance to *P. thornei* by observing nematode penetration, migration and reproduction stages (Chapter 2 and 3).
- 2. To construct a genetic map of Sokoll x Krichauff and to identify *P. thornei* resistance QTL to establish linked molecular markers (Chapter 4).
- 3. To correlate biological resistance mechanism(s) to identified *P. thornei* resistance QTL (Chapter 5).

# 1.10 Literature Cited

(IWGSC), T. I. W. G. S. C. (2010). Retrieved June, 2011.

ABS (2011). Agricultural Commodities Australia. A. B. o. Statistics, Commonwealth of Australia

Acedo, J. R. and R. A. Rhode (1971). "Histochemical root pathology of *Brassica oleracea* capitata L. infected by *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Cobb) Filipjev and Schuurmans Stekhoven (Nematoda:Tylenchidae)." Journal of Nematology **3**(1): 62-68.

Agrios, G. N. (1988). <u>Plant Pathology</u>. London, UK, Academic Press.

Ahn, S., J. A. Anderson, M. E. Sorrells and S. D. Tanksley (1993). "Homoeologous relationships of rice, wheat and maize chromosomes." <u>Molecular and General Genetics</u> **24**: 483-490.

Akbari, M., P. Wenzl, V. Caig, J. Carling, L. Xia, S. Y. Yang, G. Uszynski, V. Mohler, A. Lehmensiek, H. Kuchel, M. J. Hayden, N. Howes, P. Sharp, P. Vaughan, B. Rathmell, E. Huttner and A. Kilian (2006). "Diversity arrays technology (DArT) for high-throughput profiling of the hexaploid wheat genome." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **113**(8): 1409-1420.

Al-Doss, A. A., A. S. Al-Hazmi, A. A. M. Dawabah, A. A. Abdel-Mawgood, S. M. Al-Rehiayani, S. Al-Otayk, K. A. Moustafa and M. I. Motawei (2010). "Impact of *Cre* and peroxidase genes of selected new wheat lines on cereal cyst nematode (*Heterodera avenae* Woll) resistance." <u>Australian Journal of Crop Science</u> **4**(9): 737-743.

Anderson, O. D., F. C. Greene, R. E. Yip, N. G. Halford, P. R. Shewry and J. M. Malpicaromero (1989). "Nucleotide sequences of the two high-molecular-weight glutenin genes from the D-genome of a hexaploid bread wheat, *Triticum aestivum* L. cv Cheyenne." <u>Nucleic Acids Research</u> **17**(1): 461-462.

Anderson, R. V. and J. L. Townshend (1976). "*Pratylenchus neglectus*." <u>C.I.H. Descriptions</u> of Plant Parasitic Nematodes **6**(82).

Andres, M. F., M. T. Melillo, A. Delibes, M. D. Romero and T. Bleve-Zacheo (2001). "Changes in wheat root enzymes correlated with resistance to cereal cyst nematodes." <u>New</u> <u>Phytologist</u> **152**(2): 343-354.

Appels, R. (2003). A consensus map of wheat - a cooperative international effort. <u>10th</u> <u>International Wheat Genetics Symposium</u>. Istituto Sperimentale per la Cerealicoltura, Roma. **1:** 211-214.

Asins, M. J. (2002). "Present and future of quantitative trait locus analysis in plant breeding." <u>Plant Breeding</u> **121**(4): 281-291.

Avila, C. A., M. Stewart and R. T. Robbins (2004). Development of a molecular marker linked to reniform nematode resistance in cotton. <u>AAES Research Series</u>, <u>Summaries of Arkansas</u> <u>Cotton Research</u>.

Ayliffe, M., R. Singh and E. Lagudah (2008). "Durable resistance to wheat stem rust needed." <u>Current Opinion in Plant Biology</u> **11**(2): 187-192.

Babu, R., S. K. Nair, B. M. Prasanna and H. S. Gupta (2004). "Integrating marker-assisted selection in crop breeding - Prospects and challenges." <u>Current Science</u> **87**(5): 607-619.

Baldridge, G. D., N. R. O'Neill and D. A. Samac (1998). "Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) resistance to the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*: Defense-response gene mRNA and isoflavonoid phytoalexin levels in roots." <u>Plant Molecular Biology</u> **38**(6): 999-1010. Barloy, D., J. Lemoine, P. Abelard, A. M. Tanguy, R. Rivoal and J. Jahier (2007). "Marker-assisted pyramiding of two cereal cyst nematode resistance genes from *Aegilops variabilis* in wheat." <u>Molecular Breeding</u> **20**(1): 31-40.

Barloy, D., J. Lemoine, F. Dredryver and J. Jahier (2000). "Molecular markers linked to the *Aegilops variabilis*-derived root-knot nematode resistance gene *Rkn-mn1* in wheat." <u>Plant</u> <u>Breeding</u> **119**(2): 169-172.

Baujard, P. and B. Martiny (1994). "Transport of nematodes by wind in the peanut cropping area of Senegal, West-Africa." <u>Fundamental and Applied Nematology</u> **17**(6): 543-550. Baxter, R. I. and C. D. Blake (1967). "Invasion of wheat roots by *Pratylenchus thornei*." <u>Nature</u> **215**: 1168-1169.

Baxter, R. I. and C. D. Blake (1968). "*Pratylenchus thornei* - a cause of root necrosis in wheat." <u>Nematologica</u> **14**: 351-361.

Beavis, W. D. (1998). QTL analyses: Power, precision, and accuracy. <u>Molecular Dissection</u> of <u>Complex Traits</u>. A. H. Paterson. New York, USA CRC Press: 145-162. Beecher, B., A. Bettge, E. Smidansky and M. J. Giroux (2002). "Expression of wild-type *pinB* sequence in transgenic wheat complements a hard phenotype." <u>Theoretical and Applied</u> <u>Genetics</u> **105**(6-7): 870-877.

Bennetzen, J. (2000). Application of molecular markers in plant breeding. <u>International Crops</u> <u>Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT)</u>. B. I. G. Haussmann, H. H. Geiger, D. E. Hess, C. T. Hash and P. Bramel-Cox. IITA, Ibadan, Nigeria.

Bird, D. M. and I. Kaloshian (2003). "Are roots special? Nematodes have their say." <u>Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology</u> **62**(2): 115-123.

Breiman, A. and D. Graur (1995). "Wheat Evolution." Israel Journal of Plant Sciences **43**(2): 85-98.

Brennan, P. S., D. J. Martin and J. P. Thompson (1994). "*Triticum aestivum* ssp. *vulgare* (bread wheat) cv. Pelsart." <u>Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture</u> **34** 864-865. Bridge, J. and J. L. Starr (2007). <u>Plant nematodes of agricultural importance : A color</u> <u>handbook</u>. Boston, Academic Press.

Briney, A., R. Wilson, R. H. Potter, I. Barclay, G. Crosbie, R. Appels and M. G. K. Jones (1998). "A PCR-based marker for selection of starch and potential noodle quality in wheat." <u>Molecular Breeding</u> **4**: 427-433.

Brown, C. R., C. P. Yang, H. Mojtahedi, G. S. Santo and R. Masuelli (1996). "RFLP analysis of resistance to Columbia root-knot nematode derived from *Solanum bulbocastanum* in a BC2 population." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **92**(5): 572-576.

Brown, G. N. (1993). <u>A seedling marker for gene Sr2 in wheat</u>. Tenth Australian Plant Breeding Conference, Gold Coast, Qld.

Bryan, G. J., K. McLean, J. E. Bradshaw, W. S. De Jong, M. Phillips, L. Castelli and R. Waugh (2002). "Mapping QTLs for resistance to the cyst nematode *Globodera pallida* derived from the wild potato species *Solanum vernei*." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **105**(1): 68-77.

Bustin, S. A. (2000). "Absolute quantification of mRNA using realtime reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assays." <u>Journal of Molecular Endocrinology</u> **25**: 169-193. Caballero, L. G., E. A. Osmanski and P. M. Tefft (1986). "Factors influencing plant-induced egg hatching in *Heterodera glycines*." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **18**(4): 636.

Cantosaenz, M. and B. B. Brodie (1987). "Comparison of compatible and incompatible response of potato to *Meloidogyne incognita*." Journal of Nematology **19**(2): 218-221. Castillo, J. and M. Essica (1965). <u>Biological changes in alfalfa injured by lesion nematodes</u>. Master Science, University of Massachusetts.

Castillo, P., R. M. Jimenezdiaz, A. Gomezbarcina and N. Vovlas (1995). "Parasitism of the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* on chickpea." <u>Plant Pathology</u> **44**(4): 728-733. Castillo, P., M. P. Mora-Rodriguez, J. A. Navas-Cortes and R. M. Jimenez-Diaz (1998). "Interactions of *Pratylenchus thornei* and *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *ciceris* on chickpea." <u>Phytopathology</u> **88**(8): 828-836.

Castillo, P., J. L. Trapero-Casas and R. M. Jimenez-Diaz (1995). "Effect of time, temperature, and inoculum density on reproduction of *Pratylenchus thornei* in carrot disk cultures." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **27**(1): 120-124.

Castillo, P., J. L. Trapero-Casas and R. M. Jimenez-Diaz (1996). "The effect of temperature on hatching and penetration of chickpea roots by *Pratylenchus thornei*." <u>Plant Pathology</u> **45**(2): 310-315.

Castillo, P., N. Vovlas and R. M. Jimenez-Diaz (1998). "Pathogenicity and histopathology of *Pratylenchus thornei* populations on selected chickpea genotypes." <u>Plant Pathology</u> **47**(3): 370-376.

Chalker-Scott, L. and R. L. Krahmer (1989). Microscopic studies of tannin formation and distribution in plant tissues. <u>Chemistry and Significance of Condensed Tannins R. W.</u> Hemingway and J. J. Karchesy. New York, Plenum Press: 345-368.

Chang, L. M. and R. A. Rohde (1969). "The repellent effect of necrotic tissues on the nematode *Pratylenchus penetrans*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **59**: 398.

Collard, B. C. Y., M. Z. Z. Jahufer, J. B. Brouwer and E. C. K. Pang (2005). "An introduction to markers, quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping and marker-assisted selection for crop improvement: The basic concepts." <u>Euphytica</u> **142**(1-2): 169-196.

Concibido, V. C., B. W. Diers and P. R. Arelli (2004). "A decade of QTL mapping for cyst nematode resistance in soybean." <u>Crop Science</u> **44**(4): 1121-1131.

Creech, R. G., J. N. Jenkins, B. Tang, G. W. Lawrence and J. C. McCarty (1995). "Cotton resistance to root-knot nematode .1. Penetration and reproduction." <u>Crop Science</u> **35**(2): 365-368.

Cregan, P. B., J. Mudge, E. W. Fickus, D. Danesh, R. Denny and N. D. Young (1999). "Two simple sequence repeat markers to select for soybean cyst nematode resistance coditioned by the *rhg1* locus." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **99**(5): 811-818.

Crossa, J., J. Burgueno, S. Dreisigacker, M. Vargas, S. A. Herrera-Foessel, M. Lillemo, R. P. Singh, R. Trethowan, M. Warburton, J. Franco, M. Reynolds, J. H. Crouch and R. Ortiz (2007). "Association analysis of historical bread wheat germplasm using additive genetic covariance of relatives and population structure." <u>Genetics</u> **177**(3): 1889-1913.

Dayteg, C., M. Rasmussen, S. Tuvesson, A. Merker and A. Jahoor (2008). "Development of an ISSR-derived PCR marker linked to nematode resistance (*Ha2*) in spring barley." <u>Plant</u> <u>Breeding</u> **127**(1): 24-27.

De Waele, D. and A. Elsen (2002). Migratory endoparasites: *Pratylenchus* and *Radopholus* spp. <u>Plant Resistance to Parasitic Nematodes</u>. J. L. Starr, R. Cook and J. Bridge. Wallingford. Oxon

UK ; New York CABI. : 258

De Waele, E., G. C. Loots and J. Heyns (1988). "Observations of the effect of maize roots on the hatching of *Pratylenchus zeae* and *Pratylenchus brachyurus*." <u>Phytophylactica</u> **20**(2): 135-137.

Delaney, D., E. S. Nasuda, T. R. Endo, B. S. Gill and S. H. Hulbert (1995). "Cytologicallybased physical maps of the group-2 chromosomes of wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied</u> <u>Genetics</u> **91**: 568-573.

Delaney, D., E. S. Nasuda, T. R. Endo, B. S. Gill and S. H. Hulbert (1995). "Cytologicallybased physical maps of the group 3 chromosomes of wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied</u> <u>Genetics</u> **91**: 780-782.

Delibes, A., D. Romero, S. Aguaded, A. Duce, M. Mena, I. Lopez-Braña, M. F. Andres, J. A. Martín-Sanchez and F. García Olmedo (1993). "Resistance to the cereal cyst nematode (*Heterodera avenae* Woll.) transferred from the wild grass *Aegilops ventricosa* to hexaploid wheat by a 'stepping stone' procedure. ." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **87**: 402-408.

Devran, Z., A. F. Firat, M. Tor, N. Mutlu and I. H. Elekcioglu (2011). "AFLP and SRAP markers linked to the *Mi* gene for root-knot nematode resistance in cucumber." <u>Scientia</u> <u>Agricola</u> **68**(1): 115-119.

Dickinson, M. J., D. A. Jones and J. D. G. Jones (1993). "Close linkage between the *Cf-2/Cf-5* and *Mi* resistance loci in tomato." <u>Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions</u> **6**(3): 341-347. Dinan, L. (2001). "Phytoecdysteroids: Biological aspects." <u>Phytochemistry</u> **57**(3): 325-339. Doncaster, C. C. and M. K. Seymour (1973). "Exploration and selection of penetration by Tylenchida." <u>Nematologica</u> **19**: 137-145.

Doyle, A. D., R. W. McLeod, P. T. W. Wong, S. E. Hetherington and R. J. Southwell (1987). "Evidence for the involvement of the root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* in wheat yield decline in Northern New South Wales "<u>Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture</u> **27**(4): 563-570.

Dropkin, V. H. (1969). "The necrotic reaction of tomatoes and other hosts resistant to *Meliodogyne*: Reversal by temperature." <u>Phytopathology</u> **59**: 1632-1637.

Dvorak, J. and K. C. Chen (1984). "Distribution of nonstructural variation between wheat cultivars along chromosome arm *6Bp*: evidence from the linkage map and physical map of the arm." <u>Genetics</u> **106**: 325-333.

Dvorak, J., M. C. Luo and Z. L. Yang (1998). "Restriction fragment length polymorphism and divergence in the genomic regions of high and low recombination in self-fertilizing and cross-fertilizing *Aegilops* species." <u>Genetics</u> **148**: 423-434.

Eagles, H. A., H. S. Bariana, F. C. Ogbonnaya, G. J. Rebetzke, G. J. Hollamby, R. J. Henry, P. H. Henschke and M. Carter (2001). "Implementation of markers in Australian wheat breeding." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **52**(11-12): 1349-1356.

Eastwood, R. F., E. S. Lagudah and R. Appels (1994). "A directed search for DNAsequences tightly linked to cereal cyst nematode resistance genes in *Triticum tauschii*." <u>Genome</u> **37**(2): 311-319.

Eastwood, R. F., E. S. Lagudah, R. Appels, M. Hannah and J. F. Kollmorgen (1991). "*Triticum tauschii* - a novel source of resistance to cereal cyst nematode (*Heterodera avenae*)." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **42**(1): 69-77. Ellison, F. W., G. N. Brown, D. J. Mares, S. G. Moore and L. O'Brien (1995). "Registration of Australian winter cereal cultivars *Triticum aestivum* ssp. *vulgare* (bread wheat) cv. Sunvale." <u>Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture</u> **35**: 416.

Ernst, K., A. Kumar, D. Kriseleit, D. U. Kloos, M. S. Phillips and M. W. Ganal (2002). "The broad-spectrum potato cyst nematode resistance gene (*Hero*) from tomato is the only member of a large gene family of NBS-LRR genes with an unusual amino acid repeat in the LRR region." <u>Plant Journal</u> **31**(2): 127-136.

Evans, M. L. and P. P. J. Haydcock (1993). Interactions of nematodes with root rot fungi <u>Nematode interactions M. W. Khan. London, Hapman and Hall</u>: 104-133.

Farsi, M. (1996). <u>Genetic variation for tolerance and resistance to *Pratylenchus neglectus*. PhD, University of Adelaide.</u>

Farsi, M., A. J. Rathjen, J. M. Fisher and V. A. Vanstone (1993). Effects of root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus* spp.) on concentration of elements in roots and shoots of wheat. <u>9th</u> Biennial Conference Australasian Plant Pathology Society. Hobart, Tasmania.

Farsi, M., V. A. Vanstone, J. M. Fisher and A. J. Rathjen (1994). Evidence for resistance to root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus neglectus*). <u>2nd International Triticeae Symposium</u>. Logan, Utah, USA.

Farsi, M., V. A. Vanstone, J. M. Fisher and A. J. Rathjen (1995). "Genetic variation in resistance to *Pratylenchus neglectus* in wheat and triticales." <u>Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture</u> **35**(5): 597-602.

Feuillet, C., S. Travella, N. Stein, L. Albar, A. Nublat and B. Keller (2003). "Map-based isolation of the leaf rust disease resistance gene *Lr10* from the hexaploid wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) genome." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **100**(25): 15253-15258.

Flor, H. H. (1971). "Current status of gene-for-gene concept." <u>Annual Review of</u> <u>Phytopathology</u> **9**: 275.

Forrest, J. M. S. and M. S. Phillips (1984). "The effect of *solanum tuberosum* x *solanum vernei* hybrids on hatching of the potato cyst nematode *Globodera pallida*." <u>Annals of Applied</u> <u>Biology</u> **104**(3): 521-526.

Fortuner, R. (1977). *Pratylenchus thornei* C.I.H. Description of plant parasitic nematodes. . St Albans, UK, Commonwealth Institute of Helminthology.

Frostegård, Å., S. Courtois, V. Ramisse, S. Clerc, D. Bernillon, F. Le Gall, P. Jeannin, X. Nieme and P. Simonet (1999). "Quantification of bias related to the extraction of DNA directly from soils." <u>Applied and Environmental Microbiology</u> **65**: 5409–5420.

Fulton, J. P., D. A. Slack, N. D. Fulton, J. L. Dale, M. J. Goode and G. E. Templeton (1960). <u>Plant Pathology Manual</u>. Minneapolis, Burgess Publishing Company.

Gachon, C., A. Mingam and B. Charrier (2004). "Real-time PCR: What relevance to plant studies?" Journal of Experimental Botany **55**(402): 1445-1454.

Gale, M. D. and K. M. Devos (1998). "Comparative genetics in the grasses." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **95**: 1971-1197.

Gale, M. D. and G. A. Marshall (1973). <u>Dwarf wheats and gibberellins</u>. Proceedings of the fourth international wheat genetics symposium.

Gale, M. D. and G. A. Marshall (1973). "Insensitivity to gibberellin in dwarf wheats." <u>Annals of Botany</u> **37**(152): 729-735.

Galiba, G., S. A. Quarrie, J. Sutka, A. Morgunov and J. W. Snape (1995). "RFLP mapping of the vernalization (*Vrn1*) and frost resistance (*Fr1*) genes on chromosome 5a of wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **90**: 1174-1179.

Giebel, J. (1982). "Mechanism of resistance to plant nematodes." <u>Annual Review of</u> <u>Phytopathology</u> **20**: 257-279.

Gill, B. S. and W. J. Raupp (1987). "Direct genetic transfers from *Aegilops squarrosa* L to hexaploid wheat." <u>Crop Science</u> **27**(3): 445-450.

Gill, K. S., B. S. Gill and T. R. Endo (1993). "A chromosome region-specific mapping strategy reveals gene-rich telometric ends in wheat." <u>Chromosoma</u> **102**: 374-381.

Gill, K. S., B. S. Gill, T. R. Endo and T. Taylor (1996). "Identification and high-density mapping of gene rich regions in chromosome group 1 of wheat." <u>Genetics</u> **144**: 1883-1891. Glazer, I. and D. Orion (1983). "Studies on anhydrobiosis of *Pratylenchus thornei*." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **15**(3): 333-338.

Goedewaagen, M. A. J. (1942). "The root systems of agricultural crops." <u>Versl. Landbouwk</u> <u>Onderz</u>.

Griffin, G. D. and F. A. Gray (1990). "Biology and pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus neglectus* on alfalfa." Journal of Nematology **22**(4): 546-551.

Haley, C. S. and A. Knotts (1992). "A simple regression method for mapping quantitative trait loci in line crosses using flanking markers." <u>Heredity</u> **69**: 315-324.

Hammerschmidt, R. (1999). "Induced disease resistance: How do induced plants stop pathogens?" Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology **55**(2): 77-84.

Hammerschmidt, R. (1999). "Phytoalexins: What have we learned after 60 years?" <u>Annual</u> <u>Review of Phytopathology</u> **37**: 285-306.

Hartley, R. D. and E. C. Jones (1977). "Phenolic components and degradability of cell walls of grass and legume species." <u>Phytochemistry</u> **16**: 1531-1534.

Hayden, M. J., T. M. Nguyen, A. Waterman, G. L. McMichael and K. J. Chalmers (2008). "Application of multiplex-ready PCR for fluorescence-based SSR genotyping in barley and wheat." <u>Molecular Breeding</u> **21**(3): 271-281.

Hildebrand, D. C. and M. N. Schroth (1964). "Beta-glucosidase activity in phytopathogenic bacteria." <u>Applied Microbiology</u> **12**(6): 487.

Hohmann, U., T. R. Endo, K. S. Gill and B. S. Gill (1994). "Comparison of genetic and physical maps of group 7 chromosomes from *Triticum aestivum* L." <u>Molecular & General</u> <u>Genetics</u> **245**: 644-653.

Hollaway, G. J., K. M. Ophel-Keller, S. P. Taylor, R. A. Burns and A. C. McKay (2003). "Effect of soil water content, sampling method and sample storage on the quantification of root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus* spp.) by different methods." <u>Australasian Plant</u> <u>Pathology</u> **32**(1): 73-79.

Hollaway, G. J., S. P. Taylor, R. F. Eastwood and C. H. Hunt (2000). "Effect of field crops on density of *Pratylenchus* in South Eastern Australia; Part 2: *P. thornei*." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **32**(Supplement 4): 600-608.

Hsam, S. L. K., I. F. Lapochkina and F. J. Zeller (2003). "Chromosomal location of genes for resistance to powdery mildew in common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. em Thell.). 8. Gene *Pm32* in a wheat *Aegilops speltoides* translocation line." <u>Euphytica</u> **133**: 367-370.

Huang, J. S. and K. R. Barker (1986). "Radioimmunoassay of glyceollin-I in soybean roots infected with race-1 of *Heterodera glycines*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **76**(10): 1139-1139.

Huang, L., S. A. Brooks, W. L. Li, J. P. Fellers, H. N. Trick and B. S. Gill (2003). "Map-based cloning of leaf rust resistance gene *Lr21* from the large and polyploid genome of bread wheat." <u>Genetics</u> **164**(2): 655-664.

Huang, S. W., V. Vleeshouwers, J. S. Werij, R. C. B. Hutten, H. J. van Eck, R. G. F. Visser and E. Jacobsen (2004). "The *R3* resistance to *Phytophthora infestans* in potato is conferred by two closely linked *R* genes with distinct specificities." <u>Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions</u> **17**(4): 428-435.

Hulbert, S. H., T. E. Richter, J. D. Axtell and J. L. Bennetzen (1990). "Genetic mapping and characterization of sorghum and related crops by means of maize DNA probes "<u>Proceedings</u> of the National Academy of Sciences **87**: 4251-4255.

Hung, C. L. and R. A. Rohde (1973). "Phenol accumulation related to resistance in tomato to infection by root-knot and lesion nematodes." Journal of Nematology **5**(4): 253-258.

IFPRI (1997). Washington D.C., International Food Policy Research Institute. Jaccoud, D., K. Peng, D. Feinstein and A. Kilian (2001). "Diversity arrays: A solid state technology for sequence information independent genotyping." <u>Nucleic Acids Research</u> **29**(4).

Jahier, J., P. Abelard, A. M. Tanguy, F. Dedryver, R. Rivoal, S. Khatkar and H. S. Bariana (2001). "The *Aegilops ventricosa* segment on chromosome 2AS of the wheat cultivar 'VPM1' carries the cereal cyst nematode resistance gene *Cre5*." <u>Plant Breeding</u> **120**(2): 125-128. Jaques, W. A. and R. H. Schwass (1956). "Root development in some common New Zealand pasture plants." <u>New Zealand Journal of Science and Technology</u> **37**: 569-583. Jefferies, S. P., M. A. Pallotta, J. G. Paull, A. Karakousis, J. M. Kretschmer, S. Manning, A. Islam, P. Langridge and K. J. Chalmers (2000). "Mapping and validation of chromosome regions conferring boron toxicity tolerance in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*)." <u>Theoretical and</u> Applied Genetics **101**(5-6): 767-777.

Jehan, T. and S. Lakhanpaul (2006). "Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) - methods and applications in plant genetics: A review." Indian Journal of Biotechnology **5**: 435-459.

Jenkins, J. N., R. G. Creech, B. Tang, G. W. Lawrence and J. C. McCarty (1995). "Cotton resistance to root-knot nematode .2. Post-penetration development." <u>Crop Science</u> **35**(2): 369-373.

Joshi, R. K. and N. Sanghamitra (2010). "Gene pyramiding-a broad spectrum technique for developing durable stress resistance in crops." <u>Biotechnology and Molecular Biology</u> <u>Reviews</u> **5**(3): 51-60.

Jung, C., D. G. Cai and M. Kleine (1998). "Engineering nematode resistance in crop species." <u>Trends in Plant Science</u> **3**(7): 266-271.

Kanazin, V., L. F. Marek and R. C. Shoemaker (1996). "Resistance gene analogs are conserved and clustered in soybean." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **93**: 11746-11750.

Kao, C. H., Z. B. Zeng and R. D. Teasdale (1999). "Multiple interval mapping for quantitative trait loci." <u>Genetics</u> **152**(3): 1203-1216.

Kaplan, D. T., N. T. Keen and I. J. Thomason (1980). "Association of glyceollin with the incompatible response of soybean roots to *Meloidogyne incognita*." <u>Physiological Plant</u> <u>Pathology</u> **16**(3): 309-318.

Kaplan, D. T., N. T. Keen and I. J. Thomason (1980). "Studies on the mode of action of glyceollin in soybean - incompatibility to the root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*." <u>Physiological Plant Pathology</u> **16**(3): 319-325.

Kato, K., H. Miura and S. Sawada (1999). "Comparative mapping of the wheat *Vrn-A1* region with the rice *Hd-6* region." <u>Genome</u> **42**(2): 204-209.

Kaur, N., K. Street, M. Mackay, N. Yahiaoui and B. Keller (2008). "Molecular approaches for characterization and use of natural disease resistance in wheat." <u>European Journal of Plant</u> <u>Pathology</u> **121**(3): 387-397.

Keller, B., C. Feuillet and N. Yahiaoui (2005). "Map-based isolation of disease resistance genes from bread wheat: Cloning in a supersize genome." <u>Genetical Research</u> **85**(2): 93-100.

Khanna, M. L. and K. K. Nirula (1964). "Breeding potatoes for resistance to root-knot nematode." <u>Current Science</u> **33**: 314.

Khush, G. S. (2002). Molecular genetics - Plant breeders perspective. <u>Molecular Techniques</u> <u>in Crop Improvement</u>. S. Mohan Jain, D. S. Brar and B. S. Ahloowalia. Netherlands, Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Kim, Y. H., R. D. Riggs and K. S. Kim (1987). "Structural changes with resistance of soybean to *Heterodera glycines*." Journal of Nematology **19**(2): 177-187.

Kimpinski, J., H. R. Wallace and R. B. Cunningham (1976). "Influence of some environmental factors on populations of *Pratylenchus minyus* on wheat." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **8**: 310-314. Klien-Lankhorst, R. M., P. Rietveld, B. Machiels, R. Verkerk, R. Weide, C. Gebhardt, M.

Koornneef and P. Zabel (1991). "RFLP markers linked to the root-knot nematode reisistance gene *Mi* in tomato." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **81**: 661-667.

Klinkenberg, C. H. (1963). "Observation of the feeding habits of *Rotylenchus uniformis*, *Pratylenchus crenatus*, *P. penetrans*, *Tylenchorhynchus dubius* and *Hemicycliophora similis*." <u>Nematologica</u> **9**: 502-506.

Kota, R. S., K. S. Gill, B. S. Gill and T. R. Endo (1993). "A cytogenetically based physical map of chromosome-1B in common wheat." <u>Genome **36**</u>: 548-554.

Kouassi, A. B., M. C. Kerlan, M. Sobczak, J. P. Dantec, C. Rouaux, D. Ellisseche and D. Mugniery (2004). "Resistance to the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne fallax* in *Solanum sparsipilum*: Analysis of the mechanisms." <u>Nematology</u> **6**: 389-400.

Krattinger, S., T. Wicker and B. Keller (2009). Map based cloning of genes in Triticeae (wheat and barley). <u>Genetics and Genomics of the Triticeae</u>. C. Feuillet and G. J. Muehlbauer. New York, USA, Springer. **7**.

Kreike, C. M., J. R. A. Dekoning, J. H. Vinke, J. W. Vanooijen and W. J. Stiekema (1994). "Quantitatively inherited resistance to *Globodera pallida* is dominated by one major locus in *Solanum spegazzinii*." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **88**(6-7): 764-769.

Krusberg, L. R. (1960). "Hydrolytic and respiratory enzymes of species of *Ditylenchus* and *Pratylenchus*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **50**: 9-22.

Kuchel, H., G. Hollamby, P. Langridge, K. Williams and S. P. Jefferies (2006). "Identification of genetic loci associated with ear-emergence in bread wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied</u> <u>Genetics</u> **113**(6): 1103-1112.

Kumar, G. R., K. Sakthivel, R. M. Sundaram, C. N. Neeraja, S. M. Balachandran, N. S. Rani, B. C. Viraktamath and M. S. Madhav (2010). "Allele mining in crops: Prospects and potentials." <u>Biotechnology Advances</u> **28**(4): 451-461.

Kumar, N., P. L. Kulwal, H. S. Balyan and P. K. Gupta (2007). "QTL mapping for yield and yield contributing traits in two mapping populations of bread wheat." <u>Molecular Breeding</u> **19**(2): 163-177.

Kurata, N., G. Moore, Y. Nagamura, T. Foote, M. Yano, Y. Minobe and M. Gale (1994). "Conservation of genomic structure between rice and wheat." <u>Nature Biotechnology</u> **12**: 276-278.

Kurrpa, S. and T. C. Vrain (1985). "Penetration and feeding behaviour of *Pratylenchus penetrans* in strawberry roots." <u>Revue Nématologie</u> **8**(3): 273-276.

Lagudah, E. S., R. Appels, D. McNeil and D. P. Schachtman (1993). Exploiting the diploid 'D' genome chromatin for wheat improvement. <u>Gene Conversion and Exploitation</u>. J. P.

Gustafson, R. Appels and R. Raven. New York, Plenum Press.

Lagudah, E. S., O. Moullet and R. Appels (1997). "Map-based cloning of a gene sequence encoding a nucleotide binding domain and a leucine-rich region at the *Cre3* nematode resistance locus of wheat." <u>Genome</u> **40**(5): 659-665.

Lander, E. S. and L. Kruglyak (1995). "Genetic dissection of complex traits: Guidelines for interpreting and reporting linkage results." <u>Nature Genetics</u> **11**: 241-247.

Landere, S. and D. Botstein (1989). "Mapping Mendelian factors underlying quantitative traits using RFLP linkage maps." <u>Genetics</u> **121**: 185-199.

Levinsh, G. and O. I. Romanovskaya (1991). "Accelerated lignification as a possible mechanism of growth-inhibition in winter rye seedlings caused by Ethephon and 1-

Aminocyclopropane-1-Carboxylic Acid." Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 29(4): 327-331.

Ling, P., L. W. Duncan, Z. Deng, D. Dunn, X. Hu, S. Huang and F. G. Gmitter (2000). "Inheritance of citrus nematode resistance and its linkage with molecular markers." Theoretical and Applied Genetics **100**(7): 1010-1017.

Liu, B. (1998). <u>Statistical genomics: Linkage, mapping and QTL analysis Boca Raton, USA,</u> CRC Press.

Liu, Z., Q. Sun, E. Ni, Z. Nevo and T. M. Yang (2002). "Molecular characterization of a novel powdery mildew resistance gene *Pm30* in wheat originating from wild emmer " <u>Euphytica</u> **123**: 21-29.

Luc, M., R. A. Sikora and J. Bridge (2005). <u>Plant Parasitic Nematodes in Subtropical and</u> <u>Tropical Agriculture</u>. Wallingford, UK, CABI Pub.

Lukaszewski, A. J. and C. A. Curtis (1993). "Physical distribution of recombination in Bgenome chromosomes of tetraploid wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **84**: 121-127. Mace, M. E. (1963). "Histocemical localisation of phenols in healthy and diseased banana roots." <u>Physiologia Plantarum</u> **16**.

Marull, J., J. Pinochet and S. Verdejo (1990). "Response of five almond cultivars to four root lesion nematodes in Spain." <u>Nematropica</u> **20**: 143-151.

Mather, D. and K. J. Chalmers (2010). A dominant marker for the *Rlnn1* root lesion nematode resistance locus in wheat. Adelaide, Australian Wheat and Barley Molecular Marker Program (AWBMMP)

McClure, M. A., K. C. Ellis and E. L. Nigh (1974). "Resistance of cotton to root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*" Journal of Nematology **6**(1): 17-20.

McIntosh, R. A., C. R. Wellings and R. F. Park (1995). <u>Wheat rusts: An atlas of resistance</u> <u>genes</u>. Melbourne, Australia, CSIRO Publications,.

Meagher, J. W. (1970). "Seasonal fluctuations in numbers of larvae of the cereal cyst nematode (*Heterodera avenae*) and of *Pratylenchus minyus* and *Tylenchorhynchus brevidens* in soil." <u>Nematologica</u> **16**: 333-347.

Melchinger, A. E., H. F. Utz and C. C. Schoen (1998). "Quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping using different testers and independent population samples in maize reveals low power of QTL detection and large bias in estimates of QTL effects." <u>Genetics</u> **149**(1): 383-403.

Melillo, M., T. Bleve-Zacheo, G. Zacheo and G. P. (1989). "Histochemical localization of carboxylesterases in roots of *Lycopersicon esculentum* in response to *Meloidogyne incognita* infection." <u>Annals of Applied Biology</u> **114**: 325-330.

Melillo, M. T., T. Bleve-Zacheo and G. Zacheo (1992). "Role of peroxidase and esterase isoenzymes in pea roots infected with *Heterodera goettingiana*." <u>Nematologia Mediterranea</u> **20**: 171-179.

Michelmore, R. W. and B. C. Meyers (1998). "Clusters of resistance genes in plants evolve by divergent selection and a birth-and-death process." <u>Genome Research</u> **8**(11): 1113-1130. Milligan, S. B., J. Bodeau, J. Yaghoobi, I. Kaloshian, P. Zabel and V. M. Williamson (1998). "The root knot nematode resistance gene *Mi* from tomato is a member of the leucine zipper, nucleotide binding, leucine-rich repeat family of plant genes." <u>Plant Cell</u> **10**(8): 1307-1319. Mingeot, D., N. Chantret, P. V. Baret, A. Dekeyser, N. Boukhatem, P. Sourdille, G. Doussinault and J. M. Jacquemin (2002). "Mapping QTL involved in adult plant resistance to powdery mildew in the winter wheat line RE714 in two susceptible genetic backgrounds."

Plant Breeding **121**: 133-140.

Moore, J. P., K. L. Westall, N. Ravenscroft, J. M. Farrant, G. G. Lindsey and W. F. Brandt (2004). "The predominant polyphenol in the leaves of the ressurrection plant *Myrothamnus flabellifolius*, 3,4,5-tri-O-galloylquinic acid, protects membranes against desiccation and free radical induced oxidation." <u>Polyphenols Communications</u> **79**.

Motalaote, B., J. L. Starr, R. A. Frederiksen, F. R. Miller and (1987). "Host status and susceptibility of sorghum to *Pratylenchus* species." <u>Revue de Nématologie</u> **10**: 81-86. Mountain, W. B. and Z. A. Patrick (1959). "The peach replant problem in Ontario. VII. The pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* (obb 1917) Filip. and Stek." <u>Canadian Journal of Botany</u> **37**: 459-470.

Moura, R. M., E. L. Davis, B. M. Luzzi, H. R. Boerma and R. S. Hussey (1993). "Postinfectional development of *Meloidogyne incognita* on susceptible and resistant soybean genotypes." <u>Nematropica</u> **23**(1): 7-13.

Mudje (1997). "Two microsatellite markers that flank the major soybean cyst nematode resistance locus." <u>Crop Science</u> **37**: 1611-1615.

Murray, G. M. and J. P. Brennan (2009). The current and potential costs from diseases of wheat in Australia. G. R. D. Corporation. Kingston, ACT.

Nagy, E. D., M. Molnar-Lang, G. Linc and L. Lang (2002). "Identification of wheat-barley translocations by sequential GISH and two-colour FISH in combination with the use of genetically mapped barley SSR markers." <u>Genome</u> **45**(6): 1238-1247.

Narasimhamoorthy, B., B. S. Gill, A. K. Fritz, J. C. Nelson and G. L. Brown-Guedira (2006). "Advanced backcross QTL analysis of a hard winter wheat x synthetic wheat population." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **112**(5): 787-796.

Nelson, J. C., M. E. Sorrells, A. E. Vandeynze, Y. H. Lu, M. Atkinson, M. Bernard, P. Leroy, J. D. Faris and J. A. Anderson (1995). "Molecular mapping of wheat: Major genes and rearrangements in homoeologous groups 4, 5 and 7 " <u>Genetics</u> **141**(2): 721-731.

Nelson, J. C., A. E. Van Deynze, E. Autrique, M. E. Sorrells, Y. Lu, S. Negre, M. Bernard and P. Leroy (1995). "Molecular mapping of wheat homoeologous group 3." <u>Genome</u> **38**. Nelson, R. R. (1973). <u>Breeding Plants for Disease Resistance</u>. London, The Pennsylvania State University Press.

Nicol, J. M. (1996). <u>The distrubution, pathogenicity and population dynamics of *Pratylenchus thornei* in South Australia. PhD, Adelaide.</u>

Nicol, J. M. and I. Ortiz-Monasterio (2004). "Effects of the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus thornei*, on wheat yields in Mexico." <u>Nematology</u> **6**: 485-493.

Nicol, J. M., R. Rivoal, S. P. Taylor and M. Zaharieva (2003). "Global importance of cyst (*Heterodera* spp.) and lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus* spp.) on cereals: Distribution, yield loss, use of host resistance and integration of molecular tools." <u>Nematology Monographs and Perspectives 2</u>: 1-19.

Nithya, D. A., V. Ponnuswami, P. Sundararaju, K. Soorianathasundaram, S. Sathiamoorthy, S. Uma and I. Van Den Bergh (2007). "Mechanism of resistance in banana cultivars against root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus coffeae*." <u>Indian Journal of Nematology</u> **37**(2). Nordborg, M. and H. Innan (2002). "Molecular population genetics." <u>Current Opinion in Plant Biology</u> **5**(1): 69-73.

O'Reilly, M. M. and J. P. Thompson (1993). <u>Open pot culture proved more convenient that</u> carrot callus culture for producing *Pratylenchus thornei* inoculum for glasshouse experiments. APPS, Hobart, *Pratylenchus* Workshop.

Ogbonnaya, F. C., O. Moullet, J. Kollmorgen, R. F. Eastwood, H. A. Eagles and E. S. Lagudah (1998). The use of molecular markers to pyramid cereal cyst nematode resistance

<u>in wheat</u>. 9th International Wheat Genetics Symposium, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada, University Extension Press: Saskatoon, Saskatchewan.

Ogbonnaya, F. C., S. Seah, A. Delibes, J. Jahier, I. Lopez-Brana, R. F. Eastwood and E. S. Lagudah (2001). "Molecular-genetic characterisation of a new nematode resistance gene in wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **102**(4): 623-629.

Ogbonnaya, F. C., N. C. Subrahmanyam, O. Moullet, J. de Majnik, H. A. Eagles, J. S. Brown, R. F. Eastwood, J. Kollmorgen, R. Appels and E. S. Lagudah (2001). "Diagnostic DNA markers for cereal cyst nematode resistance in bread wheat." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **52**(11-12): 1367-1374.

Ogbonnaya, S., I. Seah, A. Delibes, J. Jahier, I. Lopez-Braña, R. F. Eastwood and E. S. Lagudah (2001). "Molecular-genetic characterisation of nematode resistance from *Aegilops ventricosa* and its derivatives in wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **102**: 623-629. Ogbuyi, R. O. (1976). "Influence of host age of four crop plants on infectiveness of *Meloidogyne arenaria* in Nigeria." Plant District Report **60**: 759-761.

Ogiga, I. R. and R. H. Estey (1975). "Penetration and colonisation of *Brassica rapa* and *Zea mays* root tissues by *Pratylenchus penetrans*." Journal of Phyoprotection **56**(1): 22-30.

Oku, H. (1960). "Biochemical studies on *Cochliobolus miyabeanus*. Cellular carbohydrate as an endogenous substrate for conidia germination in *Cochliobolus miyabeanus*." <u>Plant and</u> <u>Cell Physiology</u> **1**(4): 231-239.

Olah, A. F. and R. T. Sherwood (1973). "Glycosidase activity and flavonoid accumulation in alfalfa Infected by *Ascochyta imperfecta*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **63**(6): 739-742.

Olmos, S., A. Distelfeld, O. Chicaiza, A. R. Schlatter, T. Fahima, V. Echenique and J. Dubcovsky (2003). "Precise mapping of a locus affecting grain protein content in durum wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **107**: 1243-1251.

Olthof, T. H. A. (1982). "Effect of age of alfalfa root on penetration by *Pratylenchus penetrans*." Journal of Nematology **14**(1): 100-105.

Ophel-Keller, K., A. McKay, D. Hartley, Herdina and J. Curran (2008). "Development of a routine DNA-based testing service for soilborne diseases in Australia." <u>Australasian Plant</u> <u>Pathology</u> **37**(3): 243-253.

Oraguzie, N. C. and P. L. Wilcox (2007). An overview of association mapping. <u>Association mapping in plants N. C. Oraguzie, E. H. A. Rikkerink, S. E. Gardiner and H. N. Silva. New York, USA, Springer: 1-9.</u>

Orion, D., J. Amir and J. Krikun (1984). "Field observations on *Pratylenchus thornei* and its effects on wheat *Triticum aestivum* under arid conditions." <u>Revue de Nématologie</u> **7**(4): 341-346.

Orion, D. and D. Lapid (1993). "Scanning electron microscope study on the interaction of *Pratylenchus mediterraneus* and *Vicia sativa* roots." <u>Nematologica</u> **39**(3): 322-327. Parker, G. D., K. J. Chalmers, A. J. Rathjen and P. Langridge (1998). "Mapping loci associated with flour colour in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)." <u>Theoretical and Applied</u> Genetics **97**(1-2): 238-245.

Paterson, A. H. (1996). Making genetic maps. <u>Genome Mapping in Plants</u>. A. H. Paterson. San Diego, California; Austin, Texas, Landes Company, Academic Press: 23-39. Paterson, A. H. and R. A. Wing (1993). "Genome mapping in plants." <u>Current Opinion in Biotechnology</u> **4**: 142-147.

Paull, J. G., K. J. Chalmers, A. Karakousis, J. M. Kretschmer, S. Manning and P. Langridge (1998). "Genetic diversity in Australian wheat varieties and breeding material based on RFLP data." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **96**(3-4): 435-446.

Paulson, R. E. and J. M. Webster (1972). "Ultrastructure of hypersensitive reaction in roots of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* L.) to infection by the root knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*." <u>Physiological Plant Pathology</u> **2**: 227-234.

Peng, J. R., D. E. Richards, N. M. Hartley, G. P. Murphy, K. M. Devos, J. E. Flintham, J. Beales, L. J. Fish, A. J. Worland, F. Pelica, D. Sudhakar, P. Christou, J. W. Snape, M. D. Gale and N. P. Harberd (1999). "Green revolution' genes encode mutant gibberellin response modulators." <u>Nature</u> **400**(6741): 256-261.

Persondedryver, F. and J. Jahier (1985). "Cerals as hosts of *Meloidogyne naasi* Franklin. 3. Investigations into the level of resistance of wheat relatives "<u>Agronomie</u> **5**(7): 573-578. Pi, C. L. (1966). <u>Phenolic compounds associated with host reaction in tomato to injury</u> <u>caused by root-knot and lesion nematodes</u>. Master Science, University of Massachusetts. Picard, C., C. Ponsonnet, E. Paget, X. Nesme and P. Simonet (1992). "Detection and enumeration of bacteria in soil by direct DNA extraction and polymerase chain reaction." <u>Applied and Environmental Microbiology</u> **58** 2717-2722.

Pitcher, R. S., Z. A. Patrick and W. B. Mountain (1960). "Studies on the host-parasite relations of *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Cobb) to apple seedlings." <u>Nematologica</u> **5**: 390-314. Plowright, R. A., R. J. Grayer, J. R. Gill, M. L. Rahman and J. B. Harborne (1996). "The induction of phenolic compounds in rice after infection by the stem nematode *Ditylenchus angustus*." <u>Nematologica</u> **42**(5): 564-578.

Prasad, J. S., K. V. Seshu Reddy and R. A. Sikora (1999). "Life cycle of *Pratylenchus goodeyi* in banana roots." <u>Nematologia Mediteranea</u> **27**: 111-114.

Prasad, M., N. Kumar, P. L. Kulwal, M. S. Roder, H. S. Balyan, H. S. Dhaliwal and P. K. Gupta (2003). "QTL analysis for grain protein content using SSR markers and validation studies using NILs in bread wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **106**(4): 659-667. Pridham, J. B. (1960). <u>Phenolics in Plants in Health and Disease</u>. New York, Pergaman Press.

Pudasaini, M. P., N. Viaene and M. Moens (2008). "Hatching of the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*, under the influence of temperature and host." <u>Nematology</u> **10**: 47-54.

Qina, J., L. Huaa, Z. Honga, W. Yu-Pinga, L. Qianga, M. Dai-Fua, X. Yi-Pinga and L. Qing-Changa (2008). "Development of AFLP markers linked to stem nematode resistance gene in sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas* (L.) Lam.)." <u>Journal of Agricultural Biotechnology</u> **16**(5): 837-841.

Ratnaparkhe, M. B., M. Tekeoglu and F. J. Muehlbauer (1998). "Intersimple-sequence-repeat (ISSR) polymorphisms are useful for finding markers associated with disease resistance gene clusters." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **97**(4): 515-519.

Reynolds, H. W., W. W. Carter and J. H. O'Bannon (1970). "Symptomless resistance of alfalfa to *Meloidogyne incognita acrita*." Journal of Nematology **2**: 131-134.

Rich, J. R., N. T. Keen and I. J. Thomason (1977). "Association of coumestans with the hypersensitivity of lima bean roots to *Pratylenchus scriberni*." <u>Physiological Plant Pathology</u> **10**: 105-116.

Ride, J. P. (1978). "The role of cell wall alterations in resistance to fungi." <u>Annals of Applied</u> <u>Biology</u> **89**: 302-306.

Risch, N. (1992). "Genetic linkage: Interpreting LOD scores." <u>Science</u> **255**: 803-804. Risch, N. and K. Merikangas (1996). "The future of genetic studies of complex human diseases." <u>Science</u> **273**(5281): 1516-1517.

Rohde, R. A. (1965). "The nature of resistance in plants to nematodes." <u>Phytopathology</u> 55: 1159-1162.

Rojo, E., R. Solano and J. J. Sanchez-Serrano (2003). "Interactions between signaling compounds involved in plant defense." Journal of Plant Growth Regulation **22**(1): 82-98. Roman, J. and H. Hirschmann (1969). "Morphology and morphometrics of six species of *Pratylenchus*." Journal of Nematology **1** 363-386.

Romero, M. D., M. J. Montes, E. Sin, I. Lopez-Brana, A. Duce, J. A. Martin-Sanchez, M. F. Andres and A. Delibes (1998). "A cereal cyst nematode (*Heterodera avenae* Woll.) resistance gene transferred from *Aegilops triuncialis* to hexaploid wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **96**(8): 1135-1140.

Rossi, M., F. L. Goggin, S. B. Milligan, I. Kaloshian, D. E. Ullman and V. M. Williamson (1998). "The nematode resistance gene *Mi* of tomato confers resistance against the potato aphid." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **95**(17): 9750-9754.

Rozema, J., J. VanDeStaaij, L. O. Björn and M. Caldwell (1997). "UV-B as an environmental factor in plant life: Stress and regulation." <u>Tree</u> **12**: 22-28.

Salentijn, E. M. J., M. J. B. Arens-de Reuver, W. Lange, T. S. M. de Bock, W. J. Stiekema and R. M. Klein-Lankhorst (1995). "Isolation and characterization of RAPD-based markers linked to the beet cyst nematode resistance locus (*Hs1<sup>pat-1</sup>*) on chromosome 1 of *B. patellaris*." Theoretical and Applied Genetics **90**: 885-891.

Sallans, B. J. (1942). "Interaction of common root rot and other factors with wheat yield in Saskatchevan." Journal of Agricultural Science **28**: 6-20.

Schena, L., F. Nigro, A. Ippolito and D. Gallitelli (2004). "Real-time quantitative PCR: A new technology to detect and study phytopathogenic and antagonistic fungi." <u>European Journal of Plant Pathology</u> **110**(9): 893-908.

Schmidt, A. L., C. L. McIntyre, J. Thompson, N. P. Seymour and C. J. Liu (2005). "Quantitative trait loci for root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) resistance in Middle-Eastern landraces and their potential for introgression into Australian bread wheat." Australian Journal of Agricultural Research **56**(10): 1059-1068.

Schmitt, D. P. and R. D. Riggs (1991). "Influence of selected plant species on hatching of eggs and development of juveniles of *Heterodera glycines*." Journal of Nematology **23**: 1-6. Schork, N. J., M. Boehnke, J. D. Terwilliger and J. Ott (1993). "Two-trait-locus linkage analysis: A powerful strategy for mapping complex genetic traits." <u>American Journal of Human Genetics</u> **53**(5): 1127-1136.

Seah, S. (1999). <u>Molecular genetic analysis of disease resistance gene family members from</u> wheat and its relatives. PhD, University of Western Australia.

Seah, S., W. Spielmeyer, J. Jahier, K. Sivasithamparam and E. S. Lagudah (2000). "Resistance gene analogs within an introgressed chromosomal segment derived from *Triticum ventricosum* that confers resistance to nematode and rust pathogens in wheat." <u>Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions</u> **13**(3): 334-341.

Semagn, K., A. Bjornstad and M. N. Ndjiondjop (2006). "An overview of molecular marker methods for plants." <u>African Journal of Biotechnology</u> **5**(25): 2540-2568.

Semagn, K., A. Bjornstad and M. N. Ndjiondjop (2006). "Principles, requirements and prospects of genetic mapping in plants." <u>African Journal of Biotechnology</u> **5**(25): 2569-2587. Semagn, K., A. Bjornstad and Y. B. Xu (2010). "The genetic dissection of quantitative traits in crops." <u>Electronic Journal of Biotechnology</u> **13**(5).

Sham, P., J. S. Bader, I. Craig, M. O'Donovan and M. Owen (2002). "DNA pooling: A tool for large-scale association studies." <u>Nature Review of Genetics</u> **3**(11): 862-871.

Sharma, S., S. Sharma, F. J. Kopisch-Obuch, T. Keil, E. Laubach, N. Stein, A. Graner and C. Jung (2011). "QTL analysis of root-lesion nematode resistance in barley: 1. *Pratylenchus neglectus*." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **122**(7): 1321-1330.

Sheedy, J. G. and J. P. Thompson (2009). "Resistance to the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* of Iranian landrace wheat." <u>Australasian Plant Pathology</u> **38**(5): 478-489.

Shen, X. L., Y. J. He, E. L. Lubbers, R. F. Davis, R. L. Nichols and P. W. Chee (2006). "Fine mapping *QMi-C11* a major QTL controlling root-knot nematodes resistance in Upland cotton." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **121**(8): 1623-1631.

Shurtleff, M. C. and C. W. I. Averre (2000). <u>Diagnosing Plant Diseases Caused by</u> <u>Nematodes</u>. St. Paul, Minn., APS Press.

Sijmons, P. C., H. J. Atkinson and U. Wyss (1994). "Parasitic strategies of root nematodes and associated host-cell responses." <u>Annual Review of Phytopathology</u> **32**: 235-259. Sikora, E. J. and G. R. Noel (1996). "Hatch and emergence of *Heterodera glycines* in root leachate from resistant and susceptible soybean cultivars." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **28**(4): 501-509.

Singh, R. P., J. C. Nelson and M. E. Sorrells (2000). "Mapping *Yr28* and other genes for resistance to stripe rust in wheat." <u>Crop Science</u> **40**(4): 1148-1155.

Slootmaker, L. A. J., W. Lange, G. Jochemsen and J. Schepers (1974). "Monosomic analysis in bread wheat of resistance to cereal root eelworm." <u>Euphytica</u> **23**: 497-503.

Sobczak, M., A. Avrova, J. Jupowicz, M. S. Phillips, K. Ernst and A. Kumar (2005). "Characterization of susceptibility and resistance responses to potato cyst nematode

(*Globodera* spp.) infection of tomato lines in the absence and presence of the broad-

spectrum nematode resistance *Hero* gene." <u>Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions</u> **18**(2): 158-168.

Somers, D. J., P. Isaac and K. Edwards (2004). "A high-density microsatellite consensus map for bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **109**(6): 1105-1114.

Soriano, I. R. (2004). <u>Novel inducible phytochemical defences against plant parasitic nematodes</u>. PhD, Adelaide University.

Sorrells, M. E., M. La Rota, C. E. Bermudez-Kandianis, R. A. Greene, R. Kantety, J. D. Munkvold, Miftahudin, A. Mahmoud, X. F. Ma, P. J. Gustafson, L. L. L. Qi, B. Echalier, B. S. Gill, D. E. Matthews, G. R. Lazo, S. M. Chao, O. D. Anderson, H. Edwards, A. M. Linkiewicz, J. Dubcovsky, E. D. Akhunov, J. Dvorak, D. S. Zhang, H. T. Nguyen, J. H. Peng, N. L. V. Lapitan, J. L. Gonzalez-Hernandez, J. A. Anderson, K. Hossain, V. Kalavacharla, S. F. Kianian, D. W. Choi, T. J. Close, M. Dilbirligi, K. S. Gill, C. Steber, M. K. Walker-Simmons, P.

E. McGuire and C. O. Qualset (2003). "Comparative DNA sequence analysis of wheat and rice genomes." <u>Genome Research</u> **13**(8): 1818-1827.

Southey, J. F. (1986). Laboratory methods for work with plant and soil nematodes. London, UK, Her Majesty's Stationery Office.

Steffan, R. J., J. Goksoyr, A. K. Bej and R. M. Atlas (1988). "Recovery of DNA from soils and sediments." <u>Applied and Environmental Microbiology</u> **54**: 2908-2915.

Stults, J. R., O. Snoeyenbos-West, B. Methe, D. Lovley and D. P. Chandler (2001). "Application of the 50 fluorogenic exonuclease assay (TaqMan) for quantitative ribosomal DNA and rRNA analysis in sediments." <u>Applied and Environmental Microbiology</u> **67**: 2781-2789.

Syvanen, A. C. (2001). "Accessing genetic variation: Genotyping single nucleotide polymorphisms." <u>Nature Reviews of Genetics</u> **2**(12): 930-942.

Taheri, A. (1996). <u>Interaction between root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus neglectus* and root rotting fungi of wheat. PhD, Adelaide University.</u>

Takken, F. L. W. and H. A. J. Joosten (2000). "Plant resistance genes: Their structure, function and evolution." <u>European Journal of Plant Pathology</u> **106**: 699-713.

Talavera, M. and V. A. Vanstone (2001). "Monitoring *Pratylenchus thornei* densities in soil and roots under resistant (*Triticum turgidum* durum) and susceptible (*Triticum aestivum*) wheat cultivars." <u>Phytoparasitica</u> **29**(1): 29-35.

Tanksley, S. D. (1993). "Mapping polygenes." <u>Annual Review of Genetics</u> **27**: 205-233. Tanksley, S. D., N. D. Young, A. H. Paterson and M. W. Bonierbale (1989). "RFLP mapping in plant breeding: New tools for an old science." <u>Biotechnology</u> **7**: 257-264.

Taylor, S. P. and M. L. Evans (1998). "Vertical and horizontal distribution of and soil sampling for root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei*) in South Australia." Australasian Plant Pathology **27**(2): 90-96.

Taylor, S. P., G. J. Hollaway and C. H. Hunt (2000). "Effect of field crops on population densities of *Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei* in southeastern Australia; Part 1: *P. neglectus*." Journal of Nematology **32**(4): 591-599.

Taylor, S. P., V. A. Vanstone, A. H. Ware, A. C. McKay, D. Szot and M. H. Russ (1999). "Measuring yield loss in cereals caused by root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei*) with and without nematicide." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **50**(4): 617-622.

Thompson, J., T. G. Clewett and M. Fiske (1989). Occurance of root lesion nematode. <u>Queensland Wheat Research Institute Biennial Report 1984-1986</u>. Toowoomba, Queensland Department Primary Industries: 44.

Thompson, J., J. Mackenzie and J. McCulloch (1980). Nematodes; a major factor in crop sequence effects on Darling Downs wheat. <u>Proceedings of the Australian Agronomy</u> <u>Conference</u> Lawes: 194.

Thompson, J., J. Mackenzie, J. McCulloch and T. G. Clewett (1981). Research pins blame on nematodes for Downs problem. <u>Queensland Wheat Research</u>. Toowamba, Queensland Wheat Research Institute.

Thompson, J. P. (1990). "Treatments to eliminate root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* Sher and Allen) from a vertisol." <u>Nematologica</u> **36**(1): 123-127.

Thompson, J. P. (2008). "Resistance to root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) in synthetic hexaploid wheats and their durum and *Aegilops tauschii* parents." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **59**(5): 432-446.

Thompson, J. P., J. P. Brennan, T. G. Clewett and M. M. O'Reilly (1994). Tolerance and resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei*. <u>Proceedings of the Seventh Assembly of the Wheat Breeding Society of Australia</u>. J. Paull, I. S. Dundas, K. J. Shepard and G. J. Hollamby. Adelaide, South Australia: 213-216.

Thompson, J. P., P. S. Brennan, T. G. Clewett, J. G. Sheedy and N. P. Seymour (1999). "Progress in breeding wheat for tolerance and resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*)." <u>Australasian Plant Pathology</u> **28**(1): 45-52.

Thompson, J. P. and T. G. Clewett (1986). Research on root lesion nematode: Occurance and wheat varietal reaction. <u>Queensland Wheat Research Institute Biennial Report for 1982-84</u>. Toowoomba, Queensland Department of Primary Industries: 32-34.

Thompson, J. P., T. G. Clewett, M. M. O'Reilly and P. S. Brennan (1995). Disease reactions of selected cultivars. Root lesion nematode. <u>Queensland Wheat Variety Trials 1994</u>, Queensland Department of Primary Industries 60-64.

Thompson, J. P., T. G. Clewett, J. G. Sheedy, R. A. Reen, M. M. O'Reilly and K. L. Bell (2010). "Occurrence of root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) and stunt nematode (*Merlinius brevidens*) in the northern grain region of Australia." <u>Australasian</u> Plant Pathology **39**(3): 254-264.

Thompson, J. P. and M. I. Haak (1997). "Resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in *Aegilops tauschii* Coss, the D-genome donor to wheat." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **48**(5): 553-559.

Thompson, J. P., M. M. O'Reilly and T. G. Clewett (2009). "Resistance to the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* in wheat landraces and cultivars from the West Asia and North Africa (WANA) region." <u>Crop & Pasture Science</u> **60**(12): 1209-1217.

Thompson, J. P., K. J. Owen, G. R. Stirling and M. J. Bell (2008). "Root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*): A review of recent progress in managing a significant pest of grain crops in northern Australia." <u>Australasian Plant Pathology</u> **37**(3): 235-242.

Thompson, J. P. and N. P. Seymour (2011). "Inheritance of resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in wheat landraces and cultivars from the West Asia and North Africa (WANA) region." <u>Crop & Pasture Science</u> **62**(1): 82-93.

Tiyagi, S. A. and M. Parveen (1992). "Pathogenic effect of root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* on plant growth, water absorption capability, and chlorophyll content of chickpea "<u>International Chickpea Newsletter</u> **26**: 18-20.

Tobar, A., H. Valor and M. Talavera (1996). "On the field anhydrobiotic ability of *Pratylenchus thornei* and *Merlinius brevidens*." <u>Fundamental and Applied Nematology</u> **19**(1): 43-46.

Toktay, H., C. L. McIntyre, J. M. Nicol, H. Ozkan and H. I. Elekcioglu (2006). "Identification of common root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* Sher et Allen) loci in bread wheat." Genome **49**(10): 1319-1323.

Townshend, J. (1989). "Population densities of four species of root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus*) in the oat cultivars, Saia and OAC Woodstock." <u>Canadian Journal of Plant</u> <u>Science 69</u>: 903-905.

Townshend, J. L. (1963). "The pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* to celery." <u>Canadian</u> Journal of Plant Science **43**(70-74).

Townshend, J. L. (1963). "The pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* to strawberry." <u>Canadian Journal of Plant Science</u> **43**: 75-78.

Townshend, J. L. (1978). "Infectivity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* on alfalfa." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **10**(4): 318-323.

Townshend, J. L. (1984). "Inoculum densities of five plant parasitic nematodes in relation to alfalfa seedling growth." <u>Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology</u> **6**: 309-312.

Townshend, J. L. and L. Stobbs (1981). "Histopathology and histochemistry of lesions caused by *Pratylenchus penetrans* in roots of forage legumes." <u>Canadian Journal of Plant</u> <u>Pathology</u> **3**(3): 123-128.

Townshend, J. L., L. Stobbs and R. Carter (1989). "Ultrastructural pathology of cells affected by *Pratylenchus penetrans* in alfalfa roots." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **21**(4): 530-539.

Treutter, D. (2005). "Significance of flavonoids in plant resistance and enhancement of their biosynthesis." <u>Plant Biology</u> **7**(6): 581-591.

Trivedi, P. C., K. R. Barker and J. S. Huang (1984). "Effects of glyceollin on hatching and motility of *Heterodera glycines*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **74**(7): 830-830.

Troll, J. and R. A. Rhode (1966). "Pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* and *Tylenchorhynchus claytoni* on turfgrasses." <u>Phytopathology</u> **56**: 995-998.

Trudgill, D. L. (1991). "Resistance to and tolerance of plant parasitic nematodes in plants." Annual Review of Phytopathology **29**: 167-192.

Turner, D. R. and R. A. Chapman (1972). "Infections of seedlings of alfalfa and red clover by concomitant populations of *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Pratylenchus penetrans*." Journal of <u>Nematology</u> **4**: 280-286.

Ulloa, M., C. Wang and P. A. Roberts (2010). "Gene action analysis by inheritance and quantitative trait loci mapping of resistance to root-knot nematodes in cotton." <u>Plant Breeding</u> **129**(5): 541-550.

Uritani, I. (1963). The biochemical basis of disease resistance induced by infection. <u>Perspectives of Biochemical Plant Pathology</u>. R. S: 4-14.

Utz, H. F., A. E. Melchinger and C. C. Scho<sup>°</sup>n (2000). "Bias and sampling error of the estimated proportion of genotypic variance explained by quantitative trait loci determined

from experimental data in maize using cross validation and validation with independent samples." <u>Genetics **154**</u>: 1839-1849.

Valette, C., C. Andary, J. P. Geiger, J. L. Sarah and M. Nicole (1998). "Histochemical and cytochemical investigations of phenols in roots of banana infected by the burrowing nematode *Radopholus similis*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **88**(11): 1141-1148.

Van der Vossen, E. A. G., J. Van der Voort, K. Kanyuka, A. Bendahmane, H. Sandbrink, D. C. Baulcombe, J. Bakker, W. J. Stiekema and R. M. Klein-Lankhorst (2000). "Homologues of a single resistance-gene cluster in potato confer resistance to distinct pathogens: A virus and a nematode." <u>Plant Journal</u> **23**(5): 567-576.

Van Gundy, S. D., J. G. Perez, L. H. Stolzy and I. J. Thomason (1974). "A pest managment approach to the control of *Pratylenchus thronei* on wheat in Mexico." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **6**: 107-116.

VanderVoort, J. R., P. Wolters, R. Folkertsma, R. Hutten, P. vanZandvoort, H. Vinke, K. Kanyuka, A. Bendahmane, E. Jacobsen, R. Janssen and J. Bakker (1997). "Mapping of the cyst nematode resistance locus *Gpa2* in potato using a strategy based on comigrating AFLP markers." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **95**(5-6): 874-880.

VanDeynze, A. E., J. C. Nelson, J. S. O'Donoughue, S. N. Ahn, W. Siripoonwiwat, S. E. Harrington, E. S. Ylesias, D. P. Braga, S. R. McCouch and M. E. Sorrells (1995).

"Comparative mapping in grasses. Oat relationships." <u>Molecular and General Genetics</u> **249**: 349-356.

VanDeynze, A. E., M. E. Sorrells, W. D. Park, N. M. Ayres, H. Fu, S. W. Cartinhour, E. Paul and S. R. McCouch (1998). "Anchor probes for comparative mapping of grass genera." Theoretical and Applied Genetics **97**: 356-369.

VanEtten, H. D., J. W. Mansfield, J. A. Bailey and E. E. Farmer (1994). "Two classes of plant antibiotics - phytoalexins versus phytoanticipins." <u>Plant Cell</u> **6**(9): 1191-1192.

Vanstone, V. A., A. J. Rathjen, A. H. Ware and R. D. Wheeler (1998). "Relationship between root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei*) and performance of wheat varieties." <u>Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture</u> **38**(2): 181-188.

Varshney, R. K., A. Graner and M. E. Sorrells (2005). "Genomics-assisted breeding for crop improvement." <u>Trends in Plant Science</u> **10**: 621-630.

Varshney, R. K., D. A. Hoisington and A. K. Tyagi (2006). "Advances in cereal genomics and applications in crop breeding." <u>Trends in Biotechnology</u> **24**(11): 490-499.

Veech, J. A. (1982). "Phytoalexins and their role in the resistance of plants to nematodes." Journal of Nematology **14**(1): 2-9.

Veech, J. A. and M. A. McClure (1977). "Terpenoid aldehydes in cotton roots susceptible and resistant to root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*." Journal of Nematology **9**(3): 225-229.

Vicars, L., L. Spindler, I. Haak, G. Wildermuth, J. Thompson, P. Banks, R. Appels and E. Lagudah (1999). Genetic markers for resistance to crown rot and root lesion nematodes. <u>9th</u> <u>Assembly of the Wheat Breeding Society of Australia</u>. Toowoomba, Qld, Wheat Breeding Society of Australia: 118-120.

Vinod, K. K. (2011). Impact of genomics in crop improvement: Perceived and achieved. <u>Association Mapping in Crop Plants</u>. Centre for Advanced Faculty Training in Genetics and Plant Breeding,Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University.

Wallace, H. R., Ed. (1974). <u>Nematology Ecology and Plant Disease</u>. London, E. Arnold. Wallace, H. R. (1989). "Environment and plant health: A nematological perception." <u>Annual Review of Phytopathology</u> **27**: 59-75.

Watson, R. J. and B. Blackwell (2000). "Purification and characterization of a common soil component which inhibits the polymerase chain reaction." <u>Canadian Journal of Microbiology</u> **46**: 633 - 642.

Whitehead, A. G. and J. R. Hemming (1965). "A comparison of some quantitative methods of extracting small vermiform nematodes from soil." <u>Annual of Applied Biology</u> **55**: 25-38. William, H. M., R. Trethowan and E. M. Crosby-Galvan (2007). "Wheat breeding assisted by markers: CIMMYT's experience." <u>Euphytica</u> **157**(3): 307-319.

Williams, K. J. and J. M. Fisher (1993). "Development of *Heterodera avenae* Woll and host cellular-responses in susceptible and resistant wheat." <u>Fundamental and Applied</u> <u>Nematology</u> **16**(5): 417-423.
Williams, K. J., J. M. Fisher and P. Langridge (1994). "Identification of RFLP markers linked to the cereal cyst nematode resistance gene (*Cre*) in wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied</u> <u>Genetics</u> **89**(7-8): 927-930.

Williams, K. J., S. P. Taylor, P. Bogacki, M. Pallotta, H. S. Bariana and H. Wallwork (2002). "Mapping of the root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus neglectus*) resistance gene *RInn1* in wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **104**(5): 874-879.

Williams, K. J., K. L. Willsmore, S. Olson, M. Matic and H. Kuchel (2006). "Mapping of a novel QTL for resistance to cereal cyst nematode in wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied</u> <u>Genetics</u> **112**(8): 1480-1486.

Williamson, V. M. (1999). "Plant nematode resistance genes." <u>Current Opinion in Plant</u> <u>Biology</u> **2**(4): 327-331.

Williamson, V. M. and A. Kumar (2006). "Nematode resistance in plants: The battle underground." <u>Trends in Genetics</u> **22**(7): 396-403.

Wing, R. A., H. B. Zhang and S. D. Tanksley (1994). "Map-based cloning in crop plants - tomato as a model system .1. Genetic and physical mapping of jointless." <u>Molecular & General Genetics</u> **242**(6): 681-688.

Wuyts, N., G. Lognay, M. Verscheure, M. Marlier, D. De Waele and R. Swennen (2007). "Potential physical and chemical barriers to infection by the burrowing nematode *Radopholus similis* in roots of susceptible and resistant banana (*Musa* spp.)." <u>Plant Pathology</u> **56**(5): 878-890.

Xie, C., Q. Sun, Z. Ni, T. Yang, E. Nevo and T. Fahima (2003). "Chromosomal location of a *Triticum dicoccoides*-derived powdery mildew resistance gene in common wheat by using microsatellite markers." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> **106** 341-345.

Yamamoto, T. and T. Hayashi (2002). "New root-knot nematode resistance genes and their STS markers in peach." <u>Horticultural Science **96**</u>: 81-90.

Yan, G., R. W. Smiley and P. A. Okubara (2012). "Detection and quantification of *Pratylenchus thornei* in DNA extracted from soil using real-time PCR." <u>Phytopathology</u> **102**(1): 14-22.

Yan, L., A. Loukoianov, G. Tranquilli, M. Helguera, T. Fahima and J. Dubcovsky (2003). "Positional cloning of the wheat vernalization gene *VRN1*." <u>Proceedings of the National</u> <u>Academy of Sciences</u> **100**(10): 6263-6268.

Yan, L. L., A. Loukoianov, A. Blechl, G. Tranquilli, W. Ramakrishna, P. SanMiguel, J. L. Bennetzen, V. Echenique and J. Dubcovsky (2004). "The wheat *VRN2* gene is a flowering repressor down-regulated by vernalization." <u>Science</u> **303**(5664): 1640-1644.

Young, N. D. (1996). "QTL mapping and quantitative disease resistance in plants." <u>Annual</u> <u>Review of Phytopathology</u> **34**: 479-501.

Young, N. D. (2001). Constructing a plant genetic linkage map with DNA markers. <u>DNA</u> <u>based markers in plants</u>. R. L. Phillips and I. K. Vasil. Netherlands, Kluwer Academic Publishers: 31-48.

Yu, J. K., M. La Rota, R. V. Kantety and M. E. Sorrells (2004). "EST derived SSR markers for comparative mapping in wheat and rice." <u>Molecular Genetics and Genomics</u> **271**(6): 742-751.

Yu, M. H. (1984). "Resistance to *Heterodera schachtii* in patellares section of the genus beta." <u>Euphytica</u> **33**(3): 633-640.

Yu, M. Q. and J. Jahier (1992). "Origin of SV genome of Aegilops variabilis and utilisation of the SV as analyser of the S genome of the Aegilops species in the sitopsis section." <u>Plant</u> <u>Breeding</u> **108**(4): 290-295.

Yu, M. Q., J. Jahier and F. Persondedryver (1995). "Chromosomal location of a gene (*Rkn-mnl*) for resistance to the root knot nematode transferred into wheat from *Aegilops variabilis*." <u>Plant Breeding</u> **114**(4): 358-360.

Yu, M. Q., F. Persondedryver and J. Jahier (1990). "Resistance to root-knot nematode, *Meloigogyne naasi* (Franklin) transerred from *Aegilops variabilis* to bread wheat "<u>Agronomie</u> **10**(6): 451-456.

Zeller, F. J., L. Kong, L. Hartl, V. Mohler and S. L. K. Hsam (2002). "Chromosomal location of genes for resistance to powdery mildew in common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. em Thell.). 7. Gene *Pm29* in line Pova." <u>Euphytica</u> **123** 187-194.

Zeng, Z. B. (1993). "Theoretical basis for separation of multiple linked gene effects in mapping quantitative trait loci " <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **90**(23): 10972-10976.

Zeng, Z. B. (1994). <u>A composite interval mapping method for locating multiple QTLs</u>. Proceedings, 5th World Congress on Genetics Applied to Livestock Production, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada.

Zeng, Z. B. (1994). "Precision mapping of quantitative trait loci." <u>Genetics</u> **136**(4): 1457-1468. Zhang, H. B. and R. A. Wing (1997). "Physical mapping of the rice genome with BACs." <u>Plant</u> <u>Molecular Biology</u> **35**(1-2): 115-127.

Zinov'eva, S. V. and L. I. Chalova (1986). "Formation of phytoalexins during the invasion of potatoes with stem nematodes." <u>Doklady Akademii Nauk Sssr</u> **288**(5): 1277-&.

Zinov'eva, S. V. and L. I. Chalova (1987). "Phytoalexins of potato and their role in the resistance to stem nematodes." <u>Helminthologia</u> **24**: 303-309.

Zinov'eva, S. V., Z. V. Udalova, I. S. Vasil'eva, S. A. Vanyushkin and V. A. Paseshnichenko (2001). "Role of isoprenoids in plant adaptation to biogenic stress induced by parasitic nematodes (Review)." Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology **37**(5): 456-462.

Zunke, U. (1990). "Ectoparasitic feeding behaviour of the root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*, on root hairs of differnt host plants." <u>Revue Nématologie</u> **13**(3): 331-337. Zunke, U. (1990). "Observations on the invasion and endoparasitic behavior of the root

lesion nematode *Pratylenchus penetrans*." Journal of Nematology **22**(3): 309-320.

Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson and I. D. Godwin (2004). "Genetic analysis of resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in wheat." <u>Plant Breeding</u> **123**(3): 209-212. Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson and I. D. Godwin (2005). "Identification of quantitative trait loci for resistance to two species of root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) in wheat." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **56**(4): 345-352.

Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, A. W. Milgate, U. K. Bansal, P. M. Williamson, H. Raman and H. S. Bariana (2010). "QTL mapping of multiple foliar disease and root-lesion nematode resistances in wheat." <u>Molecular Breeding</u> **26**(1): 107-124.

Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, J. G. Sheedy and J. C. Nelson (2006). "Mapping quantitative trait loci for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* from synthetic hexaploid wheat in the International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **57**(5): 525-530.

# **Chapter 2**

# Characterisation of Resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in Wheat; Attraction, Penetration and Maturation

Katherine Joanne Linsell, Ian Timothy Riley, Kerrie Ann Davies, and Klaus Herbert Oldach

First, second and fourth authors: South Australian Research and Development Institute, GPO Box 397, Adelaide, SA, 5001, Australia; first, second, third and fourth authors: University of Adelaide; and first and fourth authors: Molecular Plant Breeding CRC.

Corresponding Author: K.H.Oldach; Email address: klaus.oldach@sa.gov.au

# ABSTRACT

Linsell, K.J., Riley, I.T., Davies, K.A., and Oldach K.H. 2012. Characterisation of Resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in Wheat – Attraction, Penetration and Maturation. Phytopathology

A selection of lines from a cross between two wheat cultivars with contrasting resistance phenotypes to *Pratylenchus thornei* were investigated to determine if resistance plays a role in impeding nematode attraction to and penetration of roots and nematode maturation within roots. There was no significant difference in the rate at which *P. thornei* was attracted towards resistant or susceptible roots when assessed in sand. However, on agar when both genotypes were present there was significantly higher movement towards susceptible roots. Despite this, no difference in penetration rates were observed in resistant or susceptible roots in sand or on agar. The maturation of *P. thornei* juveniles in resistant roots was suppressed. Time course studies found up to twice as many stage two juveniles in the susceptible than the resistant parent. Similar numbers of *P. thornei* juvenile stage two were still present within the resistant roots 10 days after inoculation, indicating that maturation was inhibited by resistance rather than causing nematodes to exit resistant roots.

# KEY WORDS

Root lesion nematode, root exudates, moulting, repellent, attractant, juvenile development

*Pratylenchus* spp. are economically important endoparasites of many crops including wheat (30). In Australia, the two most prevalent and widespread *Pratylenchus* species affecting wheat are *Pratylenchus thornei* and *Pratylenchus neglectus* (43). *Pratylenchus* feeds and reproduces in the root cortex and migration through root tissue causes extensive damage resulting in the formation of necrotic lesions. The resulting damage to the root system impairs uptake of water and essential nutrients, causing reductions in growth and in turn yield (59; 60). Yield losses in Australia due to *P. thornei* have been estimated at more than \$AUD 50 million each year (29).

The process by which *Pratylenchus* nematodes invade and develop can be separated into four main components: root recognition, penetration, feeding/migration and reproduction. Initially, the nematodes are attracted to the root and probe the surface for an acceptable penetration site. After a salivation period, the nematode may feed ectoparasitically on root hairs. Using stylet thrusting and body movement they penetrate the root epidermis (59), enter the root and migrate intracellularly while feeding endoparasitically on root cortex cells (60). While in the roots, adult *Pratylenchus* nematodes deposit eggs (1; 6). As the hatched juvenile matures, each subsequent moult produces an increase in size and allows for sexual development (26). The cycle from egg to adult is completed within 45 to 65 days, but is affected by host species and temperature (48).

Due to the wide host range of *Pratylenchus* spp. and the restrictions, costs and inefficiency of chemical pesticides, the development of resistant cultivars has become increasingly important as a control measure. Most studies of plant-nematode interactions have focussed on the inheritance of resistance (19). The identification of new genetic sources of *P. thornei* resistance and the identification of resistance quantitative trait loci (QTL) and associated molecular markers is important, due to the lack of resistance available in current commercial cultivars. However, understanding resistance at the biological and biochemical level can provide insights into the nature, timing and action of resistance genes. Common phenotypic resistance screening techniques are laborious, time consuming and inherently variable as they involve extracting and counting nematodes from the roots. DNA-based detection methods can achieve higher throughput (33) but are expensive. The identification of a resistance mechanism at a specific stage of invasion or within a particular tissue may enhance screening procedures by reducing these associated costs and time. In addition, finding more than one type of resistance mechanism would indicate the involvement of several different resistance genes amongst genotypes which could then be pyramided to provide more effective resistance.

Only a small number of studies have considered the effects of resistance on *Pratylenchus* biology. Talavera and Vanstone (42) demonstrated that *P. thornei* is able to penetrate

resistant cultivars and Farsi (12) observed equal root penetration of *P. neglectus* in both resistant and susceptible wheat cultivars. In this study, the parents of a cross between two wheat lines with contrasting resistance phenotypes to *P. thornei*, Sokoll (resistant) and Krichauff (susceptible) in addition to six selected lines from the population (three resistant and three susceptible) based on genotypic analysis by Linsell et al. (25) were investigated. The aim was to compare the early stages of the invasion process of *P. thornei* (root attraction, penetration and juvenile development) in these resistant and susceptible genotypes, in order to identify the stage(s) where and how resistance has an effect. The identification of biological resistance mechanisms and the development of techniques to allow effective screening will aid in the long term development of more efficient resistance breeding.

# MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### Nematodes

*Pratylenchus thornei* was obtained from wheat at Nunjikompita, South Australia and were maintained on carrot callus described by Moody et al. (28). Cultures were stored at 22 °C and subcultured every 3 months. To collect the nematodes the carrot callus was placed in funnels in a misting chamber with an intermittent aqueous mist of 10 s every 10 min for 96 h (41). Nematodes extracted in the mister were counted in 250  $\mu$ L aliquots in three replicates and diluted with water to the required inoculum concentration. To obtain inoculum of nematodes of a single developmental stage, suspensions were passed repeatedly through sieves. Adults and juvenile stage four (J4) were captured on a 40  $\mu$ m sieve, juvenile stage three (J3) on 30  $\mu$ m and juvenile stage two (J2) were retained on a 20  $\mu$ m sieve. Eggs, but few nematodes, were able to pass through the 20  $\mu$ m sieve. This sieving method provided relatively high purity; nevertheless, the presence of non-required stages was recorded.

#### **Plant Material**

The study investigated a doubled haploid (DH) population from a cross between the synthetic-wheat derived cultivar Sokoll (*P. thornei* resistant) and the Australian wheat cultivar Krichauff (*P. thornei* susceptible). This population was phenotyped using DNA quantification methods and genetically mapped to identify two highly significant resistant QTL on chromosomes 2B and 6D as described by Linsell et al. (25). The parents and six selected individual lines (three susceptible; S1, S2 and S3 and three resistant; R1, R2 and R3) were analysed. The six lines were selected based on genotypic and phenotypic data. The three resistant lines had both resistant QTL and the three susceptible lines had neither QTL. The chosen resistant and susceptible selected lines contained the highest and lowest amounts of quantified *P. thornei* DNA respectively. For all experiments, prior to germination seeds were surface-sterilised by submersion in 70% ethanol for 5 min, then hypochlorite (15%) for 20 min at room temperature (RT) of 21 to 22 °C, followed by four rinses with reverse osmosis (RO) water.

#### Nematode Inoculation/Extrapolation

For experiments on agar, 3 day old wheat seedlings with a primary leaf and a 20 mm seminal root were placed on 0.5% water agar in 90 mm Petri plates at RT. After 48 h, the plates were inoculated with *P. thornei* by pipetting suspensions onto the surface. Nematodes on the agar were counted using a stereomicroscope (M3C; Wild, Heerbrugg, Switzerland) and a grid template (10 mm block segments). To count nematodes that had entered the roots, seedlings were placed in a misting chamber for 96 h and were extracted and counted. Approximately 10 mL of nematode suspension was collected and stored at 4 °C until counted in 500  $\mu$ L aliquots using a stereomicroscope, and the total number in the root system was estimated accordingly. Alternatively, nematodes that could no longer be seen on the agar

surface were assumed to have penetrated the roots (Initial inoculum number - number of nematodes remaining on agar plate = number of nematodes within roots). This was confirmed in a check experiment at 12 hours after inoculation (h.a.i.), where the total number of nematodes extracted from the agar via misting plus the total number that had entered the roots equalled the initial inoculum number.

For experiments in pots, plants were grown in a glasshouse maintained at  $20 \pm 3$  °C. One DH seed was sown in steam-pasteurised sand in each seedling tube (55 × 120 mm) in a 5 x 5 randomised block arrangement. Seven days after planting, each seedling was inoculated with *P. thornei* by pipetting two 500 µL aliquots of nematode suspension into two 50-mm-deep holes on either side of the seedling. Inoculum densities were specific for each experiment and are described later. Two days after inoculation, slow-release fertiliser (Osmocote, Scotts Miracle-Gro, USA) was added (4 g/kg of sand) to the tubes. Plants were hand watered every two days to soil water holding capacity. Nematodes were extracted by placing the washed root systems into a misting chamber as described above.

#### Attraction

#### Attraction on Agar

Five replicates of 5-day-old seedlings of both parents were placed on 0.5% water agar. Plates were divided into 10 mm segments with roots occupying 30 mm at one end. In the first 20 mm at the opposite end to the roots, inoculum of 150 mixed stage *P. thornei* nematodes was added (Figure 1A). A no-root control plate was included with the same plate design but excluding the active seedling roots. The total number of *P. thornei* inoculated on the plate was counted. At 6, 9, 12, 27, 30, 33, 36 and 48 h.a.i. the number of nematodes in each segment was counted and their location on the plate grid recorded, reflecting the distance nematodes had moved towards the roots over time. For all experiments on agar, it was assumed that nematodes that could no longer be seen had penetrated the roots and were expressed as a percentage of the initial inoculation number. The assay was repeated twice under the same conditions.



**Figure 1:** *Pratylenchus thornei* attraction assay plate designs. Plates divided into 10 mm segments with seedlings occupying the first 30 mm. Light grey shaded areas represent nematode inoculation blocks and dark grey shaded areas represent applied root exudates (RE).

A – Attraction on agar: Nematodes placed in distal 20 mm (shaded area).

B – Attraction on agar across RE: Root exudates in 30 mm space and nematodes in 20 mm space 30 mm from root exudates and edge of plate.

C - Attraction with both genotypes present: Resistant and susceptible seedlings at either end of plate with nematodes placed in centre 30 mm space.

# Attraction on Agar Across Root Exudate

Six seedlings for both Sokoll and Krichauff were grown aseptically in 14 mL glass vials on nylon mesh in 8 mL of sterile RO water. Root exudate (RE) was collected after the roots had been submerged in the water for 7 days. Ten independent replications were collected and the experiment was repeated twice. A known susceptible seedling (Machete) was placed at one end of the 0.5% water agar plate to stimulate nematode movement. Root exudate was pipetted onto the plate in front of the root system so that in order to reach the roots the nematodes had to move across the RE solution. The same gridded plate setup as described above (Attraction on agar) was used but 1 mL of RE was placed in a 20 mm segment 30 mm from the edge of the plate (Figure 1B). Plates were inoculated with 500 mixed stage *P. thornei* nematodes 20 mm from the RE and 20 mm from the edge of the plate so the nematodes on the plates was assessed. The numbers of nematodes that remained at the point of inoculation, which moved away from the root (repelled) and moved toward the root (attracted), were expressed as a percentage of the initial inoculation number (Table 1).

# Attraction with Both Genotypes Present

Sixteen different resistant versus susceptible combinations made from the parents and the six DH lines were assessed either in sand or on agar. These same combinations were twice analysed independently both in sand and on agar. For experiments in sand, one resistant and one susceptible seedling was sown into the same pot (55 × 120 mm) and inoculated with

two 500 µL aliquots (500 nematodes per pot) into two 50-mm-deep holes in between the two seedlings. Roots were harvested after 14 days, freed from sand and placed on the mister for nematode extraction. For experiments on agar, resistant and susceptible 5 day old seedlings were placed at either end of a 90 mm plate with 0.5% water agar. The plate was inoculated with 225 mixed stage nematodes in a 30 x 10 mm rectangle near its centre (Figure 1C). After 9 days, the roots were placed on a mister for nematode extraction and collection. Attraction was assessed by measuring the percentage penetration of the resistant and susceptible root in each combination. Then, the number of combinations that had more penetration in the resistant or susceptible roots was calculated and presented as a percentage of the total number of combinations analysed (Table 2).

#### Penetration

#### Rates of Penetration in Sand and on Agar

The rate of *P. thornei* penetration was assessed both in sand and on agar systems. For experiments in pots, seedlings were grown in sand under glasshouse conditions  $(20 \pm 3 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$  and were inoculated with 1500 mixed stage *P. thornei/*plant. Roots were harvested at 5,7,10 and 16 days after inoculation (d.a.i.), washed and placed on the mister. The parents and two lines from each of the resistant and susceptible lines were assessed with five replicates. For agar analysis, 3 day old seedlings that had been germinated on moistened sterile filter paper were placed at one end of a plate (0.5% water agar) and inoculated with 150 mixed stage nematodes/plant at the opposite end. Three independent analyses were conducted using three replicates of the parents and three lines of both resistant and susceptible genotypes. The nematodes visible on the plate were counted at 6, 9, 12, 30, and 36 h.a.i. The number of nematodes that had penetrated roots was calculated (Initial inoculum number – number visible on plate at timepoint) and means were expressed as a percentage of the initial inoculation number.

#### Penetration of Adults versus Juveniles on Agar

Differences in rates of penetration of adults and juveniles was assessed in sand and agar systems. For experiments in sand, seedlings were inoculated with 500 adult nematodes/plant or 500 J2 nematodes/plant. Roots were harvested at 3, 4, 6 and 8 d.a.i. Two resistant and susceptible lines and both parents were assessed with five replications. For experiments on agar, seedlings on 0.5% water agar were inoculated with 1000 nematodes/plant and the numbers of visible nematodes were counted at 6, 12, 24 and 30 h.a.i. Two independent analyses were conducted using two resistant and susceptible lines and both parents with five replications. The number of *P. thornei* that penetrated the roots was calculated and means at each timepoint were expressed as a percentage of the initial inoculation number.

### **Root Penetration Zones**

Seedlings of the resistant and susceptible parents were grown on 0.5% water agar and inoculated with 1000 nematodes/plant. Nematodes were observed probing the root surface prior to penetration at various timepoints within 24 h.a.i. with a dissecting microscope (MZ6; Leica, Australia) and were imaged. At 4 and 10 d.a.i. roots were removed from the agar and stained with acid fuchsin (7). The roots and penetrated nematodes were visualised and imaged.

### **Reproduction and Development**

*Pratylenchus thornei* development within resistant and susceptible roots was assessed in sand over 45 days (one generation). Five replicates of the parents and six DH lines (three susceptible and three resistant) were grown in glasshouse conditions as described above. Each plant was inoculated with 500 J2. Roots were harvested at 5, 10, 15, 24, 30, 36 and 45 d.a.i. and nematodes were extracted by misting. These times were chosen based on the timeline observed by Larson (24). The number of J2, J3 and J4/adult *P. thornei* present at each of these times was counted and means at each timepoint were calculated. Developmental stages were assessed by size after separation through sieving and counted with a dissecting microscope. The J4 and adults were counted as one group. The reproduction data set had a non-normal distribution and due to the large range of means for each developmental stage the data set was transformed using natural logs.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Replicate means were calculated and were pooled for each sample from each independent assay to give one data set for each experiment. Normally distributed data sets were analysed by ANOVA with Fisher least significant difference (LSD) post-hoc test, where P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant using the statistical program Genstat (VSN International, USA). Correlation coefficients were calculated and used to interpret trends. Prior to ANOVA analysis, data sets were log-transformed where necessary to correct for deviations from normality and homogeneity of variances.

# RESULTS

#### Attraction

#### Attraction on Agar

The rate at which *P. thornei* moved across the agar towards the roots over 36 h was not significantly different between genotypes. At each of the 7 intervals assessed (6, 9, 12, 27, 30, 33 and 36 h.a.i.) there were equal numbers of *P. thornei* in each grid (data not shown). After 36 h.a.i., the total number that had reached and entered the root was not significantly different. Root exudates were observed via microscopy being excreted from both resistant and susceptible root tips on the agar surface.

#### Attraction on Agar Across Root Exudate

This assay measured nematode movement in response to resistant and susceptible RE. To reach the root system of susceptible Machete (which acted to stimulate nematode movement) nematodes had to move through RE. Eight Sokoll, seven Krichauff and six no-root controls replications were analysed. At 48 h.a.i., there was no statistically significant difference between nematode movement away or towards the RE in each genotype or between genotypes. Generally, 23% (115 nematodes) were attracted to the roots and around 15% (78 nematodes) were repelled. The majority, with 65% or 325 nematodes, remained at the point of inoculation (Table 1). In the no-root control where there was no RE barrier a similar number moved away and towards the roots (Table 1).

# Attraction with Both Genotypes Present

Across two repeated experiments sixteen different resistant and susceptible combinations including the parents and DH lines (S1, S2, S3 and Krichauff versus R1, R2, R3 and Sokoll) were assessed in sand and agar for their ability to attract *P. thornei*. Some replications were excluded due to poor plant growth leaving data from 13 combinations in sand and 14 on agar to be analysed. When both resistant and susceptible roots were available for penetration on agar, significantly more *P. thornei* were attracted to the susceptible roots (80%) 9 d.a.i., but in sand attraction to both genotypes 14 d.a.i. (50%) was the same (Table 2). On average in 11 of the 14 different resistant and susceptible roots, and in three combinations more *P. thornei* more *P. thornei*.

### Penetration

#### Rates of Penetration in Sand and on Agar

There was no relationship between the rate of *P. thornei* penetration and genotype on agar or in sand measured 36 h.a.i. and 16 d.a.i., respectively. However, there was a significant increase in penetration over time in both genotypes (Figure 2). Significantly higher penetration occurred in the agar system than in sand with over 50% penetration occurring after only 9 to 10 h.a.i.

# Penetration of Adults versus Juveniles on Agar

As expected there was no difference in the rates of either J2 or Adult penetration between the genotypes. However, the comparison of adult and juvenile penetration showed a significant relationship between developmental stage and penetration rate with a correlation coefficient of 0.4 in both mediums. On agar, the rate of juvenile penetration was higher than adults but in sand it was reversed (Figure 3). At 30 h.a.i. on agar, J2 penetration was almost 40% more than adult penetration. In comparison at 8 d.a.i. in sand, adult penetration was 30% higher than J2, with only 7% total J2 penetration.

#### **Root Penetration Zones**

*Pratylenchus thornei* were observed probing the root surface in various root zones but were most frequently detected at the junction of the lateral and seminal roots (Figure 4A-D). In addition, after staining with acid fuchsin, large groups were often observed both in the zone of elongation and in seminal roots near the hypocotyl (Figure 4E). *Pratylenchus thornei* were seen within the dense root hair regions of both seminal (Figure 4F) and lateral roots but penetration in this zone was not observed. Once the nematodes had penetrated the root, large groups of *P. thornei* at various developmental stages, including eggs, were often seen aggregated in different regions of the root (Figure 4G).

#### **Reproduction and Development**

The times chosen to assay *P. thornei* development were based on the early study of Larson (1959) (24) and the observed nematode development, closely matched the reported timeline, with the moult of J2 to J3 taking 7 to 10 days and subsequent moults to J4 and Adult occurring within 18 to 28 days. Egg deposition occurred within 2 days after observing mature females and J2 hatched 7 to 10 days after.

At each developmental stage, there were significantly higher numbers of *P. thornei* in the susceptible Krichauff parent than the resistant Sokoll (Figure 5). Nematode numbers were log transformed (ln (x+1)) and are hereafter referred to as log units followed by ( $e^{x-1}$ ). There was no second generation hatch of J2 at 36 d.a.i. (Figure 5A) in Sokoll or any of the resistant lines but in Krichauff a mean of 1.24 (13.3) juveniles and on average 3.4 (30) juveniles in the

susceptible lines resulted. The inoculated J2 moulted to J3 around 10 d.a.i. but no significant difference in numbers occurred (Figure 5B). However, at 45 d.a.i. the numbers of J3 in the second generation was significantly higher in Krichauff, 4.08 (52.3), and the susceptible lines C01 and C35 than in Sokoll, 0.9 (5.3) and the three resistant lines. The J3 moulted to J4 and adults at around 15 to 26 d.a.i. The number of J4 and adults measured at 24 d.a.i. (Figure 5C) was ten times higher in Krichauff, 2.58 (44.7) than in Sokoll, 0.64 (4.7). Thus, juvenile development was suppressed as early as the moult from J2 to J3.

**Table 1:** Direction of *Pratylenchus thornei* movementon agar in response to root exudates from theresistant (Sokoll) and susceptible (Krichauff)genotypes 48 hours after inoculation.

Genotype	n	Attracted	Repelled	Stationary	
		(%)	(%)	(%)	
Sokoll	8	22.6	16.6	70.7	
Krichauff	7	23.3	14.3	60.8	
No-Root Control	6	15.1	14.2	62.4	
s.e.		9.2	7.7	7.6	

**Table 2:** Attraction of *Pratylenchus thornei* (measuredas penetration) to sixteen different resistant andsusceptible combinations assessed in sand (14 daysafter inoculation) and on agar (9 days after inoculation)where roots of both genotypes were available for thenematode to penetrate.

		Resistant	Susceptible	n
Sand	Penetration (%)	52.2	47.8	13
	s.e.	9.1	5.2	
Agar	Penetration (%)	16.7	81.3	14
	s.e.	4.4	4.4	



**Figure 2:** Penetration of *Pratylenchus thornei* on agar and in sand over 36 h and 16 d respectively. No statistical differences were found between resistant (Sokoll, R1 & R2) and susceptible (Krichauff, S1 & S2) genotypes for either (A) agar or (B) sand analysis with LSD of 21.26 and 11.76 respectively.



**Figure 3:** Penetration by different developmental stages of *Pratylenchus thornei* on agar and in sand over 36 h and 8 d respectively. A - Adults have a significantly higher penetration rate than juvenile stage two (J2) in sand, LSD = 12.94. B – Adults have a significantly lower root penetration rate grown on agar than J2, LSD 3.57. The correlation coefficient (R2) was 0.4 between developmental stages in both sand and agar.



**Figure 4:** Root penetration zones *of Pratylenchus thornei* in wheat. Nematodes within the roots in A,B C, E and G are stained with acid fuchsin. A – C Several *P. thornei* at lateral root branches. D – Groups of *P. thornei* probing and penetrating lateral roots. E – Several *P. thornei* at zone of elongation. F – A single *P. thornei* in the dense root hair zone. G – Aggregations of *P. thornei* juvenile and adult developmental stages within root regions.



**Figure 5:** The number (log transformed) of *Pratylenchus thornei* developmental stages within resistant (Sokoll, R1, R2 & R3) and susceptible (Krichauff, S1, S2 & S3) roots at different times within one nematode life cycle, 45 days. A – Second generation juvenile stage two (J2) hatch at 36 days after inoculation (d.a.i.) LSD = 1.81. B – Juvenile stage three (J3) first generation moult at 10 d.a.i. and second generation at 45 d.a.i. LSD = 2.10. C – Juvenile stage four (J4) and adults first generation moult between 14-28 d.a.i. LSD = 1.76.

# DISCUSSION

#### **Root Attraction and Penetration**

Recognition of and attraction to host roots are essential steps that precede nematode root invasion. Host recognition is thought to involve signals from the root that can stimulate egg hatch and/or attraction towards the roots (10; 35; 37). It is generally accepted that nematodes locate the roots through chemotactic factors diffused from the host (58). It has been suggested that signal elicitors from the host are water soluble so that they can move through soil towards the nematode (35). Root exudates are regarded as the most probable stimuli in attracting *Pratylenchus* nematodes to the root region (3; 51; 52). However, gradients in temperature, electrochemical potential, pH and carbon dioxide also play a role (37). Specific nematode repellents or attractants have not been identified but may include amino acids, sugars, phenolics and other secondary metabolites (13).

Root exudates contain a mix of positive and negative effectors which can attract, repel or be neutral in terms of nematode behaviour (39; 56; 57). Thus, the effects of RE depend on the combination of signals at a specific time (11; 15; 49; 53). In this study, there was no difference in the rate (both number and speed) at which P. thornei was attracted towards (23%) or away (15%) from resistant or susceptible roots when only one genotype was present. In addition, in sand medium, when both resistant and susceptible roots were available for penetration, no preference was observed for *P. thornei* attraction after 9 days. This suggests that wheat root exudates have a neutral effect on P. thornei attraction. Other studies, which utilised similar agar and sand biological systems, have also observed that resistance does not interfere with nematode root attraction. Meloidogyne incognita migration to resistant and susceptible cotton roots in sand and Meloidogyne naasi juveniles attraction to resistant and susceptible wheat and barley roots on agar were equal in both genotypes (2; 27). The presence of root exudates was confirmed in the agar system utilised in this study as secretions were observed from root tips of the live seedlings. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that root exudates were present and the lack of attraction was not due to the random nature of P. thornei root attraction.

Contrasting observations have been made however, and preferential attraction has been observed to susceptible roots when both resistant and susceptible genotypes are present in other nematode plant interactions when analysed in soil. Bias towards the susceptible roots (72%) was observed in *Meloidogyne hapla* when juveniles hatched between the resistant and susceptible lucerne (alfalfa) roots grown in soil. However, when only one root was present there was equal attraction and penetration (14). Collectively these results show that in some interactions plants can influence nematode movement towards roots in positive and negative ways. Preferential attraction was also observed in this study but only when

attraction was investigated on agar. When both resistant and susceptible roots were present significantly higher P. thornei attraction (over 81%) occurred towards the susceptible roots 24 h.a.i. This indicates that chemicals might be exuded by the resistant and/or susceptible roots leading to preferential selection. The bias towards susceptible roots suggests that when given a choice of both resistant and susceptible roots either resistant root secretions deter P. thornei as they secrete repellent or toxic compounds early during pre-penetration as suggested by Berge (5) or the susceptible roots secrete compounds making them more attractive. The susceptible roots might not produce the repellent compound or produce it in lower concentrations than the resistant roots. When penetration on agar was measured again at 36 h.a.i., there was no difference between resistant and susceptible roots implying P. thornei may be able to tolerate the effects of resistant root chemicals by activating a protective mechanism/s. Similar to the observations here, in a resistant potato cultivar, few Meloidogyne fallax juveniles penetrated the roots 24 h.a.i. but at 60 h.a.i. penetration numbers were comparable to the susceptible cultivar (22). This indicates that the active compounds in resistant root secretions may decline in activity over time or that secretions may only influence nematode movement for a limited period. Alternatively there may be a potential adaptation by the nematode to overcome the activity of the resistant compounds.

The attraction bias observed only in agar systems in the presence of both resistant and susceptible genotypes may be due to the experimental design of the system. The greater attraction rates might be explained by the greater concentration of the active compounds on agar (350 mL) than in compact sand systems which have larger volumes (6600 mL). Thus, a more field realistic measure to investigate nematode attraction might be achieved using pot assays with sand or agar systems with larger volumes. In addition, due to the faster attraction/penetration on agar, analysis was performed on plants 3 to 4 days old. Whereas, plants in sand experiments were analysed between 12 and 22 days old. It is known that *Pratylenchus* attraction and penetration rates are greater with younger roots (18; 32). Thus, attraction variations between systems may also be attributed to differences in ages of the plants evaluated.

As plant feeding nematodes possess stylets and generally secrete cell wall degrading enzymes (40), they commonly successfully penetrate the host regardless of whether further development occurs. Thus, most nematodes seem capable of overcoming the physical protection barriers of plants. Resistance to root knot, cereal cyst and root lesion nematodes investigated in several crop species has never been associated with inability to penetrate roots. Juvenile *M. incognita* in cotton and lucerne and several *Heterodera* species in wheat, soybean and potato were able to successfully penetrate and migrate to the feeding site in both susceptible and resistant cultivars (9; 20; 54). In addition, similar penetration rates were observed in susceptible and resistant beans when inoculated with *Pratylenchus scribneri*, 24

h.a.i. Thus, it was hypothesised that penetration suppression plays no role in resistance of wheat to *Pratylenchus*. As expected, in this study juvenile *P. thornei* penetration rates did not significantly differ for resistant and susceptible roots both on agar and in sand even after 16 days. This is supported by Talavera and Vanstone (42) who observed *P. thornei* nematodes penetrating resistant wheat cultivars and Farsi (12) who found no difference in penetration rates of *P. neglectus* between resistant and susceptible wheat cultivars. As neither attraction to the roots nor penetration in the sand was negatively affected in the resistant lines investigated here, resistance to *P. thornei* seems to act post penetration.

#### Penetration of Developmental Stages

All Pratylenchus developmental stages are able to penetrate and invade roots. However, the rate of penetration by adults in this investigation was significantly higher than that of J2 penetration in sand. These results are supported by observations in lucerne where Pratylenchus penetrans adult females were more invasive than juveniles as they penetrated roots earlier, faster and over a wider range of soil temperatures. Eighty percent of adult females penetrated the roots within 96 h compared to 30% of the juveniles (44). Similarly, a higher number of adult P. penetrans (80%) penetrated celery roots than juveniles (45). It has been suggested that the greater ability of adults to penetrate is attributed to the size of the glands in the posterior subventral lobe as secretions from this gland are known to be important in penetration and feeding (17; 55). The larger size of these glands could allow them to produce greater quantities of enzymes and at a faster rate than in earlier life stages. Klinkenberg (21) suggested that the stylet of newly hatched juveniles was not fully developed and too weak to penetrate the strong cell walls, thus making them less invasive. In addition, differences in strength can be related to their respective sizes as Pratylenchus J2 are on average less than one third the size of adults (38). This developmental size difference could influence their ability to move through soil and or root cells impeding root penetration.

In this study, penetration by adults was significantly higher than J2 in sand assays, whereas the opposite occurred on agar. This indicates that differences in the three dimensional structures of these two substrates may affect the ability of the juvenile to move and penetrate roots. Thus, for *P. thornei*, it might not be the maturity and stylet development of juveniles that is important for penetration but the ability to move through three dimensional soil matrices. The higher penetration rates on agar may be due to their increased ability to move across this medium. It has been demonstrated that nematode movement in soil is directly dependent on the size of the soil pores in relation to nematode body diameter and the soil matrix potential (50). Zunke (60) observed that due to longer ectoparasitic feeding on root hairs than adults, *P. penetrans* juveniles penetrated the root later and suggested extended root hair feeding was essential for juveniles to obtain nutrients for further colonization. As juveniles on agar can more easily migrate towards the root perhaps less ectoparasitic

feeding is required as less energy will be spent in reaching the roots than in sand and therefore enabling quicker root entry than adults.

#### **Root Penetration Zones**

There are differences in the sites and mechanisms of root penetration by different species of Pratylenchus in various hosts. In lucerne and clover, P. penetrans preferred to penetrate the main roots where lateral roots ruptured the cortex and then migrated through the cortex of main roots into lateral roots (46). Other studies suggested that most P. penetrans aggregated and penetrated in the zone of root elongation (47; 59). In lucerne, strawberry and maize roots, the preferred zone of penetration for both adults and juveniles appeared to be the zone of dense root hairs, with 61% of the lesions developing on the root hairs of lucerne (44). Using high resolution video-enhanced contrast microscopy, Zunke (60) observed P. penetrans penetrating and feeding on root hairs of various hosts including rape, tobacco and potatoes. However, other studies indicated that P. penetrans explored and penetrated the root hairs but did not feed on them (23; 31). Castillo et al. (8) suggested that both females and juveniles of *P. thornei* penetrated the roots of chickpea without any site preference. In this current study, P. thornei were commonly observed at the junction where lateral roots branched from the seminal root. However, large groups were often also observed both in the zone of elongation and in seminal roots near the hypocotyl. Although penetration was not observed, P. thornei were seen within the dense root hair regions of both seminal and lateral roots. Pratylenchus thornei may feed on root hairs and then move elsewhere along the root to penetrate. These observations indicate that P. thornei does not have a preferred site of penetration in wheat. However, as RE act as attractants and are known to originate from regions where lateral roots emerge, from root tips and at sites that have been previously penetrated (56), it is expected that penetration will occur in these areas to which they are initially attracted.

Baxter and Blake (4) suggested that *P. thornei* does not invade roots randomly but is attracted to regions of the roots previously invaded. Thus, subsequent reproduction occurs in large groups at intervals within the roots. Once inside the root *P. penetrans* often move in tracks left by previously migrating nematodes (34). In this study, groups of *P. thornei* nematodes at various developmental stages, including eggs, aggregated in various root regions. Several studies observed that the proportion of nematodes present within the root decreased as the inoculum density increased (3; 16; 44). Townshend (1978) (44) suggested that if *P. penetrans* preferred to enter the root in a particular zone, the root surface area available for penetration would be limited, which could explain reduced penetration at high nematode density. In this study, as inoculum density increased from 500 to 1500 nematodes/mL the number of *P. thornei* nematodes within the roots increased accordingly (data not shown). Acedo and Rhode (1) also found that as the inoculum level rose there was

a corresponding increase in numbers of *P. penetrans* in *Brassica* roots, even at very high inoculum levels of 10,000 nematodes/plant. This correlation of increased penetration supports our observation that *P. thornei* has no initial preferential root penetration site. Rather than specific root region penetration where only a limiting number of *P. thornei* can penetrate at any one time, penetration occurs at different root regions simultaneously.

#### **Development and Reproduction**

The developmental stages of *P. thornei* collected from inoculated roots at multiple times across 45 days matched well to the life cycle observations made by Larson (24), the only other published report of *P. thornei* reproduction in wheat. Therefore, the development timeline reported in this study under glasshouse conditions can now be utilised in future studies of specific *P. thornei* reproductive stages.

In this study the analysis of development over time between the resistant and susceptible genotypes within the Sokoll x Krichauff population showed significantly less P. thornei nematodes at all stages in the resistant compared to the susceptible roots. Similarly, reduced reproduction was observed in a resistant durum wheat cultivar. Initially no difference was detected in penetration between the susceptible and resistant cultivars, but P. thornei numbers gradually decreased in the resistant roots and soil indicating failure of reproduction (42). Reduced reproduction indicates that either the nematodes exited the resistant roots or failed to develop and reproduce. This study showed that P. thornei do not exit roots as large numbers are still present in the roots even after 16 days, indicating that reproductive development is suppressed. In the second generation up to ten times as many J2 and J3 were detected in susceptible roots as in resistant roots, indicating that moulting is suppressed or delayed in the resistant genotypes. This is supported by Farsi (12) who observed that moulting of *P. neglectus* 10 d.a.i. was delayed in resistant wheat cultivars with only 1.7% moulting compared to 30% in the susceptible. Delayed maturation was also observed in Pratylenchus goodeyi in banana resistant roots. Adult and J4 development were delayed by 4 days in comparison to the susceptible cultivar, which effected optimum egg deposition and hatch (36). The current study shows that resistance expressed in the Sokoll/Krichauff population to *P. thornei* prevents juvenile maturation and thus reproduction. Additional analysis is necessary to establish whether reproduction itself (egg deposition and egg hatch) is also suppressed by resistance in this population.

In conclusion, in the Sokoll x Krichauff population investigated, no resistance to *P. thornei* was observed at attraction or penetration, however, maturation and thus reproduction was inhibited. Consistent with various other plant parasitic nematode species, there was no significant difference in the rate at which *P. thornei* was attracted towards resistant or susceptible roots in sand. However, when both genotypes were present on agar there was

an attraction bias towards the susceptible roots. This indicates secretion of repellent or toxic compounds by resistant roots during pre-penetration. There was no difference in P. thornei penetration rates between resistant and susceptible roots both on agar and in sand which is supported by similar observations of other Pratylenchus studies in wheat. The rate of penetration by adults was significantly higher than that of J2 in sand but lower on agar. Observations of other *Pratylenchus* species attributed this to the larger adult body strength and enzymic secretions required for root entry and movement in soil. No preferential root penetration zone was observed unlike other studies, but once inside the root, groups of P. thornei at various developmental stages moved in the tracks left by previously migrating nematodes. Nematode multiplication was inhibited by resistance as juvenile maturation was suppressed in resistant roots with very few developing past J3. As P. thornei J2 were still present within the roots 10 d.a.i., juvenile maturation is inhibited by resistance rather than causing the nematodes to exit resistant roots. Additional investigation is needed to determine whether egg deposition and egg hatch is also suppressed by resistance in this population. Further characterisation of biological resistance mechanisms and the development of robust screening protocols will enhance the development of *P. thornei* resistance breeding in wheat.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) through a Grains Industry Research Scholarship to K.J. Linsell as part of the fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The project was also supported by the South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) and Molecular Plant Breeding Cooperative Research Centre (MPBCRC). The authors would like to thank the SARDI Nematology Group, especially D. Pounsett for assistance with culturing of the nematodes and to H. Wallwork at SARDI for access to plant material.

# LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Acedo, J. R., and R. A. Rhode. 1971. Histochemical root pathology of *Brassica oleracea* capitata L. infected by *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Cobb) Filipjev and Schuurmans Stekhoven (Nematoda:Tylenchidae). Journal of Nematology 3(1):62-68.
- Balhadere, P., and A. A. F. Evans. 1994. Characterisation of attractiveness of excised root-tips of resistant and susceptible plants for *Meloidogyne naasi*. Fundamental and Applied Nematology 17(6):527-536.
- 3. Baxter, R. I., and C. D. Blake. 1967. Invasion of wheat roots by *Pratylenchus thornei*. Nature 215:1168-1169.
- 4. Baxter, R. I., and C. D. Blake. 1968. *Pratylenchus thornei* a cause of root necrosis in wheat. Nematologica 14:351-361.
- Berge, J. B. 1971. Méthodes culturales et variétés résistantes. Pages 537-593. in: Les nématodes des cultures. Fédération Nationale des Groupements de Protection des Cultures (FNGPC), Paris, France.
- 6. Bridge, J., and J. L. Starr. 2007. Plant nematodes of agricultural importance : A color handbook. Academic Press, Boston.
- 7. Bybd, D. W., T. Kirkpatrick, and K. R. Barker. 1983. An improved technique for clearing and staining plant tissues for detection of nematodes. Journal of Nematology 15(1):142-143.
- 8. Castillo, P., N. Vovlas, and R. M. Jimenez-Diaz. 1998. Pathogenicity and histopathology of *Pratylenchus thornei* populations on selected chickpea genotypes. Plant Pathology 47(3):370-376.
- 9. Creech, R. G., J. N. Jenkins, B. Tang, G. W. Lawrence, and J. C. McCarty. 1995. Cotton resistance to root-knot nematode .1. Penetration and reproduction. Crop Science 35(2):365-368.
- 10. Curl, E. A., and B. Truelove. 1986. The Rhizosphere. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- 11. Djordjevic, M. A., J. W. Redmond, M. Batley, and B. G. Rolfe. 1987. Cloves secrete specific phenolic compounds which either stimulate or repress *nod* gene expression in *Rhizobium trifolii*. EMBO Journal 6:1173-1179.
- 12. Farsi, M. 1996. Genetic variation for tolerance and resistance to *Pratylenchus neglectus*, Plant Science, University of Adelaide, Adelaide.
- Gheysen, G. 1998. Chemical signals in the plant-nematode interaction a complex system? Pages 95-117. in: Phytochemical Signals and Plant-Microbe Interactions J. T. Romeo, K. R. Downum, and R. Verpoorte, eds.
- 14. Griffin, G. D., and W. W. Waite. 1971. Attraction of *Ditylenchus dipsaci* and *Meloidogyne hapla* by resistant and susceptible alfalfa seedlings. Journal of Nematology 3(3):215.
- 15. Griffin, G. D., and J. H. J. R. Elgin. 1977. Penetration and development of *Meloidogyne hapla* in resistant and susceptible alfalfa under differing temperatures. Journal of Nematology 9:51-56.
- 16. Griffin, G. D., and F. A. Gray. 1990. Biology and pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus neglectus* on alfalfa. Journal of Nematology 22(4):546-551.
- 17. Hussey, R. S. 1989. Disease-inducing secretions of plant-parasitic nematodes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 27:123-141.
- 18. Jaffee, B. A. 1980. Influence of root biomass on number of *Pratylenchus penetrans* within host roots. Phytopathology 70(12):1214-1216.
- 19. Jenkins, J. N., R. G. Creech, B. Tang, G. W. Lawrence, and J. C. McCarty. 1995. Cotton resistance to root-knot nematode .2. Post-penetration development. Crop Science 35(2):369-373.
- 20. Kim, Y. H., R. D. Riggs, and K. S. Kim. 1987. Structural changes with resistance of soybean to *Heterodera glycines*. Journal of Nematology 19(2):177-187.
- 21. Klinkenberg, C. H. 1963. Observation of the feeding habits of *Rotylenchus uniformis*, *Pratylenchus crenatus*, *P. penetrans*, *Tylenchorhynchus dubius* and *Hemicycliophora similis*. Nematologica 9:502-506.

- 22. Kouassi, A. B., M. C. Kerlan, M. Sobczak, J. P. Dantec, C. Rouaux, D. Ellisseche, and D. Mugniery. 2004. Resistance to the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne fallax* in *Solanum sparsipilum*: Analysis of the mechanisms. Nematology 6:389-400.
- 23. Kurrpa, S., and T. C. Vrain. 1985. Penetration and feeding behaviour of *Pratylenchus penetrans* in strawberry roots. Revue Nématologie 8(3):273-276.
- 24. Larson, J. E. 1959. The biology of *Pratylenchus thornei*, University of California Davis, California.
- 25. Linsell, K. J., S. P. Taylor, H. Wallwork, and K. H. Oldach. 2012c. Quantitative trait loci for resistance to root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus thornei,* from a synthetic hexaploid wheat. Manuscript sumbitted for publication.
- 26. Luc, M., R. A. Sikora, and J. Bridge. 2005. Plant Parasitic Nematodes in Subtropical and Tropical Agriculture. 2nd ed. CABI Pub, Wallingford, UK.
- 27. McClure, M. A., K. C. Ellis, and E. L. Nigh. 1974. Post-infection development and histopathology of *Meloidogyne incognita* in resistant cotton. Journal of Nematology 6(1):21-26.
- 28. Moody, E. H., B. F. Lownsbery, and J. M. Ahmed. 1973. Culture of the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus vulnus* on carrot disks. Journal of Nematology 19:125-134.
- 29. Murray, G. M., and J. P. Brennan. 2009. The current and potential costs from diseases of wheat in Australia. G. R. D. Corporation, ed., Kingston, ACT.
- 30. Nicol, J. M., and I. Ortiz-Monasterio. 2004. Effects of the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus thornei*, on wheat yields in Mexico. Nematology 6:485-493.
- 31. Ogiga, I. R., and R. H. Estey. 1975. Penetration and colonisation of *Brassica rapa* and *Zea mays* root tissues by *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Journal of Phytoprotection 56(1):22-30.
- 32. Olthof, T. H. A. 1982. Effect of age of alfalfa root on penetration by *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Journal of Nematology 14(1):100-105.
- 33. Ophel-Keller, K., A. McKay, D. Hartley, Herdina, and J. Curran. 2008. Development of a routine DNA-based testing service for soilborne diseases in Australia. Australasian Plant Pathology 37(3):243-253.
- 34. Oyekan, P. O., C. D. Blake, and J. E. Mitchell. 1972. Histopathology of pea roots axenically infected by *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Journal of Nematology 4(1):32.
- 35. Perry, R. N. 1997. Plant signals in nematode hatching and attraction. Pages 38-50. in: Cellular and Molecular Aspects of Plant-Nematode Interaction C. Fenoll, ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, MA.
- 36. Prasad, J. S., K. V. Seshu Reddy, and R. A. Sikora. 1999. Life cycle of *Pratylenchus goodeyi* in banana roots. Nematologia Mediteranea 27:111-114.
- 37. Prot, J. C. 1980. Migration of plant parasitic nematodes towards plant roots. Revue de Nématologie 3:305-318.
- 38. Pudasaini, M. P., N. Viaene, and M. Moens. 2007. The influence of host and temperature on the vertical migration of *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Nematology 9:437-447.
- 39. Robinson, M. P., H. J. Atkinson, and R. N. Perry. 1987. The influence of soil moisture and storage time on the motility, infectivity and lipid utilization of second stage juveniles of the potato cyst nematodes *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. Pallida*. Revue de Nématologie 10:343-348.
- 40. Rohde, R. A. 1972. Expression of resistance in plants to nematodes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 10:233-252.
- 41. Southey, J. F. 1986. Laboratory methods for work with plant and soil nematodes. Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London, UK.
- 42. Talavera, M., and V. A. Vanstone. 2001. Monitoring *Pratylenchus thornei* densities in soil and roots under resistant (*Triticum turgidum* durum) and susceptible (*Triticum aestivum*) wheat cultivars. Phytoparasitica 29(1):29-35.
- 43. Thompson, J., J. Mackenzie, J. McCulloch, and T. G. Clewett. 1981. Research pins blame on nematodes for Downs problem. in: Queensland Wheat Research. Queensland Wheat Research Institute, Toowamba.
- 44. Townshend, J. L. 1978. Infectivity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* on alfalfa. Journal of Nematology 10(4):318-323.

- 45. Townshend, J. L., and M. S. Wolynetz. 1991. Penetration of celery and alfalfa roots by *Pratylenchus penetrans* as affected by temperature. Journal of Nematology 23(2):194-197.
- 46. Townshend, J. L., L. Stobbs, and R. Carter. 1989. Ultrastructural pathology of cells affected by *Pratylenchus penetrans* in alfalfa roots. Journal of Nematology 21(4):530-539.
- 47. Troll, J., and R. A. Rhode. 1966. Pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* and *Tylenchorhynchus claytoni* on turfgrasses. Phytopathology 56:995-998.
- 48. Vanstone, V. A., G. J. Hollaway, and G. R. Stirling. 2008. Managing nematode pests in the southern and western regions of the Australian cereal industry: Continuing progress in a challenging environment. Australasian Plant Pathology 37(3):220-234.
- 49. Viglierchio, D. R. 1961. Attraction of parasitic nematodes by plant root emanations. Phytopathology 51:136-142.
- 50. Wallace, H. R. 1968. Dynamics of nematode movement. Annual Review of Phytopathology 6:91.
- 51. Wallace, H. R. 1989. Environment and plant health: A nematological perception. Annual Review of Phytopathology 27:59-75.
- 52. Wallace, H. R. 1974. Nematology Ecology and Plant Disease. E. Arnold, ed. E. Arnold, London.
- 53. Weiser, G. C., J. D. Mueller, and E. R. Shipe. 1987. Response of tolerant and susceptible soybean cultivars to Columbia lance nematode. Pages 260-262. in: Soybean Genetics Newsletter. U.S. Pep. Agric. Agric. Res. Serv.
- 54. Williams, K. J., and J. M. Fisher. 1993. Development of *Heterodera avenae* Woll and host cellular-responses in susceptible and resistant wheat. Fundamental and Applied Nematology 16(5):417-423.
- 55. Williamson, V. M., and R. S. Hussey. 1996. Nematode pathogenesis and resistance in plants. Plant Cell 8(10):1735-1745.
- 56. Wuyts, N., R. Swennen, and D. De Waele. 2006. Effects of plant phenylpropanoid pathway products and selected terpenoids and alkaloids on the behaviour of the plant-parasitic nematodes *Radopholus similis*, *Pratylenchus penetrans* and *Meloidogyne incognita*. Nematology 8:89-101.
- 57. Zhao, X., M. Schmitt, and M. Hawes. 2000. Species-dependent effects of border cell and root tip exudates on nematode behaviour. Nematology 90:1239-1245.
- 58. Zuckerman, B. M., and H. B. Jansson. 1984. Nematode chemotaxis and possible mechanisms of host prey recognition. Annual Review of Phytopathology 22:95-113.
- 59. Zunke, U. 1990. Observations on the invasion and endoparasitic behavior of the root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Journal of Nematology 22(3):309-320.
- 60. Zunke, U. 1990. Ectoparasitic feeding behaviour of the root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*, on root hairs of differnt host plants. Revue Nématologie 13(3):331-337.

# **Chapter 3**

# Characterisation of Resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in Wheat; Motility and Reproduction

Katherine Joanne Linsell, Ian Timothy Riley, Kerrie Ann Davies, and Klaus Herbert Oldach

First, second and fourth authors: South Australian Research and Development Institute, GPO Box 397, Adelaide, SA, 5001, Australia; first, second, third and fourth authors: University of Adelaide; and first and fourth authors: Molecular Plant Breeding CRC.

Corresponding Author: K.H.Oldach; Email address: klaus.oldach@sa.gov.au

# ABSTRACT

Linsell, K.J., Riley, I.T., Davies, K.A., and Oldach K.H. 2012. Characterisation of Resistance to Root Lesion Nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* in Wheat – Motility and Reproduction. Phytopathology

A selection of wheat lines from a cross between two cultivars with contrasting resistance phenotypes to *Pratylenchus thornei* were used to determine if resistance interferes with nematode reproduction and motility. Significantly higher numbers of *P. thornei* became non-motile when exposed to root exudates/extracts from resistant (65%) than susceptible (30%) roots after exposure for 3 days. Assays were also performed using *Pratylenchus neglectus*, but no effect on motility was observed. The inhibitory effect on *P. thornei* motility was partially reversible up to 2 days after exposure. In migration assays, within the roots themselves, *P. thornei* could only migrate 10 mm through the resistant root cortex from the point of inoculation, compared to 70 mm in the susceptible roots. In addition, *P. thornei* reproduction was affected by resistant genotypes. Egg deposition was up to 30% less, within/near the resistant lines after 10 days. About 40% less hatch occurred from eggs within and adjacent to roots of resistant versus susceptible seedlings grown on agar. Hatch increased after dilution of root exudates indicating the presence of hatching inhibitors.

# **KEY WORDS**

Root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus neglectus*, egg deposition, root exudates, migration, egg, hatching, inhibitor

Several *Pratylenchus* species occur in Australia on various hosts, with two dominant in cereals, *Pratylenchus thornei* and *Pratylenchus neglectus* (55). Necrotic lesions form as a result of cell death caused by *Pratylenchus* feeding on root cortical cells (32). Cortical degradation and reduced root branching diminishes the plant's ability to acquire nutrients and water from the soil, stressing the plant and reducing vegetative growth and yield. The value of wheat production lost in Australia due to *P. thornei* is estimated at over \$AUD 50 million each year (36).

Once the nematode has located and penetrated a root, it migrates intracelluarly while feeding endoparasitically on root cortex cells (69). During migration, at each new cell the nematode punctures the cell wall with stylet thrusts and pushes through into the adjacent cells to continue feeding (25; 68; 69). While in the roots, adult *Pratylenchus* deposit eggs in the cavities created by migration (1; 4) and/or eggs are deposited in the soil in close vicinity to the roots (37). The juvenile hatches from the egg as a juvenile stage two and at each moult undergoes further sexual development (29). The full cycle from egg to adult is completed within 45 to 65 days (2), and is greatly influenced by host, temperature and *Pratylenchus* species.

Resistance is now the most economical and environmentally effective method of control against *P. thornei* due to the increasing costs, regulations and environmental concerns about nematicides (40). Several studies have identified various sources of resistance to *P. thornei* in wheat (50; 52; 56; 57; 60; 70-72). However, a simple understanding of the mechanisms of resistance and how they interfere with the nematode's biology is lacking.

Plants engage in two types of resistance responses to invading pathogens: passive and active. In post-infectional passive resistance the plant may for example, constitutively produce toxins that kill the pathogen or it may lack substances required by the pathogen for development and reproduction. In active post-infectional responses the plant reacts to contact with the pathogen by initiating distinct biochemical reactions that cause changes to tissues, such as necrosis by inducing gene expression of defense pathways (67) which includes the production of secondary metabolites. There are gaps in the knowledge of the biochemistry and molecular biology of plant defense responses to migratory endoparasitic nematodes, largely because they cause widespread cellular destruction and lack a fixed feeding site. Knowledge of the biological or biochemical resistance mechanisms is important as it could be used as improved phenotypic screening methods, to provide new sources of biochemical control and reveal the involvement of different resistance genes, which could be pyramided to provide more durable resistance (22).

The authors recently investigated the early stages of the invasion process and showed that resistance to *P. thornei* in a synthetic Sokoll x Krichauff population is not due to differential attraction or penetration but that nematode development is severely suppressed (26). Significantly fewer juveniles at all stages and adults were present in the roots of resistant (Sokoll derived) than susceptible lines (Krichauff derived). Other studies have shown that in other *Pratylenchus* species resistance is associated with reduced motility, egg deposition and egg hatch (3; 43; 46; 61). If the ability of the nematode to move and migrate through the root is suppressed and its feeding activity is limited, this will result in poor maturation and reduced reproduction.

In this study, the parents of a cross between two wheat lines with contrasting resistance phenotypes to *P. thornei*, Sokoll (resistant) and Krichauff (susceptible) in addition to six selected lines from the population were investigated. The chosen population lines were selected based on their resistant genotypes as determined by the quantitative trait loci (QTL) analysis conducted by Linsell et al. (27). The aim was to determine if the resistance within these genotypes is due to reduced nematode motility within the root and in root exudates, and whether egg deposition and egg hatch are affected by resistance. The investigation aimed to generate useful screening protocols, gain a better understanding of the biological resistance mechanisms, and provide a foundation for directed biochemical investigations into *P. thornei* resistant wheat responses.

# MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### **Nematodes and Plant Material**

*Pratylenchus thornei* was obtained from wheat at Nunjikompita, South Australia and were maintained on carrot callus described by Moody et al. (33) and inoculum was collected as described by Linsell et al. (26). The study investigated a doubled haploid (DH) population from a cross between the synthetic-wheat derived cultivar Sokoll (*P. thornei* resistant) and the Australian wheat cultivar Krichauff (*P. thornei* susceptible). This population was phenotyped using DNA quantification methods and genetically mapped to identify two highly significant resistant QTL on chromosomes 2B and 6D as described by Linsell et al. (27). The parents and six selected individual lines (three susceptible; S1, S2 and S3 and three resistant; R1, R2 and R3) were analysed. The six lines were selected based on genotypic and phenotypic data. The three resistant lines have both resistant QTL and the three susceptible lines have neither. The chosen resistant and susceptible lines were then selected based on the highest and lowest amount of quantified *P. thornei* DNA respectively. Prior to germination seeds were surface-sterilised as described by Linsell et al. (26).

#### Impact of Crushed Root Suspensions and Root Exudates on Motility

The concentration of root exudates (RE) and crushed root (CR) suspensions were standardised to minimise variation between roots, as larger root systems are expected to produce more RE and contain more root compounds when crushed than smaller roots. Thus, all root exudates/suspension samples were adjusted to a set optimum concentration of 4 mg/mL of fresh weight root tissue in water as determined by testing motility suppression in a RE dilution series. The motility suppression of RE at 2, 4 and 100 mg/mL were assessed and the 4 mg/mL concentration was found to produce the best differentiation between the resistant and susceptible genotypes (Table 1).

#### **Root Exudates**

Seedlings were grown aseptically in Petri plates on sterile filter paper for 10 days at room temperature, 21 to 22 °C (RT). Three replicates of each of the six DH lines and the parents were analysed. One mL of reverse osmosis (RO) water was used to wash the roots and filter paper and the liquid was collected. Fresh roots were weighed and the collected RE were adjusted to a concentration of 4 mg/mL of fresh weight root tissue by addition of RO water. A 100  $\mu$ L aliquot of RE was transferred to individual wells (350  $\mu$ L) on a 96 well ELISA plate and inoculated with approximately 80 mixed stage nematodes. Three replicates of each sample were assessed. The numbers of motile and non-motile nematodes were counted at 1, 2 and 3 days after inoculation (d.a.i.) at RT. A nematode was considered non-motile if no movement was observed within 5 s. These assays were performed on both *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus*.

To determine whether the effect of resistant RE on *P. thornei* motility could be reversed, the nematodes were recovered from the resistant Sokoll (10 samples) RE after 1 day exposure into water and motility was re-assessed after 2 days.

# **Crushed Root Suspensions**

One seed was sown in each seedling tube (55 × 120 mm) in steam-pasteurised sterilised sand. Three replicates of each of the four DH lines (two resistant and two susceptible) and the parents were analysed. Plants were grown for 1 week in a glasshouse maintained at 20 ± 3 °C and were hand watered every two days with 100 mL. Plants were then washed and fresh root weights were recorded. Roots were crushed in liquid nitrogen and immediately suspended in RO water. The CR suspensions were centrifuged and supernatant was removed and adjusted to a concentration of 4 mg/mL of fresh weight root tissue by addition of RO water. Experiments were conducted either in 6 mL of CR suspension in sample containers (40 mm x 45 mm) or 100 µL of CR suspension in wells on an ELISA plate. Each replicate was inoculated with approximately 80 mixed stage nematodes. The numbers of motile and non-motile nematodes were counted using a stereomicroscope (M3C; Wild, Heerbrugg, Switzerland) at 3 and 7 d.a.i. at RT.

# Migration

Seedlings were germinated on sterile filter paper and then placed on 0.5% water agar for 3 to 4 days at RT. Three replicates of each of the six DH lines and the parents sample were analysed. Using strips of plastic all of the root system was blocked off except a 250 mm section of one root. Water agar (1%) was then used to cover the rest of the roots and the plastic strips acted as a wall so only the 250 mm root portion was exposed for nematode penetration (Figure 1). Approximately 100 mixed stage nematodes were inoculated near the exposed root. At 5 d.a.i., the seedling was removed from the plate and the roots were stained in acid fuchsin (5). Stained roots were placed in Petri plates and using a microscope the inoculation point and the distance nematodes had migrated from that point on the exposed root was marked on the plate and was measured.



**Figure 1:** *Pratylenchus thornei* migration assay plate design. Using strips of plastic, all of the root system was blocked off with only a 250 mm section of one root exposed for nematode penetration. Nematodes were inoculated near the exposed root.

# **Egg Deposition**

Five replicates of the parents and three DH resistant and susceptible lines were assessed. Seven day old seedlings on water agar (0.5%) were inoculated with 1000 stage four juveniles and adult *P. thornei* adjacent to the roots. No eggs were present. After 10 days at RT, the numbers of eggs on the agar were counted under a stereomicroscope. The roots were then stained in acid fuchsin and eggs deposited by adults that had entered the roots were counted.

# Hatching

The same set of lines as for egg deposition was assessed for hatching assays in five replicates. For analysis on agar, seeds were germinated on moist filter paper and 6 day old seedlings were transferred to water agar (0.5%) plates and inoculated with 80 *P. thornei* eggs directly at the roots. At RT 8 d.a.i. the hatched juveniles on the agar were counted. To count the juveniles that had migrated into the roots, juveniles were extracted by misting (misting chamber) or roots were stained with acid fuchsin.

For analysis in RE, seedlings were grown aseptically in Petri plates on sterile filter paper for 12 days at RT. Root exudates were taken from young plants as *P. thornei* hatching was shown to be greater in RE from younger plants (44). One mL of RO water was used to wash the roots and filter paper and the liquid was then collected. Fresh roots were weighed and the collected exudates were adjusted to 4 mg/mL of root tissue. The RE (100  $\mu$ L) was transferred to individual wells on a 96 well ELISA plate. Approximately 80 eggs were added to each well (350  $\mu$ L) and the numbers of hatched stage two juveniles (J2) were counted at 3, 7 and 10 d.a.i. Hatching assays were also performed in dilutions of 4, 10 and 100 mg/mL of root tissue to determine the presence of hatching inhibitors. Five replicates of the parents and three DH resistant and susceptible lines were assessed twice. As *Pratylenchus* hatching is influenced by temperature experiments were performed at the optimum temperature of 21 to 22 °C.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Replicate means were calculated and were pooled for each sample from each independent assay to give one data set for each experiment. Data sets were analysed by ANOVA. Least significant differences (LSD, P = 0.05) were calculated to compare means, where P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant using the statistical program Genstat (VSN International, USA).

# RESULTS

2

# **Motility and Migration**

There was greater *P. thornei* motility suppression in both resistant RE and CR suspensions after exposure for 3 days than in suspensions of susceptible genotypes (Figure 2A-B). A small amount of motility suppression occurred in Krichauff and the susceptible lines (30%) but was equal to the no-root control. The resistant Sokoll RE and CR suspensions caused significant loss of motility at 65 and 75%, respectively. In order to determine the specificity of the observed motility suppression, assays were also conducted on the closely related species, *P. neglectus*. There was no effect on *P. neglectus* motility when exposed to RE for 3 days as motility suppression was equivalent to the no-root control (25%) (Figure 3). The effect of resistant root compounds appeared partially reversible in Sokoll RE as recovery in water, after 2 days exposure, resulted in almost 50% of *P. thornei* regaining motility. In the resistant Sokoll RE after 1 day exposure motility suppression was 94%. The ability of *P. thornei* to migrate within resistant roots was also suppressed (Figure 4). On average, the migration of *P. thornei* from a set point of penetration was 10 mm in Sokoll compared to 68 mm in Krichauff.

Table 1: Motility of Pratylenchus thornei 1 day after							
inoculation in different concentrations of Sokoll							
(resistant) and Krichauff (susceptible) root exudates.							
	Sokoll		Krichauff				
Root Exudate	Non-Motile	s.e	Non-Motile	s.e.			
(mg/mL)	(%)		(%)				
100	46.55	4.76	32.59	7.89			
4	35.76	1.42	16.25	4.74			

2.02

22.38

25.79



2.62





**Figure 3:** Motility of *Pratylenchus neglectus* in root exudates after 3 days exposure showed no significant differences between resistant (Sokoll, R1, R2 & R3) and susceptible (Krichauff, S1, S2 & S3) genotypes, LSD = 8.92.



**Figure 4:** Migration of *Pratylenchus thornei* within roots 10 days after inoculation. The length *P. thornei* migrates from the point of inoculation within the root was significantly lower in resistant root genotypes (Sokoll & R1, R2 & R3) than the susceptible (Krichauff, S1, S2 & S3), LSD = 5.70. Root growth after inoculation does not confound results as the majority of penetration occurs within first 9 hours after inoculation.

# **Reproduction - Egg Deposition and Egg Hatch**

The number of eggs deposited by adults placed directly adjacent to roots of seedlings on agar after 10 days was significantly higher in the presence of susceptible genotypes than resistant. The mean number of eggs deposited in or near Krichauff was 53 compared to 18 in Sokoll giving an egg deposition rate of 4.7 and 1.5 eggs/day, respectively (Figure 5A-B). Significantly more eggs were deposited within susceptible roots (83%) than outside (17%) while 50% of eggs were deposited both within and outside the resistant roots. Only 4 eggs were deposited in the absence of roots.

Resistant genotypes also stimulated significantly less hatching than susceptible. After 10 days the mean number of juveniles hatched from eggs placed adjacent to resistant Sokoll and susceptible Krichauff, roots was 4 and 48 respectively, giving respective hatching rates of 0.5 and 5 juveniles/day. There was no statistically significant difference in the position of juveniles (within or outside roots) after 10 days between genotypes (Figure 6A). There were high hatching rates (45%) in the no-root control, similar to that of Krichauff. Exposure of eggs to RE suppressed hatching in the resistant genotypes with 16.7% hatch in Sokoll and 24.6% in Krichauff after 3 days (Figure 6B). In the no-root water control only 8% hatch occurred. The dilution of RE corresponded to an increase in hatching in both genotypes. There was a statistically significant increase of hatch between the 100 and 4 mg/mL concentrations in all genotypes except S2 (Figure 7).



**Figure 5:** Egg deposition of *Pratylenchus thornei* in and near seedling roots propagated on agar.

A – The number of eggs deposited in and directly adjacent to resistant root genotypes (Sokoll, R1 & R2) was significantly less than susceptible genotypes (Krichauff, S1 & S2), LSD Genotypes = 10.56, and significantly more eggs were deposited within susceptible roots than outside, LSD Position = 7.47.

B – The rate of eggs deposited per day was1.50 and 4.70 in the resistant and susceptibleparent genotypes respectively, LSD = 1.90.


**Figure 6:** Hatching of *Pratylenchus thornei* near seedling roots propagated on agar and within root exudate solutions. A – The number of juveniles hatched near and within resistant roots (Sokoll) was significantly lower than susceptible roots (Krichauff), LSD = 11.48. There is no correlation between genotype and position hatched. B – The number of juveniles that hatched in resistant root exudates (Sokoll, R1 & R2) after exposure for 3 days was significantly lower than susceptible genotypes (Krichauff, S1 & S2), LSD = 4.04.



**Figure 7:** Number of *Pratylenchus thornei* juveniles hatched from eggs soaked in serial dilutions of root exudates. Higher hatching occurred in the 4 mg/mL than the 100 mg/mL concentration in both resistant (Sokoll, R1 & R2) and susceptible (Krichauff, S1 & S2) genotypes, LSD = 5.481.

# DISCUSSION

#### **Motility and Migration**

When toxic or unfavourable conditions arise many organisms respond by becoming inactive, by arresting development (42), or become so damaged that they lose the ability to move. In this study, significantly higher numbers of *P. thornei* became non-motile when exposed to RE (65%) and CR (75%) from resistant roots than susceptible (30%) roots. Similarly, several other studies have reported suppressed motility in resistant roots and associated this response to accumulation of phytoalexins. For example, in response to invasion by Meloidogyne incognita and Heterodera glycines, soybean synthesised the isoflavonoid glyceollin in the stele of resistant cultivars within 3 d.a.i., which inhibited nematode respiration and motility (18; 23; 24). Increased production of isoflavonoids in response to Pratylenchus invasion was also observed in several plant species. Coumestrol inhibited Pratylenchus scribneri motility in resistant lima beans by 50% after exposure for 96 h (46). Similarly, high levels of medicarpin and coumestrol were found in resistant lucerne root tissue after invasion with *Pratylenchus penetrans*, and motility was inhibited on agar by medicarpin (3). Despite the common link between isoflavonoids and Pratylenchus motility inhibition, in order to confirm the role of phytoalexins in providing resistance in the Sokoll x Krichauff Wheat/P. thornei interaction, further work is required to identify specific compounds. Biochemical analyses such as chromatography and mass spectrometry will enable further characterisation of the complex mix of root chemicals responsible for wheat resistance.

In both the RE and CR motility assays, some loss of nematode motility (20 to 30%) occurred in the no-root water control, which was similar to that of the susceptible samples. In general, motility is never 100% in nematode populations; therefore this reflects the nematode motility suppression observed in the susceptible lines. The suppression of motility in the resistant lines was greater in the CR suspensions than in RE. When roots are crushed, compounds not normally excreted by growing roots from vacuoles, glycosides and other cellular compartments are released. Therefore, the CR suspensions are likely to contain a more complex and more concentrated mix of metabolites and thus have a greater effect on nematode motility suppression.

The effective RE and CR solutions were derived from seedlings not exposed to *Pratylenchus* or other plant pathogens. This indicates the presence of constitutively produced compound(s) in resistant roots that can suppress *P. thornei* motility. In a similar nematode species, *Radopholus similis*, temporary non motility was observed after exposure to RE from both susceptible and resistant banana cultivars that had not been infested with the nematode. Up to 50% were non-motile after exposure to exudates from susceptible plants

and the effects persisted for 1 to 3 days. However, in the case of exudates from resistant roots, over 80% of nematodes were non-motile for more than 6 days (65). Constitutive root defense fits well with resistance to the migratory nature of *Pratylenchus*, as fast accumulation of effective compounds will allow immobilisation of the nematode before significant tissue damage can occur.

Dual resistance to both *Pratylenchus* species is desirable as they commonly occur in wheat fields together (59). Generally, the investigated wheat sources of *Pratylenchus* resistance (AUS5205, AUS11984 and GS50a) do not contain resistance to both species at the same locus (11; 58). However, resistance quantitative trait loci to both *Pratylenchus* species from the same wheat source (CPI133872) have been identified at the same genetic region (71), suggesting that in some cases resistance mechanisms to both species may share the same biological mechanism. The specificity of the suppressive root compounds identified in this study were assessed by performing motility assays with both CR suspensions and RE on P. neglectus. Results showed low motility suppression (25%) but in both resistant and susceptible roots. Although some loss in motility was observed, the proportion between the samples and the no-root water control was not significantly different. This indicates that motility suppression caused by resistant root compounds investigated in this study is specific to P. thornei and play no role against P. neglectus. Similar species specificity was observed with the effect of cournestrol on P. scribneri as the motility of Meloidogyne javanica, a compatible nematode on lima beans, was not affected even at high concentrations (25 µg/mL) (46). The Sokoll x Krichauff population contains *P. neglectus* resistance as shown by the presence of the *RInn1* resistance gene (27). However, as shown in this investigation, this resistance does not appear to be associated with motility suppression.

In this study, the inhibitory effect on nematode motility of the resistant root compounds was partially reversible as 50% of the *P. thornei* recovered motility when washed with water up to 2 days after exposure. A similar motility effect was observed with *P. scribneri* in cournestrol at 25  $\mu$ g/mL, where non motility was reversible after up to 2 days exposure. However, after 4 days few motile nematodes had recovered after washing (46). Further investigation is required into whether similar non reversible motility effects would occur with increased exposure to Sokoll x Krichauff RE. Based on the current results the compound(s) involved in *P. thornei* motility suppression appear to be nematostatic not nematocidal and affect *P. thornei* but not *P. neglectus*. As resistant genotypes caused inhibition of motility between 50 to 75%, the role of these toxic compounds as defense mechanisms is significant. The longer it takes for the nematode to move within the vicinity of RE or within the root itself, the more time the plant defense systems have to respond and thus limit damage. Therefore, breeding for intensified constitutive production of nematostatic compounds may be an alternative option for management of this nematode. However, before this can be achieved extensive

investigations of the complex biochemical pathways leading to the synthesis of the root compounds is required. In the mean time, the motility assays designed in this study may provide useful alternative phenotypic resistance screening protocols.

Since it was established that resistant roots were able to suppress nematode motility *in vitro*, an experiment was designed to measure nematode migration in roots, or essentially feeding within roots. The design meant that only a portion of one root was available for penetration, while the rest of the seedling's root system was physically blocked from the inoculated nematodes. These migration assays revealed that *P. thornei* did not migrate far through the root cortex from the point of inoculation in resistant roots. On average, nematodes were able to move more than 60 mm further in susceptible Krichauff than the resistant Sokoll. The observed effect on migration was attributed to resistance and was not influenced by different root structure or growth between genotypes (38). As over 50% penetration occurs within 9 hours after inoculation (h.a.i.) on agar (26), root growth after inoculation will not affect the migration measured. It was essential that motility and migration assays were performed under sterile conditions as fungi are known to be sources of anti-nematodal compounds that can suppress motility and hatching (62; 64).

A hypersensitive response involving programmed cell death in invaded tissues is associated with resistance to various nematodes (14) as it can suppress nematode migration (39) and feeding (48). Phenolic compounds and peroxidases are involved in programmed cell death (67) and in plant defense against nematodes. Phenols that accumulate in invaded tissues are directly synthesised or are released from bound forms, such as glycosides (48). In this study, resistant CR suspensions decreased motility indicating the possible release of bound compounds. Mountain and Patrick (34) suggested that phenolic compounds, associated with the formation of necrotic lesions, were released from glycosides via an interaction between the enzyme,  $\beta$ -glucosidase, secreted by *Pratylenchus* during feeding. Various phenolic compounds play a role in defense against *Pratylenchus* in other plant species and thus are candidates for further investigation of the inhibition of *P. thornei* root migration observed in this study. For example, oxidised phenols, including chlorogenic acid, reduce respiration and subsequently movement of P. penetrans in tomato (8). Chlorogenic acid is known to affect nematode coordination (19) and therefore may inhibit nematode root migration. To correlate the involvement of phenols with the Sokoll x Krichauff resistance response, the use of gene expression analysis, various staining methods and chromatography techniques will provide ways forward.

# **Reproduction - Egg Deposition and Egg Hatch**

Linsell et al. (26) showed that resistance to *P. thornei* prevents juvenile development and thus inhibits reproduction. The study reported that stage two juveniles were absent and few stage three juveniles were present in the resistant lines 36 and 45 d.a.i. As juveniles failed to reach maturity, no egg deposition was initiated in the resistant lines. Thus, in this follow-up study, experiments were conducted on agar with mature females to test if egg deposition and development is affected by the presence of resistant roots.

*Pratylenchus* species deposit single eggs either in the soil or within roots (37), and in this study both were examined. Adult *P. thornei* nematodes did deposit eggs within and near resistant roots but egg deposition was up to thirty times less than in susceptible roots. Similar suppression was observed by Farsi (10) for *P. neglectus* in resistant wheat cultivars . In one resistant cultivar, egg deposition was delayed by 4 days compared to the susceptible cultivar, but in another resistant cultivar no eggs were observed even after 35 days. In *P. penetrans*, egg deposition occurs between 2 to 14 days at 20 to 22 °C (30; 43), and as *P. penetrans* and *P. thornei* have similar life cycles, comparisons can be drawn. Therefore, it is unlikely that *P. thornei* egg deposition is delayed by resistance in this study, as egg counts were recorded 10 d.a.i., a timeframe that would have been sufficient to observe any delay.

There is limited data on the capacity of *Pratylenchus* species to deposit eggs (20). However, the maximum egg deposition rate of *P. penetrans* on a conifer species was 2.7 eggs per day (30) and Pratylenchus brachyurus on maize was 4.8 eggs per day (15), both over 11 days at 20 °C. In this current study, mean deposition rates for *P. thornei* were 4.7 eggs per day, over 10 days at 21 °C in Krichauff. This suggests that temperature, plant and nematode species all affect the rate of egg deposition. In the current study the rate of egg deposition per female per day in the susceptible roots was almost three times higher than in the resistant. Thus, resistance appears to decrease the rate of egg deposition of *P. thornei* in the investigated wheat genotypes. In addition, fewer eggs were deposited on agar plates where no roots were present indicating *Pratylenchus* deposit eggs only when a food source is available. In susceptible plants, females prefer to deposit eggs within the roots (83%) rather than outside. In contrast, approximately half the numbers of eggs were deposited within and adjacent to the resistant roots. A lower deposition of eggs within resistant roots may be due to a higher concentration of suppressive compounds within the root which deter adults from depositing eggs within this toxic environment. It could also be suggested that due to the reduced migration and feeding, mature females simply do not have the food resources/energy to produce eggs. Reduced egg deposition has been associated with Pratylenchus goodeyi resistance in banana where in the susceptible roots P. goodeyi deposited 29.8 eggs per day compared to 18.8 in the resistant roots over the same time period (43). The identification of specific compounds that inhibit egg formation/deposition or the absence of required

compounds could be useful in the development of genetically modified resistant plants and bionematicides (31; 35).

Hatching is a complex biological process significantly affected by environmental factors such as temperature, soil type and moisture (9; 13; 47; 54) and in some cases by the host species (51; 53). Root exudates contain hatching factors (HF) that may stimulate hatching in some species of nematodes and at the same time RE can also contain hatching inhibitors (HI), which prevent juvenile emergence. It is known that most species of nematodes do not solely rely on host derived stimuli to initiate hatching and that many hatch freely in water (41), including *P. thornei* as observed in this study. However, host signals are vital to ensure that significant numbers of juveniles emerge within a close vicinity of the roots to increase rates of successful penetration (41), or to induce hatch after a period of nematode dormancy (21). Byrne et al. (6) showed that hatch in response to potato root leachate of *Globodera rostochiensis* on agar correlated well to in soil hatch. Thus, hatching in this study was performed *in vitro* both on agar and in RE.

In this investigation, significantly fewer P. thornei juveniles hatched from eggs within and adjacent to the roots of resistant versus susceptible seedlings grown on agar. Approximately 30% more J2 emerged from eggs near and within susceptible roots than resistant. Hatching was also decreased in resistant RE compared to susceptible but only by 8% after 10 days exposure. The smaller hatching suppression observed in resistant RE than compared to actively growing resistant roots on agar could be due to the presence of less HI in the 4 mg/mL concentration of RE used than that naturally exuded by live roots. In addition, it could be that the active compounds in RE are labile and become inactive over time (10 days). In the susceptible roots and in the no-root control, only 50% of *P. thornei* juveniles had emerged from deposited eggs after 10 days. Similarly, a maximum of 50% P. penetrans hatched even though 64% of the eggs already contained J1 or J2 during in vitro tests under optimum conditions (44). This indicates that despite uninterrupted juvenile maturation and deposition of eggs in favourable environmental conditions, not all juveniles will hatch. Similar suppression of hatching by resistant root exudates has been observed in other plant/nematode interactions. Root exudate from susceptible soybean cultivars stimulated more hatch and emergence of *H. glycines* than resistant cultivars (7; 51; 53). Similarly, partially resistant clones of solanum hybrids generally stimulated lower hatch of Globodera pallida than susceptible cultivars after several weeks exposure to RE (12). The flavonoids glyceollin and coumestrol, which suppressed H. glycines and P. scribneri motility as discussed earlier, also significantly affect egg hatch (61). Flavonoids and/or their derivatives such as ferulic, syringic and coumeric acid are known to be present in wheat roots (16: 17: 28; 49), and could explain the hatching suppression in resistant root exudates observed in

this investigation. Biochemical analyses are required to detect and characterise root chemicals linked specifically to the wheat resistance response to *P. thornei*.

This study has shown that resistance plays a role in *P. thornei* hatching but its mode of action is unknown. Host hatching stimulants are complex in makeup and mechanisms. Resistance at hatching could be explained by a loss of a HF or the presence of HI. In addition to HF, there are hatching factor stimulants, which are compounds that are hatchneutral but can enhance the function of HF (6). Loss of any one of these compounds may reduce the effectiveness of the hatch. In the current study a lower hatch rate occurred in resistant roots than in the absence of roots indicating the presence of HI. The presence of HI was further investigated through dilution of the RE. As HI occur in low concentrations and HF in much higher, dilution of RE should predominantly affect HI without removing the activity of HF (6). As the RE became more diluted there was an increase in hatching in the resistant roots, thus further suggesting the presence of HI for *P. thornei*.

It has been suggested root branching patterns probably influence RE production and therefore hatching stimulation. It has been reported that main roots with many lateral roots stimulated greater hatch than those with fewer branches (45). Cereal roots invaded by *Pratylenchus* have impaired lateral root development in both number and size and have less root hair development (63). Thus, resistant roots may have more lateral roots and hence a larger number of actively growing root tips than susceptible roots. Root exudates are known to originate from regions where lateral roots emerge and from root tips (66). Therefore, due to extensive branching, *P. thornei* resistant roots may produce greater amounts of exudates and subsequently HI, which could explain the increased hatching suppression observed in the resistant lines investigated. However, a phenotypic root assessment of the 150 Sokoll x Krichauff DH lines showed there were no difference in the number, length and weight of roots between resistant and susceptible genotypes (38), which shows that in this population resistance is not linked to root morphology.

The observed decrease of hatching associated with the resistant wheat lines may also be explained by a delay of egg hatch. As the life cycle timelines for *P. thornei* and *P. penetrans* are similar, comparisons can be drawn. In various crops also exposed to RE, 50% of the maximum hatch of *P. penetrans* occurred between 5 to 7 days at 21 °C (44). Thus, if *P. thornei* hatching were delayed by 3 to 4 days, 50% emergence would be expected at 10 days. Hatched juveniles in this investigation were counted 12 days after exposure to RE, however, as only 4% of juveniles associated with Sokoll resistant roots had hatched after this period it indicates that hatching is severely suppressed or delayed much more than the 12 days of observation.

Although RE are vital for hatch in some cyst nematodes, most plant parasitic nematodes can hatch freely in water and RE only enhance the rate of hatching (41). In the agar no-root control, 45% of *P. thornei* juveniles hatched, which was similar to Krichauff, indicating that *P. thornei* hatch can occur in the absence of roots. It has only recently been shown that hatch in *Pratylenchus* species can occur in water and that RE simply promotes hatch. Pudasaini et al. (44) found that *P. penetrans* hatch (25%) occurred after 10 days exposure in soil leachate (root free systems) which was equal to and greater than some known host RE. Similarly in this study, after 10 days in distilled water, hatch of *P. thornei* eggs was observed. However, unlike the study of Pudasaini et al. (44), only a small percentage hatch, (8%) was observed in this study, most likely due to less oxygen transfer as a result of the sample container surface area.

In conclusion, migration and motility of *P. thornei* is suppressed in Sokoll x Krichauff resistant roots and exudates, suggesting resistant genotypes constitutively produce compounds that inhibit motility. The effects of these compounds are reversible and differentially affect *P. thornei* but not *P. neglectus*. In addition, egg deposition and hatch of *P. thornei* is significantly reduced in resistant roots and exudates. The increased hatch after dilution of RE and the lower hatch in resistant exudates versus the absence of roots, indicates the presence of hatching inhibitors. The actions of flavonoids and phenolics have been linked to *Pratylenchus* motility suppression in other resistant responses and thus are targets for future investigations into wheat resistance to *P. thornei*.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) through a Grains Industry Research Scholarship to K.J. Linsell as part of the fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The project was also supported by the South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) and Molecular Plant Breeding Cooperative Research Centre (MPBCRC).

The authors would like to thank the SARDI Nematology Group, especially D. Pounsett for assistance with culturing of the nematodes and to H. Wallwork at SARDI for access to plant material.

# LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Acedo, J. R., and R. A. Rhode. 1971. Histochemical root pathology of *Brassica oleracea* capitata L. infected by *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Cobb) Filipjev and Schuurmans Stekhoven (Nematoda:Tylenchidae). Journal of Nematology 3(1):62-68.
- 2. Agrios, G. N. 1988. Plant Pathology. 3rd ed. Academic Press, London, UK.
- 3. Baldridge, G. D., N. R. O'Neill, and D. A. Samac. 1998. Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) resistance to the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*: Defense-response gene mRNA and isoflavonoid phytoalexin levels in roots. Plant Molecular Biology 38(6):999-1010.
- 4. Bridge, J., and J. L. Starr. 2007. Plant nematodes of agricultural importance : A color handbook. Academic Press, Boston.
- 5. Bybd, D. W., T. Kirkpatrick, and K. R. Barker. 1983. An improved technique for clearing and staining plant tissues for detection of nematodes. Journal of Nematology 15(1):142-143.
- 6. Byrne, J., U. Twomey, N. Maher, K. J. Devine, and P. W. Jones. 1998. Detection of hatching inhibitors and hatching factor stimulants for golden potato cyst nematode, *Globodera rostochiensis*, in potato root leachate. Annals of Applied Biology 132(3):463-472.
- 7. Caballero, L. G., E. A. Osmanski, and P. M. Tefft. 1986. Factors influencing plantinduced egg hatching in *Heterodera glycines*. Journal of Nematology 18(4):636.
- 8. Chang, L. M., and R. A. Rohde. 1969. The repellent effect of necrotic tissues on the nematode *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Phytopathology 59:398.
- 9. Devine, K. J., and P. W. Jones. 2001. Effects of hatching factors on potato cyst nematode hatch and in-egg mortality in soil and *in vitro*. Nematology 3:65-74.
- 10. Farsi, M. 1996. Genetic variation for tolerance and resistance to *Pratylenchus neglectus*, Plant Science, University of Adelaide, Adelaide.
- 11. Farsi, M., V. A. Vanstone, J. M. Fisher, and A. J. Rathjen. 1995. Genetic variation in resistance to *Pratylenchus neglectus* in wheat and triticales. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 35(5):597-602.
- 12. Forrest, J. M. S., and M. S. Phillips. 1984. The effect of *solanum tuberosum* x *solanum vernei* hybrids on hatching of the potato cyst nematode *Globodera pallida*. Annals of Applied Biology 104(3):521-526.
- 13. Gaur, H. S., and M. M. Haque. 1987. Effect of irrigation and stage of moisture stress on the growth of nematode populations under pea. Indian Journal of Nematology 17:189-192.
- 14. Giebel, J. 1982. Mechanism of resistance to plant nematodes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 20:257-279.
- 15. Graham, T. W., and Q. L. Holdeman. 1951. Nematode injury to tobacco, cotton, and corn in relation to populations of root-knot and meadow nematodes. Phytopathology 41(1):14.
- 16. Guenzi, W. D., and T. M. McCalla. 1966. Phenolic acids in oats, wheat, sorghum, and corn residues and their phytotoxicity. Agronomy Journal 58:303-304.
- 17. Guenzi, W. D., T. M. McCalla, and F. A. Norstadt. 1967. Presence and persistence of phytotoxic subtances in wheat, oat, corn and sorghum residues. Agronomy Journal 59:163-165.
- 18. Huang, J. S., and K. R. Barker. 1986. Radioimmunoassay of glyceollin-I in soybean roots infected with race-1 of *Heterodera glycines*. Phytopathology 76(10):1139-1139.
- 19. Hung, C. L., and R. A. Rohde. 1973. Phenol accumulation related to resistance in tomato to infection by root-knot and lesion nematodes. Journal of Nematology 5(4):253-258.
- 20. Inomoto, M. M., and C. M. G. Oliveira. 2008. Coffee associated *Pratylenchus* spp. ecology and interactions with plants. Pages 51-64. in: Plant-parasitic nematodes of coffee R. M. Souza, ed. Springer, Netherlands.
- 21. Jones, P. W., G. L. Tylka, and R. N. Perry. 1998. Hatching. Pages 181-212. in: The Physiology and Biochemistry of Free-living and Plant-parasitic Nematodes R. N. Perry, and D. J. Wright, eds. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

- 22. Joshi, R. K. 2010. Gene pyramiding a broad spectrum technique for developing durable stress resistance in crops. Biotechnology and Molecular Biology Reviews 5 (3):51.
- 23. Kaplan, D. T., N. T. Keen, and I. J. Thomason. 1980. Association of glyceollin with the incompatible response of soybean roots to *Meloidogyne incognita*. Physiological Plant Pathology 16(3):309-318.
- 24. Kaplan, D. T., N. T. Keen, and I. J. Thomason. 1980. Studies on the mode of action of glyceollin in soybean incompatibility to the root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*. Physiological Plant Pathology 16(3):319-325.
- 25. Kurrpa, S., and T. C. Vrain. 1985. Penetration and feeding behaviour of *Pratylenchus penetrans* in strawberry roots. Revue Nématologie 8(3):273-276.
- 26. Linsell, K. J., I. T. Riley, K. A. Davies, and K. H. Oldach. 2012a. Characterisation of resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in wheat; nematode attraction, penetration and maturation. Manuscript sumbitted for publication.
- 27. Linsell, K. J., S. P. Taylor, H. Wallwork, and K. H. Oldach. 2012c. Quantitative trait loci for resistance to root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus thornei,* from a synthetic hexaploid wheat. Manuscript sumbitted for publication.
- 28. Lodhi, M. A. K., R. Bilal, and K. A. Malik. 1987. Allelopathy in agroecosystems: Wheat phytotoxicity and its possible roles in crop rotation. Journal of Chemical Ecology(13):1881-1891.
- 29. Luc, M., R. A. Sikora, and J. Bridge. 2005. Plant Parasitic Nematodes in Subtropical and Tropical Agriculture. 2nd ed. CABI Pub, Wallingford, UK.
- 30. Mamiya, Y. 1971. Effect of temperature on life cycle of *Pratylenchus penetrans* on *Cryptomeria* seedlings and observations on its reproduction. Nematologica 17(1):82-92.
- 31. McClure, M. A., K. C. Ellis, and E. L. Nigh. 1974. Post-infection development and histopathology of *Meloidogyne incognita* in resistant cotton. Journal of Nematology 6(1):21-26.
- 32. Moens, M., and R. N. Perry. 2009. Migratory plant endoparasitic nematodes: A group rich in contrasts and divergence. Annual Review of Phytopathology 47:313-332.
- 33. Moody, E. H., B. F. Lownsbery, and J. M. Ahmed. 1973. Culture of the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus vulnus* on carrot disks. Journal of Nematology 19:125-134.
- Mountain, W. B., and Z. A. Patrick. 1959. The peach replant problem in Ontario. VII. The pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* (obb 1917) Filip. and Stek. Canadian Journal of Botany 37:459-470.
- 35. Moura, R. M., E. L. Davis, B. M. Luzzi, H. R. Boerma, and R. S. Hussey. 1993. Postinfectional development of *Meloidogyne incognita* on susceptible and resistant soybean genotypes. Nematropica 23(1):7-13.
- 36. Murray, G. M., and J. P. Brennan. 2009. The current and potential costs from diseases of wheat in Australia. G. R. D. Corporation, ed., Kingston, ACT.
- Nicol, J. P., and R. Rivoal. 2008. Global knowledge and its application for the integrated control and management of nematodes on wheat. Pages 251–294. in: Integrated Management and Biocontrol of Vegetable and Grain Crops Nematodes A. Ciancio, and K. G. Mukerji, eds.
- 38. Oldach, K., K. J. Linsell, and Y. Genc. 2012. Root architecture and disease resistance. SARDI
- Paulson, R. E., and J. M. Webster. 1972. Ultrastructure of hypersensitive reaction in roots of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* L.) to infection by the root knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*. Physiological Plant Pathology 2:227-234.
- 40. Peng, Y. L., and M. Moens. 2002. Host suitability of rosa accessions for *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Nematology 4:387-394.
- 41. Perry, R. N. 1989. Dormancy and hatching of nematode eggs. Parasitology Today 5(12):377-383.
- 42. Perry, R. N. 1997. Plant signals in nematode hatching and attraction. Pages 38-50. in: Cellular and Molecular Aspects of Plant-Nematode Interaction C. Fenoll, ed. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston, MA.
- 43. Prasad, J. S., K. V. Seshu Reddy, and R. A. Sikora. 1999. Life cycle of *Pratylenchus goodeyi* in banana roots. Nematologia Mediteranea 27:111-114.

- 44. Pudasaini, M. P., N. Viaene, and M. Moens. 2008. Hatching of the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*, under the influence of temperature and host. Nematology 10:47-54.
- 45. Rawsthorne, D., and B. B. Brodie. 1986. Relationship between root-growth of potato, root diffusate production, and hatching of *Globodera rostochiensis*. Journal of Nematology 18(3):379-384.
- 46. Rich, J. R., N. T. Keen, and I. J. Thomason. 1977. Association of coumestans with the hypersensitivity of lima bean roots to *Pratylenchus scriberni*. Physiological Plant Pathology 10:105-116.
- 47. Robinson, M. P., H. J. Atkinson, and R. N. Perry. 1987. The influence of temperature on the hatching, activity and lipid utilization of second stage juveniles of the potato cyst nematodes *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*. Revue de Nématologie 10:349-354.
- 48. Rohde, R. A. 1972. Expression of resistance in plants to nematodes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 10:233-252.
- 49. Salomonsson, A. C., O. Theander, and P. Aman. 1978. Quantitative determination by GLC of phenolic acids as ethyl derivatives in cereal straw. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 26:830-835.
- 50. Schmidt, A. L., C. L. McIntyre, J. Thompson, N. P. Seymour, and C. J. Liu. 2005. Quantitative trait loci for root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) resistance in Middle-Eastern landraces and their potential for introgression into Australian bread wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 56(10):1059-1068.
- 51. Schmitt, D. P., and R. D. Riggs. 1991. Influence of selected plant species on hatching of eggs and development of juveniles of *Heterodera glycines*. Journal of Nematology 23:1-6.
- 52. Sheedy, J. G., and J. P. Thompson. 2009. Resistance to the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* of Iranian landrace wheat. Australasian Plant Pathology 38(5):478-489.
- 53. Sikora, E. J., and G. R. Noel. 1996. Hatch and emergence of *Heterodera glycines* in root leachate from resistant and susceptible soybean cultivars. Journal of Nematology 28(4):501-509.
- 54. Stoyanov, D., and Z. Trifonova. 1995. Hatching dynamics of golden potato cyst nematode larvae *Globodera rostochiensis* Woll. Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science 1:241-246.
- 55. Thompson, J., J. Mackenzie, J. McCulloch, and T. G. Clewett. 1981. Research pins blame on nematodes for Downs problem. in: Queensland Wheat Research. Queensland Wheat Research Institute, Toowamba.
- 56. Thompson, J. P., M. M. O'Reilly, and T. G. Clewett. 2009. Resistance to the rootlesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* in wheat landraces and cultivars from the West Asia and North Africa (WANA) region. Crop & Pasture Science 60(12):1209-1217.
- 57. Thompson, J. P., K. J. Owen, G. R. Stirling, and M. J. Bell. 2008. Root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*): A review of recent progress in managing a significant pest of grain crops in northern Australia. Australasian Plant Pathology 37(3):235-242.
- 58. Thompson, J. P., P. S. Brennan, T. G. Clewett, J. G. Sheedy, and N. P. Seymour. 1999. Progress in breeding wheat for tolerance and resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*). Australasian Plant Pathology 28(1):45-52.
- 59. Thompson, J. P., T. G. Clewett, J. G. Sheedy, R. A. Reen, M. M. O'Reilly, and K. L. Bell. 2010. Occurrence of root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) and stunt nematode (*Merlinius brevidens*) in the northern grain region of Australia. Australasian Plant Pathology 39(3):254-264.
- 60. Toktay, H., C. L. McIntyre, J. M. Nicol, H. Ozkan, and H. I. Elekcioglu. 2006. Identification of common root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* Sher et Allen) loci in bread wheat. Genome 49(10):1319-1323.
- 61. Trivedi, P. C., K. R. Barker, and J. S. Huang. 1984. Effects of glyceollin on hatching and motility of *Heterodera glycines*. Phytopathology 74(7):830-830.

- 62. Twomey, U., P. Warrior, B. R. Kerry, and R. N. Perry. 2000. Effects of the biological nematicide, DiTera <sup>(R)</sup>, on hatching of *Globodera rostochiensis* and *G. pallida*. Nematology 2:355-362.
- 63. Vanstone, V. A., A. J. Rathjen, A. H. Ware, and R. D. Wheeler. 1998. Relationship between root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei*) and performance of wheat varieties. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 38(2):181-188.
- 64. Warrior, P., L. A. Rehberger, M. Beach, P. A. Grau, G. W. Kirfman, and J. M. Conley. 1999. Commercial development and introduction of DiTera®, a new nematicide. Pesticide Science 55:376-379.
- 65. Wuyts, N., R. Swennen, and D. De Waele. 2006. Effects of plant phenylpropanoid pathway products and selected terpenoids and alkaloids on the behaviour of the plant-parasitic nematodes *Radopholus similis*, *Pratylenchus penetrans* and *Meloidogyne incognita*. Nematology 8:89-101.
- 66. Wuyts, N., Z. T. Z. Maung, R. Swennen, and D. De Waele. 2006. Banana rhizodeposition: Characterization of root border cell production and effects on chemotaxis and motility of the parasitic nematode *Radopholus similis*. Plant and Soil 283(1-2):217-228.
- 67. Zinov'eva, S. V., N. I. Vasyukova, and O. L. Ozeretskovskaya. 2004. Biochemical aspects of plant interactions with phytoparasitic nematodes: A review. Applied Biochemistry and Microbiology 40(2):111-119.
- 68. Zunke, U. 1990. Observations on the invasion and endoparasitic behavior of the root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus penetrans*. Journal of Nematology 22(3):309-320.
- 69. Zunke, U. 1990. Ectoparasitic feeding behaviour of the root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*, on root hairs of differnt host plants. Revue Nématologie 13(3):331-337.
- 70. Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, and I. D. Godwin. 2004. Genetic analysis of resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in wheat. Plant Breeding 123(3):209-212.
- 71. Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, and I. D. Godwin. 2005. Identification of quantitative trait loci for resistance to two species of root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) in wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 56(4):345-352.
- 72. Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, J. G. Sheedy, and J. C. Nelson. 2006. Mapping quantitative trait loci for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* from synthetic hexaploid wheat in the International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 57(5):525-530.

# Chapter 4

# Quantitative Trait Loci for Resistance to Root Lesion Nematode, *Pratylenchus thornei*, from a Synthetic Hexaploid Wheat Source

Katherine J. Linsell Sharyn P. Taylor Hugh Wallwork Klaus H. Oldach

K. J.Linsell H Wallwork K.H.Oldach (🖂),

South Australian Research and Development Inst, University of Adelaide, Molecular Plant Breeding CRC, GPO Box 397, Adelaide, SA, 5001, Australia e-mail: klaus.oldach @sa.gov.au

S. P. Taylor

CRC for National Plant Biosecurity, University Drive, University of Canberra, Bruce ACT 2617

# Abstract

Pratylenchus thornei are migratory nematodes that feed and reproduce within the wheat root cortex resulting in cell death (root lesions), causing severe reductions in yield. The identification of molecular markers closely linked to resistance genes will allow use of marker assisted selection to accelerate development of new resistant cultivars, eliminating laborious and costly resistance phenotyping. In this study, a doubled haploid wheat population (150 lines) from a cross between the synthetic derived cultivar Sokoll (P. thornei resistant) and the cultivar Krichauff (P. thornei moderately susceptible) has been investigated to identify quantitative trait loci (QTL) associated with P. thornei resistance. A high density map was constructed using Diversity Array Technology (DArT) and QTL regions identified were targeted with microsatellite markers. Highly significant (P < 0.001) P. thornei resistance QTL were detected on the distal ends of the short arms of chromosomes 2B and 6D. The QTL, QRInt.sk-6D, was linked to the distal markers gpw5182, gpw4357 and barc183 (Likelihood Ratio Statistic (LRS) = 82.9) and explained 43% of the phenotypic variation. The other highly significant QTL on chromosome 2BS, QRInt.sk-2B.1, was linked to wmc382 and gwm614 (LRS = 39.9) and explained 24% of the phenotypic variation. Two significant QTL (P < 0.01) for resistance were also identified on chromosomes 4A and 5A. The population was fixed for the highly significant QTL on 2BS and 6DS and further QTL were identified on chromosomes 2B, 2D, 3A, 5B and 6B.

# **Key Words**

Synthetic hexaploid wheat, doubled haploid population, molecular markers, QTL mapping

# Introduction

Root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus* spp.) are migratory endoparasitic nematodes that feed and migrate within root cortical tissue causing necrosis and reduced root lateral branching at high nematode densities (Vanstone et al. 1998). Water and nutrient uptake in infested plants is diminished, which leads to yield losses. Losses due to *Pratylenchus thornei* and *Pratylenchus neglectus*, the most widespread species in Australian wheat growing regions, is estimated at \$AUD 50 million and \$AUD 73 million each year (Murray and Brennan 2009).

Due to the wide host range of *Pratylenchus* spp. and the restrictions and inefficacy of chemical pesticides, the development of resistant cultivars has become increasingly important. Tolerant cultivars can survive and yield well within infested soils, but allow reproduction, thus leaving nematodes within the soil to attack subsequent crops. Resistant cultivars have the capacity to reduce nematode reproduction and nematode densities in the soil (Rohde 1972).

Considerable research efforts in Australia led to the identification of several sources of partial resistance, which have been mapped to reveal quantitative trait loci (QTL) for root lesion nematode resistance using different mapping populations in wheat. These *P. thornei* resistance QTL were identified over 10 years ago (Thompson et al. 1999), but despite this, currently there are no commercially available wheat cultivars with strong resistance to *Pratylenchus* (Sheedy and Thompson 2009). The GS50a resistance source identified by Thompson and Clewitt (1986) as a single plant selection from a severely affected field of the wheat cultivar Gatcher, has been used to improve the levels of resistance to some degree in local commercial varieties.

Due to the lack of genetic diversity in cultivated modern bread wheat, new sources of resistance are sought from wild wheat progenitors (Ogbonnaya 2008; Zwart et al. 2010). Hexaploid bread wheat originated in the Fertile Crescent in the Middle East through a few random crossings between wild wheat species (Nesbitt 2001). It has been suggested that in the original hybridisation, only a limited number of nematode resistance genes from the diploid *Aegilops tauschii* and the tetraploid *Triticum turgidum* wild progenitors were involved, thus hexaploid wheat lacks the diverse genetic sources of resistance genes that its ancestors possess (Breiman and Graur 1995). Initially, Thompson and Haak (1997) screened accessions of *Ae. tauschii* from Iran and found *P. thornei* resistance in all taxonomic subgroups of this species. They investigated over 200 accessions and identified many with lower *P. thornei* reproduction than GS50a. Resistance found in *Ae. tauschii* can be transferred to bread wheat by direct crossing (Gill and Raupp 1987) or by developing synthetic hexaploids through hybridisation with a durum, *T. turgidum*, which can then be crossed to bread wheats (Lagudah et al. 1993; Mujeeb-Kazi 1995). In recent years, effective

sources of resistance to *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* have been identified and mapped in synthetic hexaploid wheat lines (Ogbonnaya 2008; Thompson et al. 2008; Toktay et al. 2006; Zwart et al. 2004, 2005; Zwart et al. 2010) and Middle Eastern landraces (Schmidt et al. 2005; Sheedy and Thompson 2009; Thompson et al. 2009). QTL for resistance to *P. thornei* have been identified on the B and D genomes on five different chromosomes in the investigated sources (Schmidt et al. 2005; Toktay et al. 2006; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2005; Toktay et al. 2006; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2005; Toktay et al. 2006; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2005; Toktay et al. 2006; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2006). The mode of resistance to *P. thornei* is multigenic and additive (Zwart et al. 2004) and thus makes it a suitable trait for marker assisted selection (MAS).

Genotypic selection using molecular markers closely linked to *Pratylenchus* resistance genes will accelerate the development of new resistant cultivars through reducing the problems associated with phenotypic selection. Due to the high throughput marker technologies available, phenotyping, especially with nematode resistance, is the limiting factor in terms of cost, reliability of data and sample size. The development of DNA quantification methods where the quantified nematode DNA in a plant line serves as an estimate of its resistance level, has made this task more efficient and allows higher throughput (Ophel-Keller et al. 2008). Although helpful, this technology is expensive for a breeding program as several repeats per genotype need to be tested. Instead, genotypic selection using molecular markers closely linked to *Pratylenchus* resistance genes would greatly accelerate the development of new resistant cultivars. The identification of novel sources of genetic resistance and understanding of their biological mechanisms will allow effective combinations of genes either to be used alternatively, or pyramided to generate effective and stable *Pratylenchus* resistance in wheat.

The study aimed to characterise the genetic resistance derived from a new synthetically derived *P. thornei* resistance source. A doubled haploid population originating from a cross between the synthetic hexaploid wheat Sokoll (*P. thornei* resistant) and the common South Australian wheat cultivar Krichauff (*P. thornei* susceptible) was investigated. Phenotypic analysis was conducted using nematode DNA quantification and a genetic map was constructed to identify QTL and associated molecular markers accounting for resistance to *P. thornei*.

#### **Material and Methods**

#### **Plant Material**

The population used consists of 150 doubled haploid (DH) lines derived from a cross between the synthetic cultivar Sokoll (pedigree: Pastor/3/Altar84/*Ae*.

*squarrosa*(Taus)//Opata) developed by the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre Mexico (CIMMYT), and the cultivar Krichauff (pedigree:

Wariquam//Kloka/Pitic62/3/Warimek/Halberd/4/3Ag3Aroona) developed by Tony Rathjen and the Waite Institute Wheat Breeding team. The DHs were generated by the South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) doubled haploid and cell culture unit (Howes et al. 2003). Plants were grown in a glasshouse at 22 to 24 °C and leaves for DNA extraction were collected from 1 to 2 week old seedlings.

#### Nematodes

*Pratylenchus thornei* was obtained from the SARDI population (originally sourced from wheat at Nunjikompita, South Australia) maintained on carrot callus as described by Nicol and Vanstone (1993), modified from Moody et al. (1973). Cultures were stored at 22 °C and subcultured every 3 months. To collect the nematodes, the carrot callus was placed in funnels in a misting chamber with an intermittent aqueous mist of 10 s every 10 min for 96 h (Southey 1986) at room temperature (22 °C). Nematodes extracted in the mister were counted in 250  $\mu$ L aliquots in three replicates and adjusted to the required inoculum concentration by dilution with water.

#### Phenotypic Screening of P. thornei Resistance

The resistance response of the 150 DH lines to *P. thornei* was assessed in a glasshouse maintained at 20 to 23 °C. One pre-germinated seed was sown per tube (55 × 120 mm) in 350 g of steam-pasteurised sand. Tubes were arranged in a random block (5 x 5 blocks) design and placed in trays that were flooded for 4 min every 3 days to a depth of 100 mm. One week after the seedling emerged they were inoculated with two 500  $\mu$ L aliquots (1500 nematodes per plant) into two 50-mm-deep holes on either side of the seedling. Waterings were suspended until 3 days after inoculation. Two days after inoculation a slow release fertiliser (Osmocote, Scotts Miracle-Gro, USA) was added (4 g/kg sand) and each tube was covered with plastic beads to reduce evaporation. Eight weeks after inoculation plants were removed and roots were washed free of soil and were dried. DNA was extracted from the roots and the amount of *P. thornei* reproduction within the roots was assessed via DNA quantification through the SARDI Root Disease Testing Service (Ophel-Keller et al. 2008). The amount of *P. thornei* DNA was quantified using a real-time TaqMan polymerase chain reaction (PCR) system with primers specific to the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region of

P. thornei. The DNA extraction system and details of the P. thornei specific test has not been published and are protected by legal secrecy agreements. DNA was quantified using a standard curve that was established using known amounts of DNA. The amount of nematode reproduction was expressed as picograms (pg) P. thornei DNA per plant. The controls included a susceptible wheat cultivar, Machete, a moderately susceptible cultivar, Meering, and a moderately resistant cultivar, Chara. Resistance is scored based on correlations with DNA amounts in the check varieties. The trial included five replicates of each sample. The trial was independently replicated twice under the same experimental conditions one week apart in August/September 2006 and was conducted by SARDI Nematology staff. The means of the five replicates were calculated and used for phenotypic analysis. Significant differences between population individuals were assessed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). The mean values of *P. thornei* DNA pg/plant in the parents, the population mean, and the minimum and maximum values were calculated. Broad sense heritability (H2) was estimated from the mean of the trials using the formula: H2 = Var(G)/Var(P), where Var(G) is the estimated variance of the genotypic effect and Var(P) is the estimated variance of the phenotypic effect expressed on a genotype mean basis.

### Diversity Array Technology Map Construction and QTL Analysis

Leaf segments of about 30 mm in length were collected and were freeze-dried for 24 h. A ball bearing (4 mm diameter) was added to each tube (1.1 mL) and in a shaker leaf material was crushed to a fine powder (25 oscillations/second for 5 min). DNA was extracted using a DNA mini-prep method adapted from Rogowsky et al. (1991). The adapted method was as follows; DNA was extracted in 300  $\mu$ L of DNA extraction buffer [100 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.5), 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM EDTA, 1% sarkosyl and 2% polyvinylpoly-pyrolidone], and 300  $\mu$ L phenol: chloroform:iso-amylalcohol (25:24:1), and the material was mixed for 20 min on an orbital shaker. The phases were separated by centrifugation and the upper aqueous phase was re-extracted as described above. The DNA was precipitated by the addition of 30  $\mu$ L 3 M Na-acetate (pH 4.8) and 300  $\mu$ L isopropanol. DNA was collected by centrifugation, washed with 70% ethanol, dried, and resuspended in 20  $\mu$ L R40 buffer (4 mg RNase A in 100 mL TE Buffer).

Fifty mg/µL of DNA from each sample, which included the 150 DH lines and two replicates of the parents, were sent to Triticarte Pty Ltd (Yarralumla, ACT, Australia). The Diversity Array Technology (DArT) markers were scored on the DH population by Triticarte Pty Ltd, probing genomic DNA from individual DH lines against the wheat DArT array version 2.6 (5000 markers) (Akbari et al. 2006). A total of 889 DArT informative markers were scored and used to construct a high-density genetic linkage map of the Sokoll x Krichauff population. The map was constructed using MapManager QTXb20 (Manly and Olson 1999) with the Kosambi

mapping function (Kosambi 1944). For QTL analysis, single marker regression and composite mapping were performed using MapManager QTXb20. A permutation test was used to establish the threshold at which the logarithm of odds (LOD) score became suggestive (P < 0.05), significant (P < 0.01) and highly significant (P < 0.001) for QTL identification (Van Ooijen 2004) generated by the interval mapping procedures.

# Genotyping and QTL Analysis

QTL analysis indicated highly significant *P. thornei* resistance QTL on chromosomes 6D and on 2B. The parent lines and six DH lines (three susceptible and resistant based on phenotype) were screened with 340 simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers previously mapped to chromosomes 6D and 2B (CMap, GrainGenes) to identify markers that were polymorphic between Sokoll and Krichauff. One hundred and sixty polymorphic SSR markers from 6D and 2B were screened against the 150 DH lines.

For marker screening, DNA was extracted as described by Palotta et al. (2003) from 30 mm leaf segments that had been freeze-dried and crushed as described earlier. Preheated DNA extraction buffer [100 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0), 500 mM EDTA, 1.25% sodium dodecyl sulfate], was added and the material was extracted by heating for 60 min at 65 °C. The samples were cooled before the addition of 150  $\mu$ L 6 M Na-acetate (pH 4.8). Supernatant was recovered after centrifugation into 180  $\mu$ L isopropanol. Precipitated DNA was collected by centrifugation, washed with 70% ethanol, dried, and resuspended in 50  $\mu$ L R40 buffer.

For SSR marker screening, amplification was performed using a touchdown PCR profile as follows: initial denaturation step at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, an annealing step for 30 s and 72 °C for 30 s. The initial annealing temperature was at 59 °C and was reduced by 0.5 °C for the next 8 cycles. The remaining 29 cycles had an annealing temperature of 55 °C, the program ended with 5 min extension at 72 °C. Amplification was performed in a total volume of 9.5  $\mu$ L, using Taq polymerases from Qiagen (Victoria, Australia) and Bioline (Adelaide, Australia) with respective protocols. Polymerase chain reactions were performed in a PTC-225 thermocycler (MJ Research, Australia). SSR marker amplified products were separated on 8% SDS polyacrylamide gels (Sigma Aldrich, Australia) at constant 300 V for 180 min and viewed and photographed with ethidium bromide staining under UV light.

Sequences for eight DArT markers that map to the 2B and 6D QTL region were obtained from Triticarte and used to design PCR primers to amplify corresponding regions from the two mapping population parents. Homology searches were carried out using the BLAST algorithm and the EST (expressed sequence tag) databases at NCBI (National Centre for Biotechnology Information). Resulting overlapping ESTs were assembled to larger contigs using ContigExpress, part of the DNA analysis software suite VectorNTI 11 (Invitrogen, Victoria, Australia). Primers were designed to amplify the largest contig. Six of the converted DArT markers were polymorphic and were mapped in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. The primers were 653 (CGCATCCTTTTAGGAGCAAG, GGCAGCACTTCAGAGTGGAT), 2864 (GAGCTCCAACCACAGCTCT, ACTCCTCCATGAGCAGCTTG), 5114 (TGAGGCCGAGGAAGGTTCCA, TGCTCTTCGTAAGCTGAGCCGT), 3390 (TGTACAGGGAACTCCCAAGG, GTGGTCTCTCCTTACCAGCG) and 1634 (AGAAACAGCCCCCAAATCT, GCACATTGTCAAGCTGCTGT). For converted DArT markers, amplification was performed as described above but using an initial denaturation step at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 94 °C for 30 s, a 57 °C for 30 s and 72 °C for 30 s. Amplification products were separated on 2% agarose gels for 90 min at 100 V and viewed and photographed with ethidium bromide staining under UV light.

In MapManager QTXb20 the marker allele distribution among the 150 DH lines were integrated into the DArT map using the Links report function. In conjunction with the ripple function and published maps, an order of markers was established, with the aim of minimising double recombinations and chromosome length. Marker order was finalised using RECORD (Van Os et al. 2005). Segregation ratios of the two genotypes were tested using a chi-square ( $\chi^2$ ) test to determine the extent of linkage disequilibrium. Markers that showed distorted segregation from the expected 1:1 ratio were excluded from QTL analysis. A  $\chi^2$  value exceeding 3.84 (df =1) indicated distortion at P = 0.05. The proportion of phenotypic variation explained by each locus was estimated by the coefficient of determination (R<sup>2</sup>). A permutation test (1000 permutations) was used to determine the critical LOD threshold.

# Results

#### Phenotypic Assessment

There was a high level of correlation between the two trials ( $R^2 = 0.7$ ) (Fig. 1), which for nematode resistance phenotypic data is very high (J. Thompson personal communication) and thus data from the two trials were pooled and QTL analysis was performed on trial means. As a check, QTL analysis was performed on each individual trial and QTL location and significance matched that of the pooled data. The population displayed a continuous distribution with the average nematode count (pg DNA/plant) for the population of 9153, for the resistant parent Sokoll, 3766, and for the moderately susceptible Krichauff, 15816. The phenotypic nematode quantification data showed a regression (Figs. 1 and 2) that was significantly skewed, 1.27 ± 0.2013. ANOVA showed highly significant differences between individual genotypes for *P. thornei* DNA pg/plant (average of trials 1 and 2). The broad sense heritability (H2) was high (0.971) and shows this resistance is largely controlled by genetic variation (Fig. 2).



Nematodes Trial 1 (*P. thornei* DNA pg/Plant)

**Fig. 1** *Pratylenchus thornei* nematode DNA count data from trial 1 and 2 shows a strong linear correlation. The trend line fitted has a coefficient of determination of 0.67



**Fig. 2** *Pratylenchus thornei* nematode DNA count data (average of trials 1 and 2) shows a normal continuous distribution in the Sokoll x Krichauff DH population. The mean (± standard error) values of *P. thornei* DNA pg/plant in the parents are indicated. In addition, the population mean (X), the minimum (min) and the maximum (max) values (± standard error), least significant difference (LSD), analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the broad sense heritability (H2)

#### Genotyping and Map Construction

In addition to the 860 DArT markers, 340 SSR markers were screened for polymorphisms between the parental alleles with 209 appearing polymorphic. Sixty five markers were unlinked and could not be assigned to any of the 21 linkage groups. Thirty five were assigned to chromosome 2B and 33 to chromosome 6D. The final Sokoll x Krichauff map was generated with 860 DArT markers and 111 microsatellites arranged across 21 linkage groups (Fig. 3). The map covers a total of 3477 centiMorgans (cM) of the wheat genome with an average marker density of 3.56 cM. Segregation distortion was observed in 61 markers (6.3%) of the mapped loci (P < 0.05) from the expected 1:1 ratio as determined by a chi-square analysis and were deleted from the dataset. The frequency of Sokoll alleles was high at loci on chromosomes 4A and 5A (2 loci, 21%). When the population was fixed for the 2B and 6D QTL the frequency of Sokoll alleles was high at loci on chromosomes 3A, 5B, 6B, 7A and 7B (5 loci, 39%) while frequency of Krichauff alleles was high at loci on chromosomes 2A, 2B and 2D (3 loci, 61%).

Vernalisation markers *Vrn1A*, *1B* and *1D* and the *P. neglectus* resistance gene *Rlnn1* marker *uat0001* [developed by Australian Wheat and Barley Molecular Marker Program (AWBMMP), University of Adelaide] were also mapped. The height genes *Rht1* and *Rht2* were analysed but were not segregating in this population.



*P. thornei* resistance QTL inherited from Krichauff







**Fig. 3** Genetic map of Sokoll x Krichauff DH population. The map comprises 974 markers arranged across 21 linkage groups. The map covers a total size of 3477 centiMorgans (cM) of the wheat genome with an average density of 3.56 cM. Highly significant QTL for *Pratylenchus thornei* resistance are indicated on chromosomes 2B (*QRInt.sk-2B.1*) and 6D (*QRInt.sk-6D*). Significant QTL for *P. thornei* resistance were identified on chromosomes 4A (*QRInt.sk-4A*) and 5A (*QRInt.sk-5A*). After fixing the population for *QRInt.sk-2B.1* and *QRInt.sk-6D*, significant QTL for *P. thornei* resistance were further revealed with *QRInt.sk-2B.2*, *QRInt.sk-2B.3*, *QRInt.sk-2D*, *QRInt.sk-3B*, *QRInt.sk-5B.1* and *QRInt.sk-6B* 



**Fig. 4** Composite interval mapping showing QTL for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. Highly significant QTL were identified on the short arms of chromosomes 2B and 6D and significant QTL on chromosomes 4A and 5A. The numbers on the x-axis represent the threshold lines as set by 1000 permutations shown as likelihood ratio statistics (LRS). The first line represents suggestive QTL at P < 0.05 the second, significant QTL at P < 0.01 and the third, highly significant QTL at P < 0.001. The y-axis represents distances in centiMorgans (cM) from the distal end of the short arms of the chromosomes. These figures represent only the chromosome region which contains the QTL





**Fig. 5** Composite interval mapping showing QTL for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in the Sokoll x Krichauff population after fixing the 2BS and 6DS QTL. Significant QTL were identified on chromosomes 2B, 2D, 3A, 5B and 6B and suggestive QTL on 2B and 5B. The numbers on the x-axis represent the threshold lines as set by 1000 permutation tests shown as likelihood ratio statistics (LRS). The first line represents suggestive QTL at P < 0.05, the second, significant QTL at P < 0.01 and the third, highly significant QTL at P < 0.001. The y-axis represents distances in centiMorgans (cM) from the distal end of the short arms of the chromosomes

#### Marker Regression and QTL Analysis

QTL analysis revealed 75 markers with linkage to *P. thornei* resistance. Nine chromosome regions were identified with markers associated to *P. thornei* resistance located on chromosomes 1A, 2B, 3A, 4A, 4B, 5A, 6B, 6D and 7A. Markers on the two chromosomes 4A and 5A were significantly linked to resistance, while markers on chromosomes 2B and 6D showed highly significant linkage to *P. thornei* resistance.

Highly significant QTL associations were detected on the short arms of two chromosomes and in both cases the marker allele was inherited from the synthetic-derived parent, Sokoll (Fig. 4). A resistance QTL was identified on chromosome 6DS (*QRInt.sk-6D*) linked to the distal markers *gpw5182*, *gpw4357* and *barc183b* (likelihood ratio statistic (LRS) = 82.9) explaining 43% of the phenotypic variation for *P. thornei* resistance. The QTL spans 119 cM within the 295 cM 6D chromosome and is flanked by the SSR *cfd132a* and the converted DArT marker 653 (Fig. 4). A second highly significant QTL for resistance to *P. thornei* was detected on chromosome 2BS (*QRInt.sk-2B.1*) linked to *wmc382* and *gwm614* (LRS = 39.9), explaining 24% of the phenotypic variation. The QTL spans 101 cM within the 409 cM 2B chromosome and is flanked by the SSR *wmc764b* and the converted DArT marker *5728* (Fig. 4). Two significant QTL for resistance were identified to be contributed by the more susceptible parent, Krichauff, on chromosomes 4A and 5A. The *QRInt.sk-4A* was most closely linked to the marker *wPt-6502* (LRS = 8.2) explaining 6% of the phenotype and spanning 59.8 cM of the 145.2 cM chromosome. The *QRInt.sk-5A* was most closely linked to the marker *wPt-5588* (LRS = 9.1) also explaining 6% of the phenotype and spanning 97.2 cM of the 189.3 cM chromosome (Fig. 4). The *QRInt.sk-5A* does not include the *Vrn1A* marker in this map.

The *Rlnn1* marker *uat0001* was mapped to 7AL, where the resistance locus to *P. neglectus* was originally mapped (Williams et al. 2002). The *Rlnn1* QTL, donated by Krichauff, did not contribute to improved *P. thornei* resistance. A suggestive QTL was detected on 7A (LRS = 5.9) contributed by Sokoll but was not located near the *Rlnn1* corresponding chromosome region on 7AL.

As a result of fixing the population for the 2BS and 6DS, single marker regression identified 100 markers with linkage to *P. thornei* resistance. Fifteen chromosome regions were identified with markers associated to *P. thornei* resistance located on chromosomes 1B, 2A, 2B, 2D, 3A, 3D, 4A, 5A, 5B, 5D, 6B, 6D, 7A, 7B and 7D. Markers on the five chromosomes, 2B, 2D, 3A, 5B and 6B were significantly linked to resistance. Marker regression did not identify resistance associations to the *Vrn1A*, *Vrn1B* or *Vrn1D* markers on chromosomes 5A, 5B and 5D.

QTL analysis on the population fixed for the highly significant *QRInt.sk-6D* and *QRInt.sk-2B*, identified an additional six significant and four suggestive QTL associated with *P. thornei* resistance on 5 different chromosomes (Fig. 5). Two significant QTL on chromosome 2B with *QRInt.sk-2B.2* linked to *wPt-0950* (LRS = 11.3) and *wPt-9736* (LRS = 11) and *QRInt.sk-2B.3* linked to *gwm47* (LRS = 10.1) with both explaining 2% of the phenotypic variation and spanning 50 cM. Both *QRInt.sk-2B.2* and *QRInt.sk-2B.3* were inherited from Krichauff. A significant QTL on 2D linked to *wPt-0184* (LRS = 11.1) explaining another 2% of the phenotypic variation and spanning 57 cM was also inherited from Krichauff. A significant QTL on 3A, *QRInt.sk-3A*, linked to *wPt-5171* (LRS = 8.6) explaining 2% phenotypic variation and spanning 68 cM and a significant QTL on 6B linked to markers *wPt-4648* (LRS = 15.8) and *wPt-2564* (LRS = 15) explaining 4% phenotypic variation and spanning 60 cM were inherited from Sokoll. A significant QTL inherited from Sokoll was also identified on chromosome 5B, *QRInt.sk-5B.1*, linked to *wPt-0334* (LRS = 9.7) explaining 2% phenotypic variation and spanning 32 cM (Fig. 5).

Two suggestive QTL on 2B, *QRInt.sk-2B.4 and QRInt.sk-2B.5* were both inherited from Krichauff and span 50 cM and 53 cM respectively. *QRInt.sk-2B.4* is linked to *tPt-9065* (LRS = 6.2) and *QRInt.sk-2B.5* to *wPt-4997* (LRS = 7.2) and *wPt-9098* (LRS = 7.2) explaining 1% and 2% of the phenotypic variation, respectively. Two suggestive QTL were also identified on chromosome 5B. *QRInt.sk-5B.2* is linked to *wPt-5896* (LRS = 7.3) and *QRInt.sk-5B.3* to *barc128b* (LRS = 4.2) explaining 2% and 1% of phenotypic variation, respectively (Fig. 5). A summary of identified *P. thornei* resistance QTL and their closely linked and flanking markers is summarised in Table 1.
Table 1 QTL associated with Pratylenchus thornei resistance identified in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. The donor parent (Inherited Origin), the chromosomal location of QTL, the species (Pt - P.thornei), flanking and most closely linked markers, percentage of phenotypic variation (% Var) explained, likelihood ratio statistic (LRS) and QTL width (cM) is presented

QTL	Inherited	Chromosome	Species	Flanking	Linked Markers	% Var	LRS	QTL Width
	Origin			Markers				(cM)
QRInt.sk-6D	Sokoll	6DS	Pt	653	gpw5182	43	82.9	119.0
				gpw5182	gpw4357			
				cfd132	barc183			
QRInt.sk-2B.1	Sokoll	2BS	Pt	wmc764	wmc382	24	39.9	101.4
				wPt-5728	gwm614			
QRInt.sk-4A	Krichauff	4A	Pt	wPt-2836	wPt-6502	6	8.2	59.8
				wPt-3810				
QRInt.sk-5A	Krichauff	5A	Pt	wPt-4131	wPt-5588	6	9.1	97.2
				wPt-3187				
				wPt-1422				
QRInt.sk-7A*	Sokoll	7A	Pt	wPt-3992	wPt-3992	4	5.9	-
$\Omega R \ln t  \mathrm{sk} - 2R  2^{\ell}$	Krichauff	2B	Pt	cfd70	wPt-0950	2	11.3	47 6
QTUIN.OK ZD.Z	Kilonaan	20	11	wPt_0047	WPt-0736	2	11.0	47.0
				WF (-0047	WF1-9750	2	11.0	
QRInt.sk-2B.3 <sup>f</sup>	Krichauff	2B	Pt	barc167	gwm47	2	10.1	49.9
				cfd70	wmc175	2	9.3	
QRInt.sk-2B.4* <sup>f</sup>	Krichauff	2B	Pt	wPt-1148	tpt-9065	1	6.2	50.1
				barc91				
QRInt.sk-2B.5*	Krichauff	2B	Pt	cfd238	wPt-4997	2	7.2	53.2
				wmc770	wPt-9098	2	7.2	
	Kalabaraff	00	<b>D</b> (	07		0		F7 4
QRINT.SK-2D	Krichauff	20	Pt	WMC27	WPt-0184	2	11.1	57.4
				WPT-7400				
QRInt.sk-3A <sup>f</sup>	Sokoll	3A	Pt	wPt-2866	wPt-5171	2	8.6	68.1
				wmc364				
QRInt.sk-5B.1 <sup>f</sup>	Sokoll	5B	Pt	wPt-7006	wPt-0334	2	9.7	44.9
				wPt-4986				
QRInt.sk-5B.2 <sup>*f</sup>	Sokoll	5B	Pt	cfd70	wPt-5896	2	7.3	32.0
				wPt-1881				
QRInt.sk-5B.3 <sup>⁵</sup>	Sokoll	5B	Pt	barc128	barc128	1	4.4	33.7
				wmc477				
QRInt.sk-6B <sup>f</sup>	Sokoll	6B	Pt	wPt-3402	wPt-4648	4	15.8	59.7
				wPt-3284	wPt-2564	4	15.0	

\* Below significance threshold <sup>f</sup> Fixed for 2Bs and 6DS

**Table 2** Previously mapped *Pratylenchus* resistance QTL in wheat. The table shows the donor parent (Inherited Origin), the chromosomal location of the resistance QTL (Chromosome/QTL), the *Pratylenchus* species (*Pt - Pratylenchus thornei* or *Pn - Pratylenchus neglectus*), the flanking markers, the percentage of phenotypic variation (% Var) explained by the QTL and the likelihood ratio statistic (LRS)

Reference	Inherited Origin	Chromosome/QTL	Species	Flanking Markers	% Var	LRS
Thompson et al. 1999	GS50a	6D	Pt	np	np	np
& Vicars et al. 1999						
Williams et al. 2002	Excalibur	7A	Pn	AGC/CCT179	8	20.8
				cdo347		
				psr121		
				psr680		
				schfc3		
Zwart et al. 2005	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-6D.1	Pt	barc183	22-24	23.9-42.5
				barc173		
	Janz	QRInn.Irc-6D.1	Pn	barc183	11-14	17.3-17.8
				barc173		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-2B.1*	Pt	wmc25	7	15.2
				wmc154		
	CPI133872	QRInn.Irc-2B.1*	Pn	wmc25	7-11	9.4-12.4
				wmc154		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-6D.2*	Pt	gdm98	8-13	16.5-24.6
				gpw95010		
				barc21		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-6A.1*	Pt	psp3029	9	11.3-11.7
				gwm459		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-3D.1*	Pn	gwm161	11	12.6
				gwm183		
				gwm664		
	CPI133872	QRInt.Irc-4B.1*	Pn	gwm66	10	17.2
				wmc47		
	Janz	QRInt.Irc-4D.1	Pn	wmc52	10-15	11.6-15.8
				wmc331		
				barc98		
Schmidt et al. 2005	AUS13124	2B	Pt	gwm319	6-13	9.4-13.7
				gwm494.2		
				ACT/CTC.1		
				gwm191.2		
	AUS13124	6D*	Pt	gwm469	4-6	4.9-9.3
				gdm36		
				gwm518		
				gdm132		
	AUS13124	3B*	Pt	gwm133	7-24	5.2-20.1
				gwm340.2		
	AUS13124	1B*	Pt	gwm153.1	3-6	3.3-3.6
				gwm153.2		
	AUS4926	3B	Pt	gwm112.2	36	10.3
				gwm66.1		
				gwm213.2		
				gwm133.1		
				AGC/CAT.1		
	AUS4926	2B*	Pt	wmc25.5	2-3	2.7-3.4
				wmc25.4		
			_	gwm428		
	AUS4926	6D*	Pt	gdm98.1	2-2	2.6-2.7
				gdm98.2		
				gdm132		

|--|

Reference	Inherited Origin	Chromosome/QTL	Species	Flanking Markers	% Var	LRS
Zwart et al. 2006	W-7984	6DS	Pt	psr964	11-23	4.4-8.5
				psr889		
				barc183		
	W-7984	2BS	Pt	cdo447	19-5	2.0-7.4
				bcd348		
				gwm210		
Zwart et al. 2010	CPI133872	6DS	Pt	barc183	18-27	28.1-46.5
				cfd49		
				cfd135		
	Janz	6DS	Pn	barc183	9	10.6-17.9
				cfd49		
				cfd135		
	CPI133872	6DL	Pt	gdm98	6-15	11.0-23.5
				gpw95010		
				barc21		
	CPI133872	2B	Pt	wPt-2410	13-22	19.8-36.3
				wPt-6706		
				wPt-6311		
				wPt-8737		
	CPI133872	2B	Pn	wPt-2410	11-16	12.4-27.6
				wPt-6706		
				wPt-6311		
				wPt-8737		
	CPI133872	3D	Pn	gwm2	8	15.6
				gwm664		
				gwm314		
	CPI133872	4B	Pn	gwm368	13	25.3
				gwm66		
				wmc47		
	CPI133872	4D	Pn	wPt-5809	13	24.4
				wPt-431		

np - not provided

\* - below the significance threshold

**Table 3** Wheat populations with previously mapped *Pratylenchus* resistance QTL. The parents of the mapping population (Population), its size and the number and type of markers are shown. The genomic coverage of each map and the map resolution (average marker density as markers per cM) is provided

Reference	Population	Size	Number of Markers	Type of Markers	Map coverage (cM)	Marker Density (cM/marker)
Schmidt et al. 2005	AUS13124 x Janz	126 DH	114	108 Microsatellite	1987	17.0
				6 AFLP		
	AUS4926 x Janz	126 DH	148	135 Microsatellite	3229	22.0
				13 AFLP		
Zwart et al. 2005	CPI133872 x Janz	100 DH	169	148 Microsatellite	2570	15.9
				21 AFLP		
	(ITMI) W-7984 x					
Zwart et al. 2006	Opata85	150 RIL	537	Microsatellite	np	np
				RFLP		
Zwart et al. 2010	CPI133872 x Janz	111 DH	384	242 DArT	1521	3.9
				125 Microsatellite		
				17 AFLP		
Linsell et al. 2011c	Sokoll x Krichauff	150 DH	971	860 DArT	3477	3.6
				111 Microsatellite		

np - not provided

**Table 4** Common markers linked to *QRInt.sk-6D* and *QRInt.sk-2B* and other wheat pathogen resistance genes. The table shows the disease and its causal pathogen, the resistance gene, the associated chromosome (Chr) and the most closely linked molecular markers

<i>P. thornei</i> Resistance QTL	Disease	Pathogen	Gene	Chr	Linked Markers	Reference
QRInt.sk-6D	Hessian Fly	Mayetiola destructor	H13	6DS	cfd132	Liu et al. 2005
	Hessian Fly	Mayetiola destructor	H23		gam36 ksuG48	Ma et al. 1987
	<i>Septoria tritici</i> Blotch	Mycosphaerella graminicola (Anamorph: Septoria tritici)	Stb3	6DS	gdm132	Adhikari et al. 2004
	Wheat Curl Mite	Aceria tosichella	Cmc	6DS	ksuG48 gdm141	Malik et al. 2003
	Stem Rust	Puccinia graminis	SrCad Sr42 Sr5	6DS 6DS 6DS	cfd49 na barc183 wpPt- 3879	Hiebert et al. 2011 McIntosh et al. 1995 Prins et al. 2011, Sears 1957
QRInt.sk-2B.1	Stem Rust	Puccinia graminis	Sr40 Sr23	2BS 2BS	wmc661 wmc764 gwm210 gwm614 wmc489 barc35	Wu et al. 2009 McCartney et al. 2005
	Leaf Rust	Puccinia triticina	Lr16	2BS	wmc661 wmc764 gwm210	McCartney et al. 2005
			Lr35/Sr39	2BS	na	Gold et al. 1999
	Common Bunt	Tilletia tritici	Bt10	2BS	FSD_RS A	Menzies et al. 2006 Laroche et al. 2000
	Orange Wheat Blossom Midge	Sitodiplosis mosellana	Sm1	2BS	gwm210 barc35	Thomas et al. 2005
QRInt.sk-2B.3	Leaf Rust	Puccinia triticina	Lr50	2B	gwm382 gdm87	Brown-Guedira et al. 2003
	Stem Rust	Puccinia graminis	Sr36	2B	gwm319 wmc477 gwm429	Tsilo et al. 2008
	Stem Rust/ Stripe Rust	Puccinia graminis/ Puccinia striiformis	Sr28 Sr16 Sr9/Yr5/Yr7	2B 2B 2B	na na gwm47 gwm120 barc101 wmc175	McIntosh 1978 McIntosh 1978 Tsilo et al. 2007
	Stripe Rust	Puccinia striiformis	QYrlu.cau- 2BS2	2B	wmc148 barc167	Smith et al. 2007
		0.12 - 22 - 22	QYrac.cau-2BL	2B	wmc175 wmc332	Smith et al. 2007
	Stagonospor a nodorum blotch	Stagonospora nodorum	QTL	2B	gwm120	Czembor et al. 2003

#### Table 4 Continued

<i>P. thornei</i> Resistance QTL	Disease	Pathogen	Gene	Chr	Linked Markers	Reference
QRInt.sk-2B.3	Black Point	Stagonospora	QTL	2B	gwm319	Lehmensick et al.
		nodorum			gwm271	2004
					gwm501	
	Powdery	Blumeria graminis	Pm6	2B	bcd135	Tao et al. 2000
	Mildew				bcd266	
					bcd301	
			QPm.vt-2B/	2B	gwm47	Liu et al. 2001,
			QPm.inra.2B QYrlu.cau-		cfd267	Bougot et al. 2006
QRInt.sk-2B.5	Stripe Rust	Puccinia	2BS1	2B	wmc154	Smith et al. 2007
		striiformis			barc200	
QRInt.sk-2B.4	Stripe Rust	Puccinia	Yr27/Yr31	2B	cdo405	McDonald et al. 2004
		striiformis	Yr41	2B	gwm410	Lou et al. 2008
					gwm374	
			Qyr.sgi-2B	2B	gwm148	Ramburan et al. 2004
			Qyr.ipk-2B	2B	cdo405	Boukhatem et al.
					bcd152	2002
			Qyr.inra-2B	2B	gwm148	Mallard et al. 2005
	Leaf /Stem Rust	Puccinia triticina/	Lr23/Lr13/Sr19	2B	tam72/	Nelson et al. 1997,
		Puccinia graminis			gwm630	Seyfarth et al. 2000
	Stem Rust	Puccinia graminis	Sr36	2B	gwm271	Parker 1998
					stm773	
					gwm148	
					barc55	
	Powdery Mildew	Blumeria graminis	Pm42	2B	gwm148	Hua et al. 2009
					wmc154	

#### Discussion

The 6D and 2B resistance loci are widespread in both Middle Eastern landraces and synthetic hexaploid wheats, as in six out of the seven previous *P. thornei* resistance mapping studies, significant resistance QTL were identified on chromosome 6D and in four studies also on chromosome 2B (Schmidt et al. 2005; Thompson et al. 1999; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2010; Zwart et al. 2006). Two highly significant *P. thornei* QTL identified in this study co-located to the same 2BS and 6DS chromosomal regions previously linked to *P. thornei* resistance. This validates their robustness as useful sources of resistance in different germplasm but also indicates a possible common biological/biochemical resistance mechanism. The sizes of these QTL are currently quite large (40 to 60 cM) and this needs to be considered when comparing QTL locations.

Through the comparison of common markers in the different published genetic maps, the 6DS QTL identified in this study, QRInt.sk-6D, appears to map to the same location as identified by Zwart et al. (2005; 2006; 2010) and Schmidt et al. (2005), as one of the most closely linked markers in this study, barc183, was also significantly linked to P. thornei resistance (Table 1). The 6DS QTL identified by Zwart et al. (2006) in the synthetic hexaploid International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population, derived from a cross between the synthetic W-7984 and the spring wheat Opata 85, resides near RFLP bcd1821 (Table 2) and SSR barc183b (Zwart et al. 2006), and thus appears to coincide with QRInt.sk-6D. The major P. thornei resistance QTL on 6DS identified by Zwart et al. (2005; 2010) was also linked to barc183, in the synthetic hexaploid wheat population CPI133872 crossed with the susceptible Australian bread wheat cultivar Janz. This QTL was also associated with P. neglectus resistance, where barc183 was inherited from Janz (Table 2). A link between this marker locus and P. neglectus resistance was not detected in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. In addition, the segregating *RInn1* locus did not contribute to *P. thornei* resistance. These findings imply that the P. neglectus resistance allele or gene near barc183 found in CPI133872 x Janz (Zwart et al. 2005) is different to the resistance gene present in Sokoll or Krichauff. Furthermore, the resistance mechanism controlled by RInn1 must be different to the barc183-linked resistance gene as RInn1 appears to have no contribution to P. thornei resistance in our study. Zwart et al. (2005) reported a second P. thornei resistance QTL on the long arm of 6D that explained up to 14% of the phenotypic variation (Table 2), although, the corresponding region in the Sokoll x Krichauff population was not associated to P. thornei resistance.

Schmidt et al. (2005) also identified *P. thornei* resistance QTL in the same location as the *QRInt.sk-6D* identified in this study, when investigating two Middle Eastern landraces with

superior *P. thornei* resistance, AUS13124 and AUS4926 (Seymour and Thompson 2001) crossed with Janz (Schmidt et al. 2005). The map generated with less than 150 AFLP and SSR markers identified a 6D QTL but it did not pass the significance threshold in either population. However, its presence was confirmed using single marker regression with SSR markers *gwm469*, *gwm518* and *gdm132* all showing significant linkage (Table 2). In Sokoll x Krichauff, the markers *gwm469* and *gdm132* were closely linked to the *QRInt.sk-6D* QTL (Fig. 4). In addition, the screening of the Middle Eastern synthetic AUS4930 x Pastor (Toktay et al. 2006) also revealed the presence of a 6DS QTL in a similar region to the *QRInt.sk-6D* in Sokoll x Krichauff as determined by linkage with marker *gwm469*. The microsatellite markers linked to resistance QTL identified in this study and in other genetic backgrounds highlights their usefulness for marker-assisted selection of *P. thornei* resistance.

All of these previously identified 6DS QTL regions explained less than 25% of phenotypic variation (Table 3), but in this current investigation the *QRInt.sk-6D* explains nearly 50% of the variation. Multiple alleles of the same gene or different genes clustered at the *QRInt.sk-6D* QTL locus may be associated with resistance in the different resistance sources. The presence of different alleles or genes at this locus and the small number of markers in earlier studies could explain the different level of phenotypic variations demonstrated by the apparent same locus.

Previous mapping studies have also identified significant *P. thornei* resistance QTL on 2BS from three different sources (Table 2). The location of the highly significant 2BS QTL, *QRInt.sk-2B.1* identified in this study co-locates with the 2BS QTL identified by Zwart et al. (2006) when comparing the locations of common markers. In the synthetic W-7984 x Opata85 (ITMI) population, a 2BS QTL explaining up to 19% of the variation, enclosed SSR marker *gwm210* (Table 2), which in this investigation lies within the *QRInt.sk-2B.1* QTL (Fig. 4). Toktay et al. (2006) also showed the presence of this 2BS QTL in the Middle Eastern synthetic AUS4930 x Pastor with linkage to *gwm614*.

Two significant QTL for *P. thornei* resistance were also identified on chromosomes 4A and 5A (Table 1) in this investigation. No previous studies have identified QTL on these chromosomes through QTL mapping. However, Zwart et al. (2005) and Schmidt et al. (2005) identified markers linked to 5A with single marker regression analysis. The marker *gwm304* associated with *P. thornei* resistance on 5A (Zwart et al. 2005) maps within 2 cM to both *barc360* and *barc165* (Appels 2004), which fall within the 5A QTL in this investigation. Schmidt et al. (2005) identified linkage to 5A through marker *gwm126*, which maps 4 cM from *barc360* (Song et al. 2005). This suggests previous studies also identified resistance associated with the 5A QTL identified here. A suggestive QTL, contributed by Sokoll, was

detected on 7A (LRS = 5.9). Zwart et al. (2005) and Schmidt et al. (2005) also identified markers linked to 7A through marker regression analysis. However, no comparisons could be drawn on chromosome location as there were no common markers.

Several QTL identified after fixing the population for the highly significant QTL on 2B and 6D also co-locate to previously identified P. thornei resistance QTL. The QRInt.sk-2B.3 inherited from Krichauff is linked to the P. thornei resistance QTL identified by Schmidt et al. (2005), from the landrace AUS13124, on chromosome 2B. The SSR markers linked to this QTL, gwm191 and gwm319 (Table 2), were not polymorphic when scored on Sokoll x Krichauff. However, the markers barc167 and gwm47, positioned within QRInt.sk-2B.3, (Fig. 5) reside 2 and 4 cM, respectively, from gwm191 and gwm319 (Somers et al. 2004). Although only suggestive in the Sokoll x Krichauff population, QRInt.sk-2B.5 appears to map in the same location as the two other 2BS QTL identified in CPI133872 (Zwart et al. 2005) and AUS4926 (Schmidt et al. 2005). The CPI133872 QTL on 2BS had resistance to both P. thornei and P. neglectus in the CPI133872 x Janz population, but it fell below the significance threshold. Single regression analysis showed that the SSR marker wmc25 was significantly associated with P. thornei resistance and mapped to the QTL region (Zwart et al. 2004) (Table 2). Through single marker regression, Schmidt et al. (2005) also identified a 2BS QTL linked to wmc25 from the Middle Eastern landrace AUS4926, but the QTL was not detected by interval mapping. The SSR marker wmc25 in this investigation was polymorphic between the parents Sokoll and Krichauff but was not part of any linkage group. However, the QRInt.sk-2B.5 linked markers wmc154, barc200 and barc318 (Fig. 5) reside within a 2.5 cM interval of wmc25 according to other published maps (Sourdille et al. 2004). Therefore, both QRInt.sk-2B.5 and QRInt.sk-2B.3 reside within 2BS regions previously identified as linked to P. thornei resistance. The P. thornei resistance QTL on chromosomes 2D, 3A, 5B and 6B in addition to the QRInt.sk-2B.2 and QRInt.sk-2B.4 identified after fixing the population for the 2BS and 6DS QTL have not been previously reported. The identification of multiple QTL all contributing small amounts to the resistance phenotype further confirms the complexity of Pratylenchus resistance.

Diversity Array Technology has become the marker method of choice for constructing maps, due to the density of markers and the high data quality it generates. For example, the Sokoll x Krichauff map generated in this investigation using DArT gave greater genome coverage and marker density than compared to other maps constructed using more traditional marker systems (Table 3). However, marker density can only be increased if DNA polymorphisms exist between elite lines. For example, the analysis of a Berkut x Krichauff DH population for salinity tolerance using the wheat DArT array version 3.0. identified 311 DArT polymorphisms (Genc et al. 2010). In the investigation reported here, 889 polymorphisms were detected

using a similar array on Sokoll x Krichauff. The differences in the number of polymorphisms suggests a lack of genetic diversity in modern hexaploid wheats and the benefits of synthetics using crosses with wild wheat relatives to identify unique sources of resistance. Although DArT technology has helped increase the resolution of genetic maps, it is a dominant marker system relying on the presence or absence of a hybridisation signal, and thus cannot distinguish homozygous and heterozygous individuals. DArT markers tend to form clusters and thus are not evenly distributed across the genome which could potentially be an issue (Francki et al. 2009). In addition, before these markers can be utilised they need to be converted to user friendly PCR based markers which is not always successful and can be both timely and costly. DArT has the potential to overcome several restrictions through the development of codominant scoring by taking into account the strength of the signal for each DArT marker and through the generation of new algorithms (James et al. 2008). This improvement will make this technology more adaptable and informative.

Transgressive segregation refers to the presence of phenotypes that exceed those of either parental line. It is thought to result from combinations of alleles of both parents that provide complementary gene action. The inheritance of *P. thornei* resistance is conditioned by additive gene action, shown by Zwart et al. (2004) with crosses between the most resistant parents producing even more resistant progeny. In this study, the cross between Sokoll and Krichauff resulted in transgressive segregation in both directions with lines with greater and weaker resistance than either parent. Transgressive segregation is supported by the presence of other significant QTL - *QRInt.sk-2B.2*, *QRInt.sk-2B.3*, *QRInt.sk-2B.4*, *QRInt.sk-2B.5*, *QRInt.sk-2D*, *QRInt.sk-4A* and *QRInt.sk-5A* from Krichauff - in addition to the highly significant 6DS and 2BS QTL. Due to the additive nature of *P. thornei* resistance, the 20 lines with superior resistance to Sokoll contain the 6D and 2B loci from Sokoll and/or the resistance loci from Krichauff.

Despite the development of DNA quantification methods which can more easily and reliably detect and quantify *Pratylenchus* within soil and roots, phenotypic resistance analysis remains cumbersome in comparison to genetic selection. For example, while there was good correlation between the *P. thornei* DNA means of each line between the two trials, there was large variation between the sample replicates themselves. This variability is most likely incurred due to the difficulties associated with *Pratylenchus* phenotyping/inoculation methods (Barloy et al. 2000; Proctor and Marks 1974; Williams et al. 2002). Variation was minimised through using five replicates for each line, the more objective DNA quantitative technique and through the use of permutation testing at significant thresholds. Resistance markers linked to the major 2B and 6D resistance QTL through marker assisted selection (MAS) eliminates the need to select progeny lines based on their phenotypes, enhancing resistant wheat breeding programs. MAS can be used to help identify resistant progeny lines when

129

this resistance is being introgressed into commercial cultivars through selective backcrossing but also helps identify new and valuable wild alleles in tested germplasm. MAS can also be applied in the selective pyramiding of several different *P. thornei* resistance genes. Minor *P. thornei* resistance QTL can also be useful for breeding if they are linked to and contribute to resistance and are stable across genotypes. Genotypic selection with closely linked markers is valuable as it can minimise the linkage drag effect, which prevents unfavourable alleles being introgressed along with the desired resistance.

To successfully implement MAS in a plant breeding program, the identified molecular markers need to be tightly linked, reliable across genotypes and cost-efficient. Currently, the QTL intervals of the QRInt.sk-2B.1 and QRInt.sk-6D span over 100 cM and thus require further refinement to establish more closely linked markers. This could be achieved through fine mapping a recombinant inbred line population which has already been established for Sokoll x Krichauff. Although these two QTL have been previously identified in different mapping populations, (Schmidt et al. 2005; Thompson et al. 1999; Toktay et al. 2006; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2010; Zwart et al. 2006), all phenotypic data has been generated from glasshouse trials. A subset of the Sokoll x Krichauff DH lines (ten lines) from each of the four genotypic groups based on whether they contained both resistant QTL (2B and 6D), only the 2B QTL, only the 6D QTL and lines with neither QTL were assessed in the field. The 40 lines were screened for Pratylenchus resistance in the field in 2010 at two sites in Australia (South Australia and Victoria). The mean amount of *P. thornei* DNA was quantified using the SARDI Root Disease Testing Service. All lines reduced P. thornei numbers below the initial soil population level but lines with both resistance QTL supported the least amount of nematode reproduction followed by the lines with 6D and 2B QTL only. All of these had significantly less reproduction than lines with neither QTL (A. Mckay, personal communication). Therefore, the resistance of Sokoll x Krichauff observed in the glasshouse trials is upheld in the field, further validating the usefulness of these identified resistant QTL.

Resistance genes have been shown to cluster (Williamson and Hussey 1996) and particularly at the ends of chromosomes in many plants (Li et al. 1999), which are gene rich regions (Gill et al. 1993). For example, the root knot nematode resistance gene *Mi1.2* and the potato cyst nematode resistance gene *HeroA* are found in clusters of seven and fourteen homologous copies, respectively. Both highly significant QTL in this study are located at the distal chromosome ends. The SSR markers which are linked to *QRInt.sk-6D*, *cfd49*, *gpw4357*, *cfd135*, *gpw5182*, *gwm469*, *gpw1034*, *cfd213*, *gdm36* and *cfd132* have been physically mapped using deletion lines to the deletion bin 6DS-6-0.99-1.00 at the very end of 6D (Sourdille et al. 2004). This region is known to contain five putative resistance gene analogues (Dilbirligi et al. 2004). The SSR marker *gwm210* linked to *QRInt.sk-2B.1* was

mapped to the 2BS-4-0.84-1.00 deletion bin (Sourdille et al. 2004), which contains eight putative resistance gene analogues (Dilbirligi et al. 2004).

Clustering of resistance genes (and linked markers) implies that they may share a common mechanism regarding their evolution (Kanazin et al. 1996) and thus the co-location of QTL/genes can identify plant pathways to help characterise the biological and biochemical resistance. The co-location of QTL for resistance to various pathogens may indicate that the locus has pleiotropic effects due to a common resistance mechanism or that multiple resistance genes are located at the same locus. Wheat resistance genes have been shown to cluster on chromosomes in the highly recombinant subtelomeric ends (Botella et al. 1998; Halterman et al. 2001; Meyers et al. 1999; Sakamoto et al. 1999) and thus many marker loci linked to known resistance genes for various plant pathogenic diseases have been mapped in the short arms of the 2B and 6D chromosomal regions as summarised in Table 4. For example, the H13 gene controlling resistance to hessian fly of wheat is completely linked to cfd132 and very closely linked to gdm36 (Gill et al. 1987; Liu et al. 2005), which flank the QRInt.sk-6D QTL in this study. The physical location of H13 has been mapped proximal and close to the breakpoint of bin 6DS-6-0.99-1.00. The H13 resistance is conferred by antibiosis where first stage larvae die after feeding on toxic compounds within resistant plants (El Bouhssini et al. 1999; Gill et al. 1987; Hatchett and Gill 1981; Hatchett et al. 1981; Ratcliffe and Hatchett 1997). This phenomenon is similar to the presence of toxic nematostatic compounds and hatching inhibitors linked to reduced P. thornei motility, moulting and hatching observed in resistant roots of the Sokoll x Krichauff population (Linsell et al. 2012b).

In addition, several other defense response and resistance genes including peroxidases and phenolic compounds also co-locate to the QRInt.sk-6D and QRInt.sk-2B.1 QTL. The genes, *Ppo* for polyphenol oxidase and the *Rip*, ribosome inactivating protein map closely to RFLP ksuG48a (Li et al. 1999; Malik et al. 2003), which lies between gdm141 and gdm132 (Pestsova et al. 2000) that fall within the QRInt.sk-6D QTL. Polyphenol oxidase catalyses the oxidation of polyphenols in wheat to quinines, through non-enzymatic oxidation and polymerization, to produce brown coloured melanins (Stauffer 1987). Increased production of peroxidases has been observed in resistant cultivars in response to various different Pratylenchus species and in some cases were associated with suppression of nematode feeding and migration (Acedo and Rhode 1971; Andres et al. 2001; Nithya et al. 2007). Increased production of peroxidase, polyphenol oxidase and phenylalanine ammonia lyase has been associated with wheat resistance to the cyst nematode Heterodera avenae (Deepika et al. 2009). In addition, the gene Sm1 that confers resistance to orange wheat blossom midge (Thomas et al. 2005) is associated with the marker locus gwm210a which falls within QRInt.sk-2B.1. The Sm1 resistance has been linked to increased levels of ferulic acid in the outer layer of the wheat grain to provide a physical barrier against insect invasion

131

through covalently binding to cell wall polysaccharides. Similarly, resistance to the migratory nematode, *R. similis* was associated with ferulic acid (Wuyts et al. 2007), acting as a physical mechanism to protect cell walls from nematode-secreted cell wall degrading enzymes (Hartley and Jones 1977) and thus prevent nematode migration and feeding. Therefore, based on co-location with the *QRInt.sk-6D* and *QRInt.sk-2B.1* identified in this study, the production and/or the action of phenolic compounds may be involved in resistance to *P. thornei* and explain the reduced motility and migration observed by Linsell et al. (2012b).

Several stripe, stem and leaf rust resistance genes map to the 2B *P. thornei* resistance QTL identified in this study (Bariana et al. 2001; Dundas et al. 2007; Kolmer 1996; Leonova et al. 2007; Luo et al. 2008) (Table 4). For example, the *Sr40* stem rust gene (Wu et al. 2009) and the leaf rust, *Puccinia triticina*, resistance locus *Lr16* (McCartney et al. 2005) map closely to *Rlnt.sk-2B.1*. The *QRlnt.sk-2B.5* chromosome region contains a stripe rust resistance QTL linked to *wmc154* and *barc200* (Smith et al. 2007). The *QRlnt.sk-2B.3* further along the 2B chromosome is also densely mapped with rust resistance including the stripe rust genes *Yr5* and *Yr7* (Tsilo et al. 2007), the stem rust genes *Sr9* and *Sr36* (Tsilo et al. 2007, 2008) and the leaf rust gene *Lr50* (Brown-Guedira et al. 2003). Although to date little is known about the resistance mechanisms of these rust loci, future investigations could reveal important linkages to *P. thornei* resistance. In addition, if these co-located QTL are robust across environments then they will be useful for the introgression of multiple pathogen resistance.

In summary, two highly significant P. thornei resistance QTL were identified on chromosomes 2BS and 6DS, QRInt.sk-2B.1 and QRInt.sk-6D, which mapped to locations previously identified to be associated with *Pratylenchus* resistance (Schmidt et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2005; Zwart et al. 2010; Zwart et al. 2006). These QTL account for a large portion of the resistance observed, which shows that in this population the Sokoll derived resistance to P. thornei is very strong and is controlled by a few loci with large effects. The phenotypic variation explained by these resistance QTL is much larger than previously reported for other Pratylenchus resistance QTL in wheat. Several other QTL on chromosomes 2B, 2D, 3A, 4A, 5A, 5B and 6B all accounted for a small percentage (1 to 6%) of P. thornei resistance, indicating the complexity of resistance. Comparison of maps using common markers revealed more than ten SSR markers within and flanking the QRInt.sk-2B.1 and QRInt.sk-6D QTL that were associated with known resistance genes to other plant pathogens. Investigation of resistance from a functional point of view will identify how these resistance genes play specific roles in the suppression of nematode development. The linkage of SSR marker locus barc183 to QRInt.sk-6D has previously been reported to be associated with P. thornei resistance in other mapping studies in populations of different genetic backgrounds. This highlights the potential benefit of this marker for use in

locus/marker assisted selection. Fine mapping to delimit the resistance QTL identified in this study will enable the development of tightly linked markers which through MAS, will greatly accelerate the development of new *P. thornei* resistant cultivars.

## Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) through a Grains Industry Research Scholarship to K.J. Linsell. The project was also supported by the South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) and Molecular Plant Breeding Cooperative Research Centre (MPBCRC).

The authors would like to thank K. Willsmore for MapManger QTX training, to the SARDI Nematology Group, especially D. Pounsett for assistance with culturing of the nematodes and I. Riley at SARDI and K. Davies at The University of Adelaide for manuscript editing.

# References

Abawi GS, Vanetten HD, Mai WF (1971) Phaseollin production induced by *Pratylenchus penetrans* in *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Journal of Nematology 3:301

Acedo JR, Rhode RA (1971) Histochemical root pathology of *Brassica oleracea* capitata L. infected by *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Cobb) Filipjev and Schuurmans Stekhoven (Nematoda:Tylenchidae). Journal of Nematology 3:62-68

Akbari M, Wenzl P, Caig V, Carling J, Xia L, Yang SY, Uszynski G, Mohler V, Lehmensiek A, Kuchel H, Hayden MJ, Howes N, Sharp P, Vaughan P, Rathmell B, Huttner E, Kilian A (2006) Diversity arrays technology (DArT) for high-throughput profiling of the hexaploid wheat genome. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 113:1409-1420

Andres MF, Melillo MT, Delibes A, Romero MD, Bleve-Zacheo T (2001) Changes in wheat root enzymes correlated with resistance to cereal cyst nematodes. New Phytologist 152:343-354

Appels R (2004) Wheat Composite, *Triticum aestivum* (Wheat ABD).

http://wheat.pw.usda.gov

Bariana HS, Hayden MJ, Ahmed NU, Bell JA, Sharp PJ, McIntosh RA (2001) Mapping of durable adult plant and seedling resistances to stripe rust and stem rust diseases in wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 52:1247-1255

Barloy D, Lemoine J, Dredryver F, Jahier J (2000) Molecular markers linked to the *Aegilops variabilis*-derived root-knot nematode resistance gene *Rkn-mn1* in wheat. Plant Breeding 119:169-172

Botella MA, Parker JE, Frost LN, Bittner-Eddy PD, Beynon JL, Daniels MJ, Holub EB, Jones JDG (1998) Three genes of the arabidopsis *RPP1* complex resistance locus recognize distinct *Peronospora parasitica* avirulence determinants. Plant Cell 10:1847-1860

Bougot Y, Lemoine J, Pavoine MT, Guyomar H, Gautier V, Muranty H, Barloy D (2006) A major QTL effect controlling resistance to powdery mildew in winter wheat at the adult plant stage. Plant Breeding 125:550-556

Boukhatem N, Baret PV, Mingeot D, Jacquemin JM (2002) Quantitative trait loci for resistance against yellow rust in two wheat-derived recombinant inbred line populations. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 104:111-118

Breiman A, Graur D (1995) Wheat Evolution. Israel Journal of Plant Sciences 43:85-98 Brown-Guedira GL, Singh S, Fritz AK (2003) Performance and mapping of leaf rust resistance transferred to wheat from *Triticum timopheevii* subsp *armeniacum*. Phytopathology 93:784-789

Czembor PC, Arseniuk E, Czaplicki A, Song QJ, Cregan PB, Ueng PP (2003) QTL mapping of partial resistance in winter wheat to *Stagonospora nodorum* blotch. Genome 46:546-554 Deepika R, Pankaj, Gaurav SS, Anil S, Tomar SMS (2009) Biochemical basis of resistance in wheat on inoculation with cereal cyst nematode, *Heterodera avenae*. Indian Journal of Nematology 39:142-147

Dilbirligi M, Erayman M, Sandhu D, Sidhu D, Gill KS (2004) Identification of wheat chromosomal regions containing expressed resistance genes. Genetics 166 461-481 Dundas IS, Anugrahwati DR, Verlin DC, Park RF, Bariana HS, Mago R, Islam A (2007) New sources of rust resistance from alien species: Meliorating linked defects and discovery. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 58:545-549

El Bouhssini M, Hatchett JH, Wilde GE (1999) Hessian fly (Diptera: Cecidomyiidae) larval survival as affected by wheat resistance alleles, temperature and larval density. Journal of Agricultural and Urban Entomology 16:245-254

Francki MG, Walker E, Crawford AC, Broughton S, Ohm HW, Barclay I, Wilson RE, McLean R (2009) Comparison of genetic and cytogenetic maps of hexaploid wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) using SSR and DArT markers. Molecular Genetics and Genomics 281:181-191 Genc Y, Oldach K, Verbyla AP, Lott G, Hassan M, Tester M, Wallwork H, McDonald GK (2010) Sodium exclusion QTL associated with improved seedling growth in bread wheat under salinity stress. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 121:877-894

Gill BS, Hatchett JH, Raupp WJ (1987) Chromosomal mapping of Hessian fly resistance gene *H13* in the D-genome of wheat. Journal of Heredity 78:97-100

Gill BS, Raupp WJ (1987) Direct genetic transfers from *Aegilops squarrosa* L to hexaploid wheat. Crop Science 27:445-450

Gill KS, Gill BS, Endo TR (1993) A chromosome region-specific mapping strategy reveals gene-rich telometric ends in wheat. Chromosoma 102:374-381

Gold J, Fred DH, Smith T, Aung T, Procunier J (1999) Development of a molecular marker for rust resistance genes *Sr39* and *Lr35* in wheat breeding lines. Electronic Journal of Biotechnology 2:35-40

Halterman D, Zhou FS, Wei FS, Wise RP, Schulze-Lefert P (2001) The MLA6 coiled-coil, NBS-LRR protein confers *AvrMla6*-dependent resistance specificity to *Blumeria graminis* f. sp *hordei* in barley and wheat. Plant Journal 25:335-348

Hartley RD, Jones EC (1977) Phenolic components and degradability of cell walls of grass and legume species. Phytochemistry 16:1531-1534

Hatchett JH, Gill BS (1981) D-genome sources of resistance in *Triticum tauschii* to Hessian fly. Journal of Heredity 72:126-127

Hatchett JH, Martin TJ, Livers RW (1981) Expression and inheritance of resistance to Hessian fly in synthetic hexaploid wheats derived from *Triticum tauschii* (Coss) Schmal. Crop Science 21:731-734

Howes NK, Sidhu PK, Sharma JK, Davies PA (2003) Wheat doubled haploids: Wheat x maize technique. SARDI Research Report Series

Hua W, Liu ZJ, Zhu J, Xie CJ, Yang TM, Zhou YL, Duan XY, Sun QX, Liu ZY (2009) Identification and genetic mapping of *pm42*, a new recessive wheat powdery mildew resistance gene derived from wild emmer (*Triticum turgidum* var. *dicoccoides*). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 119:223-230

James KE, Schneider H, Ansell SW, Evers M, Robba L, Uszynski G, Pedersen N, Newton AE, Russell SJ, Vogel JC, Kilian A (2008) Diversity Arrays Technology (DArT) for pangenomic evolutionary studies of non-model organisms. Plos One 3

Kanazin V, Marek LF, Shoemaker RC (1996) Resistance gene analogs are conserved and clustered in soybean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 93:11746-11750 Kolmer JA (1996) Genetics of resistance to wheat leaf rust. Annual Review of Phytopathology 34:435-455

Kosambi DD (1944) The estimation of map distances from recombination values. Annals of Eugenics 12:172-175

Lagudah ES, Appels R, McNeil D, Schachtman DP (1993) Exploiting the diploid 'D' genome chromatin for wheat improvement. In: Gustafson JP, Appels R, Raven R (eds) Gene Conversion and Exploitation. Plenum Press, New York

Lehmensiek A, Campbell AW, Williamson PM, Michalowitz M, Sutherland MW, Daggard GE (2004) QTLs for black-point resistance in wheat and the identification of potential markers for use in breeding programmes. Plant Breeding 123:410-416

Leonova IN, Laikova LI, Popova OM, Unger O, Borner A, Roder MS (2007) Detection of quantitative trait loci for leaf rust resistance in wheat -*T. timopheevii / T. auschii* introgression lines. Euphytica 155:79-86

Li WL, Faris JD, Chittoor JM, Leach JE, Hulbert S, Liu DJ, Chen PD, Gill BS (1999) Genomic manning of defense response genes in wheat. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 98:226-233 Linsell KJ, Riley IT, Davies KA, Oldach KH (2012b) Characterisation of resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* in wheat; motility and reproduction. Manuscript sumbitted for publication Linsell KJ, Taylor SP, Wallwork H, Oldach KH (2012c) Quantitative trait loci for resistance to root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus thornei,* from a synthetic hexaploid wheat. Manuscript sumbitted for publication

Liu S, Griffey CA, Saghai Maroof MA (2001) Identification of molecular markers associated with adult plant resistance to powdery mildew in common wheat cultivar Massey. Crop Science 41:1268-1275

Liu XM, Gill BS, Chen MS (2005) Hessian fly resistance gene *H13* is mapped to a distal cluster of resistance genes in chromosome 6DS of wheat. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 111:243-249

Luo PG, Hu XY, Ren ZL, Zhang HY, Shu K, Yang ZJ (2008) Allelic analysis of stripe rust resistance genes on wheat chromosome 2BS. Genome 51:922-927

Ma ZQ, Gill BS, Sorrels ME, Tanksley SD (1993) RFLP markers linked to two Hessian fly resistance genes from *Triticum taushii* (Coss). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 85:750-754 Malik R, Brown-Guedira GL, Smith CM, Harvey TL, Gill BS (2003) Genetic mapping of wheat curl mite resistance genes *Cmc3* and *Cmc4* in common wheat. Crop Science 43:644-650 Manly KF, Olson JM (1999) Overview of QTL mapping software and introduction to map manager QT. Mammalian Genome 10:327-334

McCartney CA, Somers DJ, McCallum BD, Thomas JG, Humphreys DG, Menzies JG, Brown PD (2005) Microsatellite tagging of the leaf rust resistance gene *Lr16* on wheat chromosome 2BS. Molecular Breeding 15:329-337

McIntosh RA (1978) Cytogenetical studies in wheat. Monosomic analysis and linkage studies involving genes for resistance to *Puccinia graminis* F Sp *tritici* in cultivar Kota. Heredity 41:71-82

McIntosh RA, Wellings CR, Park RF (1995) Wheat rusts: An atlas of resistance genes. CSIRO Publications, Melbourne, Australia

Meyers BC, Dickerman AW, Michelmore RW, Sivaramakrishnan S, Sobral BW, Young ND (1999) Plant disease resistance genes encode members of an ancient and diverse protein family within the nucleotide-binding superfamily. Plant Journal 20:317-332

Moody EH, Lownsbery BF, Ahmed JM (1973) Culture of the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus vulnus* on carrot disks. Journal of Nematology 19:125-134

Mujeeb-Kazi A (1995) Interspecific crosses - hybid production and utliisation. In: Mujeeb-Kazi A, Hettel GP (eds) Utilizing Wild Grass Biodiversity in Wheat Improvement: 15 Years of Wide Cross Research. CIMMYT, Mexico

Murray GM, Brennan JP (2009) The current and potential costs from diseases of wheat in Australia. In: Corporation GRD (ed), Kingston, ACT

Nelson RR (1973) Breeding Plants for Disease Resistance. The Pennsylvania State University Press, London

Nesbitt M (2001) Wheat evolution: Integrating archaeological and biological evidence. In: London TLSo (ed) Wheat Taxonomy: The Legacy of John Percival, The Linnean Special Issue 3. Academic Press, , London, GB, pp 37-59.

Nicol JM, Vanstone VA (1993) Carrot piece and chickpea callus culture for *P. thorne*i and *P. neglectus*. 9th Biennial Australian Plant Pathology Conference. *Pratylenchus* Workshop, Hobart

Nithya DA, Ponnuswami V, Sundararaju P, Soorianathasundaram K, Sathiamoorthy S, Uma S, Van Den Bergh I (2007) Mechanism of resistance in banana cultivars against root lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus coffeae*. Indian Journal of Nematology 37

Ogbonnaya FC (2008) Mining synthetic hexaploids for multiple disease resistance to improve bread wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 59:421

Ophel-Keller K, McKay A, Hartley D, Herdina, Curran J (2008) Development of a routine DNA-based testing service for soilborne diseases in Australia. Australasian Plant Pathology 37:243-253

Pallotta MA, Warner P, Fox RL, Kuchel H, Jefferies SJ, Langridge P (2003) Marker assisted wheat breeding in the southern region of Australia. Tenth International Wheat Genetics Symposium, Paestum, Italy, pp 789-791

Parker GD, Chalmers KJ, Rathjen AJ, Langridge P (1998) Mapping loci associated with flour colour in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 97:238-245 Pestsova E, Ganal MW, Roder MS (2000) Isolation and mapping of microsatellite markers specific for the D genome of bread wheat. Genome 43:689-697

Prins R, Pretorius ZA, Bender CM, Lehmensiek A (2011) QTL mapping of stripe, leaf and stem rust resistance genes in a Kariega x Avocet S doubled haploid wheat population. Molecular Breeding 27:259-270

Proctor JR, Marks CF (1974) The determination of normalising transformations for nematode count data from soil samples and of effcient sampling schemes. Nematologica 20:395-406 Ramburan VP, Pretorius ZA, Louw JH, Boyd LA, Smith PH, Boshoff WHP, Prins R (2004) A genetic analysis of adult plant resistance to stripe rust in the wheat cultivar Kariega. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 108:1426-1433

Ratcliffe RH, Hatchett JH (1997) Biology and genetics of the Hessian fly and resistance in wheat. In: Bondari K (ed) New Developments in Entomology. Research Signpost, Trivandrum, India, pp 47-56

Rogowsky PM, Guider FLY, Langridge P, Shepherd KW, Koebner RMD (1991) Isolation and characterization of wheat-rye recombinants involving chromosome arm 1DS of wheat. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 82:537-544

Rohde RA (1972) Expression of resistance in plants to nematodes. Annual Review of Phytopathology 10:233-252

Sakamoto K, Tada Y, Yokozeki Y, Akagi H, Hayashi N, Fujimura T, Ichikawa N (1999) Chemical induction of disease resistance in rice is correlated with the expression of a gene encoding a nucleotide binding site and leucine-rich repeats. Plant Molecular Biology 40:847-855

Schmidt AL, McIntyre CL, Thompson J, Seymour NP, Liu CJ (2005) Quantitative trait loci for root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) resistance in Middle-Eastern landraces and their potential for introgression into Australian bread wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 56:1059-1068

Sears ER (1957) Identification of chromosomes carrying genes for stem rust resistance in four varieties of wheat. Agronomy journal 49:208

Seyfarth R, Feuillet C, Schachermayr G, Messmer M, Winzeler M, Keller B (2000) Molecular mapping of the adult-plant leaf rust resistance gene *Lr13* in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Journal of Genetics & Breeding 54:193-198

Seymour NP, Thompson JP (2001) New sources of resistances to root lesion neamtodes (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in wheat from the Middle East. 10th Assembly of the Wheat Breeding Society of Australia: Toowoomba,QLD, Mildura, pp 56-59

Sheedy JG, Thompson JP (2009) Resistance to the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* of Iranian landrace wheat. Australasian Plant Pathology 38:478-489 Smith PH, Hadfield J, Hart NJ, Koebner RMD, Boyd LA (2007) STS markers for the wheat yellow rust resistance gene *Yr5* suggest a NBS-LRR-type resistance gene cluster. Genome 50:259-265

Somers DJ, Isaac P, Edwards K (2004) A high-density microsatellite consensus map for bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 109:1105-1114 Song QJ, Shi JR, Singh S, Fickus EW, Costa JM, Lewis J, Gill BS, Ward R, Cregan PB (2005) Development and mapping of microsatellite (SSR) markers in wheat. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 110:550-560

Sourdille P, Singh S, Cadalen T, Brown-Guedira GL, Gay G, Qi L, Gill BS, Dufour P, Murigneux A, Bernard M (2004) Microsatellite-based deletion bin system for the establishment of genetic-physical map relationships in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Functional & integrative genomics 4:12-25

Southey JF (1986) Laboratory methods for work with plant and soil nematodes. Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London, UK

Stauffer CE (1987) Oxidases. In: Kruger J, Lineback D, Stauffer C (eds) Enzymes and their role in cereal technology. AACC Inc, St. Paul, MN., pp 239-263

Tao W, Liu DJ, Liu J, Feng Y, Chen PD (2000) Genetic mapping of the powdery mildew resistance gene *Pm6* in wheat by RFLP analysis. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 100:564-568

Thomas J, Fineberg N, Penner G, McCartney C, Aung T, Wise I, McCallum B (2005) Chromosome location and markers of Sm1: A gene of wheat that conditions antibiotic resistance to orange wheat blossom midge. Molecular Breeding 15:183-192

Thompson JP, Brennan PS, Clewett TG, Sheedy JG, Seymour NP (1999) Progress in breeding wheat for tolerance and resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*). Australasian Plant Pathology 28:45-52

Thompson JP, Clewett TG (1986) Research on root lesion nematode: Occurance and wheat varietal reaction. Queensland Wheat Research Institute Biennial Report for 1982-84. Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Toowoomba, pp 32-34

Thompson JP, Haak MI (1997) Resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in *Aegilops tauschii* Coss, the D-genome donor to wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 48:553-559

Thompson JP, O'Reilly MM, Clewett TG (2009) Resistance to the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* in wheat landraces and cultivars from the West Asia and North Africa (WANA) region. Crop & Pasture Science 60:1209-1217

Thompson JP, Owen KJ, Stirling GR, Bell MJ (2008) Root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*): A review of recent progress in managing a significant pest of grain crops in northern Australia. Australasian Plant Pathology 37:235-242

Toktay H, McIntyre CL, Nicol JM, Ozkan H, Elekcioglu HI (2006) Identification of common root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* Sher et Allen) loci in bread wheat. Genome 49:1319-1323

Tsilo TJ, Jin Y, Anderson JA (2007) Microsatellite markers linked to stem rust resistance allele *Sr9a* in wheat. Crop Science 47:2013-2020

Tsilo TJ, Jin Y, Anderson JA (2008) Diagnostic microsatellite markers for the detection of stem rust resistance gene *Sr36* in diverse genetic backgrounds of wheat. Crop Science 48:253-261

Van Ooijen JW (2004) MapQTL 5, Software for the mapping of quantitative trait loci in experimental populations. . Kyazma BV, Wageningen

Van Os H, Stam P, Visser RGF, Van Eck HJ (2005) RECORD: A novel method for ordering loci on a genetic linkage map. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 112:30-40

Vanstone VA, Rathjen AJ, Ware AH, Wheeler RD (1998) Relationship between root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei*) and performance of wheat varieties. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 38:181-188

Vicars L, Spindler L, Haak I, Wildermuth G, Thompson J, Banks P, Appels R, Lagudah E (1999) Genetic markers for resistance to crown rot and root lesion nematodes. 9th Assembly of the Wheat Breeding Society of Australia. Wheat Breeding Society of Australia, Toowoomba, Qld, pp 118-120

Williams KJ, Taylor SP, Bogacki P, Pallotta M, Bariana HS, Wallwork H (2002) Mapping of the root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus neglectus*) resistance gene *Rlnn1* in wheat. Theoretical and Applied Genetics 104:874-879

Williamson VM, Hussey RS (1996) Nematode pathogenesis and resistance in plants. Plant Cell 8:1735-1745

Wu SY, Pumphrey M, Bai GH (2009) Molecular mapping of stem-rust-resistance gene *Sr40* in wheat. Crop Science 49:1681-1686

Wuyts N, Lognay G, Verscheure M, Marlier M, De Waele D, Swennen R (2007) Potential physical and chemical barriers to infection by the burrowing nematode *Radopholus similis* in roots of susceptible and resistant banana (*Musa* spp.). Plant Pathology 56:878-890

Zwart RS, Thompson JP, Godwin ID (2004) Genetic analysis of resistance to root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in wheat. Plant Breeding 123:209-212

Zwart RS, Thompson JP, Godwin ID (2005) Identification of quantitative trait loci for resistance to two species of root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) in wheat. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 56:345-352

Zwart RS, Thompson JP, Milgate AW, Bansal UK, Williamson PM, Raman H, Bariana HS (2010) QTL mapping of multiple foliar disease and root-lesion nematode resistances in wheat. Molecular Breeding 26:107-124

Zwart RS, Thompson JP, Sheedy JG, Nelson JC (2006) Mapping quantitative trait loci for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* from synthetic hexaploid wheat in the International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 57:525-530

# **Chapter 5**

# Identification of QTL and Characterisation of Compounds Associated with *Pratylenchus thornei* Motility and Hatching Inhibition

## 5.1 Introduction

It was established previously (Chapter 3) that P. thornei migration and motility is suppressed in resistant roots and exudates from the Sokoll x Krichauff wheat population, suggesting that resistant lines constitutively produce compounds that inhibit motility. In addition, resistant root exudates significantly reduced egg deposition and egg hatch of P. thornei and indicated the presence of compounds inhibiting hatch. In Chapter 4, several resistant QTL were identified to be linked to *P. thornei* resistance in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. The research summarised in this chapter aimed to identify whether these resistant QTL correlate to the observed motility and/or hatching suppression. A larger subset of the population was phenotyped for motility and hatching, using the efficient and economical phenotypic screening protocols developed in Chapter 3. The identification and characterisation of resistance gene(s) and their mechanism(s) would allow genes to be pyramided to provide more effective resistance, by combining genes that control different biological mechanisms. A further aim of this chapter was to investigate the biochemical characteristics of the motility and hatching suppressive compounds. The identification of resistance at a specific stage of invasion and the biochemicals involved may enhance resistance phenotyping screening procedures by reducing the costs and time associated with current methods and could provide chemicals for novel control.

The effective root exudates against motility and hatching were derived from seedlings not exposed to *Pratylenchus* or other plant pathogens, indicating the presence of preformed defense compound(s) in resistant roots. Preformed compounds, known as phytoanticipins, are defined as low molecular weight antimicrobial compounds that are present in plants prior to challenge by pathogens or are produced after invasion entirely from pre-existing components (VanEtten et al. 1994). These compounds may be present in their biologically active forms. They more commonly occur as inactive precursors sequestered in cellular compartments and are activated by enzymes due to cellular breakdown (Osbourn 1996). As discussed in Chapter 3, resistant CR suspensions increased motility suppression, indicating the possible release of phenolic bound compounds during crushing. The release of toxic compounds from glucosides has been observed previously after the secretion of the enzyme  $\beta$ -glucosidase by *Pratylenchus* during feeding in peach roots (Mountain and Patrick 1959). Phytoanticipins are generally located at sites where defense signalling can be instigated

139

rapidly or play a direct role in pathogen defense, and this is essential in the case of migratory nematodes, which cause tissue damage soon after root entry.

The formation of plant defense compounds commonly arise from the products of secondary metabolism including the phenylpropanoid pathway, which produces phenylalanine derivatives. The deamination of phenylalanine leads to cinnamic acid, which after a series of hydroxylations results in the hydroxycinnamates including coumaric and ferulic acids. The reduction of hydroxycinnamates leads to the production of alcohols or monolignols, which when polymerised via peroxidases leads to the formation of lignin. These simple phenols can then be further modified to produce polyphenolic compounds such as flavonoids, flavonoid derivatives and condensed tannins (Iriti and Faoro 2009). Many phenylpropanoids have been implicated in resistance to Pratylenchus. Ferulic acid was associated with necrosis in cabbage after Pratylenchus penetrans invasion (Acedo and Rhode 1971). The flavonoids medicarpin and coumestrol were found in resistant lucerne roots after invasion with P. penetrans and inhibited motility (Baldridge et al. 1998). In addition, P. penetrans invasion increased the synthesis of lignin-like substances in resistant lucerne roots (Acedo and Rhode 1971). Although none of these phenylalanine derivatives have been implicated in the Sokoll x Krichauff/P. thornei interaction, their common link to P. penetrans resistance, which has a very similar invasive root approach, indicates they may play a role in the observed motility and hatch suppression.

The structures of some compounds are sensitive to physical and chemical treatments, which can induce changes in the molecule structure causing loss of the required function. Physical treatments, including temperature extremes, were used to assess the stability of the resistant compounds within root exudates.

This chapter tied together the outcomes of Chapters 2, 3 and 4 which identified (1) the stages where resistance provided suppression to nematode invasion, (2) the possible role of motility and hatching suppressive compounds and (3) QTL linked to *P. thornei* resistance. The work described in this chapter aimed to establish possible links between the observed motility and hatch suppression and the identified *P. thornei* resistance QTL in Sokoll x Krichauff, using the phenotyping methods developed in Chapter 3. In addition, to further characterise the resistance compounds associated with motility and hatching suppression. Therefore, this work aimed to correlate a biological resistance mechanism to the genetic resistance.

# 5.2 Materials and Methods

# 5.2.1 Nematodes

*Pratylenchus thornei* was obtained from wheat at Nunjikompita, South Australia and were maintained on carrot callus described by Moody et al. (1973). To collect the nematodes the carrot callus was placed in funnels in a misting chamber and inoculum was prepared as described in Chapters 2 to 4.

# 5.2.2 Plant Material and Phenotypic Analysis of P. thornei Motility and Hatching

The responses of the DH lines to *P. thornei* were assessed using the motility and hatching assays designed in Chapter 3 in order to generate phenotypic data to analyse linkage to the QTL identified in Chapter 4. Forty DH lines were selected and phenotyped for motility with two replicates for each sample. The 40 lines were selected based on genotypic data generated in Chapter 4. Ten lines had both resistance QTL (2B and 6D), ten lines had only the 2B QTL, ten lines had only the 6D QTL and ten lines had neither QTL. For hatching analysis, thirty and thirty five lines (some lines were excluded due to fungal contamination) were phenotyped using RE and CR suspensions respectively, with four replicates for each sample. The RE and CR suspensions were collected as described in Chapter 3 and were made to the concentration of 4 mg/mL and 100  $\mu$ L was transferred to individual wells on a 96 well ELISA plate. Motility and hatching assays were then conducted as described in Chapter 3.

# 5.2.3 Marker Regression and QTL Analysis of *P. thornei* Motility and Hatching

Single point regression was performed using the genotypic map data generated in Chapter 4 using MapManager QTXb20 (Manly and Olson 1999). A permutation test was used to establish the threshold at which the LOD score became suggestive (P < 0.05) and significant (P < 0.01) for QTL identification (Van Ooijen 2004). Significant differences between genotypes were assessed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Broad sense heritability (H2) was estimated within each motility and hatching trial using the formula: H2 = Var(G)/Var(P), where Var(G) is the estimated variance of the genotypic effect and Var(P) is the estimated variance of the genotype mean basis.

## 5.2.4 Temperature and Oxidation Treatment of Roots on Motility

Roots were grown and crushed and *P. thornei* motility was assessed in the CR suspensions in the plate motility assays as described in Chapter 3. For heat treatment, directly after crushing, the root suspension was heated to 60 °C for 45 min and then assayed for motility 1 d.a.i. For freezing treatment, 1 week old seedlings were harvested and immediately freeze-dried (Christ, Alpha 1-2 LD, Germany) and then crushed and assayed for motility 1 d.a.i. Each treatment group, which included the resistant and susceptible parents and three susceptible and resistant lines, were analysed twice, each with five replicates. The three resistant lines had both resistant QTL and the three susceptible lines had neither QTL. A no-

root control and an untreated fresh CR control of each sample was analysed simultaneously also with five replicates. Data sets were analysed by ANOVA. Least significant differences (LSD, P = 0.05) were calculated to compare means, where P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant using the statistical program Genstat (VSN International, USA).

# 5.3 Results

## 5.3.1 Phenotypic Assessment

The hatching suppression data obtained from the Sokoll x Krichauff population had a continuous unimodal distribution, skewed towards lines with high suppression (Figure 1.1 and 1.2). The percentage of hatching suppression in RE in Sokoll is 89.98 and in Krichauff, 80.65 in trial 1 and in trial 2, 94.34 and 89.26, respectively. The percentage of hatching suppression in CR suspensions in Sokoll is 90.31 and in Krichauff, 74.01 in trial 1 and in trial 2, 89.51 and 77.09, respectively. ANOVA showed highly significant differences between individual genotypes for *P. thornei* hatching suppression in both RE and CR in trials 1 and 2 (Figure 1.1 and 1.2). The motility suppression data showed a unimodal normal distribution and ANOVA showed highly significant differences between genotypes. The percentage of motility suppression in RE in Sokoll is 76.65 and in Krichauff, 60.31 in trial 1 and in trial 2, 62.34 and 54.06, respectively (Figure 1.3). The broad sense heritability (H2) of hatch suppression in RE is 0.159 and 0.415 and in hatch suppression in CR, 0.158 and 0.016 for trial 1 and 2 respectively. The H2 in motility suppression in RE is higher at 0.458 for trial 1 and 0.589 for trial 2.



**Figure 1:** Phenotypic distributions of the percentage of *Pratylenchus thornei* hatching and motility suppression in the forty Sokoll x Krichauff DH lines. **1.** - Distribution of *P. thornei* hatching suppression in root exudate (RE) in trial 1(1a) and in trial 2 (1b) **2** - Distribution of *P. thornei* hatching suppression in crushed root (CR) suspensions in trial 1 (2a) and in trial 2 (2b). **3** - Distribution of *P. thornei* hatching entry suppression in RE (3a) in trial 1 and in trial 2 (3b). The mean (± standard error) values of *P. thornei* DNA pg/plant in the parents are indicated. In addition, the population mean (X), the minimum (min) and the maximum (max) values (± standard error), least significant difference (LSD), analysis of variance (ANOVA) and the broad sense heritability (H2).

#### 5.3.2 QTL Analysis of P. thornei Hatching and Motility

Single marker regression analysis identified 88 markers that showed linkage (P < 0.05) to *P. thornei* hatching suppression in RE. The frequency of Sokoll alleles was high at markers on chromosomes 1B, 2D, 3B, and 6D (30%) while frequency of Krichauff alleles was high at markers on chromosomes 2B, 5B, 6B and 7A (70%). Single marker regression identified 58 markers linked to *P. thornei* hatching suppression when exposed to CR suspensions. The markers were distributed on seven chromosomes with the frequency of Sokoll alleles high at markers on chromosomes 1A and 6B (52%) while frequency of Krichauff alleles were high at markers on chromosomes 2B and 3B (48%). Single marker regression identified 31 markers linked to motility suppression. The frequency of Sokoll alleles was high at markers on chromosomes 1B, 3A and 6A (58%) while frequency of Krichauff alleles was high at markers on chromosomes 2B and 3B (42%).

QTL analyses revealed suggestive QTL on chromosomes 1B, 2B, 3B, 6B, 6D and 7A for RE hatch suppression and 2B, 3B, 6B and 6D for CR hatch suppression. The suggestive QTL on 1B, 3B and 7A spanned large sections (>100 cM) of the chromosomes as there was no distinct peak, and thus were not presented. Suggestive QTL associated with motility suppression were identified on chromosome 2B and 6B.

Two suggestive QTL that are located close together on chromosome 2BL were identified in both trials of hatching in CR and were inherited from Krichauff. As QTL are in the same locations, data is presented only from trial 1. The *QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.1* (LRS = 8.0) and *QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.2* (LRS = 8.5), explaining 21 and 22% of the phenotypic variation respectively, are both inherited from Krichauff (Figure 2, Table 1). These same QTL were also associated with motility suppression, but had lower LRS scores. The *QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.1* (LRS = 4.9) and the more distal QTL, *QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.2* (LRS = 5.2), both explaining 12% of the phenotypic variation were also both inherited from Krichauff (Figure 2, Table 1).

Two suggestive QTL on chromosome 2B were identified in trial 1 only of hatching in RE, QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.1 (LRS = 4.7), explaining 16% of the phenotypic variation, inherited from the synthetic hexaploid parent Sokoll, and QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.2 (LRS = 5.8) explaining 19% of the phenotypic variation, inherited from Krichauff (Figure 2, Table 1). Suggestive QTL associated with hatching suppression in RE were identified on 6DS in trial 1 only with QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.1 (LRS = 4.6), explaining 15% of the phenotypic variation, inherited from Krichauff and in both trials on 6DL, QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.2 (LRS = 5.5), explaining 18% of the phenotypic variation, inherited from Sokoll (Figure 2, Table 1).

A significant QTL, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.1* (LRS = 8.4) and a suggestive QTL, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.2* (LRS = 6.8), explaining 27% and 22% of the phenotypic variation respectively, were associated with suppressed hatch in RE in trial 1 and both were inherited from Krichauff. The

*QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.1* is linked to the *Vrn1B* marker indicating this QTL is linked to vernalisation. A suggestive QTL also associated with suppressed hatch in RE was identified on chromosome 6B in trial 2, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-6B* (LRS = 6.8) explaining 22% of the phenotypic variation (Figure 3, Table 1). Another suggestive QTL in the same 6B chromosome region, *QRInt.motRE.sk-6B* (LRS = 6.9), explaining 16% of the phenotypic variation, was associated with motility suppression in trial 1 (Figure 3, Table 1). Many of these identified hatching and motility suppression QTL are inherited from the moderately susceptible parent Krichauff.

**Table 1:** QTL associated with *Pratylenchus thornei* hatching and motility suppression mapped in this study on a subset of the Sokoll x Krichauff DH population. The QTL shown indicate the donor parent (Inherited Origin) which chromosome (Chr) they map to, markers flanking the QTL and the most closely linked markers, the percentage of phenotypic variation explained (% Var), the likelihood ratio statistic (LRS) and the width the QTL spans in centiMorgans (cM).

QTL	Inherited Origin	Chr	Flanking Markers	Linked Markers	% Var	LRS	QTL Width (cM)
QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.1	Krichauff	2B*	barc167 cfd267	gwm47	12	4.9	35.5
QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.2	Krichauff	2B*	wmc441 wPt-510	wPt-7747	12	5.2	23.6
QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.1	Krichauff	2B*	barc167 wmc441	gwm47	21	8.0	56.8
QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.2	Krichauff	2B*	wmc441 wPt-0047	wPt-1705	22	8.5	30.7
QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.1	Sokoll	2B*	wPt-1215 barc200	wPt-4337	16	4.7	37.0
QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.2	Krichauff	2B*	wPt-1394 wmc749	wPt-4072	19	5.8	20.4
QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.1	Krichauff	6DS*	1519 barc183	cfd49	15	4.6	20.7
QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.2	Sokoll	6DL*	gpw2232 barc21	wPt-4602 wPt-5331	18	5.5	86.9
QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.1	Krichauff	5B	cfd70 wPt-1881	wPt-4557 wPt-5896	27 26	8.4 8.1	46.7
QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.2	Krichauff	5B*	wPt-3204 wPt-4986	wPt-1030 wPt-0334	22 15	6.8 4.8	38.2
QRInt.hatRE.sk-6B	Krichauff	6B*	wPt-9195 wPt-3284	wPt-9784	22	6.8	74.8
QRInt.motRE.sk-6B	Sokoll	6B*	wPt-9659 wPt-3284	wPt-3168	16	6.9	69.3

\* Below the significance threshold



**Figure 2**: Composite interval mapping showing QTL for *Pratylenchus thornei* hatching and motility suppression in crushed root (CR) suspensions and root exudates (RE) in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. Suggestive QTL were identified on chromosome 2B for both motility and hatching suppression and two suggestive QTL on chromosome 6D for hatching suppression in RE. The numbers on the x-axis represent the threshold lines as set by 1000 permutation tests shown as likelihood ratio statistics (LRS). The first line represents suggestive QTL at P < 0.05 the second, significant QTL at P < 0.01 and the third, highly significant QTL at P < 0.001. The y-axis represents distances in centiMorgans (cM) from the distal end of the short arms of the chromosomes.



**Figure 3:** Composite interval mapping showing QTL for *Pratylenchus thornei* hatching and motility suppression in crushed root (CR) suspensions and root exudates (RE) in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. A suggestive QTL was identified on chromosome 6B for motility suppression. In addition, a significant QTL on 5B and a suggestive QTL on 5B and 6B for hatching suppression in RE. The numbers on the x-axis represent the threshold lines as set by 1000 permutation tests shown as likelihood ratio statistics (LRS). The first line represents suggestive QTL at P < 0.05 the second, significant QTL at P < 0.01 and the third, highly significant QTL at P < 0.001. The y-axis represents distances in centiMorgans (cM) from the distal end of the short arms of the chromosomes.

**Table 2:** *Pratylenchus thornei* resistance QTL mapped in this study that co-locate with *P. thornei* resistance QTL identified in previous studies and/or with *P. thornei* hatching and motility suppression QTL mapped in this study based on common markers. The table shows the donor parent (Inherited Origin), the chromosomal location (Chromosome), the flanking markers, the percentage of phenotypic variation (% Var) explained by the QTL and the likelihood ratio statistic (LRS).

Reference	QTL	Inherited Origin	Chromosome	Flanking	% Var	LRS
				Markers		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-6D	Sokoll	6DS	653		
				barc183	43	82.9
				gpw4357		
				gpw5182		
				cfd132		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.1	Krichauff	6DS*	1519		
				cfd49	15	4.6
				barc183		
Schmidt et al. 2005		AUS13124	6D*	gwm469	4-6	4.9-9.3
				gdm36		
				gwm518		
				gdm132		
Zwart et al. 2005 &	QRInt.Irc-6D.1	CPI133872	6DS	barc183	18-27	28.1-46.5
2010				cfd49		
				cfd135		
Zwart et al. 2006		W-7984	6DS	psr964	11-23	4.4-8.5
				psr889		
				barc183		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.2	Sokoll	6DL*	gpw2232		
				wPt-4602	18	5.5
				wPt-5331		
				barc21		
Zwart et al. 2005	QRInt.Irc-6D.2	CPI133872	6DL	gdm98	8-13	16.5-24.6
				gpw95010		
				barc21		
Schmidt et al. 2005		AUS4926	6D*	gdm98.1	2-2	2.6-2.7
				gdm98.2		
				gdm132		
Linsell Chapter 4	$OPInt ck_2 R 1$	Sokoll	285	wmc764		
	Grant.ok 20.1	Contoin	200	awm614	24	39.9
				wmc382	2-1	00.0
				wPt-5728		
Zwart et al. 2006		W-7984	2BS	cdo447	5-19	2 0-7 4
			200	bcd348	0 10	2.0 1.1
				gwm210		
				•		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-2B.2	Krichauff	2B	cfd70		
				wPt-0950	2	11.3
				wPt-9736	2	11.0
				wPt-0047		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.2	Krichauff	2B*	wmc441		
				wPt-1705	22	8.5
				wPt-0047		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.2	Krichauff	2B*	wmc441		
-				wPt-7747	12	5.2
				wPt-510		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.2	Krichauff	2B*	wPt-1394		
-				wPt-4072	19	5.8
				wmc749		

Table 2: continued.

Reference	QTL	Inherited Origin	Chromosome	Flanking Markers	% Var	LRS
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-2B.3	Krichauff	2B*	barc167		
				gwm47	2	10.1
				wmc175	2	9.3
				cfd70		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.1	Krichauff	2B*	barc167		
				gwm47	21	8.0
				wmc441		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.1	Krichauff	2B*	barc167		
				gwm47	12	4.9
				cfd267		
Schmidt et al. 2005		AUS13124	2B	gwm319	6-13	9.5-13.7
				gwm494.2		
				ACT/CTC.1		
				gwm191.2		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-2B.4	Krichauff	2B*	wPt-1148		
				tpt-9065	1	6.2
				barc91		
Schmidt et al. 2005		AUS13124	2B	gwm319	6-13	9.5-13.7
				gwm494.2		
				ACT/CTC.1		
				gwm191.2		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-2B.5	Krichauff	2B*	cfd238		
				wPt-4997	2	7.2
				wPt-9098	2	7.2
				wmc770		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.1	Sokoll	2B*	wPt-1215		
				wPt-4337	16	4.7
				barc200		
Schmidt et al. 2005		AUS4926	2B*	wmc25.5	2-3	2.7-3.4
				wmc25.4		
				gwm428		
Zwart et al. 2005	QRInt.Irc-2B.1	CPI133872	2B*	wmc25	7.4	15.2
				wmc154		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-2D	Krichauff	2D	wmc27		
-				wPt-0184	2	11.1
				wPt-7466		

#### Table 2: continued.

Reference	QTL	Inherited Origin	Chromosome	Flanking Markers	% Var	LRS
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-3A	Sokoll	3A	wPt-2866		
				wPt-5171	2	8.6
				wmc364		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-4A	Krichauff	4A	wPt-2836		
				wPt-6502	6	8.2
				wPt-3810		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-5A	Krichauff	5A	wPt-4131		
				wPt-3187	6	9.1
				wPt-5588		
				wPt-1422		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-5B.1	Sokoll	5B	wPt-7006		
<i>,</i> 1				wPt-0334	2	9.7
				wPt-4986		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.2	Krichauff	5B*	wPt-3204		
				wPt-1036	22	6.8
				wPt-0334	15	4.8
				wPt-4986		
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-5B.2	Sokoll	5B*	cfd70		
				wPt-5986	2	7.3
				wPt-1881		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.1	Krichauff	5B	cfd70		
				wPt-1881		
				wPt-4557	27	8.4
				wPt-5896	26	8.1
Linsell, Chapter 4	QRInt.sk-6B	Sokoll	6B	wPt-3402		
				wPt-4648	4	15.8
				wPt-2564	4	15.0
				wPt-3284		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.hatRE.sk-6B	Krichauff	6B*	wPt-9195		
				wPt-9784	22	6.8
				wPt-3284		
Linsell, Chapter 5	QRInt.motRE.sk-6B	Sokoll	6B*	wPt-9659		
				wPt-3168	16	6.9
				wPt-3284		

\* Below the significance threshold



**Figure 4:** Co-location of *Pratylenchus thornei* QTL and known wheat pathogen resistance genes on chromosomes 2B and 6D. The location of *P. thornei* hatching and motility suppression QTL are shown with respect to the resistance QTL identified in Chapter 4 and previously identified in other studies and with characterised wheat pathogen resistance genes.

#### 5.3.3 Temperature Stability of Root Exudate and Effects on Motility

To investigate the biochemical characteristics of the root compounds causing suppressed *P. thornei* motility and hatch, CR suspensions were subjected to temperature treatments (Figure 5). For heat treatment, directly after crushing the root suspension was heated to 60 °C for 45 min. There was a significant decrease in motility suppression in both resistant and susceptible genotypes in comparison to the fresh crushed root suspension. More suppression was observed in Sokoll than Krichauff even after heat treatment. Compared to the other treatments, despite the harsh conditions, heat treated CR had the highest motility suppression. CR suspensions obtained from roots that had been freeze-dried immediately after harvesting also showed decreased motility suppression than compared to the untreated control. Suppression levels of freeze-dried treatments were similar to that observed in the water control. The fresh CR suspension showed greater motility suppression in Sokoll and the three DH resistant lines compared to Krichauff and the three susceptible DH lines.



**Figure 5:** Motility inhibition of *Pratylenchus thornei* within crushed root (CR) suspensions subjected to heat and freeze-drying in resistant and susceptible genotypes. The first LSD vertical bar represents LSD for treatments (P = 0.05) of 2.8 and the second represents LSD for genotypes (P = 0.05) of 6.0.

### 5.4 Discussion

#### 5.4.1 Pratylenchus thornei Hatching and Motility Suppression QTL

In Chapter 3, it was shown that *P. thornei* migration and motility is suppressed in Sokoll roots and exudates, indicating resistant genotypes constitutively produce compounds that inhibit motility. In addition, egg deposition and hatch of *P. thornei* was reduced in resistant roots and exudates. The motility and hatching assays described in Chapter 3 were relatively fast (11 to 14 days), simple and cheap and were utilised here to determine whether hatching and/or motility suppression played a role in the resistance observed in the Sokoll x Krichauff population. QTL linked to hatching and motility suppression were identified and their location was compared to the QTL associated with resistance to *P. thornei* (based on reproduction numbers) identified in Chapter 4 and to other published *P. thornei* resistance QTL.

Two suggestive QTL identified on 2B associated with both hatching and motility suppression, QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.1 and QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.1, flanked by barc167 and wmc441, are closely linked to wmc175 and gwm47, which are also linked to the QRInt.sk-2B.3 P. thornei resistance identified in Chapter 4 (Table 2, Figure 4). Using other publicly available maps (Appels 2004) wmc175 maps 5 to 6 cM from gwm319 and gwm191, respectively, and these markers are closely linked to a 2BL QTL associated with P. thornei resistance in the Middle Eastern landrace AUS13124 (Schmidt et al. 2005). The second set of suggestive QTL directly proximal to QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.1, are also associated with both hatching and motility suppression, QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.2 and QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.2, and are linked to wPt-0950 (Table 2, Figure 4). This DArT marker is closely linked to the QRInt.sk-2B.2 P. thornei resistance locus identified in Chapter 4. The co-location of these 2B QTL associated with hatching and motility suppression, with P. thornei resistance QTL in other investigations, suggests that the QRInt.sk-2B.2 and QRInt.sk-2B.3 may play a role in resistance by containing gene(s) that suppress *P. thornei* motility and hatching. As the plants from which RE and CR suspensions were collected were not exposed to nematodes, this resistance must be preformed or constitutively active. Despite linking other 2B QTL to possible roles in hatching and motility suppression, the role of the highly significant QTL QRInt.sk-2B.1 on 2BS identified in Chapter 4 remains uncharacterised. In this study, the methods used to obtain root compounds only extracted water soluble compounds. Thus, less polar compounds may be linked to the resistance expressed by the QRInt.sk-2B, and require extraction with other solvents.

Although the motility and hatching suppression 2B QTL (*QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.1 / 2B.2* and *QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.1 / 2B.2*) are only suggestive their presence in two completely different Sokoll x Krichauff phenotypic data sets and in other synthetic populations re-enforces their genuine linkage to resistance and indicates that these QTL are in fact two distinct regions. As only a subset of the population was phenotyped, it is expected that the significance of these QTL would increase as more lines are phenotyped. Now that a link between resistance and

155
hatching and mobility suppression has been made, the next logical step would be to phenotype the entire mapping population.

A suggestive QTL on 2B associated with hatching suppression in RE, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.1*, included the SSR marker *wmc154*, which is also closely linked to the *QRInt.sk-2B.5 P. thornei* resistance identified in Chapter 4 and the *P. thornei* resistance QTL identified by Zwart et al. (2005) in the synthetic CPI133872 (Table 2, Figure 4). A second QTL found on the long arm of 2B, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-2B.2*, was also identified with CR hatching suppression and with motility suppression, and co-locates the loci *QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.2* and *QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.2* (Table 2, Figure 4). A suggestive QTL linked to *cfd49*, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.1*, on 6DS associated with suppressed *P. thornei* resistance detected in Chapter 4 (Table 2, Figure 4). A second suggestive QTL on 6DL, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.2*, which contains the SSR markers *barc21*, *gdm98* and *gpw95010* is closely linked to *P. thornei* resistance in the synthetic CPI133872 (Zwart et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2010) and in AUS4926 (Schmidt et al. 2005) (Table 2, Figure 4). This indicates a possible role of hatching suppression in resistance observed in Sokoll x Krichauff at *QRInt.sk-2B.5* and *QRInt.sk-6D*, but also in the 6DL resistance identified by Schmidt et al. (2005).

A suggestive QTL on chromosome 6B flanked by *wPt-9659* and *wPt-3284* was identified for both hatching and motility suppression, *QRInt.hatRE.sk-6B* and *QRInt.motRE.sk-6B* (Table 2). These QTL, closely linked to *wPt-3168*, co-locate to the *QRInt.sk-6B P. thornei* resistance QTL identified in Chapter 4. The significant *QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.1* associated with hatching suppression is linked to *wPt-5896*, which is also closely linked to the *QRInt.sk-5B.2 P. thornei* resistance identified in Chapter 4 (Table 2). Similarly the suggestive *QRInt.hatRE.sk-5B.2* colocates to the *QRInt.sk-5B.1 P. thornei* resistance linked to *wPt-0334* (Table 2). Therefore, these 5B and 6D *P. thornei* resistance QTL identified in chapter 4 may also play a role in hatching and motility suppression.

#### 5.4.2 Biochemical Characterisation of *P. thornei* Hatching and Motility Suppression

The defense response of plants to nematode invasion typically involves a hyper sensitive reaction that limits the invasion and leads to a systemic response (Rich et al. 1977, Keen 1992, Lindgren et al. 1992). These responses typically include the production of secondary metabolites such as flavonoids, isoflavonoids, amino-acid-derived compounds and soluble esters such as lignin and wall-bound phenolics (Keen 1992, Lindgren et al. 1992). In response to hostile and toxic environmental conditions within plant tissues that have initiated chemical defense, many organisms including nematodes adopt an inactive state as a mechanism of survival (Evans and Perry 1976). However, the non-motility observed in the resistant lines in Chapter 3 due to the toxic compounds secreted in these lines may enforce involuntary nematode motility. Several approaches were taken to establish the nature of the compound(s) that suppress *P. thornei* motility.

The structures of some compounds are sensitive to physical and chemical treatments, which can lead to their denaturation. Physical treatments such as heating, cooling, pressure changes and interactions with chemicals may induce changes in the molecule structure causing loss of the desired function. To determine whether protein(s) within resistant roots and root secretions had a role in the suppressed motility of *P. thornei*, CR suspensions were heated. When compared to the untreated control samples it was evident that this heat treatment significantly reduced the effect of nematode motility suppression (Figure 5). Heating can lead to changes in proteins causing functional changes including inhibition of enzymatic and binding activities, increased susceptibility to aggregation and proteolysis, or decreased uptake by cells (Shacter 2000). Thus, the loss of motility suppression may be due to root compounds losing activity by structural modification or by aggregation causing inactivity and/or preventing entry into the nematode. However, the level of suppression by heating was less than compared to the lyophilisation treatment and more suppression was still observed in the CR suspensions of the resistant Sokoll than the susceptible Krichauff. The conditions of this assay were severe and most proteins heated at this temperature for this period would denature. Thus, the presence of some motility suppression indicates these resistant root compounds are fairly heat resistant.

Lyophilisation (freeze-drying) generally preserves the structures of proteins as solvents are transferred to the vapour state, without first passing through an intermediate liquid phase. However, CR suspensions obtained from freeze-dried roots had significantly less motility suppression compared to the untreated CR control (Figure 5). This indicates that lyophilisation removed the activity of some root enzymes or secondary metabolites involved in motility suppression. During lyophilisation, enzyme folding may be distorted causing conformational protein changes and a loss activity. During the lyophilisation process the solutes in water reach concentrations much higher than their initial concentration, which can lead to changes in pH and ionic strength affecting the activity of enzymes (Jammel et al.

1997, Heller et al. 1999). Motility suppression was generally similar in both the resistant and susceptible roots following freeze-dry treatments and levels were equal to that observed in the no-root control indicating little to no suppression. These results suggest that chemical or structural changes induced by temperature extremes change the function of proteins present within the resistant roots that affect the ability of *P. thornei* to move.

Roots secrete both low and high molecular weight molecules, primarily carbon containing compounds, into the rhizosphere (Uren 2000). These exudates alter the physical and chemical properties of the soil and its community to improve plant growth including defense against pathogens (Bertin et al. 2003). To further characterise the compounds involved in motility suppression, size fractionation could be conducted to separate compounds in the root suspension by their molecular weights to provide some insights into their physical properties. The nature of a molecule's structure is determined by atoms and their arrangement in functional groups. Using the chemical properties of the nature and location of their functional groups, molecules can be separated based on their polarity. Reverse phase C18 chromatography can help measure the polarity of a compound which can help determine the location and role it may play during biochemical interactions within the plant.

Defense compounds secreted by plant roots have antibiotic properties against various pathogens (Paxton 1981) and have been linked with suppressed motility in several plantnematode interactions. The defense action of these compounds is normally due to greater synthesis or accumulation in resistant roots, or the pathogen in the susceptible root can metabolise the compound, and/or avoid eliciting defense pathways (Bell 1981, Kuc 1995). In this investigation, root exudates were collected from resistant roots not exposed to nematodes and thus the motility and hatching suppression observed must come from preformed defense compounds, which are synthesised during normal plant development. These preformed defense compounds commonly are located at sites where they can quickly initiate defense signalling or play a direct role in pathogen defense (Treutter 2006). This fits well with resistance to the migratory nature of *Pratylenchus*, as an effective compound should accumulate quickly to sufficient levels to immobilise the nematode before significant tissue damage can occur. In this study and in other *in vitro* motility suppression studies, motility was reduced as early as 24 h.a.i. (Rich et al. 1977, Baldridge et al. 1998), further indicating a preformed motility resistance mechanism.

## 5.4.3 Co-located Defense Response and Resistance Genes and Possible Secondary Metabolites Involved in *Pratylenchus* Hatching and Motility Suppression

A gene conferring resistance through the action of flavonoids co-locates to the QRInt.sk-2B.1 region suggesting a possible role of flavonoids in resistance to P. thornei. Flavonoids are either synthesised in response to pathogen invasion or are 'preformed' and constitutively synthesised (Treutter 2006). Flavonoids have antimicrobial properties and play important roles in plant defense, especially in the development of the early accumulation of phenolic compounds and peroxidases at the entry site (Zinov'eva et al. 2004) to limit invasion and migration (Fernandez and Heath 1989, 1989). QTL mapping of resistance to orange wheat blossom midge (OWBM), Sitodiplosis mosellana, positions the corresponding resistance gene Sm1 in the same chromosome region as the P. thornei resistance QRInt.sk-2B.1 (Table 4, Chapter 4 and Figure 4, Chapter 5). This Sm1 resistance confers an antibiotic form of resistance by impeding larval development through the activity of flavonoids and phenolics. Analysis of seed extracts revealed that the most resistant wheats had higher constitutive levels and more rapid induction after midge invasion of ferulic acid and p-coumaric acid than susceptible wheat (Ding et al. 2000). The Sm1 resistance blocks development of the midge at the first or second larval stage resulting in stunting and eventual death (Lamb et al. 2000, Berzonsky et al. 2003). Similar early P. thornei juvenile developmental suppression was observed in the resistant roots in this study, where juveniles were unable to moult to second or third stage juveniles. The co-location of this gene with P. thornei resistance QTL indicates a possible role of flavonoids in resistance, however, further fine mapping is required to determine whether this Sm1 locus is in fact the gene controlling P. thornei resistance.

The production and role of flavonoids inhibiting *Pratylenchus* motility is known from several plant species further strengthening their role as potential candidates in the *P. thornei* motility suppression observed in the Sokoll x Krichauff derived resistance. For example, resistant lima beans produced the toxic isoflavonoid coumestrol, 1 d.a.i. with *Pratylenchus scribneri*, and *in vitro* assays found concentrations between 10 to 15 µg/mL inhibited *P. scribneri* motility by 50% after exposure for 96 h (Rich et al. 1977). Baldridge et al. (1998) found higher messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) levels of isoflavone reductase, a key enzyme in the isoflavonoid medicarpin synthesis, in resistant than in susceptible lucerne roots in the absence of *P. penetrans*. An *in vitro* assay showed *P. penetrans* motility was inhibited on agar by medicarpin. Increased flavonoid levels in addition to other phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes transcripts in resistant roots may form components of a constitutive plant defense response that suppresses nematode motility. The involvement of flavonoids in other *Pratylenchus* resistance interactions provides rationale for further investigation as prospective compounds involved in *P. thornei* motility suppression.

The action of flavonoids on nematode motility suppression has shown species specificity. Soybean resistant cultivars synthesise the isoflavonoid glyceollin within 3 d.a.i. with *Meloidogyne incognita* and *Heterodera glycines*. Glyceollin specifically inhibits site I of the mitochondrial electron transport system (Boydston et al. 1983) and affects motility by inhibiting nematode respiration (Kaplan et al. 1980, 1980, Huang and Barker 1986). After exposure to 15 g/mL of glyceollin for 24 h, 70% of the *M. incognita* juveniles became non-motile. Although it was expected that glyceollin would inhibit electron transport of all soybean infecting nematodes, a specificity effect was observed as even application of 60 g/mL glyceollin had no effect on *Meloidogyne javanica* motility (Kaplan et al. 1980). A similar specificity was observed in Chapter 3 where motility suppression observed in resistant RE was restricted to *P. thornei* and did not affect the closely related species, *P. neglectus*. This suggests different nematodes may have differential uptakes or abilities to degrade or overcome the effects of these flavonoids.

Plant phenolic compounds are either synthesised in invaded cells or are released from preformed glycosidic compounds and play an important roles in resistance, especially to migratory nematodes which cause tissue damage immediately upon penetration (Treutter 2005, 2006). Preformed phenolic compounds stored in specialised cells and released into invaded tissue fits well with the resistance observed in this study where motility and hatching suppression occurred with unchallenged resistant roots. The released preformed phenolic compounds can be subsequently oxidised to form compounds toxic to both the plant but more importantly the nematode. Oxidised toxic compounds have been linked to Pratylenchus resistance. Mountain and Patrick (1959) suggested that Pratylenchus induced peach root lesion formation resulted from the release of plant phenolic compounds from glycosides due to the action of the enzyme,  $\beta$ -glucosidase, secreted by *Pratylenchus* during feeding. Although these observations have not been described in wheat, the hydrolysis of phenolic compounds by nematode secretions has been observed in other nematode-plant interactions. The potato cyst nematode, Globodera rostochiensis, injected a β-glucosidase that hydrolysed a glycoside to release phenolic aglycones that caused necrosis only in resistant roots (Giebel 1982). The presence of phenolics or the secretion of  $\beta$ -glucosidase were not identified in this study, but given their involvement in numerous other plantnematode resistant responses and their effects on Pratylenchus motility, their role in suppression of *P. thornei* motility cannot be ruled out.

Phenolics not only play a role in resistance by inhibiting motility through toxic oxidised compounds but also through forming physical cell wall protection mechanisms. The ferulic acid, produced as a result of *P. penetrans* cabbage invasion, was found covalently bound to cell wall polysaccharides (Wuyts et al. 2007) leading to the formation of lignin-like polymers (Fry 1986). The synthesis of lignin-like substances also occurred in lucerne roots invaded with *P. penetrans* (Townshend and Stobbs 1981) and was associated with the phenolic

compound hydroxybenzaldehyde (Pridham 1960). This cross-linking may act as a physical mechanism to protect cell walls from enzymatic attack by cell wall degrading enzymes secreted by nematodes (Hartley and Jones 1977). An increase in activity of certain peroxidase enzymes has been correlated to nematode resistance responses due to associated increased cell wall lignification (Zinov'eva et al. 2004) (Hiraga 2001, Kawano 2003). Increased peroxidase activity, about five times higher, was observed in resistant cabbage roots invaded with P. penetrans compared to susceptible roots (Acedo and Rhode 1971). In addition, an increase in peroxidase activity in *H. avenae* resistant wheat was associated with increased lignin in the cells where the nematode was localised (Andres et al. 2001). Peroxidases have a role in lignification as they produce free radicals of monomeric lignin precursors which spontaneously polymerise to form lignin networks (Harkin and Obst 1973, Grisebach 1981). Lignification may act as a physical and chemical protection mechanism, as it hardens cell walls preventing entry of nematode enzymes to cell wall polysaccharides (Ride 1978) and makes cell walls more resistant to the diffusion of pathogen toxins. This cell wall strengthening may explain the reduced *P. thornei* migration/motility in the Sokoll x Krichauff resistant roots observed in Chapter 3. In addition, the prevention of movement through the cortex due to reduced entry into lignified cells may lead to the suppression of feeding and development (as discussed in Chapter 2 and 3) due to reduced access to host nutrients. In order to determine whether lignification occurs as a P. thornei resistance mechanism, simple root staining techniques could be utilised.

Co-located resistance genes to the hatching and motility QTL identified in this study have also been associated with the action of peroxidises, and their role in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Hiraga 2001, Kawano 2003). Reactive oxygen species, generated as part of the hypersensitive response, are involved in the induction of necrotic cell death, directly or indirectly causing damage to proteins, lipids and DNA, which ultimately disrupts cellular integrity and causes cell death. The Sr5 stem rust resistance gene maps within the P. thornei resistance QRInt.sk-6D and QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.1 chromosome regions (Table 4, Chapter 4 and Figure 4, Chapter 5). The Sr5 resistance response is correlated with rapid increases in peroxidase activity, lignification and rapid cell death (Beardmore et al. 1983, Tiburzy 1984, Reisener et al. 1986, Moerschbacher 1988). The gene for resistance to hessian fly (Mayetiola destructor), H13, is linked to cfd132, a marker that resides within the P. thornei resistance QRInt.sk-6D and QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.1 chromosome region (Table 4, Chapter 4 and Figure 4, Chapter 5). The H13 Hessian fly antibiosis resistance (Hatchett and Gill 1981, Hatchett et al. 1981, Gill et al. 1987) is due to increased peroxidase activity. Resistance causing larval death is thought to involve a localised oxidative burst-associated hypersensitive response with rapid and prolonged accumulation of hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$ and superoxide. Both ROS species were detected at the attack site during resistant interactions but not in the case of susceptible (Liu et al. 2010). Based on co-located markers, the defense response genes Ppo, encoding polyphenol oxidase (peroxidase) lies within the

*QRInt.sk-6D* and *QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D.1* region and the defense response genes, *Per2* for peroxidase, and *Sod* for superoxide dismutase, linked to the RFLP *mwg950* (Li et al. 1999) which is closely linked to *gwm410* (Appels 2004) that resides in the same region as the *QRInt.sk-2B.2*, *QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.2* and *QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.2*. The co-location of these peroxidase defense response genes strongly suggests that the production of peroxidases leading to ROS could play an integral role in the Sokoll x Krichauff resistance. ROS may induce necrosis and death of cortical cells rapidly in advance of penetrated areas, to serve as a physical barrier to prevent further *Pratylenchus* migration (Moldenhauer et al. 2006).

Chitinase genes that co-locate with the hatching suppression QTL may explain the reduced P. thornei hatch observed in this study. In addition to lignification, the co-located Sr5 resistance gene has also been associated with the accumulation of mRNA encoding 1,3glucanase and chitinase in resistant lines after invasion (Munch-Garthoff et al. 1997). Chitinases involved in fungal resistance cause lysis of hyphal tips (Mauch et al. 1988, Leah et al. 1991) as they break the chitin polymer linkages in fungal cell walls. Chitinases are induced locally at invasion sites, accumulate in other tissues following invasion or are constitutively expressed (Pan et al. 1992). Chitin is found in nematodes as a component of egg shells (Bird and Bird 1991) but generally not as a component of the cuticle (Spiegel and McClure 1995). Nematode hatching involves a change in membrane permeability of the eggshell (Clarke et al. 1978), causing an influx of water into the egg to rehydrate and activate the juvenile (Perry 1978). The presence of chitinases in resistant roots may act on egg shell chitin to induce egg shell permeability leading to eclosion before the juvenile has developed to hatching maturity (Mercer et al. 1992). For example, in response to *M. incognita*, resistant soybean roots had increased (2 units/mg) and earlier production of chitinases than in susceptible lines (Qiu et al. 1997). Exposure of *M. hapla* eggs to microbial chitinase solutions resulted in enhanced hatching but increased mortality of juveniles released, suggesting chitinases degraded egg shell chitin to the degree where juveniles were released prematurely. The expression and thus presence of chitinases in resistant roots could explain the reduced *P. thornei* hatching observed in the resistant lines in this study. Hatching may have been induced before juvenile development was completed causing the release of juveniles from eggs not ready to survive in the environment outside the egg.

In addition, chitin binding protein genes that co-locate with the hatching suppression QTL could also promote premature *Pratylenchus* hatch and in turn induce resistance. The defense gene *Cbp1*, a chitin binding protein linked to the RFLP *cdo678* (Li et al. 1999), maps closely to *gwm47* (Appels 2004), which resides within the *QRInt.sk-2B.3*, *QRInt.hatCR.sk-2B.1* and *QRInt.motRE.sk-2B.1* regions. Chitin binding proteins have also been shown to have antifungal properties, most likely inhibiting growth through interfering with cell wall synthesis, by preferentially binding to sites where cell wall synthesis takes place (Suetake et al. 2000). Thus, the chitin in nematode egg shells may be a target for these defense proteins

to cause the weakening egg cell walls making them more susceptible to damage. The expression of chitin binding proteins could also lead the premature release of juveniles causing the *P. thornei* hatching suppression observed in Chapter 3.

The genomic position of a ribosome inactivating protein (RIP) is closely linked to *cfd49* and *KsuG48* (Sourdille et al. 2004), which reside within the *QRInt.sk-6D* and *QRInt.hatRE.sk-6D*. 1. RIPs are widely distributed in higher plants (Barbieri et al. 1993) and inactivate eukaryotic ribosomes which inhibits protein synthesis and thus play important roles in plant defense systems (Nielsen and Boston 2001, Peumans et al. 2001). RIPs are active against a wide range of pathogenic fungi including *Fusarium oxysporum*, *Rhizoctonia solani*, *Erysiphe graminis* and *Pythium irregular* (Logemann et al. 1992, Vivanco et al. 1999, Bieri et al. 2000). They also have defensive roles against certain insects including Coleopteran and Lepidopteran species (Gatehouse et al. 1990). The nematode cuticle, covered with glycoproteins, may serve as binding sites for RIPs, as in fungi, which may disrupt protein synthesis within migrating nematodes causing the motility and hatching suppression observed in the resistant Sokoll lines investigated.

No one compound or mechanism for the control of plant resistance has been reported (Kuc 1995) and thus a complex mix of compounds and responses are likely required to provide resistance against nematodes. Due to the complexity of the plant's defense system, one or several of the above described resistance pathways/compounds may play a role in the suppression of *P. thornei* motility, feeding and hatching observed in Chapters 2 and 3. Further investigation is required to narrow down the likely candidates. For example, various staining techniques, mass spectrometry, chromatography and gene expression analyses can be utilised to detect, guantify and localise flavonoids, phenolics, lignin, peroxidises and ROS in resistant and susceptible root tissue. Once the *Pratylenchus* resistance has been further characterised genetically in Sokoll x Krichauff, which will require extensive fine mapping, it can be exploited and/or introgressed into other wheat varieties. Resistance can also be engineered through the transgenic expression of defense-related genes in heterologous species or by disrupting biological processes in nematodes. Through the regulation of gene expression, production of plant defense compounds can be manipulated to synthesise phytoalexins for disease control. However, the pathways for phytoalexin synthesis are quite complex and vary in different plant species (Kuc 1995) and thus this approach may be difficult. Some success has come from the production of elicitors to stimulate phytoalexin pathways after invasion at the invasion site (Yoshikawa et al. 1993). An alternative approach would be to genetically engineer plants with a key enzyme in the biosynthetic pathway to synthesise phytoalexin stereoisomer's (Kuc 1995) to produce resistant compounds when and where defense is required.

#### 5.5 Conclusion

The QTL linked to hatching and motility suppression co-locate to the *P. thornei* resistance QTL identified in this study (Chapter 4) and in previous studies (Schmidt et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2006) on chromosomes 2B, 5B, 6B and 6D. This indicates that these resistance QTL play a role in inhibiting *P. thornei* motility or juvenile hatching and that the simple and inexpensive assays designed in this study are able to detect P. thornei resistance. To further define and confirm these QTL, phenotypic analysis needs to be performed on the entire DH population. Heat treatments suggested that the preformed resistant root compounds causing motility and hatching suppression are moderately heat resistant. Flavonoids, oxidised phenols, lignifications and peroxidases associated with insect resistance genes that co-located with the hatching and motility suppression QTL and the P. thornei resistance QTL regions have been implicated in other Pratylenchus-plant resistance interactions. This indicates a potential role for these compounds in the P. thornei resistance observed in Sokoll x Krichauff. Further investigation of these resistant root compounds is needed to define their chemical nature and their specific role in suppression of nematode development. Additional characterisation of these compounds will lead to the correlation of a biological resistance mechanism to an identified P. thornei resistance QTL.

### 5.6 Literature Cited

Acedo, J. R. and R. A. Rhode (1971). "Histochemical root pathology of *Brassica oleracea* capitata L. infected by *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Cobb) Filipjev and Schuurmans Stekhoven (Nematoda:Tylenchidae)." Journal of Nematology **3**(1): 62-68.

Andres, M. F., M. T. Melillo, A. Delibes, M. D. Romero and T. Bleve-Zacheo (2001). "Changes in wheat root enzymes correlated with resistance to cereal cyst nematodes." <u>New</u> <u>Phytologist</u> **152**(2): 343-354.

Appels, R. (2004). Wheat Composite, *Triticum aestivum* (Wheat ABD). http://wheat.pw.usda.gov.

Baldridge, G. D., N. R. O'Neill and D. A. Samac (1998). "Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) resistance to the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*: Defense-response gene mRNA and isoflavonoid phytoalexin levels in roots." <u>Plant Molecular Biology</u> **38**(6): 999-1010. Barbieri, L., M. G. Battelli and F. Stirpe (1993). "Ribosome inactivating proteins from plants." <u>Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta</u> **1154**(3-4): 237-282.

Beardmore, J., J. P. Ride and J. W. Granger (1983). "Cellular lignification as a factor in the hypersensitive resistance of wheat to stem rust "<u>Physiological Plant Pathology</u> **22**: 209-220. Bell, A. (1981). "Biochemical mechanisms of disease resistance "<u>Annual Review of Plant</u> <u>Physiology</u> **32**: 21.

Bertin, C., X. H. Yang and L. A. Weston (2003). "The role of root exudates and allelochemicals in the rhizosphere." <u>Plant and Soil</u> **256**(1): 67-83.

Berzonsky, W. A., H. Ding, S. D. Haley, M. O. Harris, R. J. Lamb, R. I. H. McKenzie, H. W. Ohm, F. L. Patterson, F. B. Peairs, D. R. Porter, R. H. Ratcliffe and T. G. Shanower (2003).
"Breeding wheat for resistance to insects." <u>Plant Breeding Reviews</u> 22: 221-297.
Bieri, S., I. Potrykus and J. Futterer (2000). "Expression of active barley seed ribosome-inactivating protein in transgenic wheat." <u>Theoretical and Applied Genetics</u> 100: 755-763.
Bird, A. F. and J. Bird (1991). <u>The Structure of Nematodes</u>. San Diego, CA, Academic Press.
Boydston, R., J. D. Paxton and D. E. Koeppe (1983). "Glyceollin - a site-specific inhibitor of electron-transport in isolated soybean mitochondria." <u>Plant Physiology</u> 72(1): 151-155.
Clarke, A. J., R. N. Perry and J. Hennessy (1978). "Osmotic stress and the hatching of

Globodera rostochiensis." <u>Nematologica</u> **24** 384-392.

Ding, H., R. J. Lamb and N. Ames (2000). "Inducible production of phenolic acids in wheat and antibiotic resistance to *Sitodiplosis mosellana*." <u>Journal of Chemical Ecology</u> **26**(4): 969-985.

Evans, A. A. F. and R. N. Perry (1976). Survival strategies in nematode. <u>The Organisation of</u> <u>Nematodes</u> N. A. Croll. London & New York, Academic Press: 383-424.

Fernandez, M. R. and M. C. Heath (1989). "Interactions of the nonhost french bean plant (*Phaseolus-vulgaris*) with parasitic and saprophytic Fungi .2. Fungal development after inoculation by injection or wounding." <u>Canadian Journal of Botany</u> **67**(3): 670-675. Fernandez, M. R. and M. C. Heath (1989). "Interactions of the nonhost french bean plant

(*Phaseolus-vulgaris*) with parasitic and saprophytic Fungi .3. Cytologically detectable responses." <u>Canadian Journal of Botany</u> **67**(3): 676-686.

Fry, S. C. (1986). "Cross-linking of matrix polymers in the growing cell-walls of angiosperms." <u>Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology</u> **37**: 165-186.

Gatehouse, A., L. Barbieri, F. Stirpe and R. R. D. Croy (1990). "Effects of ribosome inactivating proteins on insect development differences between Lepidoptera and Coleoptera." <u>Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata</u> **54**: 43-51.

Giebel, J. (1982). "Mechanism of resistance to plant nematodes." <u>Annual Review of</u> <u>Phytopathology</u> **20**: 257-279.

Gill, B. S., J. H. Hatchett and W. J. Raupp (1987). "Chromosomal mapping of Hessian fly resistance gene *H13* in the D-genome of wheat." <u>Journal of Heredity</u> **78**(2): 97-100.

Grisebach, H. (1981). Lignins. <u>The Biochemistry of Plants, Secondary Plant Products</u>. E. E. Conn. New York, London, Toronto, Sydney, San Francisco, Academic Press. **7:** 457-478. Harkin, J. M. and J. R. Obst (1973). "Lignification in trees: Indication of exclusive peroxidase

participation "<u>Science</u> **180**: 296-298. Hartley, R. D. and E. C. Jones (1977). "Phenolic components and degradability of cell walls of grass and legume species." <u>Phytochemistry</u> **16**: 1531-1534.

Hatchett, J. H. and B. S. Gill (1981). "D-genome sources of resistance in *Triticum tauschii* to Hessian fly." Journal of Heredity **72**(2): 126-127.

Hatchett, J. H., T. J. Martin and R. W. Livers (1981). "Expression and inheritance of resistance to Hessian fly in synthetic hexaploid wheats derived from *Triticum tauschii* (Coss) Schmal." <u>Crop Science</u> **21**(5): 731-734.

Heller, M., J. F. Carpenter and T. W. Randolph (1999). "Protein formulation and lyophilisation cycle design: prevention of damage due to freeze-concentration induced phase separation." <u>Biotechnology and Bioengineering</u> **63**(2): 166-174.

Hiraga, S. (2001). "A large family of class III plant peroxidases." <u>Plant and Cell Physiology</u> **42**(5): 462.

Huang, J. S. and K. R. Barker (1986). "Radioimmunoassay of glyceollin-I in soybean roots infected with race-1 of *Heterodera glycines*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **76**(10): 1139-1139.

Iriti, M. and F. Faoro (2009). "Chemical diversity and defence metabolism: How plants cope with pathogens and ozone pollution." <u>International Journal of Molecular Sciences</u> **10**(8): 3371-3399.

Jammel, F., R. Bogner, F. Mauri and D. Kalonia (1997). "Investigation of physicochemical changes to L-asparaginase during freeze-thaw cycling." <u>Journal of Pharmacy and</u> Pharmacology **49**: 472-477

Kaplan, D. T., N. T. Keen and I. J. Thomason (1980). "Association of glyceollin with the incompatible response of soybean roots to *Meloidogyne incognita*." <u>Physiological Plant</u> <u>Pathology</u> **16**(3): 309-318.

Kaplan, D. T., N. T. Keen and I. J. Thomason (1980). "Studies on the mode of action of glyceollin in soybean - incompatibility to the root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita*." <u>Physiological Plant Pathology</u> **16**(3): 319-325.

Kawano, T. (2003). "Roles of the reactive oxygen species-generating peroxidase reactions in plant defense and growth induction." <u>Plant Cell Reports</u> **21**(9): 829-837.

Keen, N. T. (1992). "The molecular-biology of disease resistance." <u>Plant Molecular Biology</u> **19**(1): 109-122.

Kuc, J. (1995). "Phytoalexins, stress metabolism and disease resistance in plants." <u>Annual</u> <u>Review of Phytopathology</u> **33**: 275-297.

Lamb, R. J., J. R. Tucker, I. L. Wise and M. A. H. Smith (2000). "Trophic interaction between *Sitodiplosis mosellana* (Diptera : Cecidomyiidae) and spring wheat: implications for yield and seed quality." <u>Canadian Entomologist</u> **132**(5): 607-625.

Leah, R., H. Tommerup, I. Svendsen and J. Mundy (1991). "Biochemical and molecular characterization of three barley seed proteins with antifungal properties." <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u> **266**(3): 1564-1573.

Li, W. L., J. D. Faris, J. M. Chittoor, J. E. Leach, S. Hulbert, D. J. Liu, P. D. Chen and B. S. Gill (1999). "Genomic manning of defense response genes in wheat." <u>Theoretical and</u> <u>Applied Genetics</u> **98**(2): 226-233.

Lindgren, P. B., J. L. Jakobek and J. A. Smith (1992). "Molecular analysis of plant defense responses to plant pathogens." Journal of Nematology **24**(3): 330-337.

Liu, X. M., C. E. Williams, J. A. Nemacheck, H. Wang, S. Subramanyam, C. Zheng and M. S. Chen (2010). "Reactive oxygen species are involved in plant defense against a gall midge." <u>Plant Physiology</u> **152**(2): 985-999.

Logemann, J., G. Jach, H. Tommerup , J. Mundy and J. Schell (1992). "Expression of a barley ribosome inactivating protein leads to increased fungal protection in transgenic tobacco plants." <u>BioTechniques</u> 305-308.

Manly, K. F. and J. M. Olson (1999). "Overview of QTL mapping software and introduction to map manager QT." <u>Mammalian Genome</u> **10**(4): 327-334.

Mauch, F., B. Mauch-Mani and T. Boller (1988). "Antifungal hydrolases in pea tissue II. Inhibition of fungal growth by combinations of chitinase and beta-1,3-glucanase." <u>Plant</u> <u>Physiology</u> **88**: 936-942.

Mercer, C. F., D. R. Greenwood and J. L. Grant (1992). "Effect of plant and microbial chitinases on the eggs and juveniles of *Meloidogyne hapla* Chitwood (Nematoda, Tylenchida)." <u>Nematologica</u> **38**(2): 227-236.

Moerschbacher, B. (1988). "Lignin biosynthesis and the resistance of wheat to stem rust." <u>Phytoparasitica</u> **16**(2): 197-198.

Moldenhauer, J., B. M. Moerschbacher and A. J. Van der Westhuizen (2006). "Histological investigation of stripe rust (*Puccinia striiformis* f.sp *tritici*) development in resistant and susceptible wheat cultivars." <u>Plant Pathology</u> **55**(4): 469-474.

Moody, E. H., B. F. Lownsbery and J. M. Ahmed (1973). "Culture of the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus vulnus* on carrot disks." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **19**: 125-134.

Mountain, W. B. and Z. A. Patrick (1959). "The peach replant problem in Ontario. VII. The pathogenicity of *Pratylenchus penetrans* (obb 1917) Filip. and Stek." <u>Canadian Journal of Botany</u> **37**: 459-470.

Munch-Garthoff, S., J. M. Neuhaus, T. Boller, B. Kemmerling and K. H. Kogel (1997). "Expression of beta-1,3-glucanase and chitinase in healthy, stem-rust-affected and elicitortreated near-isogenic wheat lines showing *Sr5* or *Sr24* specified race-specific rust resistance." <u>Planta</u> **201**(2): 235-244.

Nielsen, K. and R. S. Boston (2001). "Ribosome-inactivating proteins: A plant perspective." Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology **52**: 785-816.

Osbourn, A. E. (1996). "Preformed antimicrobial compounds and plant defense against fungal attack." <u>Plant Cell</u> 8(10): 1821-1831.

Pan, S. Q., X. S. Ye and J. Kuc (1992). "Induction of chitinases in tobacco plants systemically protected against blue mold by *Peronospora tabacina* or Tobacco Mosaic-Virus." <u>Phytopathology</u> **82**(1): 119-123.

Paxton, J. D. (1981). "Phytoalexins - a working re-definition." <u>Journal of Phytopathology</u> **101**(2): 106-109.

Perry, R. N. (1978). "Events in the hatching process of the potato cyst nematode, *Globodera rostochiensis*." <u>Agricultural Research Council Research Review</u> **4**: 79-83.

Peumans, W. J., Q. Hao and E. J. M. Van Damme (2001). "Ribosome-inactivating proteins from plants: More than RNA N-glycosidases?" <u>Faseb Journal</u> **15**(9): 1493-1506.

Pridham, J. B. (1960). <u>Phenolics in Plants in Health and Disease</u>. New York, Pergaman Press.

Qiu, J., J. Hallmann, N. Kokalis-Burelle, D. B. Weaver, R. Rodriguez-Kabana and S. Tuzun (1997). "Activity and differential induction of chitinase isozymes in soybean cultivars resistant or susceptible to root-knot nematodes." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **29**: 523-530

Reisener, H. J., R. Tiburzy, K. H. Kogei, B. Moerschbacher and B. Heck (1986). Mechanism of resistance of wheat against stem rust in the *Sr5/P5* interaction. <u>Biology and Molecular</u> <u>Biology of Plant-Pathogen interactions</u>. J. A. Bailey. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, London, Paris, Tokyo, Springer. **1**: 141-148.

Rich, J. R., N. T. Keen and I. J. Thomason (1977). "Association of coumestans with the hypersensitivity of lima bean roots to *Pratylenchus scriberni*." <u>Physiological Plant Pathology</u> **10**: 105-116.

Ride, J. P. (1978). "The role of cell wall alterations in resistance to fungi." <u>Annals of Applied</u> <u>Biology</u> **89**: 302-306.

Schmidt, A. L., C. L. McIntyre, J. Thompson, N. P. Seymour and C. J. Liu (2005). "Quantitative trait loci for root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) resistance in Middle-Eastern landraces and their potential for introgression into Australian bread wheat." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **56**(10): 1059-1068.

Shacter, E. (2000). "Quantification and significance of protein oxidation in biological samples." <u>Drug Metabolism Reviews</u> **32**(3-4): 307-326.

Sourdille, P., S. Singh, T. Cadalen, G. L. Brown-Guedira, G. Gay, L. Qi, B. S. Gill, P. Dufour, A. Murigneux and M. Bernard (2004). "Microsatellite-based deletion bin system for the establishment of genetic-physical map relationships in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)." Functional & integrative genomics **4**(1): 12-25.

Spiegel, Y. and M. A. McClure (1995). "The surface coat of plant-parasitic nematodes: Chemical composition, origin, and biological role - A review." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **27** (2): 127.

Suetake, T., S. Tsuda, S. Kawabata, K. Miura, S. Iwanaga, K. Hikichi, K. Nitta and K. Kawano (2000). " Chitin-binding proteins in invertebrates and plants comprise a common chitin-binding structural motif." Journal of Biological Chemistry **275**(24): 17929-17932. Tiburzy, R. (1984). <u>Untersuchungen zur Bedeutung der hypersensitiven Reaktion befallener Weizenzellen als Resistenzfaktor gegen *Puccinia graminis*. sp. *tritici* PhD, Aachen University of Technology.</u>

Townshend, J. L. and L. Stobbs (1981). "Histopathology and histochemistry of lesions caused by *Pratylenchus penetrans* in roots of forage legumes." <u>Canadian Journal of Plant</u> <u>Pathology</u> **3**(3): 123-128.

Treutter, D. (2005). "Significance of flavonoids in plant resistance and enhancement of their biosynthesis." <u>Plant Biology</u> **7**(6): 581-591.

Treutter, D. (2006). "Significance of flavonoids in plant resistance: A review." <u>Environmental</u> <u>Chemistry Letters</u> **4**(3): 147-157.

Uren, N. C. (2000). Types, amounts, and possible functions of compunds released into the rhizosphere by soil-grown plants. <u>The Rhizosphere: Biochemistry and Organic Substances at the Soil-plant Interface</u>. R. Pinton, Z. Varanini and P. Nannipieri. New York, Marcel Dekker: 19-40.

Van Ooijen, J. W. (2004). MapQTL 5, Software for the mapping of quantitative trait loci in experimental populations. , Kyazma BV, Wageningen.

VanEtten, H. D., J. W. Mansfield, J. A. Bailey and E. E. Farmer (1994). "Two classes of plant antibiotics - phytoalexins versus phytoanticipins." <u>Plant Cell</u> **6**(9): 1191-1192.

Vivanco, J. M., B. J. Savary and H. E. Flores (1999). "Characterization of two novel type I ribosome-inactivating proteins from the storage roots of the andean crop *Mirabilis expansa*." <u>Plant Physiology</u> **119**: 1447-1456.

Wuyts, N., G. Lognay, M. Verscheure, M. Marlier, D. De Waele and R. Swennen (2007). "Potential physical and chemical barriers to infection by the burrowing nematode *Radopholus similis* in roots of susceptible and resistant banana (*Musa* spp.)." <u>Plant Pathology</u> **56**(5): 878-890.

Yoshikawa, M., N. Yamaoka and Y. Takeuchi (1993). "Elicitors - their significance and primary-modes of action in the induction of plant defense reactions." <u>Plant and Cell</u> <u>Physiology</u> **34**(8): 1163-1173.

Zinov'eva, S. V., N. I. Vasyukova and O. L. Ozeretskovskaya (2004). "Biochemical aspects of plant interactions with phytoparasitic nematodes: A review." <u>Applied Biochemistry and</u> <u>Microbiology</u> **40**(2): 111-119.

Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson and I. D. Godwin (2005). "Identification of quantitative trait loci for resistance to two species of root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) in wheat." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **56**(4): 345-352.

Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, A. W. Milgate, U. K. Bansal, P. M. Williamson, H. Raman and H. S. Bariana (2010). "QTL mapping of multiple foliar disease and root-lesion nematode resistances in wheat." <u>Molecular Breeding</u> **26**(1): 107-124.

Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, J. G. Sheedy and J. C. Nelson (2006). "Mapping quantitative trait loci for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* from synthetic hexaploid wheat in the International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **57**(5): 525-530.

# Chapter 6 General Conclusions and Future Directions

Methods for control of *Pratylenchus* in wheat are restricted due to the wide host range preventing use of rotations and the inefficiencies associated with chemical control. Although nematicides have been effective in the past, due to their poor target specificity, high cost and damaging effects on animals and the environment, research focus has turned away from the synthesis and design of new synthetic nematicides toward the development of alternatives such as biological control and resistant cultivars. Several studies have identified various sources of resistance to P. thornei in wheat and developed molecular markers for use in resistance breeding. However, a simple understanding of the mechanisms of resistance and how they interfere with the nematode's biology and how they could be utilised as biochemical control alternatives is lacking. Prior to this investigation, the biological mechanisms of P. thornei resistance were not well understood. The resistance to P. thornei observed in the Sokoll x Krichauff wheat population is complex and under the control of several loci which suppress all nematode developmental stages. Through analysing invasion of roots by each life stage, it was shown that resistance in the Sokoll x Krichauff population occurs post penetration to suppress P. thornei motility/migration and juvenile development causing reduced reproduction.

This investigation showed that migration and motility of *P. thornei* was suppressed in resistant roots when exposed to root exudates from unchallenged plants, indicating that resistant genotypes constitutively produce compounds that inhibit motility which are specific to *P. thornei* and not *P. neglectus*. Egg deposition and hatch of *P. thornei* were also significantly reduced in resistant roots which may be explained by the presence of hatching inhibitors observed in root exudates. Biological control of *Pratylenchus* can be achieved through manipulating these complex chemical resistance interactions. Temperature treatments indicated that these resistant root compounds are generally stable in nature. However, further characterisation of these resistance root compounds is needed to define their chemical nature and specific role in suppression of *P. thornei* development.

Secondary metabolite candidate compounds within resistant roots linked to *Pratylenchus* mobility and hatching suppression were identified in this study as sugars, organic acids and amino acids (flavonoids, cinnamic acids, phenolics and phytoecdysteroids). Various histochemical techniques could be utilised to detect, quantify and localise compounds such as flavonoids, lignin and wall-bound phenolics. However, metabolomics analysis using gas chromatographies coupled with mass spectrometry would be the best ways forward to characterise resistant exudates. Gas chromatography enables separation of the components of the root exudate mixture based on their chemical properties. Downstream mass

spectroscopy can characterise each of the components individually by breaking each molecule into ionised fragments and detects these fragments using their mass to charge ratio. Combination of the two techniques allows both gualitative and guantitative evaluation of each component of the complex exudate mix to characterise differences in susceptible and resistant root secretions at different points during nematode invasion. Chromatography methods have been successfully used to characterise resistant compounds from root exudates that prevent nematode motility. For example, chromatography techniques identified dopamine and ferulic acid as resistant compounds in roots of banana cultivars against R. similis (Valette et al. 1997, Wuyts et al. 2007) and liquid chromatography identified chlorogenic acid in resistant tomato root extracts which inhibited Meloidogyne motility (Pegard et al. 2005). The generation of near-isogenic lines (NIL) for each of the major QTL (2B and 6D) would be useful for comparative physiological and biochemical studies of the function of these QTL. The NIL lines, generated by crossing lines with the QTL of interest to the recurrent parent and then repeated selfing or backcrossing the F1 plants to the recurrent parents, produces lines identical to the parent except in the region around the QTL, and thus any differences observed would be due to the resistance QTL.

Characterisation of resistance compounds will provide new sources of biochemical and biological control. The turn in the focus from chemical to biocontrol agents has led to some success with the development of several commercially available bionematicide products. These products are based on natural predators such as nematophagous fungi and bacteria, by their direct involvement as predators or biochemically by the production of toxic metabolites that interfere with nematode physiology inhibiting parasitic activities. For example, the spores of the bacterial pathogen Pasteuria, can be applied to the soil and attach to the nematode's cuticle, germinate, penetrate and parasitise the nematode causing death (Jatala 1986). Biochemical control can also be achieved through use of natural plant extracts as nematicides themselves when applied directly, as organic soil amendments or through rotational crops. For example, the polyacetylene, thiarubrine C, from Asteraceae (sunflower) roots inhibited *P. penetrans* and *M. incognita* in a motility bioassay and when used as a soil treatment decreased *M. incognita* infection of tomato seedlings by 95% (Sanchez de Viala et al. 1998). The resistant wheat root compounds identified in this study could provide *Pratylenchus* resistance through application to the soil or as seed treatments. In addition, these natural plant compounds can serve as models for the development of chemically synthesised derivatives.

Alternatively, the plants existing defenses can be enhanced through genetic engineering. The wheat biochemical pathways involved in *P. thornei* resistance could be manipulated *in vivo* to produce or enhance production of these motility and hatching suppressive compounds. For example, Arabidopsis plants transformed with the *F5H* gene had increased lignin content (50% higher) which decreased *M. incognita* reproduction (Wuyts et al. 2006), probably due to the prevention of a feeding site. Alternatively, genetic engineering can be used to target the nematode directly or interfere with the nematode-plant interactions. For example, resistance to G. pallida in potatoes was achieved through feeding inhibition. The cysteine proteinases of G. pallida are thought to be important in digestion of plant material during feeding and potatoes genetically modified to express cysteine proteinase inhibitors (cystatins) showed resistance to G. pallida under field conditions (Urwin et al. 2001). Essential nematode genes can be silenced, preventing nematode invasion and/or development. For example, the secreted protein encoded by the parasitism gene 16D10 expressed in Meloidogyne esophageal gland cells is essential for giant-cell establishment (Hussey 1989, Hussey et al. 1989, Huang et al. 2003, Davis et al. 2004). RNA interference (RNAi) approaches silenced this gene and reduced nematode infectivity by the four major Meloidogyne species (Huang et al. 2006). In addition, the silencing of two P. thornei genes, calponin and troponin C, resulted in paralysis and uncoordinated movements which caused up to 80% reduction in reproduction on carrot mini discs probably due to suppressed root feeding/migration (Tan et al. 2013). Thus, RNAi is another possible approach to engineer Pratylenchus resistance as silencing of genes to disrupt the parasitic process could create novel, durable and broad resistance.

Although *P. thornei* penetration, migration and juvenile development were assessed within the roots in addition to *in vitro* analysis, destructive staining methods and extraction techniques utilised did not allow observations in real time. While *in vitro* assays can closely resemble the root or soil environment, critical factors absent from these systems or unrealistic conditions may produce artificial results. For example, in this study, less hatching suppression was observed in resistant RE than near actively growing roots. Most likely due to lower concentrations of hatching inhibitors in collected RE than in exudates continually produced by live roots. Emerging technologies now enable the fluorescent tagging of nematodes so that in combination with microscopy, nematode development within the root can be visualised in real time during all invasive stages. Examples include the use of green fluorescent protein transformation, fluorescent dyes (fluorescein isothiocyanate/diacetate) or quantum dots (Hashmi et al. 1997, Huang et al. 2007, Goto et al. 2010).

Increasing importance has been placed on the development and deployment of natural sources of resistance to *P. thornei* within commercial wheat cultivars. Despite the identification and investigation of several resistant sources and resistance QTL, no *P. thornei* resistant commercial cultivar has been released to date that carries *P. thornei* resistance genes. The identification of novel sources of genetic resistance and understanding of their biological mechanisms will allow effective combinations of genes either to be used alternatively or pyramided to generate effective and stable *Pratylenchus* resistance. Due to

the extensive costs and labour associated with Pratylenchus phenotypic screening methods the development of molecular markers and their employment through marker-assisted selection will accelerate the development and thus availability of resistant cultivars to the grower. In this study two highly significant P. thornei resistance QTL were identified on chromosomes 2BS and 6DS, QRInt.sk-2B.1 and QRInt.sk-6D, which mapped to locations previously identified to be associated with Pratylenchus resistance and accounted for a large portion (24% and 43%) of the resistance observed. This shows that in this population much of the resistance to P. thornei is controlled by a few loci with large effects. The linkage of SSR marker locus barc183 to QRInt.sk-6D is also associated with P. thornei resistance found in other mapping studies in different genetic backgrounds. This highlights the potential benefit of this marker for use in marker-assisted selection. This marker and other linked markers will allow gene pyramiding to provide effective resistance combinations. When incorporating resistance into new cultivars through backcrossing, use of resistant markers through marker assisted selection will eliminate the need to select progeny lines based on their resistance phenotypes. Thus, molecular markers eliminate the need for large scale phenotyping and facilitate the rapid identification of resistance loci, accelerating the development of new resistant cultivars (Schmidt et al. 2005, Toktay et al. 2006). As more than one allele may be responsible for the resistance at QRInt.sk-6D map based cloning may be a good approach to further characterise Pratylenchus resistance genes and their functions.

The Sokoll x Krichauff genetic map constructed with over 900 molecular markers has a high marker density covering a total of 3477 cM of the wheat genome with an average marker density of 3.56 cM. This map is a valuable resource which could be used to map other agronomically important traits such as quality (protein content, hardiness, seed colour), abiotic stresses (drought, salinity, cold and heat) and biotic stresses including resistance to other pathogens.

The limiting factor in identifying new sources of *Pratylenchus* resistance and the development of resistant cultivars has been the phenotyping of resistance due to the laborious nature of screening methods and large variation associated with reproducibility. However, with the development of PCR diagnostic approaches, phenotypic resistance data is more easily and reliably obtained. However, this developing technology is expensive and protocols are currently proprietary. The biological assays designed in this study to investigate motility and hatching suppression are simple and inexpensive and allow high throughput. They have the potential use as an alternative resistance phenotypic screening methods. In addition, knowledge of the biochemicals involved in resistance could also be utilised to improve phenotypic resistance screening methods.

For a molecular marker to be useful in a breeding program it needs to be tightly linked to resistance, polymorphic in different germplasm and have high heritability. In this study the *QRInt.sk-2B.1* and *QRInt.sk-6D* span large chromosomal regions of 101 and 119 cM within 409 and 295 cM chromosomes, respectively. Therefore, before markers flanking these QTL can be utilised for MAS, fine mapping is required to delimit the QTL interval and to establish tightly linked markers. This could be achieved through using a large recombinant inbred line population and the development of near-isogenic lines for each of the QTL. Once the distance in the region between the *P. thornei* resistance gene/s and the cosegregating markers is considered to be within a useful range, a map-based cloning approach would be the next step in characterising resistance and would allow development of allele specific markers. Markers based on the gene sequences would allow allele mining in different germplasms to identify new and superior alleles, or perfect markers, for resistance.

To establish whether linked markers are polymorphic in different germplasm and have high heritability, validation in diverse germplasm and environments is required. The genetic variation detected in the mapping population around the QTL region may not be shared by other genetic and breeding populations due to allelic diversity (Nicholas 2006). Although markers linked to the Pratylenchus resistance QTL identified in this study explain a large percentage of the phenotypic variation they need to be validated in representative parental lines or breeding populations before being utilised in routine MAS. Despite the 6D and 2B resistance being upheld in field trials (A. Mckay, personal communication), it is important these trials are replicated in phenotypic extremes including varied environmental and climatic conditions (soil type, rainfall, temperature, disease pressures) to ensure resistance is stable. The synthetically derived Sokoll is unadapted and therefore could contain undesirable gene linkages and/or lack important agronomic traits present in adapted varieties. Repeated backcrossing to cultivated wheat is required to remove/add these traits before Sokoll can be used commercially. Although the root compounds identified provide *P. thornei* resistance, they may have undesirable effects such as being toxic to non target beneficial organisms, which could affect plant nutrition and growth. It would be beneficial to investigate differences and changes in plant and root morphology and in the nematode soil community associated with the resistant population lines.

The ultimate aim of this project was to correlate a biological role with an identified *P. thornei* resistance QTL. Suggestive QTL linked to both hatching and motility suppression were identified and co-located to the *P. thornei* resistance QTL identified in Sokoll x Krichauff and in previous studies (Schmidt et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2005, Zwart et al. 2006) on chromosomes 2B, 5B, 6B and 6D. This indicates that these resistance QTL play a role in inhibiting *P. thornei* motility or juvenile hatching. The motility and hatching suppression QTL were analysed only in a subset (40 lines) of the population due to the time constraints of the

study. To further define and confirm these QTL, phenotypic analysis needs to be performed on the entire DH population using the hatching and motility assays developed in this study.

Changes to the global climate are making agricultural regions more variable and drier and have placed emphasis on the development of higher-yielding cultivars which can grow in marginal environments. In particular, resistance to root diseases and thus better root systems are critical to ensure maximum access to limited soil moisture. As resistance to *Pratylenchus* continues to gain attention as a priority trait for wheat breeding, the identification, characterisation of deployment of resistance genes/QTL will become increasingly important. Knowledge of the biological or biochemical resistance mechanisms is important as it could be used to develop improved phenotypic screening methods, provide new sources of biochemical control and reveal the involvement of different resistance genes, which could be pyramided to provide more durable *P. thornei* resistance.

### Literature Cited

Davis, E. L., R. S. Hussey and T. J. Baum (2004). "Getting to the roots of parasitism by nematodes." <u>Trends in Parasitology</u> **20**(3): 134-141.

Goto, D. B., J. Fosu-Nyarko, F. Sakuma, J. Sadler, M. Flottman-Reid, T. Uehara, N. Kondo, J. Yamaguchi and M. G. K. Jones (2010). "*In planta* observation of live fluorescent plant endoparasitic nematodes during early stages of infection." <u>Nematological Research</u> **40**: 17-19.

Hashmi, S., M. A. Abu Hatab and R. R. Gaugler (1997). "GFP: Green fluorescent protein a versatile gene marker for entomopathogenic nematodes." <u>Fundamental and Applied</u> <u>Nematology</u> **20** (4): 323-327.

Huang, G., R. Allen, E. L. Davis, T. J. Baum and R. S. Hussey (2006). "Engineering broad root-knot resistance in transgenic plants by RNAi silencing of a conserved and essential root-knot nematode parasitism gene." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</u> **103**(39): 14302-14306.

Huang, G. S., K. M. Chang, Y. C. Chen and L. G. Yeh (2007). <u>Application of Quantum dots</u> for the lifespan study of *Caenorhabditis elegans* NSTI Nanotechnology Conference and Trade Show, Nanotech.

Huang, G. Z., B. L. Gao, T. Maier, R. Allen, E. L. Davis, T. J. Baum and R. S. Hussey (2003). "A profile of putative parasitism genes expressed in the esophageal gland cells of the rootknot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*." <u>Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions</u> **16**(5): 376-381. Hussey, R. S. (1989). "Disease-inducing secretions of plant-parasitic nematodes." <u>Annual</u> <u>Review of Phytopathology</u> **27**: 123-141.

Hussey, R. S., O. R. Paguio and F. Seabury (1989). "Localisation and partial chracterisation of a secretory protein in *Meloidogyne incognita* using monoclonal antibodies." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **21**(4): 566-567.

Jatala, P. (1986). "Biological control of plant-parasitic nematodes "<u>Annual Review of</u> <u>Phytopathology</u> **24**: 453-490.

Nicholas, F. W. (2006). "Discovery, validation and delivery of DNA markers." <u>Australian</u> Journal of Experimental Agriculture **46**(2): 155-158.

Pegard, A., G. Brizzard, A. Fazari, O. Soucaze, P. Abad and C. Djian-Caporalino (2005). "Histological characterization of resistance to different root-knot nematode species related to phenolics accumulation in *Capsicum annuum*." <u>Phytopathology</u> **95**(2): 158-165.

Sanchez de Viala, S., B. B. Brodie, E. Rodriguez and D. M. Gibson (1998). "The potential of thiarubrine C as a nematicidal agent against plant-parasitic nematodes." <u>Journal of Nematology</u> **30**(2): 192-200.

Schmidt, A. L., C. L. McIntyre, J. Thompson, N. P. Seymour and C. J. Liu (2005). "Quantitative trait loci for root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) resistance in Middle-Eastern landraces and their potential for introgression into Australian bread wheat." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **56**(10): 1059-1068.

Tan, J. C. H., M. G. K. Jones and J. Fosu-Nyarko (2013). "Gene silencing in root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus* spp.) significantly reduces reproduction in a plant host." <u>Experimental Parasitology</u> **133**: 166-178.

Toktay, H., C. L. McIntyre, J. M. Nicol, H. Ozkan and H. I. Elekcioglu (2006). "Identification of common root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* Sher et Allen) loci in bread wheat." <u>Genome</u> **49**(10): 1319-1323.

Urwin, P. E., K. M. Troth, E. I. Zubko and H. J. Atkinson (2001). "Effective transgenic resistance to *Globodera pallida* in potato field trials." <u>Molecular Breeding</u> **8**(1): 95-101. Valette, C., M. Nicole, J. L. Sarah, M. Boisseau, B. Boher, M. Fargette and J. P. Geiger (1997). "Ultrastructure and cytochemistry of interactions between banana and the nematode *Radopholus similis*." <u>Fundamental and Applied Nematology</u> **20**(1): 65-77.

Wuyts, N., G. Lognay, R. Swennen and D. De Waele (2006). "Nematode infection and reproduction in transgenic and mutant *Arabidopsis* and tobacco with an altered

phenylpropanoid metabolism." <u>Journal of Experimental Botany</u> **57**(11): 2825-2835. Wuyts, N., G. Lognay, M. Verscheure, M. Marlier, D. De Waele and R. Swennen (2007). "Potential physical and chemical barriers to infection by the burrowing nematode *Radopholus similis* in roots of susceptible and resistant banana (*Musa* spp.)." <u>Plant Pathology</u> **56**(5): 878-890. Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson and I. D. Godwin (2005). "Identification of quantitative trait loci for resistance to two species of root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*) in wheat." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **56**(4): 345-352.

Zwart, R. S., J. P. Thompson, J. G. Sheedy and J. C. Nelson (2006). "Mapping quantitative trait loci for resistance to *Pratylenchus thornei* from synthetic hexaploid wheat in the International Triticeae Mapping Initiative (ITMI) population." <u>Australian Journal of Agricultural Research</u> **57**(5): 525-530.